
        

 

 
Notice of a public meeting of  

Planning Committee 
 
To: Councillors D Myers, Cullwick (Chair), Pavlovic (Vice-

Chair), Ayre, Barker, D'Agorne, Daubeney, Doughty, 
Douglas, Fenton, Hollyer, Kilbane, Warters, Lomas and 
Fisher 
 

Date: Thursday, 4 February 2021 
 

Time: 4.30 pm 
 

Venue: Remote Meeting 
 

A G E N D A 
 

1. Declarations of Interest   
 

At this point in the meeting, Members are asked to declare: 

 any personal interests not included on the Register of Interests  

 any prejudicial interests or  

 any disclosable pecuniary interests 
which they may have in respect of business on this agenda. 
 
2. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 40) 
 

To approve and sign the minutes of the meetings of the Planning Committee 
held on 19 November 2020, 3 December 2020 and 7 January 2021. 
 
3. Public Participation   
 

At this point in the meeting members of the public who have 
registered to speak can do so. Members of the public may 
speak on agenda items or on matters within the remit of the 
committee.  
 
Please note that our registration deadlines have changed to 2 
working days before the meeting, in order to facilitate the 
management of public participation at remote meetings. The 
deadline for registering at this meeting is at 5.00pm on Tuesday 
2 February 2021. 



 

 
To register to speak please visit 
www.york.gov.uk/AttendCouncilMeetings to fill out an online 
registration form. If you have any questions about the 
registration form or the meeting please contact the Democracy 
Officer for the meeting whose details can be found at the foot of 
the agenda.   
 
Webcasting of Remote Public Meetings 
 
Please note that, subject to available resources, this remote public meeting will 
be webcast including any registered public speakers who have given their 
permission. The remote public meeting can be viewed live and on demand at 
www.york.gov.uk/webcasts. 
 
During coronavirus, we've made some changes to how we're running council 
meetings. See our coronavirus updates (www.york.gov.uk/COVIDDemocracy) 
for more information on meetings and decisions. 
 
4. Plans List   
 

This item invites Members to determine the following planning applications: 
 
a) York Station Frontage, Station Road, York [19/00535/FULM]   

(Pages 41 - 208) 
 

Demolition of Queen Street Bridge and construction of new highway; 
reinstatement and construction of earth ramparts and retaining walls to part of 
the City Wall. Demolition of pedestrian bridge and works to the York Railway 
Institute elevation; demolition of Band Room, demolition of extensions to rear 
of RI Gymnasium. Construction of multi-storey car park. Part demolition station 
building (Parcel Square) and construction of a new facade, roof and canopy 
and associated works to retained elevations. Relocation of electricity sub-
station. Public realm and highway improvements along Queen Street and 
Station Road. Relocation of cycle store associated with George Stephenson 
House. Demolition of Unipart Rail Service Centre building and construction of 
temporary surface car park, alterations to existing car park and taxi drop-off 
arrangements [Micklegate Ward] 
 
b) Station Building, Railway Station, Station Road, York YO24 1AY 
[19/00542/LBC]  (Pages 209 - 246) 
 

Internal and external alterations including the demolition of Parcel Square 
buildings and the construction of a new façade and associated works to 
retained elevations, new roof and canopy and associated internal rearranged 
accommodation [Micklegate Ward] 
 

http://www.york.gov.uk/AttendCouncilMeetings
http://www.york.gov.uk/webcasts
http://www.york.gov.uk/COVIDDemocracy


 

c) Former Carpetright, Layerthorpe, York, YO31 7UP  (Pages 247 - 302) 
 

Erection of hotel with bar/restaurant, relocation of access and associated 
landscaping and car park following demolition of existing building [Guildhall 
Ward] 
 
5. Urgent Business   
 

Any other business which the Chair considers urgent under the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

 
Democracy Officer 
Angela Bielby  
Contact details:  

 Telephone: 01904 552599 

 Email: a.bielby@york.gov.uk 
 

For more information about any of the following please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer responsible for 
servicing this meeting: 

 Registering to speak 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports and 

 For receiving reports in other formats 
Contact details are set out above. 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

Meeting Planning Committee 

Date 19 November 2020 

Present Councillors Cullwick (Chair), Barker, 
Daubeney, Doughty, Douglas, Fenton, 
Fitzpatrick, Hollyer, Kilbane, Warters, Lomas, 
Fisher, Widdowson (Substitute for Cllr Ayre) 
and Baker (Substitute for Cllr D'Agorne), 
Pavlovic [from 17:45] 

Apologies Councillors Pavlovic [joined the meeting at 
17:45], Ayre and D’Agorme 
 

 
77. Declarations of Interest  

 
Members were asked to declare, at this point in the meeting, 
any personal interests, not included on the Register of Interests, 
or any prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interests they may 
have in respect of business on the agenda. Cllr Fisher declared 
a non-prejudicial interest as a member of Strensall with 
Towthorpe Parish Council and the Foss Internal Drainage 
Board. No further interests were declared. 
 
 

Election of Vice Chair 
 
Due to apologies from Cllr Pavlovic, Cllr Kilbane was nominated 
by Cllr Fenton as Vice Chair of the Committee for the meeting. 
In accordance with the revised Standing Orders, a named vote 
was taken with the following result: 
 

 Cllrs Baker, Barker, Daubeney, Douglas, Doughty, 
Fenton, Fisher, Fitzpatrick, Hollyer, Kilbane, Lomas, 
Pavlovic, Warters, Widdowson and Cullwick voted for 
the motion; 

The motion was therefore unanimously carried and it was 
 
Resolved: That Cllr Kilbane be elected as Vice Chair of the 

Committee for the meeting. 
 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 2



78. Public Participation  
 
It was reported that there had been no registrations to speak at 
the meeting under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme on 
general matters within the remit of the Planning Committee. 
 
 

79. Plans List  
 
Members considered a schedule of reports of the Assistant 
Director, Planning and Public Protection, relating to the following 
planning applications, outlining the proposals and relevant 
policy considerations and setting out the views of consultees 
and officers. 
 
 

80. Foss Upstream Storage Area, Brecks Lane, Strensall, York 
[19/02463/FULM]  
 
Members considered a major full application from Richard Lever 
Formation of flood storage area consisting of construction of 
earth embankment with spillway, excavation of two temporary 
and two permanent borrow pits, erection of river flow control 
structure, re-profiling of sections of the River Foss, realignment 
of short section of Black Dike, raising of section of Ings Lane, 
carriageway edge protection to part of Lilling Low Lane and 
associated new and improved access arrangements, drainage, 
accommodation works, landscaping and biodiversity mitigation 
(cross boundary application with Ryedale) Foss Upstream 
Storage Area Brecks Lane Strensall York. 
 
The Head of Development Services gave an update she 
advised Members of an update to Condition 2. This this change 
the planning balance and recommendation were unchanged 
from the published report. She gave a presentation on the 
application noting that it was a cross boundary application with 
Ryedale District Council. She gave an overview of the site 
location plan, general arrangement plan, Black Dyke 
realignment plan and section, slow control structure (structural 
design details of the sections), landscape master plan, 
landscape plan for area A and other examples of flood storage 
areas. 
 
Officers were asked a number of questions to which they 
responded that: 

Page 2



 The Environment Agency (EA) had put forward a number of 
flood alleviation schemes and this was the most effective 
scheme to protect 490 properties. 

 As it was a cross boundary application, consultation had 
been undertaken with a number of drainage boards. 

 Conditions 3 and 6 addressed the comments of the North 
Yorkshire flood risk engineer and paragraph 1663 of the 
NPPF. If approved the internal drainage boards would be 
consulted on those conditions. 

 There had been no objections from the ecology officer on the 
impact of the scheme on the Wheldrake SAC and SSSI. 
Appropriate conditions had been included for environmental 
mitigation. 

 The EA and Natural England had been consulted as statutory 
bodies. The Yorkshire Wildlife Trust had also been consulted. 

 
Public Speakers 
Samuel Wadsworth, landowner and farmer of land upon which 
the scheme was being constructed, spoke in objection to the 
application. He raised concerns about the red line used as the 
boundary being incorrect, concerns about flood base data from 
2007 being used, the impact pf the scheme on his farm’s drain, 
biodiversity mitigation measures not being agreed with 
landowners, no agreement with the landowner over the use of 
clay pits, the proposed access unacceptably posing a 
biosecurity risk to his livestock. 
 
The applicant, Richard Lever (EA) spoke in support of the 
application. He explained that the scheme was part of a number 
of flood alleviation schemes for York and there was currently no 
flood defences along the river Foss. He listed the benefits of the 
project which protected 490 properties. He explained that water 
would pass through without flooding the storage area, which 
would fill during flooding events and empty within two days. He 
added that most consultees had supported the scheme and that 
some objections had been received from landowners, who the 
EA would continue to work with.  
 
In response to questions, Richard Lever and colleagues in 
attendance to answer questions clarified that: 

 There would be no permanent or temporary closure of 
path 16 within the York boundary. The potential flood risk 
damage to the footbridge would be reduced in the future 
with the flood storage area. 

Page 3



 The EA engagement with the speaker in objection. It was 
noted that the EA funded independent advice regarding 
biodiversity and the EA had listened to and taken on board 
suggestions put forward by landowners. 

 The EA would work with the speaker to ensure that 
adequate provisions were made for biodiversity on his 
land. This had been included in the site management plan.  

 Regarding condition 5, the Head of Development Services 
advised that the decision regarding the wording of this 
rested with the Local Planning Authority.  

 There was legislation that enabled EA with the powers to 
undertake flood defences. 

 The EA did not need to import clay onto the site. 
 
A Member then enquired as to the compensation paid from the 
EA to the speaker. The Head of Development Services and 
Senior Solicitor clarified to the Committee that this was not a 
material planning consideration and should be disregarded as 
part of the planning application.  
 
Members then asked further questions of officers to which they 
responded that there was consultation with the drainage boards 
as part of the discharging of condition 5. 
 
Cllr Fisher then moved and Cllr Widdowson seconded approval 
of the application subject to the conditions outlined in the report 
and additional information. Cllr Warters proposed an 
amendment to condition 5 to include the following wording at the 
end of the condition: ‘to meet the requirements of the Foss 
Internal Drainage Board maintenance requirements.’ Cllrs 
Fisher and Widdowson agreed the inclusion of the amendment. 
Members were advised by the Senior Solicitor that this was 
reasonable and if it was not, the condition could come back to 
committee for variation. Following debate, and in accordance 
with the revised Standing Orders, a named vote was taken with 
the following result: 

 Cllrs Baker, Barker, Daubeney, Douglas, Doughty, 
Fenton, Fisher, Fitzpatrick, Hollyer, Kilbane, Lomas, 
Pavlovic, Warters, Widdowson and Cullwick voted for 
the motion; 

 
The motion was therefore unanimously carried and it was 
 

Page 4



Resolved: That the application be approved subject to the 
conditions listed in the report and amended 
Conditions 2 and 5:  

 
Updated Condition 2 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following plans and other submitted 
details:- 
Site Location Plan:  
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00-MP-EN-C0400:9 Rev P06 
General Arrangement Plan:  
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00-DR-C- I0500_23 (Rev P02) dated 
10/02/2020 
Black Dike Re-Alignment Plan and Section:  
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00- DR-C- I0500_36a (Rev P02) dated 
27/01/2020 
River Foss Re-Profiling South Locations: 
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00-DR-C-I0500_41 Rev P01 dated 
08/11/2019 
Flow Control Structure Sections: 
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00-DR-C-I0500_36 Rev P01 dated 
08/11/2019 
Outlet Channel Plan and Section: 
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00-DR-C-I0500_35 Rev P01 dated 
08/11/2019 
Inlet Channel Plan and Section: 
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00-DR-C-I0500_34 Rev P01 dated 
08/11/2019 
Flow Control Structure Plan and Sections: 
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00-DR-C-I0500_33 Rev P01 dated 
08/11/2019 
Foss FSA - Embankment Cross Sections: 
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00-DR-C-I0500_31 Rev P01 dated 
08/11/2019 
Embankment Long Section: 
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00-DR-C-I0500_30 Rev P01 dated 
08/11/2019 
Foss FSA -  Primary Spillway Plan  
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00-DR-C-I0500_29 Rev P01 dated 
08/11/2019 
Site Access, Compound Area and Temporary Works: 
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00-DR-C-I0500_24 Rev P02 dated 
02/12/2019 
Services and Boreholes: 

Page 5



ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00-DR-C-I0500_25 Rev P01 dated 
08/11/2019 
Landowner Access Ramp: 
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00-DR-C-I0500_32 Rev P01 dated 
08/11/2019 
 
Landscape Masterplan:  
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00-DR-L-C0700_36 Rev P05 dated 
11/02/2020 
Landscape Area A:  
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00-DR-L-C0700_37 Rev P05 dated 
11/02/2020 
Planting Schedule:   
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00- DR-L-C0700_43 Rev P04 dated 
11/02/2020 
Tree Constraints Plan: 
ENV0000381C-CAA-1-XX-DR-C-001 Rev P01 dated 
31/07/2019 
Landscape Cross Sections: 
ENV0000381C-CAA-00-00- DR-L-C0700_42 Rev P02 dated 
02/12/2019 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the 
development is carried out only as approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Amended Condition 5 
No development shall take place until details of the means of 
operation, management, repair and maintenance of the flood 
storage area, associated apparatus/embankments and borrow 
pits have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. Details to include; plans and schedules showing the 
flood storage areas, associated apparatus/embankments and 
borrow pits to be vested with the relevant Statutory 
Undertaker/s, land owner and highway authority with a clear 
understanding of who will operate, repair and maintain at their 
expense, and any other arrangements to secure the operation 
and maintenance of the approved scheme. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details to 
meet the reasonable satisfaction of the Foss Internal Drainage 
Board maintenance requirements 
 
Reason: To prevent the increase risk of flooding and to ensure 
the future maintenance of the scheme throughout the lifetime of 
the development. 

Page 6



 
Reasons  
 

a) Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states local planning 
authorities should approve development proposals that 
accord with an up-to-date development plan without delay. 
The proposal is for development in the green belt that is 
deemed to have a harmful impact on openness. As such, 
paragraph 143 of the NPPF states development of this 
kind should be refused unless there are very special 
circumstances to outweigh green belt harm and any other 
identified harm. 

 
b) The harm to the openness of the York green belt is 

considered to be modest in scale. Further minor harm is 
identified in the impact on mineral resources and 
moderate harm is identified due to through the permanent 
loss of over 9 hectares of BMV agricultural land across the 
York and Ryedale parts of the application site.  

 
c) Conversely, the benefits to the scheme include the 

protection to approximately 465 residential properties 
downstream of the application site, a further 30 
commercial properties. Additionally, approximately 22 
hectares of BMV agricultural land, much of which in York 
will receive additional flood protection. It is considered that 
great weight should be afforded to these significant flood 
protection benefits. The Environmental Statement and 
Biodiversity Impact Calculator also identifies there is no 
harm to the designated sites at Strensall Common and to 
biodiversity or hydrology that could not be overcome by 
appropriate planning conditions. Indeed, once mitigation is 
carried out, there are further benefits for example through 
the wildlife ponds and some weight is afforded to these 
benefits. 

 
d) The impact on amenity, archaeology, drainage and the 

local highway network are considered to be acceptable 
subject to appropriate planning conditions. Weighing the 
proposal up in the planning balance, it is considered that 
very special circumstances exist; the identified benefits of 
flood protection are considered to clearly outweigh the 
identified harms. Subject to the following planning 
conditions, approval is recommended. 

 

Page 7



[The meeting adjourned from 17:28 to 17:45. Cllr Pavlovic re-
joined the meeting at 17:45] 
 
 

80a St Georges Field Car Park, Tower Street, York 
[19/02063/FULM]  
 
Members considered a major full application from Andy Kerr 
(Applicant, City of York Council) for the erection of 5 level multi-
storey car park with canopy to roof to provide 372 no. car 
parking spaces, demolition of public toilet, revised highway 
access and associated landscaping works at St Georges Field 
Car Park, Tower Street, York. 
 
The Head of Development Services gave an update and 
confirmed that the following additional comments from the flood 
risk management team would be included as additional 
conditions.  
 
It was noted that the additional information had been assessed 
and the planning balance and recommendation were 
unchanged from the published report. The Head of 
Development Services outlined the application including the site 
location plan, proposed elevations, proposed ground floor, first, 
second, third and fourth level plan, proposed solar canopy, site 
vehicular plan, illustrative master plan and visualisations. 
 
[As Cllr Pavlovic had joined the meeting at the beginning of the 
item it was agreed he would resume as Vice Chair]  
 
Following questions regarding tree removal, a tree removal plan 
and landscaping plan was shared with the Committee. The 
Committee noted trees would not be removed unless absolutely 
necessary and that the applicant had proposed to plant an 
additional 25 trees. A condition to secure a suitable replacement 
for any trees removed would be included. 
 
Officers were asked and clarified that:  

 The toilets would be located on the first floor, due to this floor 
being accessible during flood times. 

 Although the North Yorkshire Police did not support the 
application due to the open-sided ground floor and the risk of 
anti-social behaviour, Officers were confident that the 
building would be made secure by appropriate conditions 
which could include the carpark to be staffed, 24hr CCTV 

Page 8



and regular patrols of the carpark. Some Committee 
Members preferred for the site to be staffed 24hr a day. 

 Although the Conservation Architect did not support the 
application, Officers confirmed their comments were noted 
but were not considered sufficient to refuse the application. 

 The application showed the building would be built with a 
solar canopy. 

 There was a loss of 133 car parking spaces. 
 
Public Speakers 
Lynnette Mills spoke in objection to the application. She felt the 
building would have a serious negative visual impact from a 
picturesque area and would impact on views from New Walk, 
Clifford’s Tower and Skeldergate Bridge.  She felt there had 
been no consideration of trees at the Foss side and felt the lime 
tree should not be removed and that the site should be used as 
a green corridor connection to the city.  With all the new housing 
and hotels going up in York she felt more green spaces were 
needed for mental and physical wellbeing. She felt that building 
a multi-story carpark would encourage more cars visiting the city 
centre and would not alleviate congestion or pollution and she 
asked Members to refuse the application. 
 
John Hey spoke in objection to the proposal. He questioned why 
the council, who were discouraging cars in the city centre to 
reduce pollution, noise, were considering building a car park in 
the city centre, which will increase noise and pollution where as 
a  green space was more likely to achieve the councils aims and 
be welcomed by York residents. 
 
Johnny Hayes spoke in objection to the proposal.  He raised his 
concerns to the multi-story car park and noted the harm it would 
cause to the nearby heritage assets and to the conservation 
area. He questioned the expenditure on a very expensive 
capital project that was contrary to stated COYC policy and felt 
the building was too large and too dominate and was the wrong 
building for St Georges Field. He highlighted the letter from 
Historic England which listed reasons for its refusal and he 
hoped Members would reject the application too.  
 
Andy Kerr (Head of Regeneration, City of York Council - CYC) 
spoke on behalf of the applicant speaking in support to the 
application. He addressed the committee on both the Castle 
Mills and St George's Field planning applications. He outlined 
the wider CYC work on the Castle Gateway, how these planning 

 

Page 9



applications formed part of implementing the masterplan and 
dealt with specific issues which had come up during the 
determination of the planning. He hoped the Committee would 
support the application. He then answered Members questions 
relating to the security of the building, public engagement, trees, 
flooding, the wider masterplan, residential use and parking for 
coaches. He confirmed that:  

 City of York Council had a number of discussions with North 
Yorkshire Police regarding their concerns to try and resolve 
any issues. The Police would like to see the site secure from 
a ground floor level but the site had to be open at ground 
floor due to flooding.  The Council would be the operator of 
the 24hr car park and would ensure the car park was safe 
and secure at night and would continue to monitor and 
respond to any concerns quickly. 

 A large amount of public engagement had taken place and 
businesses and retailers were clear that they would only 
support the closure of Castle Car Park if alternative city 
centre car parking was provided in the area. 

 More trees were being planted than the number being lost 
and the application ensured there were no loss of trees to 
New Walk. The Council would be happy to plant more mature 
trees on the site.  

 The ground floor would be secured off when there was any 
risk of flooding.  

 Castle Car Park would be improved as part as the wider 
masterplan and the new multi-story car park at St Georges 
Field would allow Castle Car Park to close and become a 
much needed area of public realm at the heart of one of 
York’s heritage sites. 

 Converting the site for residential use was declined due to 
flooding. 

 The site would provide 25 spaces for coaches   
 
Members then asked further clarification questions. The Head of 
Development Services advised that a security condition had 
been missed off the report and needed to be included. Referring 
back to the point about the car park being staffed 24 hours a 
day she advised that the majority of multi storey car parks 
(MSCP) in York were not staffed 24 hours a day and used 
CCTV for security purposes. With regard to the concerns to the 
heritage asset she felt that the consultation response from the 
Conservation Architect was sufficiently included in the report. 
Officers were asked and clarified that:  

Page 10



 Along with the security condition could be an informative to 
state that the planning authority could work with the Police 
Architectural Liaison Officer to come to the best possible 
solution about security. Regarding a condition on this to the 
‘reasonable satisfaction’ of the police, the Senior Solicitor 
advised that this would not meet one of the six tests as it 
would never be achieved given the concerns out forward by 
the police. The Head of Development Services clarified the 
security condition advising that the addition of 24 hour 
staffing was not reasonable but it would be reasonable to add 
‘in consultation with the police’ at the end of the condition. 

 10-15 disabled spaces would be lost from the castle car cark 
and there was 31 spaces at the proposed car park. An 
update on the closure of foot streets was given noting that it 
was a temporary restriction. The Senior Solicitor advised that 
any decision made by the Committee needed to be on the 
basis of facts at present, and it was for the Committee to 
decide whether to give weight to the consultation on foot 
streets taking place. She added that any decision made on 
moral objection such as the fear of crime could only be a 
material consideration if it could be shown that the fear was 
based in reality.  

 The planning balance regarding the closure of the castle car 
park and the public realm part of the scheme would come 
forward as a separate planning application. 

 A condition had been added regarding a full road safety audit 
being undertaken. 

 
Cllr Hollyer moved and Cllr Daubeney seconded approval of the 
application subject to the agreement of Chair and Vice Chair on 
the wording of the security condition.   
 
Members debated the application in detail, during which 
concern was raised about the security of the carpark, number of 
parking spaces, suitability of the location for disabled parking, 
harm to heritage, lack of traffic impact assessment and failure to 
meet LTN 1/20. 
 
Members were asked and confirmed that they had been present 
throughout consideration of the application.  
 
In accordance with the revised Standing Orders, a named vote 
was taken on the motion to approve the application with the 
following result: 

Page 11



 Cllrs Daubeney, Doughty, Fenton, Fisher, Hollyer, 
Widdowson and Cullwick voted for the motion; 

 Cllrs Baker, Barker, Douglas, Fitzpatrick, Kilbane, Lomas, 
Pavlovic and Warters voted against the motion 

 
The motion was therefore lost. 
 
Cllr Baker then moved and Cllr Pavlovic seconded deferral on 
the basis of the need for a review of the parking need within this 
part of the city centre, the traffic impacts of the site, the 
suitability of the car park location for disabled parking, and the 
attendance of the conservation architect at the meeting. In 
accordance with the revised Standing Orders, a named vote 
was taken on the motion to approve the application with the 
following result: 

 Cllrs Baker, Douglas, Fitzpatrick, Kilbane, Lomas, Pavlovic 
and Warters voted for the motion 

 Cllrs Fenton, Fisher, Hollyer, Widdowson and Cullwick voted 
against the motion; 

 Cllrs Barker, Daubeney, and Doughty abstained 
 
The motion was carried and it was: 
 
Resolved: That the application be deferred. 
 
Reason:  In order that further information be provided in 

relation to: 
a) the parking need within this part of the city centre to 

inform the number of spaces proposed 
b) the suitability of this location for disabled parking 
c) clarification as to the traffic impacts on the 

pedestrian cycle route  
d) The Conservation Architect to attend the meeting at 

which the application was to be determined 
 
 

81. Castle Mills Car Park, Piccadilly, York [19/02415/FULM]  
 
This was a full application for the erection of 106 apartments 
including 36no. 1-bed, no. 68 2-bed and 2no. studios, flexible 
commercial floorspace (A1-A3 and B1 1458sqm gross), 
provision of new pedestrian and cycle bridge across the River 
Foss and creation of new public realm and pedestrian and cycle 
route at riverside north Castle Mills Car Park Piccadilly York.   
 

Page 12



Cllr Kilbane moved and Cllr Warters seconded that the 
application be deferred to enable the Conservation Architect to 
attend to answer Members questions.  In accordance with the 
revised Standing Orders, a named vote was taken on the 
motion to defer the application with the following result: 

 Cllrs Barker, Doughty, Douglas, Fitzpatrick, Kilbane, Lomas, 
Pavlovic and Warters voted in favour of this motion and  

 Cllrs Baker, Daubeney, Fenton, Fisher, Hollyer, Widdowson 
and Cullwick voted against this motion  

 
The motion was carried and it was therefore: 
 
Resolved: That the application be deferred. 
 
Reason:  To allow the Conservation Architect to attend to 

answer questions. 
 
 
 
 
 
Cllr C Cullwick, Chair 
[The meeting started at 4.30pm and finished at 8.07pm]. 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

Meeting Planning Committee 

Date 3 December 2020 

Present Councillors Cullwick (Chair), Pavlovic (Vice-
Chair), Daubeney, Doughty, Douglas, Fenton, 
Fitzpatrick, Hollyer, Kilbane, Warters, Lomas, 
Fisher, Widdowson (Substitute for Cllr Ayre), 
Baker (Substitute for Cllr D'Agorne) and 
Waudby (Substitute for Cllr Barker) 

Apologies Councillors Ayre, Barker and D’Agorne 

 
1. Declarations of Interest  

 
Members were asked to declare, at this point in the meeting, 
any personal interests, not included on the Register of Interests, 
or any prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interests they may 
have in respect of business on the agenda. None were 
declared.  
 
 

2. Minutes  
 
Resolved: That the minutes of the meetings held on 9 July 

2020 and 8 October 2020 be approved and then 
signed by the Chair as a correct record. 

 
 

3. Public Participation  
 
It was reported that there had been no registrations to speak at 
the meeting under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme on 
general matters within the remit of the Planning Committee. 
 
 

4. Plans List  
 
Members considered a schedule of reports of the Assistant 
Director, Planning and Public Protection, relating to the following 
planning applications, outlining the proposals and relevant 
policy considerations and setting out the views of consultees 
and officers. 

Page 15



 
 

5. Land at Boroughbridge Road, West of Trenchard Road, 
York [20/00752/FULM]  
 
Members considered a Major Full Application from Karbon 
Homes & York Housing Association for the erection of 60 
affordable homes with associated infrastructure, including 
access, public open space and landscaping at the land at 
Boroughbridge Road, west of Trenchard Road, York.  
 
The Head of Development Services gave an update advising 

Members of an extra reason for the proposed refusal on the 

basis of the Applicants not agreeing to the required S106 

obligation to education and of an adjustment to Green Belt 

reason for refusal, to include the Upper and Nether Poppleton 

Neighbourhood Plan. Members were also advised on the 

comments from the Council’s housing officers and it was 

confirmed that the additional information had been assessed 

and the planning balance and recommendation remained 

unchanged from the published report.  

 

The Head of Development Services then gave a presentation on 

the application detailing the proposed layout, site plan, 

proposed elevations, 3D visuals, site plan in relation to the 

Green Belt and site allocation in the emerging local plan. In 

response to Member questions Officers confirmed that: 

 The site was previously used as sports and recreation 

space and included an agricultural field.  

 The civil service sports field no longer fitted the Green Belt 

objective and the Planning Inspectors had asked the 

Council to do more development on the Green Belt 

boundaries. 

 When the Planning Inspector reached their conclusion on 

the planning appeal from Miller homes they found that the 

site had no Green Belt weighting to the application. 

 The site would be windfall as it was not in the draft local 

plan allocation. The site allocations in the local plan were 

clarified and there were policies in the plan to address 

housing need. 

 

Public speakers 
Martin Wistow spoke in objection to the application as Chair of 

Page 16



York Trenchard Residents Company Ltd, and as a resident 
directly affected by the application. He expressed concern 
regarding building in the Green Belt (as designated in the 
Emerging Local Plan) and that the designs had not addressed 
the concerns by residents. He noted that there was housing 
being built on the former British Sugar and Civil Service sites 
and that no Very Special Circumstances (vsc) were sufficient to 
allow the building of housing on Grade 2 agricultural Green Belt.  
 
Simon Grundy (Carter Jonas, Agent for the Applicant) spoke in 
support of the application. He explained that the application was 
for a unique not for profit development for affordable housing. 
He explained that significant weight should be given to the very 
special circumstances. He challenged a number of points made 
in the report in not setting out how acute the housing supply had 
become. He set out the land supply position, suggesting that 
heavy weighting should be applied to this.  He noted that the 
land beyond Trenchard Road was urban fringe and he 
considered that the failure to allocate the land in the local plan 
should not be considered as a reason for refusal. He was asked 
and explained to Members: 

 Why the education contribution under S106 was refused. 

 That is permission was granted, building would start as 

soon as possible in 2021. 

 There would be a mix across the tenures, including the 

individual right to buy. 

 The occupants of the housing were already in the 

education system in York and York Housing had advised 

that families on the waiting list would not place additional 

burden on education across York. 

 Regarding the suitability of alternative sites, a number of 

sites in the emerging local plan were not suitable for family 

housing. 

 It was felt that there was no policy basis (nationally or in 

York) for the education contribution and 100% of the 

occupants would be drawn from families in York. 

 Children living on the site would attend schools across 

York.  

 The S106 agreement would be negotiated for the tenure 

of future dwellings. 

 The application should be determined on its own merits 

not on the basis of residents suggest may come in the 

future. He referred to the Barwood decision to exemplify 

Page 17



this. 

 
Peter Rollings (Chairman of Rufforth with Knapton Parish 
Council) spoke on the Parish Council’s objection to the 
application. He explained that whilst the site was not in the 
direct boundary of Rufforth and Knapton, it was clearly in the 
Green Belt as defined by the examiners for the Rufforth and 
Knapton Neighbourhood Plan. He noted that the applicant failed 
to provide very special circumstances, adding that the 
development would cause harm to the local area. He suggested 
that the need for affordable housing could be met without this 
inclusion of this site. 

Cllr Barker, Ward Councillor, objected to the application on the 
grounds that it was in the Green Belt. He noted that the Miller 
site opposite was to provide 266 homes, 80% of which would be 
affordable, as well as the development on the former British 
Sugar site, which would also provide a number of affordable 
homes. He explained that the infrastructure would not cope with 
the development and he felt that there were other brownfield 
sites that should be used for development. 

Cllr Hook, Ward Councillor spoke in objection, citing that it was 
contrary to the Upper and Nether Poppleton Neighbourhood 
Plan and Rufforth and Knapton Neighbourhood Plan. She 
explained that the GP practice in Poppleton was oversubscribed 
and this development would place more stress on the practice. 
A Member noted that there was a number of doctors’ surgeries 
in the local area. 

Mr Grundy, Agent for the Applicant clarified the housing mix as 
60% social housing, 25% right to buy housing and 15% shared 
ownership.  The Head of Development Services was asked and 
clarified that the amount of affordable housing on the former 
British Sugar site had not been agreed but this was a minimum 
of 38 dwellings which could rise to circa 200 depending on the 
viability. She further clarified that there would be an offsite 
contribution if the affordable housing was not met.  

Cllr Lomas moved and Cllr Warters seconded, that the 
application be refused. The Head of Development Services 
clarified the proposed reasons for refusal as detailed in the 
report and update. Members were asked and confirmed they 
were all present for the consideration of the application.  
 
Members debated the application, expressing a number of 
different views. In accordance with the revised Standing Orders, 

Page 18



a named vote for the refusal of the application was taken with 
the following result: 

 Cllrs Baker, Daubeney, Doughty, Fenton, Fisher, 
Hollyer, Lomas, Warters, Waudby, Widdowson and 
Cullwick voted for the motion; 

 Cllrs Douglas, Fitzpatrick, Kilbane and Pavlovic voted 
against the motion. 
 

The motion was therefore carried and it was 
 
Resolved: That the application be refused. 
 
Reason:  
 

i. The Applicants do not agree to the required s106 

obligation for education (£633,630). There is currently no 

capacity at local pre-schools, primary and secondary 

schools within the catchment of the application site to 

accommodate the proposed development. The scheme 

would not contribute towards providing education places 

required in the locality to meet the needs of this 

development. As such the proposals are not compliant 

with the following policies; NPPF paragraph 94, the NPPG 

on Planning Obligations and education contributions and 

Publication Draft Local Plan 2018 policies ED6 and DM1. 

 
ii. The proposal by reason of its location within the Green 

Belt would constitute inappropriate development in the 

Green Belt as set out in Section 13 of the National 

Planning Policy Framework. Inappropriate development is 

by definition harmful to the Green Belt. The proposal 

would also result in a detrimental impact on openness of 

the Green Belt due to its scale and location and conflict 

with the Green Belt's purposes, as identified in NPPF 

paragraph 134.  

 
iii. The site is not one which has been identified for 

development in the Publication Draft Local Plan 2018 

(which is at examination stage) or the Upper and Nether 

Poppleton Neighbourhood Plan (made on 19 October 

2017). The benefits put forward by the applicant do not, 

either individually or cumulatively, clearly outweigh the 

totality of this harm and therefore do not amount to very 

Page 19



special circumstances necessary to justify the proposal for 

the purposes of the NPPF. The proposal is, therefore, 

considered contrary to advice within the National Planning 

Policy Framework, in particular section 13 'Protecting 

Green Belt land', policy PNP1 of the Upper and Nether 

Poppleton Neighbourhood Plan and policy GB1 

'Development in the Green Belt' of the emerging Local 

Plan.  

 

[The meeting adjourned from 17:48 to 18:17] 
 
 

6. Castle Mills Car Park, Piccadilly, York [19/02415/FULM]  
 
Members considered a Major Full Application from City Of York 
Council for the erection of 106 apartments including 36no. 1-
bed, no. 68 2-bed and 2no. studios, flexible commercial 
floorspace (A1-A3 and B1 1458sqm gross), provision of new 
pedestrian and cycle bridge across the River Foss and creation 
of new public realm and pedestrian and cycle route at riverside 
north at Castle Mills Car Park, Piccadilly, York.  
 
The Head of Development Services provided the Committee 
with an update outlining further comments received from York 
Civic Trust (in support of the application), Historic England and 
from the Applicant. Members were advised of amended wording 
to Condition 45 and of a change to paragraph 6.4 of the 
Committee Report. Paragraph 6.4 stated that the approval was 
recommended subject to conditions and the undertaking of a 
legal agreement. This should however be subject to conditions 
and Grampian conditions. The Council was unable to enter into 
a legal agreement with itself therefore Grampian conditions 
were recommended to secure the require mitigation measures. 
It was confirmed that the additional information had been 
assessed and the planning balance and recommendation were 
unchanged from the published report.  
  
The Development Services then gave a presentation on the 
application detailing the site location plan, elevations and  
visualisations. The City of York Council (CYC) Conservation 
Architect responded to Member questions as follows: 

 The new development would perpetuate looming over 

between Ryedale House and the Travelodge. If a storey 

was lost this would make a difference. 

Page 20



 There was a number of other views where the 

development would have a negative impact on heritage 

assets. 

 There was a cumulative effect of the development, and it 

was the conservation area appraisal that used the word 

loom. Ryedale House was assessed as having a negative 

impact on the setting and his view was that the application 

would have a cumulative effect on that harm. 

 Less storeys would mitigate but not remove the harm. 

However, without seeing the visualisation, he could not 

say what the harm would be. 

 
Officers were then asked and clarified that: 

 The design of the bridge had been had been agreed by 

officers and the design presented was considered the 

most appropriate. 

 Visualisations had been used to show the views from the 

bridge and there were limited views. 

 Historic England had concerns about the views and 

massing.  

 There had been a dialogue between the case officer, 

conservation architect, and project officers on the 

application. All views had been taken into account for the 

planning balance and recommendation.  

 The loss of the car park and Ryedale House would benefit 

the heritage asset and it was the Ryedale House was 

more harmful than the car park. 

 The simple design for the bridge was considered the best 

design. 

 
Public Speakers 

Chris Donegani spoke in objection to the application. He asked 
that the Committee consider the harm to the Piccadilly and 
Walmgate areas. He suggested that the design of the northern 
building was poor and expressed concern regarding the 
narrowness of spaces and service arrangements.  

Andy Kerr (Applicant, City of York Council) spoke in support of 
the application. He explained that it was a key site delivering 
public benefit from the masterplan. He noted that the design of 
the bridge had changed to allow children and wheelchair users 
to see through the bridge. He explained that the application 
would being 106 new homes, including affordable homes 

Page 21



managed by the council, that were sustainably designed and car 
free. He noted the high quality designs and he outlined the 
changes to the designs. He explained the reasons why the 
application caused less than substantial harm. In answer to 
Member questions he clarified that: 

 The scheme had reduced in size and there was a 

masterplan that is public realm dominated. It had been 

ensured that the design made the masterplan viable. 

 The design of the bridge and public space created a 

meander through space that would naturally slow down 

cyclists. There had been engagement with cycling groups 

about this and the council had worked with cycle lobby 

groups on the design of the bridge.  

 There was a widening on the bridge beyond the minimum 

standards required.  The bridge allowed for shared spaces 

and the council would work with cycle groups on the use 

of the space. It was felt that shared space was the best 

option. 

 The parapet height on the bridge had been reduced and 

the railings had been introduced to create views for all 

people. 

 The revenue generated by the scheme would determine 

the masterplan for St George’s carpark. 

 The fencing off of the water sides was linked to safety. 

 Pocket parks were included to create spaces to be used 

all year round and the council was happy to work on the 

design of these to include more vegetation. 

 The public consultation was part of the My Castle 

Gateway consultation and it took into account the views of 

different groups. 

 
Chris Bush (York BID) spoke in support of the application, 
outlining the importance of the regeneration project. He 
explained that the retail footprint in York needed to change and 
repurpose itself for retail, leisure, hospitality and housing, which 
the scheme presented. He advised that York BID believed that 
the application supported the city centre to build back better and 
the regeneration would help the masterplan for the area.  
 
Andrew Morrison (York Civic Trust) spoke in support of the 
application noting that the Trust supported the overall Castle 
Gateway development. He acknowledged and understood the 
concern regarding the heritage and noted that the scheme 

Page 22



would bring a surplus of benefit to the heritage of York. In 
answer to Member questions he responded that: 

 The design of the bridge brought into the focus the river 

Foss in terms of heritage benefit and in opening up views 

pf the Foss for pedestrians and cyclists. He noted the 

importance of understanding the Foss in the context of the 

history of the city. 

 There was a need to maintain the character of the city and 

in this case it was about the balance of benefit; the 

removal of the car park was of greater benefit and would 

open up views of the area at ground level.  

 The Civic Trust maintained a strong planning committee in 

considering applications coming forward.   

 
Paul Lambert (Yorkshire Museums Trust - YMT) spoke in 
support of the application. He noted that Castle Gateway formed 
part of the jigsaw of the public realm and created place making 
and a new destination for visitors and residents on a positive 
development. He explained that the design brought high quality 
infrastructure to the city centre by opening up landscapes and it 
was an important stepping stone between Piccadilly and the 
public realm area. 
 
A number of further questions arose following the end of 
speakers on the application: 

 The Senior Solicitor was asked whether it was appropriate 

for a Member of the Executive to sit in judgement of the 

application. She advised that it was for the Executive 

Member to determine if there was a conflict of interest.  

 The Head of Development was asked and confirmed that 

the masterplan could be taken into consideration as part 

of the planning balance. She advised that the harm was 

less than substantial. 

 The council Conservation Architect explained the criteria 

for substantial harm, which worked on a 10 point level. He 

explained how he considered the application to constitute 

substantial harm.  

 
Cllr Fenton then moved and Cllr Fisher seconded approval of 
the application subject to the conditions outlined in the report 
and additional information. Following debate, and in accordance 
with the revised Standing Orders, a named vote was taken with 
the following result: 

Page 23



 Cllr Baker abstained 

 Cllrs Daubeney, Doughty, Fenton, Fisher, Hollyer, 
Waudby, Widdowson and Cullwick voted for the 
motion; 

 Cllrs Douglas, Fitzpatrick, Kilbane, Lomas, Pavlovic 
and Warters, voted against the motion. 
 

The motion was therefore carried and it was 
 
Resolved: That the application be approved subject to the 

conditions listed in the report and;  
 

a) to the undertaking of a legal agreement to 

secure the following: 

 
(i) Affordable Housing - 20 affordable homes to 

be provided on site by the HRA. A commuted 

sum of £368,712 to be provided in lieu of 

onsite provision of the remaining 1.2 

apartments.  

 
(ii) Open Space -  Off-site contributions totalling 

£99,104 (Recreational open space £26,274, 
Play space £35,768 and Sports pitch provision 
£37,062) 

 
(iii) Education - Financial contribution of £366,753 

towards 19 school places 

 

(iv) Highways - £400/unit for first residents to get 

bus pass or cycle offer, £200 per unit for car 

club and £300/unit Travel plan contribution (to 

cover implementation and monitoring by CYC 

for a 5 year period).  

 

b) Amended wording to Condition 45: 

No part of Blocks A and B shall be occupied until 
Castle Car Park, identified on drawing number 
CM-BDP-ZZ-RL-DR-A-PL-1001 Rev PO3 (Site 
Location Plan with red and blue line boundary), 
has permanently closed with all ticket machines, 
and associated car park signs removed, and 

Page 24



details of an interim surfacing scheme have been 
approved in writing by with the local planning 
authority. The interim surfacing scheme shall be 
implemented within 6 months of the car park 
closing unless a scheme and timetable for the 
implementation of permanent public realm works 
has been approved by the local planning 
authority.  

 
c) Grampian conditions to secure the require 

mitigation measures: 

* Development shall not commence on the 
apartment block hereby approved until a scheme 
for the provision of affordable housing equivalent 
to 21.2 homes has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The affordable housing shall be 
provided in accordance with the approved 
scheme. The scheme shall include the provision 
of 20 affordable homes on site and shall include: 
- The numbers, type and location of the 
affordable housing provision to be made: 
- The timing of the construction of the affordable 
housing; 
- The arrangements to ensure that such provision 
is affordable for both initial and subsequent 
occupiers of the affordable housing; and 
- The occupancy criteria to be used for 
determining the identity of prospective and 
successive occupiers of the affordable housing, 
and the means by which such occupancy shall be 
enforced. 
 
Reason: To address the need for affordable 
housing in the context of Local Plan Policy H10. 
 
* Development shall not commence on the 
apartment block hereby approved until the 
provisions outlined within the Travel plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 

Page 25



* The scheme shall be implemented before the 
apartment block is completed. The scheme shall 
include: 
- Bus and cycle offers for first residents 
- Car club provisions 
- Travel plan monitoring 
 
Reason: in order to promote sustainable travel 
 
* Development shall not commence on the 
apartment block hereby approved until details of 
off-site provisions of open space, play space and 
sports pitch provision has been be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
authority. 
 
Reason: To contribute to the provision of open 
space for recreation and amenity in accordance 
with Local Plan Policy GI6 
 
* Development not shall commence on the 
apartment block hereby approved until a scheme 
for education provision has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall be implemented 
before the completion of the development. 
 
Reason: To address the need for additional early 
years / school places arising from the 
development. 

 
Reason: 
 

i. The application site is within an area proposed for 

redevelopment and regeneration as outlined in the 

draft 2005 and 2018 Draft Plan, forming a key 

component of the York Castle Gateway masterplan 

development proposals. The site is within Flood 

Zone 3 and lies in a sensitive location within the 

Central Historic Core Conservation and in the Area 

of Archaeological Importance.  In accordance with 

paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the more restrictive 

heritage asset and flood risk policies in the NPPF 

apply. The proposal, by virtue of its scale and 

massing, would result in harm to the setting of a 

Page 26



number of designated and non-designated 

(archaeology) heritage assets. 

 
ii. The Courts have held that when a local planning 

authority finds that a proposed development would 

harm a heritage asset the authority must give 

considerable importance and weight to the 

desirability of avoiding such harm to give effect to its 

statutory duties under sections 66 and 72 of the 

1990 Act. The harm to result is considered to be less 

than substantial and is outweighed by the 

environmental and social benefits associated with 

the closure of the Castle car park, the provision of 

new housing, including 20 affordable units, the 

creation of new public realm including the opening 

up of the rear of the Castle Museum to become a 

public park and riverside and improvements to 

pedestrian and cycle connectivity within the wider 

neighbourhood. Whilst the harm is assessed as 

being less than substantial, such harm has been 

afforded considerable importance and weight in the 

overall planning balance.  

 
iii. As set out in section 5 of the Committee Report, other 

identified potential harms to flood risk, highway safety, 

visual and residential amenity and other environmental 

matters could be adequately mitigated by conditions. 

 
 
 
 
 
Cllr C Cullwick, Chair 
[The meeting started at 4.30 pm and finished at 8.02 pm]. 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 28



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

Meeting Planning Committee 

Date 7 January 2021 

Present Councillors Cullwick (Chair), Pavlovic (Vice-
Chair), Daubeney, Doughty, Douglas, Fenton, 
Hollyer, Kilbane, Warters, Lomas, Fisher, 
Widdowson (Substitute for Cllr Ayre) [until 
20:20], Craghill (Substitute for Cllr D'Agorne) 
and Wann (Substitute for Cllr Barker) 

Apologies Councillors Ayre, Barker and D’Agorne 

 
7. Declarations of Interest  

 
Members were asked to declare, at this point in the meeting, 
any personal interests, not included on the Register of Interests, 
or any prejudicial or disclosable pecuniary interests they may 
have in respect of business on the agenda. There were no 
further declarations of interest. 
 
Cllr Kilbane noted that as a point of order, Cllr Widdowson (as a 
member of the Executive) may have an interest in agenda item 
4a [St Georges Field Car Park, Tower Street, York 
[19/02063/FULM]. The Senior Solicitor advised that being on the 
Executive was not a conflict of interest. Cllr Warters pointed to 
the Executive making a commitment to the scheme to which the 
Senior Solicitor advised that this in itself was not a conflict of 
interest and it was for members of the Executive themselves to 
decide whether this was a conflict of interest. 
 

8. Minutes  
 
Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting held on 12 

November 2020 be approved subject to; 

 the addition of ‘objected’ in the second sentence 
of Cllr Doughty’s public speaking, 

 The Chair being amended to Cllr Cullwick at the 
end of the minutes, 

and then signed by the chair as a correct record at a 
later date. 

 
 

Page 29



9. Public Participation  
 
It was reported that there had been no registrations to speak at 
the meeting under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme on 
general matters within the remit of the Planning Committee. 
 

10. Plans List  
 
Members considered a schedule of reports of the Assistant 
Director, Planning and Public Protection, relating to the following 
planning applications, outlining the proposals and relevant 
policy considerations and setting out the views of consultees 
and officers. 
 

10a St Georges Field Car Park, Tower Street, York 
[19/02063/FULM]  
 
Members considered a Major Full Application from Andy Kerr 
(City of York Council) for the erection of 5 level multi-storey car 
park with canopy to roof to provide 372 no. car parking spaces, 
demolition of public toilet, revised highway access and 
associated landscaping works at St Georges Field Car Park, 
Tower Street, York. This application was deferred from the 
committee meeting held on 19 November 2020. 
 
As a point of clarification, Members were advised that the 
applicant’s response to the justification of parking need as 
detailed in the second paragraph under section 1 of the 
committee report should not have been underlined and was 
done so in error and was not as a point of emphasis. With 
regarding to the implied 1% council tax rise within that 
paragraph, Members were advised that this was not a planning 
consideration and should not be taken into account in their 
determination of the application. A number of Members 
expressed concern about this, as well as the comments 
submitted by York Civic Trust concerning the demand for 
parking provision and asked whether the application should be 
deferred for those reasons. They were advised that these 
should be disregarded and should not be given weight during 
debate. 
 
The Head of Development Services provided an update to the 
Committee noting the amendment to text of Condition 34 
(security condition), and additional comments further to review 
of proposed security Condition 34 from  North Yorkshire Police 

Page 30



(NYP) - Secured by Design Officer. The police expressed 
concern about the lack of physical protection for the structure, 
and considered that 24/7 staffing would be required. They also 
recognised that periodic flooding was a constraint in needing the 
ground floor to be left open sided and external stairway to a 
viewing platform, and they did not support this due to concerns 
about potential antisocial and criminal behaviour.  
 
York Civic Trust had also provided further comments further to 
the justification for parking provision provided by the applicant 
on 18 December 2020 in which it supported ambitions of the 
masterplan, and commented on the parking need and access 
and design. It suggested that a review of supply and demand for 
parking provision should be carried out as part of the Local 
Transport Plan. 
 
It was confirmed that the additional information has been 
assessed and the planning balance and recommendation are 
unchanged from the published report.  
 
The Head of Development Services gave a presentation on the 
application detailing the site location plan, proposed elevations, 
proposed sections, proposed solar canopy, vehicular access 
plan, tree constraints plan and visualisations. Following the 
presentation, officers were asked and clarified: 

 The comments of the Design and Sustainability Manager 

 How pedestrians route to the super crossing to Skeldergate 
Bridge (which was conditioned under Condition 16) 

 The comments of the North Yorkshire Police (NYP) - 
Secured by Design Officer regarding the car park being 
unsafe in the planning balance. There was a need to take 
into account the mitigation measures (for example the 
condition regarding security) in the planning balance. [At this 
point the Senior Solicitor undertook to seek further legal 
advice on the liability of the council to potential victims of 
crime at the car park] 

 The views of the Conservation Architect as one of the 
consultees. The Conservation Architect noted his main 
concern in relation to the solar array. 

 
[The meeting adjourned from 17:17 to 17:33] 
 
Public Speakers  
Gwen Swinburn expressed concern over a number of 
administrative matters concerning the omission of the meeting 

Page 31



minutes at which the item was deferred, the reason for the 
absence of Executive Members, the absence of the parking 
needs appraisal, and reference to the 1% council tax rise and 
due diligence on reports from Corporate Directors.  

Lynette Mills spoke in objection to the application. Citing the 
council’s declaration of a climate emergency, she suggested 
that the multi storey car park (MSCP) was contradictory to 
outcome 5 regarding sustainable transport. She noted that more 
cars into the city centre would increase congestion and reduce 
air quality as not every driver would drive an electric car. The 
noted that it was a short term approach. 

Johnny Hayes spoke in objection to the application. He 
expressed concern that the reason for the deferral of the 
application had not been addressed or included. He cited 
research which provided information on occupation analysis and 
impact of the closure of the car park. He suggested that the car 
park would be underused and noted that his main objection was 
the harm to heritage assets. In answer to questions from 
Members he confirmed that he was still the Chair of Indy York 
and that the work they had done on car usage showed that it 
was low at peak periods and people did not like using MSCP. 
 
John Hey (Economics Professor and resident living opposite the 
proposed car park) spoke in objection to the application. He 
noted that it would take several years for the trees to grow 
around the car park. He asked whether a proper cost benefit 
had been undertaken and expressed concern that the car park 
would be demolished in 20 years. He was asked and noted that 
the car park could operate at a loss.  

Peter Mills spoke in objection to the application. He suggested 
that there was a north – south divide in the city and he could not 
see how building a MSCP would address dereliction at that side 
of York. He expressed concern regarding crime and how this 
may contribute to the dereliction of the area. 

Juliette James (York Cycle Campaign - YCC) spoke in objection 
to the application. She cited paragraphs 108a and 108c of the 
NPPF and asked what the level of footfall and number of 
cyclists would be on the shared path and asked who had been 
consulted on this. She advised that YCC was in favour of a 
separate cycle and pedestrian path and she highlighted 
principle 6 of the government ‘gear change’ for inclusion in 
council policies. She urged deferral of the application for more 
work on the walk/cycle aspects of the scheme to be undertake 

Page 32



Andrew Lowson (York BID) spoke in support of the application. 
He explained that York BID had engaged with My Castle 
Gateway consultation and supported the application on the 
basis of the benefits it brought to the city, including the quality of 
public realm and car parking it provided. He explained that to 
not provide parking at that location would be damaging. He was 
asked for his opinion on why Piccadilly car park was underused 
and he noted that a better quality of occupancy was needed, 
adding that the car parking strategy took a strategic look at this. 
He added caution to generalising the use of car parks without 
the data. 

Paul Lambert (York Museums Trust – YMT) spoke in support of 
the application. He noted that YMT had worked closely with the 
council on the Castle Gateway masterplan, particularly in 
relation to the new public realm. He noted that the car park was 
seen as an essential part of that redevelopment to the Castle 
Museum. He was asked and confirmed that alternative uses of 
transport were encouraged to visitors and he recognised that 
visitors had a choice in their method of transport. 

Andy Kerr (Applicant, City of York Council) spoke in support of 
the application. He explained that the creation of the new public 
realm relocated the car park and would create a new public 
space. He noted that key stakeholders would only support the 
closure of the castle car park with the installation of the car park 
at St George’s Field. He outlined the benefits of the new car 
park including the creation a new cycle route, which he 
acknowledged had constraints and he added that the council 
would work with cycle groups on this. Addressing security 
concerns he noted the condition on security and he noted that 
the car park was key to the realisation of the Castle Gateway 
masterplan. 

 In response to Member questions he clarified that: 

 The car park would be monitored 24 hours a day and 
would be patrolled with incidents responded to.  

 The external staircase copied those in other locations and 
should there be problems at a night time, this could look to 
be closed. 

 The car park could be accessed 24 hours a day. 

 The applicant had been clear on the drivers for the 
scheme in terms of strategic and business need, both of 
which were not necessarily a planning consideration. 

Page 33



 
Cllr Fenton then moved and Cllr Fisher seconded approval of 
the application subject to the conditions outlined in the report 
and additional information. Following debate, and in accordance 
with the revised Standing Orders, a named vote was taken with 
the following result: 

 Cllr Craghill abstained 

 Cllrs Daubeney, Doughty, Fenton, Fisher, Hollyer, 
Wann, Widdowson and Cullwick voted for the motion; 

 Cllrs Douglas, Kilbane, Lomas, Myers, Pavlovic and 
Warters voted against the motion. 

 
The motion was therefore carried and it was: 
 
Resolved: That the application be approved subject to the 

conditions listed in the report, and the amendment to 
the Condition 34: 

 
Amendment to text of Condition 34 (security condition)  
Notwithstanding the details submitted, before the development 
is brought into use, a scheme for security at the site shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved scheme shall be fully implemented 
before the use hereby permitted comes into operation. 6 months 
after the development is brought into use, a review of the 
implemented security measures to include an assessment of the 
adequacy of these measures and recommendations to improve 
the security of the site, if deemed required, shall be submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved review and any agreed recommendations to improve 
security, shall be implemented within 3 months of the date the 
review is agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
The approved security measures shall be retained and 
maintained for the lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason; In the interests of security at the site and in accordance 
with Section 8 of the NPPF and Policy D1 of the 2018 Draft Plan 
which advises that developments should be designed to reduce 
crime and the fear of crime and promote public safety 
throughout the day and night. 
 
 
Reasons 

i. The proposed development forms a key component of the 
York Castle Gateway Masterplan development proposals, 

Page 34



which are addressed in Policy SS5 of the 2018 Draft Plan 
and offers the opportunity for alternative car parking 
arrangements to replace the existing parking at Castle car 
park.  The site falls within Flood Risk 3 and lies in a 
sensitive location within the New Walk Terrace / Terry 
Avenue Conservation Area and in the Area of 
Archaeological Importance.  In accordance with paragraph 
11 of the NPPF, the more restrictive heritage assets and 
flood risk policies in the NPPF apply. The proposal, by 
virtue of its scale and massing, would result in harm to the 
setting of a number of designated and non-designated 
(archaeology) heritage assets. 

 
ii. The Courts have held that when a local planning authority 

finds that a proposed development would harm a heritage 
asset the authority must give considerable importance and 
weight to the desirability of avoiding such harm to give 
effect to its statutory duties under sections 66 and 72 of 
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990. The harm to result is considered to be less than 
substantial and is outweighed by the environmental and 
social benefits associated with the closure of the Castle 
car park and improvements to pedestrian and cycle 
connectivity within the wider neighbourhood. Whilst the 
harm is assessed as being less than substantial, such 
harm has been afforded considerable importance and 
weight in the overall planning balance.  

 
iii. As set out in section 5, other identified potential harms to 

flood risk, highway safety, visual and residential amenity 
and other environmental matters could be adequately 
mitigated by conditions. 

 
 

10b Whitehall Grange, Wigginton Road, York [20/01479/FUL]  
 
Members considered a Full Application from Autohorn Fleet 
Services for the erection of a temporary office for a period of five 
years and re-cladding of existing barn at Whitehall Grange, 
Wigginton Road, York, YO32 2RJ. 
 
The Head of Development Services gave an update. She noted 
that the public consultation period did not expire until 14 
January 2021 and there had been no responses received at that 
time. As a result the recommendation was unchanged from the 

Page 35



published report. With the consultation date closing after the 
meeting date it was proposed that final approval be delegated to 
officers subject to there being no material considerations 
included in the consultation responses. 
 
She then gave a presentation on the application detailing the 
site location plan, block plan, the site at present, and proposed 
buildings and elevations.  
 
Public Speakers 
Paul Butler (Agent for the Applicant) spoke in support of the 
application. He noted that the application site already benefitted 
from planning permission and that the application was for a 
temporary building, very special circumstances (VSC) existed, 
and as York Central progressed, Autohorn needed to relocate. 
He outlined the reasons for the need for the temporary building, 
including reasons due to the pandemic. 
 
He was asked and explained that the company employed up to 
400 people and that the approval of the application would allow 
the facilitation of the long term plan. He was asked and 
confirmed that the company’s present location was on Leeman 
Road.  
 
Cllr Warters then moved and Cllr Daubeney seconded that final 
approval be delegated to officers subject to there being no 
material considerations included in the consultation responses. 
Following debate, and in accordance with the revised Standing 
Orders, a named vote was taken with the following result: 

 Cllrs Craghill, Daubeney, Douglas, Doughty, Fenton, 
Fisher, Hollyer, Kilbane, Lomas, Myers, Pavlovic, 
Wann, Warters, Widdowson and Cullwick voted for the 
motion; 

 
The motion was therefore unanimously carried and it was 
 
Resolved:  That final approval of the application be delegated to 

officers subject to no new material planning issues 
being raised before the consultation period expires 
on 14 January 2021.   

 
Reason:  

i. The proposals is considered to be inappropriate 
development within the Green Belt and would, 
therefore, by definition be harmful to the Green Belt.  

Page 36



Substantial weight is to be given to any harm to the 
Green Belt. In accordance with the NPPF, 
inappropriate development should not be approved 
except in very special circumstances. Very special 
circumstances will not exist unless the potential 
harm to the Green Belt by reason of 
inappropriateness and any other harm is clearly 
outweighed by other considerations. There is limited 
harm on the openness of the Green Belt and limited 
harm to the green belt purposes.  

 
ii. The very special circumstances are considered 

cumulatively to be afforded significant weight in the 
decision making process. The temporary nature of 
the proposal has also been considered in terms of 
the proposals impact. The proposal is also 
considered to be acceptable on the other relevant 
matters including design, drainage and highway 
safety. Moderate weight is considered to be applied 
to these matters. Weighing up the planning balance, 
it is considered that with regard to this proposal, the 
very special circumstances set out do outweigh the 
identified harm to the Green Belt. 

 
iii. The application is recommended for approval for a 

period of five years and subject to no new planning 
issues being raised before the consultation period 
expires on 14 January 2021.   

 
 
[The meeting adjourned from 20:20 to 20:25 at which point Cllr 
Widdowson left the meeting.] 
 

10c North Selby Mine, New Road, Deighton, York 
[20/01546/FUL]  
 
Members considered a Full Application from Peter Massie for 
the variation of condition 4 of permitted application 
19/00078/OUTM (redevelopment of the former North Selby 
Mine site to a leisure development comprising of a range of 
touring caravan and static caravans with associated facilities) to 
remove limit of 28 nights occupation in any one calendar year at 
North Selby Mine, New Road, Deighton, York.   
 

Page 37



The Head of Development Services updated the Committee 
advising of amended wording for Condition 1 (time) and of 
further correspondence from Liam Toland (Agent for the 
Applicant) in response to comments from Councillor Vassie 
concerning the use of renewable energy at the site. It was 
confirmed that the additional information had been assessed 
and the planning balance and recommendation remained 
unchanged from the published report. A presentation on the site 
location plan, site parameters plan, and indicative master plan 
from the approved application was given to Members.  
 
In response to questions from Members, officers clarified that: 

 The application differed from the previous application as it 
was on previous developed land.  

 The 28 day period was a rolling 28 days and would not fit 
with the model for the site which was the reason for the 
submission of the application. 

 The site was different to other sites in York as it was on a 
larger scale. 

 Appeals for the 28 day period would be made to the Planning 
Inspectorate. 

 No supplementary information was submitted with the 
previous application. However, the agent had confirmed that 
it the site would be a holiday park as the market was moving 
towards sites similar to those at Hollicars and Allerthorpe 
Lake. 

 The details of the Escrick Parish Council objection.  

 The application was made under the Town and Planning Act 
and the options available to the Committee 

 The detail of Condition 4. 

 The national planning guidance on the recommended 
conditions in terms that the application was for holiday 
purposes and not as a main place of residence. This would 
include keeping records of occupants on the site. It was 
noted that the coxwold policy regarding the length of stay 
referred to the length of stay, and this was the adopted 
policy.  

 Hollicars was not in the York boundary and a condition had 
been added to that site in 2016 regarding the use of the site 
for holidays. 

 
Public Speakers 
Cllr Coulson (Escrick Parish Council) spoke on behalf of Escrick 
and Deighton Parish Councils in objection to the application. 
She explained that they wanted to ensure that the site was used 

Page 38



for holiday and not for permanent residences. She noted that 
they had submitted an alternative condition which stated that t 
the intended use was for holiday use only, and not permanent 
as residential accommodation. She further suggested that the 
leasehold was approved by the council’s solicitor. She stated 
that Escrick and Deighton Parish Councils suggested deferral of 
the application. 
 
Cllr Vassie (Ward Member) spoke on the application, requesting 
that if the application was approved he would like a condition 
committing the applicant to work with the council to enable the 
potential for renewable energy from the old mine workings to be 
properly evaluated and, if viable, to be exploited in order to 
provide district heating to homes in the surrounding villages. He 
cited the council’s aim to deliver a zero carbon future and an 
example of a similar site in Neerlen in the Netherlands. 
 
In answer to questions from Members, Cllr Vassie confirmed 
that: 

 The uses for the site were not incompatible. 

 In terms of some of the mine shafts being capped, there was 
a project in Tynemouth whereupon new boreholes had 
created. 

 The University of Leeds would like to look at the renewable 
energy potential of the site. The University of Newcastle had 
also expressed an interest.  

 His concerns over the continuing presence of residents in 
winter were around children going to school, and impact on 
roads. 

 
Liam Toland (Agent for the Applicant), spoke in support of the 
application. He acknowledged the concerns regarding the site 
being used for permanent accommodation and he confirmed 
that this was not the intention. He explained that the condition 
concerning this was restrictive and that the current condition 
made the units unsalable. He explained the difference between 
the site and the Hollicars park.  
 
In response to questions from Members he explained that: 

 The variation to condition 4 was a condition adopted in 
national planning guidance. 

 The 28 night limit did not the site viable. 

 The business model being proposed had never changed as 
the condition was suggested at the Planning Committee at 
which the previous application was considered. 

Page 39



 His responses to the points raised by Cllr Vassie 
 
Members then asked further questions to officer to which they 
responded that: 

 The additional condition was added late under additional 
information at the Planning Committee at which the previous 
application was considered. 

 There would need to be clear reasons for deferral. 

 There were no time restrictions on other York sites. 

 The authority was not bound by other authorities’ 
determinations but could take them into consideration. 

 
Cllr Lomas then moved deferral of the application on the basis 
of the need to better explore a condition to meet the applicant’s 
need to develop the site to ensure that the pitches would not be 
used for permanent occupation. Cllr Warters seconded deferral 
of the application and asked whether there could be an 
informative on the geothermal use of the site. He also 
suggested that the condition put forward by Escrick Parish 
Council be used a starting point for the condition. The Head of 
Development Services clarified that there could be an 
informative on the geothermal use of the site. In accordance 
with the revised Standing Orders, a named vote was taken with 
the following result: 

 Cllrs Craghill, Daubeney, Douglas, Doughty, Fenton, 
Fisher, Hollyer, Kilbane, Lomas, Myers, Pavlovic, 
Wann, Warters and Cullwick voted for the motion; 

 
The motion was therefore unanimously carried and it was 
 
Resolved:  That the application be deferred.  
 
Reason:  To meet the applicant’s need to develop the site to 

ensure that the pitches would not be used for 
permanent occupation. 

 
Members confirmed to the Chair that they had been present and 
could hear all of the meeting. 
 
 
Cllr C Cullwick, Chair 
[The meeting started at 4.30 pm and finished at 9.46 pm]. 

Page 40



Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

Date: 4 February 2021 Ward: Micklegate 

Team: West Area Parish: Micklegate Planning 

Panel 

Reference: 19/00535/FULM 
Application at: York Station Frontage Station Road York   
For: Demolition of Queen Street Bridge and construction of new 

highway; reinstatement and construction of earth ramparts and 
retaining walls to part of the City Wall. Demolition of pedestrian 
bridge and works to the York Railway Institute elevation; 
demolition of Band Room, demolition of extensions to rear of RI 
Gymnasium. Construction of multi-storey car park. Part 
demolition station building (Parcel Square) and construction of a 
new facade, roof and canopy and associated works to retained 
elevations. Relocation of electricity sub-station. Public realm and 
highway improvements along Queen Street and Station Road. 
Relocation of cycle store associated with George Stephenson 
House. Demolition of Unipart Rail Service Centre building and 
construction of temporary surface car park, alterations to existing 
car park and taxi drop-off arrangements. 
 

By: City Of York Council 

Application Type: Major Full Application 
Target Date: 12 February 2021 
Recommendation: Approve 

 

1.0 PROPOSAL 

 
Proposal 
 
1.1  This application seeks full planning permission for the re-organisation of the 
existing highway infrastructure in the area surrounding York Railway Station, from 
Lendal Gyratory to Blossom Street, including the area surrounding York Railway 
Institute (RI).    
 
1.2  The application has been the subject of changes to the initial scheme and 
additional information submitted in order to respond to consultation responses, 
design development and the scheme’s funding.   
 
1.3  The following works are included within the application: 
 

Page 41 Agenda Item 4a



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

- removal of Queen Street Bridge and construction of new highway at grade level 
including loop around Railway Institute gymnasium and Water Tower  
 
- alterations to highways layout including the provision of a fully segregated 3m wide 
cycle lane running behind the bus stops  
 
- demolition of Railway Institute Band Room  
 
- demolition of rear extensions to Railway Institute Gymnasium and provision of 
parking  
  
- removal of pedestrian bridge and works to the Railway Institute (22 Queen Street) 
front elevation 
 
- retention of vehicular access to Queen Street properties (No’s 14, 15 and 16), 
removal of existing on-street parking and widening of footway and the installation of 
railings to the front of No’s 11-20 Queen Street 
 
- reinstatement and construction of earth ramparts and retaining walls to part of the 
City Walls in the vicinity of Tofts Tower.   
 
- alterations to existing long and short stay car parks.  Erection of multi storey (4 
storey) car park on the site of the existing long stay car park 
 
- demolition of Unipart Rail Service Centre Building off Cinder Lane and replacement 
with a temporary car park for a period of 5 years (providing 278 approx. spaces) 
 
- Public realm and highway improvements along Queen Street/Station Road 
including relocated bus facilities, altered and new pedestrian and cycle facilities and 
associated hard and soft landscaping.  
 
- relocated bin and cycle stores for George Stephenson House 
 
- Works to York Railway Station  

- demolition of ‘Parcel Square’ buildings; construction of new façade and 
canopy and rearranged internal accommodation to form new taxi rank and 
drop off 
- public realm improvements to Tea Room Square including landscaping and 
paving 
- new substation and refuse store to serve Railway Station 

 
1.4  The following works to the railway station do not require planning permission, as 
they are internal structures within the station, however they are subject to listed 
building consent, but have been included here for clarity purposes, to understand 
the full extent of the scheme; 

Page 42



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

- new paving within Portio  
- installation of temporary buildings in the North train shed to provide 
replacement staff and retail accommodation and cycle parking.  
- installation of buildings in the South train shed to accommodate Train 
Operating Companies (TOCs) staff accommodation and storage 

 
1.5  The scheme has been designed to be delivered in three phases.   Based on the 
current understanding of funding availability it is likely that these phases will be 
delivered sequentially, however if full funding is available the phases could be 
combined and delivered as a single construction phase.  The construction phasing 
has been revised since the original scheme and now generally comprises of:  
Phase 1: demolition of Queen Street Bridge, Unipart building, provision of 
pedestrian, cycle and public transport infrastructure to the front of the Station 
Phase 2: reorganisation of parking including construction of MSCP and works to 
highway infrastructure around the Railway Institute 
Phase 3: demolition of Parcel Square and construction of new façade and canopy 
and other works within and surrounding the Railway Station 
 
The Application 
 
1.6  The applicant for the scheme is City of York Council.  The partner organisations 
includes Network Rail, train providers, West Yorkshire Combined Authorities 
(WYCA) and Canada Life.    
 
1.7  York Railway Station and its environs are owned by Network Rail, with the 
station platforms, buildings and station forecourt leased to LNER as Station Facility 
Operator.  The majority of the Railway Institute and Queen Street Works area are 
within Network’s Rail ownership, with the exception of the NCP car park, with the 
owner having a right of access over Network Rail land. Of the remainder of the 
buildings, the majority are occupied by the Railway Institute, although there a few 
warehouses/buildings that are occupied by Network Rail for storage purposes.  
 
1.8  The application is supported by an accompanying application for listed building 
consent (19/00542/LBC) for the internal and external works to the Grade II* listed 
Railway Station.  As the works will affect a Schedule Monument (City Walls) a 
schedule monument consent (SMC) application will be required and it is the 
applicants intention to submit this at a later date to the Secretary of State for Digital, 
Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS).  However, the application is supported by a 
schedule monument strategy. 
 
1.9  The proposal constitutes schedule 2 development under The Town and Country 
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.  In August 2018 a 
scoping opinion was sought from the local planning authority (18/02372/EIASP).  In 
November 2018 the council confirmed that the development would be likely to have 
significant environmental effects and issued its formal opinion on the aspects of the 

Page 43



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

environment that should be considered.  The information in the submitted 
environmental statement is sufficient for the local planning authority to understand 
the likely environmental effects of the proposals and any required mitigation.  An 
environmental statement addendum has been submitted to update the findings of 
the 2019 environmental statement where there are proposed changes to the 
scheme.  Where there is no potential for a topic to be affected by the proposed 
changes, the original conclusions in the 2019 environmental statement are 
unaffected. The EIA Regulations require this environmental information as well as 
representations received about the environmental effects of the development to be 
taken into account in the determination of the planning application.   
 
1.10  It is acknowledged that the scheme has been submitted as a whole 
development scheme, however some individual aspects may constitute permitted 
development if they were undertaken on their own, such as the improvement to the 
road if undertaken by the Highway Authority.  Additionally, the internal structures 
proposed to the North and South train sheds, along with any works within the 
Portico constitute permitted development under Class A, Schedule 2, Part 8 
Transport related development.  However as they form important elements in the 
whole development scheme, they may be referenced in this report.   
 
Application Site 
 
1.11  The application site comprises York Railway Station, primarily its frontage and 
surrounds, and the north and south train sheds.  The site extends from Blossom 
Street, along Queen Street and along Station Road to the south (front) of York 
Railway Station, partly extending to the City Walls and including areas (to the front 
and side) of George Stephenson House occupied by Network Rail.  It also involves 
the areas surrounding the York RI and associated buildings as well as existing car 
parking areas for the station to the west of the station.  This part of the site is 
bounded by the railway lines and residential properties on Lowther Terrace.  The 
site extends up to Lendal Gyratory to the west, adjacent to the Principal Hotel’s 
gardens.  
 
1.12  The areas of the Railway Station that are affected by the proposal include the 
Portico (sometimes referred to as the ‘Porte Cochere’), Tea Room Square and infill 
buildings known as Parcel Square (the area is currently occupied by Cycle Heaven 
retail outlet, train operating company accommodation) and back of house areas, 
retail storage facilities and Enterprise rent-a-car offices that extend to the South train 
shed and concourse adjacent to platform 3. The South train shed where there is the 
Trans Pennine Express mess room and staff cycle parking.  The North train shed is 
accessed by both vehicles and pedestrians from Tea Room Square and provides 
short stay car park.  The brick shed wall forms the western façade of the Principal 
Hotel (formerly Royal York Hotel).  
 

Page 44



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

1.13  The site also includes an area on the other side of the Station, currently 
occupied by Unipart building, accessed off Leeman Road and Cinder Lane.  
 
Relevant planning history 
 
1.14  There are a number of recent permissions that relate to parts of the site that 
are considered to be of relevance to the proposals; 
 
Scarborough Bridge Ref: 17/03049/FULM 
Replace 1.8m footpath/cyclepath with 3.6m wide footpath/cyclepath with associated 
alterations to bridge abutments, ramps and stair access arrangements 
Application permitted 22 March 2018 
 
York Railway Station Ref: 18/00005/LBC 
Internal alterations including new customer zone, first class lounge, TVM housing, 
ATM building and ladies toilets following demolition of existing concourse building 
and associated reinstatement works 
Application permitted 28 June 2019 
 
York Central, Leeman Road Ref: 18/01884/OUTM   
Outline planning application with all matters reserved for the redevelopment of York 
Central, Leeman Road to provide a mixed-use development of up to 379,729 m2 of 
floorspace Gross External Area (GEA) primarily comprising up to 2,500 homes 
(Class C3), between 70,000 m2 and 87,693 m2 of office use (Class B1a), up to 
11,991 m2 GEA of retail and leisure uses (Classes A1-A5 or D2), hotel with up to 
400 bedrooms (Class C1), up to 12,120 m2 GEA of non-residential institutions 
(Class D1) for expansion of the National Railway Museum, multi-storey car parks 
and provision of community uses all with associated works including new open 
space, ancillary car parking, demolition of and alterations to existing buildings and 
associated vehicular, rail, cycle and pedestrian access improvements. 
Application permitted 24.12.2019  
 
It is noted that the outline consent for York Central permitted the demolition of the 
Unipart building.  
 
20/00710/REMM Reserved matters application for layout, scale, appearance, 
landscaping and access for the construction of the primary vehicle route and 
associated roads, infrastructure, landscaping and alterations to the existing road 
network pursuant to outline planning permission 18/01884/OUTM; Application 
permitted 13.11.2020 
 
Pre-application engagement by the applicant 
 
1.15  Planning policy guidance encourages developers to engage with the local 
planning authority and third parties prior to submitting a planning application.  

Page 45



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
1.16  The Railway Station and surrounding area is a key role in the development of 
York Central.  As the proposals for York Central have progressed, the Council have 
sought to reorganise the awkward and confusing entrance to the railway station.  A 
Masterplan based on 8 key features (including removing Queen St bridge, taxi ranks 
and drop off/pick up, bus stops, parking, pedestrian crossing, Tea Room Square, 
station square and cycle routes and parking) was drawn up to improve the use of 
space in front of York Station. 
 
1.17  A consultation process took place from the 11th June 2018 to the 8th July 2018 
on the York Station Front Masterplan proposals.  The consultation incorporated 
drop-in events, walking tours, an online questionnaire, social media engagement 
and stakeholder meetings.   
 
1.18  In total 14 stakeholder groups engaged with the process along with 1,486 
public responses.  These are covered in the Statement of Community Involvement.  
The comments raised in this consultation process were mostly positive with a focus 
on specific matters within the overall scheme. Many of the concerns raised through 
the consultation process have informed and shaped the proposals with many also to 
be addressed through the final detail of the public realm design.  
 
2.0 POLICY BACKGROUND AND LEGISLATIVE CONTEXT 

 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 
2.1  The site is within the Central Historic Core Conservation Area (YCHCCA).  This 
is split into 24 character areas and the site straddles two character areas, the 
majority of the application site is within Character Area 22: Railway Area, with the 
top of Queen St, where it joins Blossom Street is within Character Area 23: Blossom 
Street and Nunnery Lane. The Council has a statutory duty under section 72 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to consider the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of designated 
conservation areas. 
 
2.2  The works will affect part of the City Wall (Tofts Tower) and its ramparts.  The 
City Wall and its gate are part of a single schedule monument listing (National 
Monument No. 13280) and Grade I listed.  The Railway Station (including York Tap 
(formerly Ladies Tea Room)) is Grade II* listed.  Also other listed buildings within the 
application site include the Taxi Kiosk (Grade II) and the Railway Institute Water 
Tower and Workshop (Grade II).  There are a number of other listed buildings 
situated close to the application site.  Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states that in considering whether to grant 
planning permission for development which affects a listed building or its setting, the 
local planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 

Page 46



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 
it possesses. 
 
2.3  Case law has made clear that a finding of harm to a conservation area or to a 
listed building or its setting is a consideration to which the decision-maker must give 
considerable importance and weight when carrying out the balancing exercise to 
give effect to its statutory duties under sections 66 and 72 of the 1990 Act. There is 
a "strong presumption" against the grant of planning permission in such cases. 
 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004  
 
2.4  Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 
an application is made in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The Council does not have a formally adopted 
local plan.   
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 
 
2.5  The revised NPPF (2019) sets out the government's planning policies for 
England and how these are expected to be applied.  Its planning policies are 
material to the determination of planning applications.  The Framework sets out that 
the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 
sustainable development (Paragraph 7).  To achieve sustainable development, the 
planning system has three overarching objectives; economic, social and 
environmental objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in 
mutually supportive ways (paragraph 8).  
 
2.6  The relevant sections of the NPPF include sections 8 ‘Promoting healthy and 
safe communities’, 9 ‘Promoting sustainable transport’, 12 ‘Achieving well-designed 
places’, 14 ‘Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change’, 
15 ‘Conserving and enhancing the natural environment’ and 16 ‘Conserving and 
enhancing the historic environment’. 
 
2.7  Section 16 of the NPPF includes the following polcies in relation to heritage 
assets:  
 
- Paragraph 184 states that heritage assets range from sites and buildings of local 
historic value to those of the highest significance, such as World Heritage Sites. 
These assets are an irreplaceable resource, and should be conserved in a manner 
appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to 
the quality of life of existing and future generations.   
 
- Paragraph 190 requires local planning authorities to identify and assess the 
particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal 
(including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset). They should 

Page 47



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

take this into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage 
asset, to avoid or minimise any conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation 
and any aspect of the proposal. 
 
- Paragraph 192(c) requires local planning authorities to take account of the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.   
 
- Paragrpah 193 states that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should 
be given to the assets conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater 
the weight should be).  This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. 
 
- Paragrpah 194 states that harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its 
setting), should require clear and convincing justification.  
 
- The NPPF makes a distinction between proposals which cause ‘substantial harm’ 
to a designated heritage asset (paragraph 195) and those which lead to ‘less than 
substantial harm’ (paragraph 196). It does not automatically mean that less than 
substantial harm is more acceptable; rather it means that a different test is applied. 
Paragraph 196 states that where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should 
be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including, where appropriate, 
securing its optimum viable use.  

- Paragraph 197 states that the effect of an application on the significance of a non-
designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the 
application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated 
heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of 
any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset.   
 
Draft Local Plans 
 
2.8  The City of York Draft Local Plan Incorporating the Fourth Set of Changes was 
approved for development management purposes in April 2005 (DCLP). Whilst the 
DCLP does not form part of the statutory development plan, its policies are 
considered to be capable of being material considerations in the determination of 
planning applications where policies relevant to the application are consistent with 
those in the NPPF as revised in March 2012, although the weight that can be 
afforded to them is very limited. 
 
2.9  The Publication Draft City of York Local Plan 2018 (2018 Draft Plan) was 
submitted for examination on 25 May 2018. Phase 1 of the hearings into the 

Page 48



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

examination of the Local Plan took place in December 2019. In accordance with 
paragraph 48 of the NPPF the Draft Plan policies can be afforded weight according 
to: 
-The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation, 
the greater the weight that may be given); 
- The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less 
significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and  
- The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the 
policies in the previous NPPF published in March 2012. (NB: Under transitional 
arrangements plans submitted for examination before 24 January 2019 will be 
assessed against the 2012 NPPF).   
 
2.10  The following policies within the 2018 Draft Plan which are directly and most 
relevant to the consideration of this proposal can be attributed moderate weight:  
 
 DP2  Sustainable Development  
 DP3   Sustainable Communities 
 SS3            York City Centre  

HW1  Protecting Existing Facilities 
 D1  Placemaking  
 D2  Landscape and Setting 
 D4  Conservation Areas 
 D5   Listed Buildings 
 D6  Archaeology 
 D7  The significance of Non-designated Heritage Assets  
 D10  York City Walls and St Marys Abbey Walls (York Walls) 
 D11  Extensions and alterations to existing buildings 
 GI1  Green Infrastructure 
 GI3  Green Infrastructure Network 
 GI4  Trees and Hedgerows 
 ENV1 Air Quality 
 ENV2 Managing Environmental Quality 
 ENV3 Land Contamination  
 ENV4 Sustainable Drainage 
 CC1  Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation and Storage 
 CC2  Sustainable Design and Construction of New Development 
 T1  Sustainable Access 
 T2  Strategic public transport improvement 
 T3  York Railway Station and associated operational facilities 

T6 Development at or near public transport corridors, interchanges 
and facilities 

 
2.11  The following policies are also relevant to the planning application. They have 
outstanding objections but are consistent with national policy and can therefore be 

Page 49



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

given limited weight (the objections will be resolved through the Local Plan 
Examination process). 
SS1 – Delivering Sustainable Growth for York 
SS4 - York Central 
 
Emerging local plan evidence base 
 
2.12  The evidence base that underpins the emerging policies is a material 
consideration and can be afforded weight in determining this application. The 
evidence base documents relevant to this application are: 
 
Note: References are as per the Core Document Library submitted to the Planning 
Inspectorate for the examination of the Local Plan. 
 
Economy and Retail  
 
SD069 - York City Centre Movement and Accessibility Framework Strategy and 
Proposals (2011) 
 
Transport and Communications 
 
SD074 – City of York Council Local Transport Plan 3 2011-2031 (2011) 
 
Transport and Infrastructure 
 
SD128 - Infrastructure Delivery Plan (May 2018) 
 
Placemaking Heritage and Culture 
 
SD103 – City of York Heritage Topic Paper Update (September 2014) 
 
Green Infrastructure  
 
SD080 City of York Local Biodiversity Action Plan (2017) 
 
Environmental Quality and Flood Risk  
 
SD093 – City of York Council Low Emission Strategy (2012) 
 
Climate Change  
 
SD116 – A Climate Change Action Plan for York (2010) 
 
Conservation Area Appraisal  
 

Page 50



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

2.13  The York Central Historic Core Conservation Area (YCHCCA) was adopted by 
the Planning Committee in November 2011 and provides additional controls to help 
preserve, enhance and protect the settings.  The YCHCCA appraisal defines the 
unique characteristics that make York so special.  The conservation area boundary 
in the railway area has been extended to include the former locomotive works (off 
Queen Street) (Railway Institute) and railway station platforms and canopy.   
 
-  York Central Historic Core Conservation Area Part One- Understanding the 
City  

- Character Area No. 22: Railway Area 
- Character Area No. 23: Blossom Street and Nunnery Lane 

- York Central Historic Core Conservation Area Part Two- Management 
Strategy 
 
2.14  The management recommendations in Part Two: Management Strategy 
considers the threats to the character and appearance of the buildings and 
archaeology in the Conservation Area and identifies management tools for 
addressing these. Streets and spaces (Section 5.10) are identified as detracting 
from the character, appearance and experience of the conservation area.  The 
‘Station Approach and Memorial Gardens’ is identified as a key civic space and a 
priority for improvement. This is described as a disappointing way to arrive into the 
city with highways, public transport, landscape and public realm should be 
integrated to create an attractive pedestrian-centric place making the most of the 
gardens and ramparts. One of the priorities include the reorganisation of the 
crowded station forecourt to improve movement and interchange between modes of 
transport dominated.   
 
Other documents/guidance considered to be of relevance  
 
- Department for Transport Cycle Infrastructure Design: Local Transport Note 1/20 
July 2020 
 
2.15  This national guidance provides five overarching design principles; Coherent, 
Direct, Safe, Comfortable and Attractive with inclusive design and accessibility 
running through all these to provide infrastructure that caters for the broadest range 
of people.  
 
- Historic England Guidance 
Conservation Principles Policies and Guidance for the sustainable management of 
the historic environment (April 2008) 
 
2.16  This guidance identifies four types of heritage value that an asset may hold: 
aesthetic, communal, historic and evidential value and help to decide the most 
efficient and effective way of managing the heritage asset to sustain its overall value 
to society.  

Page 51



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
- Conservation Development Strategy (2013) 
 
2.17  There is an existing Conservation Development Strategy that was prepared by 
John Ives of PPIY Limited, on behalf of East Coast Main Line Company, in 
association with the City of York Council, the Railway Heritage Trust and Network 
Rail with input from Historic England.  This Strategy sets outs the historical 
development and current use of the station, its approach and the Queen Street 
works area and establishes the inherent characteristics and heritage significance of 
the station and its surrounds. 
 
- The Queen Street Bridge and its Environs Report: an archaeological, historical and 
technical study dated 01.03.2018 
 
2.18  This report provides an understanding of the technical, historical and 
archaeological aspects of the Queen Street Bridge to help inform elements of the 
scheme design, particularly the demolition and reconstruction of the highway at 
grade.  It is not considered to carry any weight in the determination of the 
application, but provides background information in respect to Queen Street Bridge.  
 
 
3.0 CONSULTATIONS 

 
INTERNAL 
 
Forward Planning 
 
3.1  The emerging plan’s preparation is at an advanced stage and there are a lack 
of significant objection to the emerging policies relevant to this application (DP2, 
DP3, SS3, HW1, D1, D4, D5, D6, D7, D10, D11, CC1, CC2, ENV1, ENV2, ENV3, 
ENV4, ENV5, T2, T3 and T6) which are consistent with the Framework and 
therefore should be applied with moderate weight.   
 
3.2  Draft policy SS4: York Central can only be afforded limited weight. Although 
consistent with national policy, this policy has outstanding objections, which will be 
resolved through the Local Plan Examination. 
 
3.3  The applicant has now submitted information in relation to carbon reduction and 
sustainable design and construction to address draft policies CC1 and CC2.  They 
both apply to the proposed multi storey car park.  Policy CC1 requires all new 
buildings to achieve a reasonable reduction in carbon emissions of at least 28% 
unless it can be demonstrated that this is not viable. The 28% reduction relates to 
reduction through renewable energy sources, but can also be achieved through a 
combined package including energy efficiency which is set out in Policy CC2. For 
non-residential buildings, the 28% reduction applies and in meeting this, Policy CC2 

Page 52



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

sets out that BREEAM Excellent (or equivalent) should be achieved.  It has been 
agreed that an alternative method of assessment, CEEQUAL which assesses the 
design and construction of civil engineering works, landscaping and public ream, is 
a more appropriate assessment scheme, falling under the ‘or equivalent’ of Policy 
CC2.  Whilst BREEAM and CEEQUAL are two different types of assessment 
schemes and the scoring systems cannot be compared, it is our view that as for 
BREEAM, excellent should be sought for CEEQUAL assessments. This is in line 
with the aim of the policies set out in the Local Plan to be ambitious in their 
requirements for new developments to reflect the national commitment to reducing 
carbon emissions and the Council’s ambitions to tackle climate change in York. 
However, it is noted that the different levels of Awards should not be seen as inferior 
to each other when comparing as they are both beyond the legal minimum of 
environmental and social performance in the industry. Should, in the planning 
balance ‘very good’ be considered appropriate this standard still represents 
advanced good practice so is to be welcomed. 
 
3.4  To ensure compliance with Policy HW1 it is considered that the replacement of 
the Railway Institute Band Room should be secured by condition. 
 
Design, Conservation and Sustainable Development (Conservation Architect) 
 
3.5  Removal of Queen Street Bridge- No objections are raised to this element of the 
application. Its removal will enhance the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area and the setting of the various heritage assets affected by the 
proposals.  The re-levelling will, certainly, better reveal the significance of the 
heritage assets in line with Para. 200 of the Framework. 
 
3.6  Parcel Square- the existing office building and Cycle Heaven is of very limited 
significance.  A modernist façade infill is proposed with canopy for taxi drop off.  It is 
stated that the design development arose from a desire to reinstate symmetry 
resulting in the infill facade being set back behind the dominant and buttressed shed 
wall. The new facade is designed to be a relatively strong form in itself but with an 
infill character which is deferential to the massing and materials of the adjacent 
buildings. Key horizontal features on the existing buildings have also informed 
design development. 
 
3.7  This is a considered approach to context and a modern, innovative design 
solution that I continue to be supportive of. Most importantly, in my view, the 
proposal reflects the original design intention for the station by allowing the flank 
(buttressed walls) and the porte cochère to remain the dominant features. The 
proposal, whilst inventive and of its time, reinforces the idea that this was originally 
an ‘opening’ between the principal elements. The design is recessive enough to 
reflect the original design intention and that the simple monochrome colour palette 
reinforces this. The design better reveals the significance of the railway station 
(Paragraph 200 NPPF) by providing a greater understanding of the original design 

Page 53



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

intention; allowing the principal elements to remain primary; and, referencing the 
original ‘open’ nature of this part of the station. 
 
3.8  Multi Storey Car Park - I am supportive of this element of the application as the 
proposed design reflects the history and the buildings of the site which, I believe, 
allows it to fit into its context. Although the views towards the station will be altered, 
as you approach by train from the south, I think this has been sensitively handled 
with no resultant harm to the setting of the station. In fact significance is better 
revealed in other ways, due to the proposed MSCP being aligned with the original 
(and lost) track layout. 
 
3.9  The choice of materials palette is appropriate in this location and the vertical 
emphasis and rhythmic bay pattern is simple and reflects the functional Victorian 
buildings that survive and the others that once occupied the site. As the design is 
not completely resolved, conditions will be required. 
 
Design, Conservation and Sustainable Development (Archaeology) 
 
3.10  York Station and the surrounding area is located within a designated Area of 
Archaeological Importance.  These comments specifically deal with the impact to 
below-ground heritage assets and the City Walls. 
 
3.11  Preliminary observations noted that the location of the proposed MSCP has 
been excluded from the desk-based assessment, however archaeological 
evaluation adjacent to the site has identified the presence of burials and it therefore 
there is high probability that Roman burials will survive within the footprint of the 
proposed decked car park.  At this stage, the LPA we are unable to make an 
informed decision on the impact of the decked car park on sub-surface 
archaeological deposits.   
 
3.12  The applicant has carried out a desk-based assessment and several rounds of 
intrusive evaluation (comprising trenches, test pits and boreholes as well as 
monitoring of GI works) confirmed that there is the potential for well-preserved 
deposits to exist across the area but 19th century railway and associated works have 
truncated or removed large amounts of the archaeological resource.   
 
3.13  York Archaeological Trust (YAT) have undertaken investigations at tower 13 
(Tofts Tower) to record the foundations of Tofts Tower and adjacent City Walls. This 
provided further information on the rebuilding of the tower and depth of foundation. 
Monitoring work has taken place over the past year to provide baseline data on 
general levels of movement of the wall and rampart.  Monitoring will continue to take 
place during the proposed works in Queen Street area to alert engineers to any 
unusual movement within the ramparts or the City Walls themselves.  
 

Page 54



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

3.14  Ground investigations works around the Unipart building were monitored in 
2018 by YAT; no archaeological features were noted. Specific archaeological 
evaluation took place during June-July 2020 in this area as part of the York Central 
scheme; a Roman burial was located c.800mm below modern ground surface on the 
north-west edge of the building.  A Roman pit was also noted in the deepest part of 
an evaluation trench on the north-east side. 
 
3.15  An archaeological evaluation was carried out on the site of the (now) proposed 
MSCP which confirmed that railway buildings (in this instance fitting sheds) survive 
beneath the modern car park make up levels.  It was noted that re-deposited Roman 
material was noted in trenches outside of the shed footprints confirming the 
presence of disturbed Roman archaeology in this area. A layer of organic material 
(peat and silt) was noted in the SE corner of the plot and the nature of this material 
is still under investigation.  Results from wider deposit modelling studies in the 
adjacent York Central site suggest this material my form part of a kettle hole and will 
require further investigation. 
 
3.16  In summary, these investigations have proved that there is the potential for 
organic deposits, pockets of isolated in-situ Roman material, including burials, to 
survive outside of landscaped areas and 18th century building footprints.  The 
proposed demolitions, construction works, and service diversion/creation all have 
the potential to negatively impact on any surviving archaeological resource.  This 
resource will largely relates to the Roman period and 19th century railway 
archaeology. 
 
3.17 An archaeological watching brief will be required on all ground works including 
grubbing up of any foundations following initial demolition, installation of service and 
construction.  A burial license should be applied for in advance should in-situ burial 
removal be required.  
 
3.18  An archaeological excavation will be required in areas where significant 
archaeological deposits survive which are unable to be preserved in situ.  Time must 
be allowed for excavation of deposits and recording of features/structures including 
19th century railway infrastructure.  
 
3.19  In the area of the proposed car park further palaeo-environmental assessment 
and dating of the organic deposit noted in the evaluation will be required to 
investigate the kettlehole in this area and try to better understand the state of 
preservation of this deposits.  Given the current difficulties on gaining intrusive 
access to this car park area this can take place as part of the mitigation excavation.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

Design, Conservation and Sustainable Development (Landscape Architect) 
 
3.20  Following the revised plans it is noted that the most significant change to the 
landscape proposals is the greater dominance of the cycle ways which are wider 
and more delineated (segregated two-way).   
 
3.21  The improved functionality provided by the scheme at the station frontage is 
naturally welcomed.  The design is simple, but strong and considered suited to the 
scale and practical complexity of the scheme, and the sensitivity of the built context.  
The key elements being the trees, the paving, the planting, and street furniture so it 
is vital that these elements are of high quality design and standard. The public 
presentation boards and visuals include trees of an established size and there is an 
expectation for this to be realised since the amenity of the development depends 
considerably on the establishment of mature greenery.  
 
3.22  The inclusion and establishment of a line of large trees between the bus stops 
and taxi rank are critical to the success of the landscaping scheme and mitigation for 
the visual impact of 10 the lanes of traffic (including the cycle lanes), and for the 
amenity and comfort of users. 
 
3.23  The removal of the Queen Street Bridge presents an opportunity to introduce 
tree cover within an area (city walls) that could not previously accommodate it.  The 
city walls are identified within the Green Corridors update March 2013, as a green 
infrastructure corridor of district significance (ref: 11 – ‘City walls’). Previously 
planted wildflower plugs have successfully established on the ramparts alongside 
Queen Street. The landscape proposals include the application of a wild flower mix 
on the proposed rampart earthworks. In order to encourage the establishment of 
desirable wildflower species in a species-rich sward, on the re-graded ramparts, the 
top layer of soil should not be too nutritionally rich since this would encourage 
vigorous growth of coarse grasses and pernicious weeds, so it would be advisable 
to include a request for the specification of the landscape operations in this area of 
work within the landscape scheme.   
 
3.24  In regards to existing tree, the two most significant trees within the influence of 
the site are the large, mature London Plane trees located at the foot of the ramparts 
on Station Road near to Ivy Cottage (identified as G10 on the tree survey).  There is 
concern that the retaining wall wrapping part way round Ivy Cottage is within the root 
protection area (RPA) of G10.  Whilst there are outline suggestions in the tree 
survey for general tree protection measures, a fully detailed arboricultural method 
statement would need to be submitted and approved before commencement of 
development.   
 
3.25  I have previously requested planting details of the trees, however none are 
forthcoming.  It is understood that the trees will be planted into the ground and there 
will be raised beds in between them.  If trees are to be contained within raised beds 

Page 56



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

they will not achieve a sizeable canopy and present additional maintenance costs 
and be compatible with retained existing and proposed utilities.   Shrub/herbaceous 
planting within raised beds is welcome, but there must be confirmation that there will 
be the financial commitment and operational capacity to maintain theses in 
perpetuity since these are also fundamental to the amenity of the scheme. 
 
3.26  Further details need to be clarified in respect to the extension to the cholera 
burial ground, which will assist in guiding pedestrians towards the new main 
crossing point.  Previous revisions included two new trees however the latest 
landscape plans they appear to have been omitted.  The trees would be a welcome 
addition to the treescape and further assist the movement of pedestrians and help 
blend the new with the old. Additionally, a low level hedge planting along the outer 
edge of the entire burial ground is recommended, which can reduce the influence of 
the traffic on this green space and make it more appealing for general use.  
 
3.27  The introduction of a 3m wide segregated, two-way cycle lane through the 
archway now disrupts the space and setting to the city walls and it is queried 
whether this is entirely necessary at the expense of free movement across the 
pedestrian public space. 
 
3.28  The activity and three dimensional aspect of the passage of vehicles, cyclists 
and pedestrians will also reduce the visual impact of this expanse of hard standing, 
as will the variety in the surface materials, scales and textures. To this end the use 
of tarmacadam for the vehicle routes is most practical, which will contrast with the 
York stone paving, the quality of which would have an aesthetic appeal in itself, 
especially if combined with suitably selected street furniture and trees. 
 
3.29  There is a lot of tactile paving, so for aesthetic reasons it would be 
advantageous if this could be in stone to match the paving, as suggested in the 
landscape plan graphics.  
 
3.30  It appears that no details for street furniture have been provided. I assume 
these would be approved at a later date, however it would be good to know what the 
intentions are here to be sure that these items are not an afterthought. Therefore I 
suggest that details are agreed under a pre-commencement condition if possible. 
 
3.31  I would like reassurance that the proposed tree planting across the entire 
scheme can definitely be delivered. Whilst this may not be a remit of the 
development, the proposed development would be a very different animal without 
any street trees – thus the applicant should provide sufficient detail to show that it is 
feasible to plant the trees into the ground where they are located within paved 
areas, that would provide suitable volumes of growing medium that will aid the 
successful establishment of the trees and sustain them in to maturity.  Additionally, 
confirmation of the responsibility for watering and maintenance of the raised beds at 
tea room Square would be useful at this stage; the oval beds with integral seating 

Page 57



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

and multi-stemmed trees provides a valuable quantity of seating and effective 
greening of the square. 
 
3.32  All of this information must be provided as an essential pre-commencement 
condition, if not before determination. These details would also need to be approved 
for the purposes of highway adoption. 
  
3.33  The possibility to accommodate some trees between the vehicular highway on 
Queen Street and the terraced properties should be investigated. If feasible, this 
would improve the amenity of the street and provide some separation between the 
main highway and the terraced properties thus helping to define the street and 
improve the visual and physical environment for residents.   
 
Design, Conservation and Sustainable Development (Ecology) 
 
3.34  Bat surveys undertaken in 2017/18 and 2020 have identified that the site does 
not provide any suitable habitat for foraging/commuting for bats and low level activity 
was identified.  A survey in 2017 found a single pipistrelle day roost within the York 
RI gymnasium building, however the proposals at this time did not seek alterations 
to this building. The York RI band room has been identified for demolition located 
approximately 10m south and there is potential for disturbance through noises and 
vibration during the demolition process.  This building has been identified as having 
high potential to support roosting bats which could occupy the building in the future 
and method statement/reasonable avoidance measures to avoid negative impacts 
on bats recommended.  
 
3.35  Surveys undertaken in 2020 found similar low levels of bat activity, however no 
roosts were found within the York RI Band room building, York RI Gymnasium 
building or the water tower. Due to the mobile nature of bats and the timing of the 
2020 survey works a precautionary approach is still recommended for the demolition 
of the York RI band room and the RI Gymnasium in the form of Reasonable 
Avoidance Measures (RAM).   
 
Public Protection  
 
- Air Quality  
3.36  An air quality assessment has been undertaken to consider the potential 
changes in air quality arising from the construction and operation of the proposed 
scheme. Mitigation measures have been suggested, where appropriate, to ensure 
any adverse effects on air quality are minimised.  A condition relating to a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for minimising the creation 
of noise, vibration and dust during any demolition, site preparation and construction 
process is recommended.  
 
 

Page 58



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

- Construction phases  
3.37  The increase in heavy goods vehicle movements would be within the normal 
variation and is a small amount of traffic on this road; the impact will be negligible. 
Consideration of emission associated with construction traffic accessing the site has 
been scoped out of the assessment. Mitigation measures for impacts from dust on 
local sensitive receptors can be adequately managed within a CEMP.   

 
- Operational road traffic emissions 
3.38  There is the potential that the proposed scheme will impact existing air quality 
as a result of road traffic exhaust emissions (such as NO2, PM10 and PM2.5) 
associated with redistribution of traffic around the proposed scheme during the 
operational phase.  The redistribution of road traffic will improve the flow of traffic, 
reducing congestion and idling vehicles in front of the station. The modelling 
indicates that it is likely that pollution will reduce and the long term effect of the 
scheme on air quality would not be significant.  Whilst there is uncertainty over 
future background pollutant concentrations and vehicle emission improvements, on 
balance, based on the sensitivity testing undertaken, we agree with the conclusions 
drawn by the applicant’s consultant in this respect. 
It should be noted that the air quality at some residential properties on Queen Street 
is likely to deteriorate as a result of the scheme due to realignment of the road 
bringing dwellings closer to the carriageway, although such locations are not 
predicted to breach health based objectives.  
 
- Electric Vehicle Charging Facilities 
3.39  The proposed MSCP has changed location and form.  The application states 
that allowances have been made within the infrastructure of the MSCP to 
accommodate EV charging spaces in appropriate locations.  The standards for EV 
charging facilities has changed since our original response; the standards are now 
5% active provision and 5% passive provision (of total number of spaces) (rather 
than requiring a minimum of 2% of all parking spaces to be provided with electric 
vehicle charge points).  We highlight that other MSCP within the city, such as St 
Georges Field, 15% of the spaces will be provided with facilities for charging electric 
vehicles.  It is recommended that at least one publically accessible ‘rapid charger’ is 
installed within the site boundary for use by general motorists and to facilitate the 
uptake of electric taxis in the city, which can be secured by condition.   
 
- Noise and Vibration 
3.40  The noise monitoring locations and methodology are acceptable, as well as 
the methodology used within the assessment. Additional information has been 
provided identifying the proposed mitigation measures to reduce noise levels at 
receptor R1 (Queen Street residences), where the predicted noise levels are 
predicted to be at times 23dB above the threshold set against existing noise levels 
within this area.  We are happy for the CEMP condition to be applied.  
 

Page 59



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

3.41  The consultant has advised on the predicted noise levels, with noise mitigation 
measures at Receptors R2 (Oxford House, Lowther Terrace) and this is accepted. 
 
3.42  R3 is a local hotel business that does rely on providing hotel accommodation 
for guests; including resting space as well as sleeping space. The consultant has 
provided some additional information on the noise levels that have been predicted at 
R3 and the measures that can be taken to reduce noise levels during the day. 
Further work will be required on the noise mitigation measures however I am 
confident that by employing the correct noise mitigation measures within this area 
that noise from the works can be reduced to a level that would not have an adverse 
impact on the operation of the hotel. 
 
- Contaminated Land 
3.43  The consultant identifies a number of potential contamination sources; railway 
use, burial grounds, made ground and current use. Further investigation is 
recommended including a detailed unexploded ordnance (UXO) study and a ground 
investigation to characterise thickness and nature of made and natural superficial 
materials, investigate ground water profiles through ground water monitoring, 
assess soil contamination to inform re-use or disposal, nature retaining walls and 
retained material, investigate backfill, earthworks and voids associated with Queen 
Street Bridge.  We consider that Phase 1 report to be acceptable and recommend 
that planning conditions relating to land contamination are attached to planning 
permission.  
 
Highways Network Management  
 
3.44  Initially concerns were raised in respect to the detailed design of the proposed 
walking and cycle routes, bus stop bypass design and taxi drop off.  Requests were 
made to ensure that there was adequate provision for car, motorcycle and cycle 
parking as well as electric vehicle charging points and more detail on construction 
traffic. 
 
3.45  Revised comments in respect to the scheme include: 
 
- Walk and cycle routes  
3.46  The existing vehicle crossing at 14 Queen Street which serves the rear of 
No’s. 14, 15 and 16, through an archway is to be retained for all three phases and it 
is likely to lead to regular conflicting movements between cyclists, pedestrians and 
vehicles on Queen Street (including frequent bus services.  The applicant has 
submitted additional information and options that whilst not providing a full solution, 
improves visibility and offers options to address remaining safety issues. There is no 
highway objection on safety grounds subject to a full road safety audit to consider 
the scheme as a whole and specifically to include the private vehicular access on 
Queen Street. 
 

Page 60



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

3.47  The revised drawings show much improved facilities for cyclists generally in 
line with LTN 1/20 principles; some details will need to be revised (in line with LTN 
1/20 and for all three phases) to ensure that priorities are made clear between 
pedestrians, cyclists and drivers; this can be conditioned alongside the adoptable 
road layout details.    
 
3.48  The land between Scarborough Bridge and the North train shed is not within 
the control of the applicant and whilst this remains an issue, it is not possible to 
include a dedicated cycle route and improved pedestrian facilities in this area 
(between tea Room Square and Scarborough Bridge).   
 
3.49  The revised design has improved and created a wider route for pedestrians 
and cyclists between Lowther Terrace and Queen Street.  Suggest that appropriate 
street slighting and CCTV to be provided and secured via conditions.  
 
3.50  Provision of cycling parking for Network Rail is now in a more appropriate 
location and details should be confirmed through condition.  In regards to cycle 
parking at the Station, the proposals indicate that this will be provided at the current 
level.  However an aim of the scheme is to increase cycling to the station and cycle 
parking provision should be increased/improved accordingly; this should include the 
temporary car park as well as the north and South train shed.  As a minimum a 
condition should secure the level of cycle parking remains the same as currently 
offered, within the provision including a mix of Sheffield stands (including wider 
areas for adapted bikes) and two tier racks.  
 
3.51  Other cycle links and routes (including the bus stop bypass design) have been 
reviewed and is in line with best practice.   
 
- Taxis, buses, drop-off and servicing 
3.52  There is adequate taxi stacking facilities in the taxi rank, supported by possible 
additional stacking capacity to the rear of the MSCP.  Goods servicing in Tea Room 
Square will have loading limited to evening and night time periods only; a traffic 
regulation order (TRO) will be required via condition.   
 
3.53  The loop around the RI would be looked at being adopted with the Council 
becoming the enforcing authority as bus routes will be using the loop to turn around 
at the station, however if the road is not adopted a planning condition is requested to 
ensure the station manager enforces parking restrictions.  
 
- Car Parking 
3.54  There is a risk that cars accessing the MSCP would queue on the loop road 
alongside the RI at peak times and blocking buses and other traffic; as a pay on exit 
operated by ANPR there should not be a need for traffic to queue to get in, but 
should be secured by condition to address this potential problem.  The access to 

Page 61



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

motorcycle parking is unclear but details can be secured by condition. All EV 
charging should be conditioned.  
 
- Construction Phase 
3.55  The transport Assessment concludes that construction traffic will be negligible 
or minor in the context of existing traffic flows.  Detailed information on construction 
traffic (routes, vehicle types, etc) and a comprehensive construction management 
plan, taking account of the needs of all road users during the construction phases is 
required and can be secured by condition. 
 
Bar Walls Manager  
 
3.56  Need to ensure that reports about the monitoring of Tofts Tower are received.  
The emergency procedures are satisfactory and are covered by the Schedule 
Monument Consent Strategy.  
 
Flood Risk Management Team 
 
3.57  Evidence should be submitted via conditions to discount the use of infiltration, 
in areas of the site where new drainage is required, the ground is typically made up 
of clay-based deposits with low permeability.  There are three areas of concern 
which should be subject to design mythology within the Council’s SuDS Guidance, 
and includes the area of Parcel Square and the short stay car park and taxi 
rank/drop-off, the MSCP and the temporary car park following the demolition of the 
Unipart building. The drainage design for these three areas should be considered 
alongside public sewer diversion works and water supply apparatus protection 
measures.  
 
3.58  The development will also require build over and diversion of significant public 
sewers therefore these will be subject to Yorkshire Water requirements and formal 
procedure in accordance with Section 185 Water Industry Act 1991.  There are also 
combined sewer overflows (CSO), under the control of Yorkshire Water, located 
near to the site. Vehicular access, including with large tankers, could be required at 
any time. 
 
Economic Development 
 
3.59  No comments received. 
 
Emergency Planning  
 
3.60  No comments but it is noted that the site is not within a flood risk area, 
although the access is.  
 
EXTERNAL  

Page 62



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
Micklegate Planning Panel 
 
3.61  No objections but comments are made citing;  
 
- the bus stops are positioned too far from the station, there should be undercover 
access and the shelters should be of adequate size to accommodate the maximum 
numbers that could be expected at peak periods 
- it is welcome that improvements have been made particularly in relation to cycle 
provision 
- MSCP; will be visually dominant even if constructed in similar materials to adjacent 
structures. Car parking capacity should be reviewed in light of likely post covid-19 
working patterns and that the Council is encouraging alternative means of transport.  
The temporary parking facilities could be retained on a longer term so car parking 
requirements can be more accurately assessed. 
- Parcel Square Infill appears forced rather than mannered; this section of the 
building would never be read visually with the Ladies Tea Room so it seem 
irrelevant to echo it.  A simple elegant treatment allowing the historic elements to 
stand out would be a much better option.  Consideration should be given to the 
provision of canopies to maximise undercover access.   
- Provision for disabled people; disabled parking days are a long way off from station 
entrance and covered access routes should be provided where possible and 
covering for a setting down point for disabled passengers.  Resting places should be 
provided for people with limited mobility.  Should meet best practice guidelines set 
out in BS8300-2:2018 Design for an accessible and inclusive environment Part2: 
Buildings Code of Practice 20.2 Transport related buildings. 
- The landscape design should take every available opportunity to include trees 
around the site. 
 
Holgate Planning Panel 
 
3.62  No objections are raised to the scheme. 
 
Historic England  
 
3.63  Overall we object to the application on heritage grounds; the application does 
not meet the NPPF and in particular paras. 124, 127, 131, 185, 189, 192-194 and 
200. Detailed comments include:  
 
- Removal of Queen Street Bridge  
3.64  Remain supportive of this part of the proposal and continue to agree that its 
removal and implementation of associated works can enhance the significance of 
this part of the Central Historic Core Conservation Area, the city wall and setting of 
the railway station. We consider our pre-application discussions have generated an 
acceptable level of understanding with regard to the city wall, Tofts Tower, rampart 

Page 63



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

and the Victorian retaining walls. We now consider that the proposed phased 
removal of Queen Street bridge and the repeated structural monitoring to be 
undertaken during the removal can be undertaken in such a way that the risk to the 
stability of the has been removed. Concern remains (relatively minor concern given 
the scale of the overall scheme) concerning the lack of detail to the proposed public 
realm improvements to the retaining wall to the reinstated rampart.  
 
3.65  We are happy to defer to the City of York Archaeologist who has provided a 
very good archaeological assessment of the impact of the whole scheme and 
proposed a sensible archaeological strategy.  
 
- Parcel Square 
3.66  Demolitions proposed for Parcel Square is considered an enhancement and 
we are supportive of the principle of relocating the taxi rank to this location. The 
revised proposal is intended to mirror the 1906 Ladies tea room on the opposite side 
of the main entrance.  It is a contemporary version of that feature and seeks to 
regularise the distinctive facetted from.  The aim is for it to be a strong, solid façade 
but with an infill character.  The front fascia of the façade aligns with the string 
course of the adjacent building.  The addition of a butterfly pitched canopy with a 
timber clad soffit is intended to add some visual warmth.  We remain unconvinced 
that the scheme better enhance or reveal significance and that as a new 
development in a distinctive place, the design and detailing should be attempting to 
better reveal the significance of York station.  In terms of materials, we agree with 
the proposed enamelled metal panels to clad the façade; the dark grey will be 
recessive and reflect the station roof and south shed gable. Sample panel should be 
supplied for inspection to understand how the enamel coating will be applied to the 
metal and the robustness of this technique. 
 
3.67  Further information on design and materials for the proposed Parcel Square 
entrance façade is required and is fundamental to the success of design from a 
heritage significance perspective.  There is a need for safeguards to ensure the 
Parcel Square façade is not ‘value engineered’ out of the final scheme due to cost 
savings.  
 
- Multi Storey Car Park 
3.68  Revised design is considerable improvement on the previous design 
submitted.  Alan Baxter’s Conservation Development Strategy (CDS) (2019/20) 
refers to some qualities and principles that should be followed when considering any 
new development at the Queen Street site. These seem to have been taken into 
account and makes a convincing argument. It is a simplified design with strong 
vertical emphasis that works well.  Red brick is the right choice of material.  It is not 
clear how the articulation around the wall openings is to be detailed, similarly the 
parapet detailing lacks definition. Clarification on the material or surface treatment 
for the stair/lift tower and what ‘weathered steel fins’ will look like. Given the 

Page 64



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

sensitivity of the location and scale of intervention, it’s not acceptable for materials 
to be conditioned.  
 
- General comments 
3.69  Concerns remain about lack of strategic thinking between these proposals and 
those being considered by Network Rail/LNER for the station itself, and this is 
particularly evident in the draft status of the CDS, the implication being that none of 
the proposals have been developed and informed by a completed and agreed final 
text on the significance of the building.  
 
3.70  We are supportive of the treatment of space in front of the cottages on Queen 
street by the inclusion of railings.  
 
Council for British Archaeology (CBA)  
 
3.71  Broadly supportive of the proposals to enhance the existing York station 
frontage and the proposed demolition of Queen Street Bridge. Concerns are raised 
in respect to the impacts of the proposal on sub-surface archaeology and mitigation 
as well and the harm arising from the decked car park on the significance and 
setting of multiple designated heritage assets within the application site. 
 
Planning Casework Unit (PCU) 
 
3.72  No comments to make on the environmental statement. 
 
Network Rail 
 
3.73  No comments received. 
 
Environment Agency 
 
3.74  No objections however the Environmental Statement does not address 
groundwater and contamination as these have been scoped out of the EIA.  These 
are not considered as topics in within the CEMP and we request that the final CEMP 
is updated to include these.  
 
Yorkshire Water 
 
3.75  The submitted Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy (report dated 28 
November 2018) is acceptable.  On the Statutory Sewer Map there are a number of 
significant public sewers recorded to cross the site and it is essential that the 
presence of this infrastructure is taken into account in the design of the scheme. It 
would appear that the majority of the public sewers are unlikely to be affected by 
building-over proposals. The developer may need to pay for movement of meters to 

Page 65



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

the railway site and consider how deep the private supply from the meters to 
buildings on the site will be at this point and access requirements. 
 
Designing out Crime 
 
3.76  Comments from North Yorkshire Designing out Crime officer is in collaboration 
with the British Transport Police (BTP) and regional Counter Terrorism Security 
Advisor (CTSA).  The crime issues at this location include violence and theft, with 
antisocial behaviour a major problem.   
 
3.77  Keys areas of concern in the proposals include: 
- minimising the risk of bottlenecks and anti-social behaviour 
- seating should be kept to a minimum or at least carefully positioned and not allow 
items to be placed beneath it and to not allow full stretching out, so as not to attract 
rough sleepers and beggars, and move this issue closer to the station 
- key areas such as the taxi rank and MSCP should be covered with adequate 
CCTV; these are hotspot areas for assaults and verbal arguments.  
- careful consideration for tree planting as they can block certain views on CCYTV 
systems  
- accessibility in emergencies for BTP emergency response vehicles; their relocation 
is logical but there needs to be a clear driving route and have the ability to leave at 
speed.  Tea Room Square will still be used for deliveries and could be heavily 
pedestriansed  
- the taxi rank could become a bottleneck at peak times with queues forming whilst 
still providing having to provide a through route for access to/from the short and long 
stay parking 
- currently the taxi rank is a franchise system run by LNER; there will need to be 
adequate signage to warn taxi drivers from different companies as to their rights in 
this area 
- the tram shelter has been the focus of rough sleepers for a long time.  It is noted 
that it is to be retained; consideration should be given to its removal or conversion to 
a retail use so that is does not continue to be misused 
 
3.78  Measures to counter the threat from terrorism have been discussed during 
pre-application stage, however the recommendations from this process are not for 
public dissemination, but the LPA must take them into account when considering the 
design of the station frontage. It is recommended that a pre-commencement 
condition secures counter terrorism security measures into the development. 
  
Conservation Area Advisory Panel (CAAP) 
 
3.79  Generally disappointed for the proposals relating to Parcel Square and that 
there is no coherent policy for the whole station as well as the lack of any joined up 
thinking between these proposals and those being considered by Network 
Rail/LNER for the station itself.  There are several references to a new Conservation 

Page 66



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

Development Strategy for the station and it would be good to see this and relate it to 
the proposals.  Overall the proposals were considered unworthy of this grade II* 
listed building. 
 
3.80  The Panel welcomed the removal of Queen Street Bridge but would like to see 
proposed design of new bus shelters and indication on paving of the former railway 
structures and layout.  The MSCP was too high generally although the proposal is 
accepted.  The long term viability of a car park of this capacity was questioned in 
light of apparent aspirations for the York Central site.  The Parcel Square doesn’t 
appear to be a major entrance into the station and is one of a store room and 
small/inadequate exit corridor.  The panel were not convinced by the proposed use 
of vitreous cladding panels 
 
York Civic Trust  

 
3.81  Despite many aspects of the application as beneficial to the understanding of 
the city’s heritage as well as providing improved transport and traffic connectivity the 
Trust maintains their objection for the following reasons: 
 
- Parcel Square 
3.82  The replacement structure for Parcel Square remains disappointing 
architecturally, with a provision of utilitarian retail spaces being detrimental to the 
station usage and architecture of the building. As modern design they are 
uninspiring and ‘statement’ architecture it is not. Outlook from the Parcel Square 
façade is mostly redundant and the station would be better served if the storage and 
first class lounge was reconfigured to allow more views out.  Concerns in relation to 
the exit corridor remain. The trust does not believe that public benefits arising from 
changes to the station building have or could be demonstrated; the station is already 
functioning its optimum viable use.  Any wider public benefits could be found outside 
the station building itself and do not depend on the proposed substantial harm to the 
station building.   
 
- Transport  
3.83  Pedestrian and cycle routes are not evident in the proposal (from Lowther 
Terrace to Tea room Square).  
Buses; no commitment to route all park and ride services and all other city-centre 
bus services via the station to provide an effective interchange for all public 
transport. Need an undercover central information point and clear signage to benefit 
a city transport hub.  
Taxis; revisions make much better provision for taxi pick up, but it is not clear where 
the taxis drop off passengers and this should have direct undercover access to the 
station and ensuring that it does not disrupt other traffic movements.  
Servicing of retail units is unclear; should be limited to times when it causes least 
disruption 

Page 67



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

Car users; the proposal is lacking justification for such a high level of parking 
provision at the station; York Central will provide an additional 800 spaces (making a 
total of 1,300 spaces for the station).  Such provision is at odds with the Council’s 
policies on sustainable transport. 
 
3.84  The Trust’s earlier concerns in respect to materials, design and massing for 
the proposed long-stay car park and taxi rank provision have been appeased.  The 
Trust deeply regrets the submission of such a far reaching application as this whilst 
not first holding sufficient consultation with key interest groups namely the Train 
Operating Company (TOC) and the Railway Heritage Trust and the insufficient 
attempt to integrate recent, related transport improvements such as Scarborough 
Bridge and York Central. 
 
3.85  Addendum comments have been received citing that the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority (WYCA) will be assessing all Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) 
against its strategy for achieving net carbon by 2038 (Tackling the Climate 
Emergency: Emission Reductions Pathways Report; WYCA, July 2020).  At present 
the proposals help provide anticipated growth in rail use and stimulate growth in 
walking, cycling and bus use but nothing directly to reduce car use. Network Rail 
require like-for-like replacement of long stay car parking appears to relate to 
revenue requirements.  We recommend that planning permission for the MSCP be 
deferred pending review of implications and alternatives (such as extending park 
and ride services).  
 
Railway Heritage Trust  
 

3.86  No response received. 
 

4.0 REPRESENTATIONS 

 
4.1  The application has been widely publicised by letter, site notice and local press 
notice.  There have been two rounds of publicity.  Any representations that have 
been made at either stage are summarised below.  
 
4.2  A number of local campaign bodies have submitted representations:  
 
York Cycle Campaign 
 
4.3  Original objections cited lack of physical separation and over-reliance on 
painted lanes and shared pedestrian/cycle paths in front of station.  These have now 
been addressed; there is a greater amount of physical segregation across the 
proposal from traffic and pedestrians and we now support the proposals. 
 

Page 68



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

4.4  Comments also make reference to the technical development of the cycle 
infrastructure informed by the new DfT Local Transport Note for Cycle Infrastructure 
Design (LTN 01/20). 
 
4.5  Concerns are raised to the following aspects of the scheme:  
- surfacing of segregated cycleway with stone-setts can be dangerous and 
recommend that asphalt is used.   
- confirmation that current levels of cycle parking provision is maintained through the 
phases including type of cycle parking and an increase in cycle parking provision 
should be sought; there should be a balance mix of two-tier racks and Sheffield 
stands to provide greatest accessibility and usability by all cycle types. Should 
include cargo bike parking. 
- access to and from the station be improved (particularly between the station and 
Scarborough Bridge).  The application should provide an off-road cycleway would 
double cycle level usage which would be in line with the NPPF.   
 
York Environment Forum  
 
4.6  The York Environment Forum set out that the application fails to meet the 
strategic transport needs of the City to achieve modal shift to public transport.  The 
priority given to taxis, cars and car parking over bus provision is contrary to the 
Council’s transport hierarchy in the Local Transport Plan (LTP). The scheme 
appears to have been developed in isolation from the York Central proposals, Local 
Plans and Local Transport Plan and fails to develop a proper bus rail interchange.  
 
4.7  These proposals involve a major worsening of public transport facilities: bus 
stops are being located down the road away from the station and the benefit of 
covered eastbound stops integral with the station is lost.  Limited set of additional 
bus stop capacity is being added, when current number of stops is already 
inadequate at busier times.  A comprehensive interchange is needed so services 
currently terminating elsewhere in the city centre can terminate here with minimum 
turn round delays.  This would begin to deliver the sort of integrated high quality 
public transport.  There are no other development opportunities at the other four 
strategic interchange points within the city centre due to local street constraints. The 
portico should be used as a meet and greet area for people arriving by train with 
onward signing to the bus interchange and stops.  
 
4.8  The application has not adequately addressed potentially conflicting pedestrian, 
cycle, road and vehicle conflicts along the front of the station.    
 
4.9  We welcome the principle of relocating the taxi rank, especially removing the 
tea room square exit arrangement although taxi services should not be given the 
absolute degree of priority over buses.   
 
York Bus Forum 

Page 69



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
4.10  Broadly in support of the scheme and we are unconditionally in favour of 
demolition of Queen Street Bridge. Concerns are raised that the scheme has 
implications for longer-term development towards a bigger, better bus interchange. 
The scheme gives bus facilities and passengers too low a priority at a time when 
there is a clear need for better public transport in York. 
 
4.11  Main areas of concern are: 

a. The proposed pedestrian crossing outside the Portico has disadvantages and 
threatens to close off or compromise too many options for future development 

b. The relative disposition of the taxi rank, drop-off and northbound bus lanes 
threatens to close off or compromise option for future development  

c. The MSCP to compensate for loss of LNER’s long stay parking revenues 
violates every principle of prioritising public transport and de-congesting the 
road network.  

 
4.12  A number of individual businesses/ stakeholders who are located within or 
outside of the site boundary have submitted representations to the application and 
are covered below.  
 
LNER (London North Eastern Railway)  
 
4.13  LNER are the Station Facility Owner responsible for the safe and efficient 
operation of York Station provided comments to the initial proposal citing the 
following concerns: 
- drawings that are submitted are ‘outline’ in nature and contain little substantive 
information (dimensions, specific fabric and material references and specifications 
etc) 
- insufficient sharing of information, detail and timings to allow meaningful 
stakeholder consultation; the programming and phasing need to recognise the 
restrictions imposed by ensuring customer and staff safety, operational efficiency 
and public perception and understanding  
- the scheme delivers minimal benefit to the station or the wider rail network but 
instead delivers direct benefits for the highway in and around the station 
- lack of consideration of the regulated steps and processes for railway investment 
- there must be no reduction in any facilities or utilities at the station and is a 
concern that there is no legal agreement to facilitate this. The facilities affected 
include, but are not limited to: 

- customer facilities such as car parking, cycle parking, a covered taxi 
provision 
- rail staff car parking 
- station operational facilities such as offices, messrooms, locker rooms, stores 
- station tenant facilities such as store and delivery provisions  

- elements of the application may not be progressed due to a lack of funding; these 
underfunded elements are intrinsic to the scheme as they are required to replace 

Page 70



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

the facilities at the station proposed to be removed and presents a potential risk to 
the scheme.  
- it is unclear how this scheme fits with any wider scheme for the station including 
LNER’s funded scheme (ref: 18/00005/LBC). 
 
York Railway Institute (Chairman of Trustees of the York RI Charity) 
 
4.14  York RI supports the objectives of the scheme and appreciates the 
improvements that will result assuming the Masterplan is fully implemented. 
However once the scheme is completed there will be significantly increased traffic 
flow that will create problems with the operation of the Sports Centre and the 
scheme does not offer direct benefit to the York RI. Its implementation will create 
severe disruption to the business to the extent of threating future development plans 
but the continuing operation of both York RI Queen Street and the wider York RI 
charity. The increased noise levels, traffic flow and ongoing disruption to access 
including road closures will deter both current and potential users of our facility, 
potential affecting revenues.     
 
4.15  The York RI band room is home to three brass bands and the Charity will not 
agree to relocate from the band room until we have a suitable alternative which can 
be occupied without incurring additional costs; a proposal is currently with Network 
Rail and the Council.   
 
4.16  Maintaining access to parking throughout the works is an issue; we have 
designated parking within our lease and agreement for twilight parking in the short 
stay car park; there is a need to maintain parking levels through the phasing and 
implementation and upon completion of the scheme. 
 
4.17  The Charity anticipate daily involvement at some stage of the work and as we 
are reliant on volunteers, this is likely to incur additional costs and we have asked 
for assurances that any fees and costs incurred will be fully reimbursed.  
 
4.18  The main RI building is used as living accommodation for the site manager.  
Other practical issues are outstanding such as Fire Risk Assessments and details of 
building reinstatement.  
 
Cycle Heaven 
 
4.19  The managing director of Cycle Heaven supports the principle of the scheme 
as it offers a significant and long overdue improvements in the public realm, 
however they do raise strong concerns in regrds to the detail of the scheme 
including:  
 
4.20  Future viability of Cycle Heaven at the Station;  
- details regarding an alternative location at the station were vague and imprecise 

Page 71



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

- existing premises fronts onto the outside of the station with all the advantages such 
visibility entails, and resultant loss of forecourt and access to a two tier cycle rack for 
storage and display 
- no approach to discuss commercial terms and compensation for costs being 
occurred   
- issues in respect to the proposed new location within the south trainshed; it’s within 
a quiet area, no provision of access, heating, ventilation, running water, WC and 
waste disposal  
- issues surrounding lack of funding to complete the project 
 
4.21  Cycle Infrastructure 
- the provision of segregated cycle lane that was originally intended along Queen 
Street has been removed following pressure from a small number of residents, 
which is a retrograde step and people will not embrace cycling as a form of 
everyday transport if there are no facilities that segregates them from other vehicular 
traffic. 
- no indication of cycle parking within the station despite new structures proposed in 
the current locations of existing cycle parking 
 
4.22  Visual/aesthetic impact of the works 
- materials proposed for Parcel Square is inappropriate to the site 
- storage and retail pods –suggest an approach that will not camouflage or disguise 
the building’s finer features.  
  
Royal Mail  
 
4.23  Concerns that no information is provided as to the longer term effects on the 
highway form road closures and redirected traffic as a result of the proposal and the 
adjacent York Central scheme.  The development will have an impact upon the 
ability of Royal Mail to operate effectively from their existing York Central Delivery 
Office. 
 
Unipart 
 
4.24  Our relocation is based on a facility provided at Northminster Business Park 
and planning permission has not yet been granted.  This will mean that skilled jobs 
will be retained in the city (40-60 currently employed) if the above isn’t secured, jobs 
will be relocated to Crewe.  The new facility at Northminster Business Park needs to 
be constructed and fitted out before the current facility at Leeman Road can be 
closed. (NB. Officers advise that the application referred to above Ref: 
18/02158/FULM was granted approval on 31 May 2019).  
  
Neighbour Notification and Publicity  
 

Page 72



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

4.25  The application has been advertised by site and press notice and neighbour 
notification, and this has been done on two separate occasions.  In total 34 letters of 
representation have been received and can be summarised as follows: 
 
Highways 
- conflict between priority of users and how they will use the infrastructure; 
pedestrians, cyclists, emergency vehicles, buses, all of which will be brought too 
close to the station building  
- changes are needed; the current arrangement is poor for pedestrians, cyclists, 
taxis and buses 
- altering the station to support active travel links to public transport should be our 
priority 
- question necessity of short-term car parking and drop off spaces so near to the 
station (other than specifically for disable people).  Few travel with large items of 
luggage and there are alternative informal areas for drop off and pick up  
- welcome the absence of a bus station which would delay through routes and 
appearance of the listed station  
- the usage of short stay car park will result in congestion and delays to terminating 
buses 
- short stay car park should be located to the ground floor of the MSCP and short 
stay car park for landscaping and longer taxi queues 
- unlikely that the proposals on their own will reduce traffic and improve air quality 
outside the Station  
- suggest a 20mph speed restriction is required past the station 
- suggest the addition of a dedicated cycle route from Scarborough Bridge through 
North Train Shed and Tea Room Square; cyclists can then avoid having to use 
Lendal Gyratory  
 
Multi storey car park 
- impact on both middle and distance views; block view to station  
- if it didn’t have a roof it wouldn’t be such a tall structure and eyesore for local 
residents 
- it is visually intrusive and clash with surrounding historical sensitive area; parking 
to be provided underground as surface car parks are a mis-use of valuable land 
space 
- cause unnecessary pollution issues locally 
- consider moving the car park capacity elsewhere and assess the need for 
additional capacity 
 
Landscaping/Public realm 
- absence of tree planting – the vision is bleak and despite the implied use of 
prestige surfaces and paving its more likely to be dominated by ‘black top’ asphalt 
and pressed concrete kerbing and a forest of road signs 
- pedestrianisation of Tea Room Square unlikely to be achieved due to its continued 
use by service vehicles and cyclists  

Page 73



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
Electric vehicle charging facilities 
- lack of adequate electric vehicle charging points for the amount of parking – 
Council’s guidance is too low and will not meet demand 
- should be at least 3 rapid chargers – if only one there is no back up should it break 
or be in use – lost opportunity to enable electric cars to be viable for taxi drivers 
 
Demolition of RI Band Room  
- any alternative band room facility will need to provide a parking space/loading bay 
to support equipment associated with 3 brass bands (medium- large transit van 
currently used) and should be factored into any decision about any alternative 
facility. Alternatives that have been presented are not considered suitable; available 
at a much higher cost and also be subject to congestion and building site and 
restricted parking.  The Brass Bands are an amateur organisation and does not 
have the financial resources to build a replacement facility; an offer of compensation 
should be made for loss of earning and alternative provision. 
- plenty of space for traffic circulation that could preserve the band room which has 
historic interest and musical importance in the musical life of the city 
- the RI Queen Street site will cease to exist as a social, cultural and sporting centre, 
impacted by construction impacts, site parking and access 
 
Impact on Queen Street properties 
- suggest measures to prevent anti-social behaviour that we currently experience 
and to mitigate noise, privacy and pollution; soft landscaping/trees at kerbside, 
railings in front of houses, installation of CCTV, pavement widening of opposite side 
to encourage pedestrians on bar wall side, payment to cover secondary/triple 
glazing to mitigate noise (some are listed properties so windows cannot be 
replaced) 
- oppose having tree outside due to the impact on daylight it will have on property 
- using existing vehicular access that serves No. 14, 15 and 16 will conflict with 
cyclists and pedestrians; require hatched area to front to retain vehicular access 
- loss of existing parking; alternative and solutions should be provided as this will 
restrict deliveries and general parking for properties.  Micklegate as an alternative is 
not a workable solution and there is a one-way system in place 
- loss of parking devalues houses and there should be independent valuations on 
the properties; and council tax reduction should be offered 
- lack of areas to store wheelie bins 
- operational issues and impacts from taking down the Bridge 
 
5.0 APPRAISAL  

 
5.1  Key Issues: 
 
- Principle of Development  
- Key Aspects of the Scheme  

Page 74



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

  - Removal of Queen Street Bridge and associated works 
  - Parcel Square Infill 
  - Multi storey Car Park (MSCP) 
  - Works to Railway Institute Gymnasium 
  - Demolition of Railway Institute Band Room  

- Substation and refuse store to serve Railway Station 
- Extension to Cholera Burial Ground  
- Retention of Tram Shelter 

- Wider Public Realm and Highway Works 
- Wider Heritage Impacts  
- Archaeology 
- Landscape 
- Ecology  
- Air Quality  
- Noise and Vibration 
- Land Contamination 
- Flood Risk and Drainage 
- Crime 
- Equalities Impact Assessment 
- Development Delivery and Phasing 
- Conclusion of Harm to Heritage Assets (Public Benefits) 
 
PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
5.2  Paragraph 38 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should 
approach decisions on proposed development in a positive and creative way. They 
(LPAs) should work proactively with applicants to secure developments that will 
improve the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area.  Paragraph 
103 of the NPPF sets out that significant development should be focused on 
locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel 
and offering genuine transport modes. This can help reduce congestion and 
emissions, and improve air quality and public health.  
 
5.3  Policy DP2 ‘Sustainable Development’ defines York’s specific aims in meeting 
the sustainable development agenda as set out in the NPPF. One of the key aims is 
to ensure efficient and affordable transport links by prioritising and improving 
strategic public transport, cycle and pedestrian networks as well as conserving, and 
where appropriate enhancing those elements which contribute to the special 
character and setting of the historic city.  
 
5.4  The application site is wholly within the city centre boundary as depicted in the 
City Centre proposals map of the 2018 Draft Plan.  Draft policy SS3 (York City 
Centre) is identified as a priority area for the delivery of economic growth in the 
tourism, leisure and cultural sectors.  This area will remain the focus for town centre 
uses, unless identified on the proposals map. Policy SS3 states that proposals that 

Page 75



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

promote accessibility and movement are encouraged, particularly those that 
prioritise the pedestrian and cycle movements.  There is particular focus on 
improving linkages between key places, such as the railway station, York Central 
and the National Railway Museum, the Minster, Castle Gateway, Hungate and the 
universities.  In particular part xi of the above policy seeks to support the reduction 
of traffic, improve the public transport offer and the delivery of a bus interchange at 
York Railway Station.  
 
5.5  The proposed scheme is primarily focused on the reorganisation of existing 
transport infrastructure around the existing railway station and bus interchange.  The 
key principles of the scheme are to rationalise vehicle, cycle and pedestrian 
movements, improve connectivity and allow for more efficient use of space and 
improvements to the public realm.  There is therefore little change to existing uses 
within the application site, other than the replacement of retail provision within the 
railway station that would otherwise be lost through the demolition of Parcel Square.  
The retail that would be re-provided include the Enterprise office and Cycle Heaven, 
which are both related to the transport provision at this location.  Their provision 
therefore would not detrimentally impact the vitality and viability of the city centre, or 
retail within the Primary Shopping Area or the existing facilities within the railway 
station.  The proposed scheme is therefore consistent with the aims of policy SS3 of 
the 2018 Draft Plan.   
 
5.6  A large proportion of the application site falls also within the site allocation York 
Central Action Area (DCLP 2005) and ST5 York Central, which is to enable the 
delivery of a mixed-used urban quarter providing employment, residential, cultural 
and leisure facilities. The areas of the application site that do not fall within this 
allocation are those of Queen Street (including RI) and the areas around George 
Stephenson House.  Furthermore, the approved outline York Central Planning 
Permission (Ref: 18/01884/OUTM) excludes the railway station and surrounding 
areas including the station car parking and RI gymnasium located to the eastern 
side of the allocation.  
 
5.7  However, there is one specific area that is included within both this application 
site and the York Central site and that is the Uni-part building, located to the rear of 
the railway station with access from Leeman Road. A reserved matters application 
(Ref: 20/00710/REMM) relating to the primary vehicle route and associated roads, 
infrastructure, landscaping and alterations to the existing road network as part of the 
York Central development has been approved.  Under both proposals, this building 
will be demolished; however the current scheme seeks to lay a concrete foundation 
and use this area as a temporary car park, to allow for displaced parking during the 
construction of the multi-storey car park.  
 
KEY ASPECTS OF THE SCHEME 
 

Page 76



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

5.8  Members are reminded that the statutory duties in relation to listed buildings 
and conservation areas are explained in paragraphs 2.1 to 2.3 above. Additional 
central government policy on heritage assets contained in Section 16 of the NPPF is 
set out in paragraphs 2.7  above. 
 
Removal of Queen Street Bridge and associated works 
 
5.9  At the heart of the overall scheme lies the proposed demolition of the Queen 
Street Bridge. The Bridge itself was constructed in 1877-78 to carry traffic over the 
railway tracks that ran through the arches in the City Wall to the Old Station.  The 
Bridge was designed to serve workshops and houses, resulting in cutting into the 
rampart further than what would have been necessary and minimising the height of 
the bridge so not to impeded horse-drawn traffic due to a significant gradient.  The 
first modification to the bridge was in 1910-11 when it was widened and adapted for 
trams, employing reinforced concrete construction.   There is evidence that the 
reinforced concrete techniques did not age well, and it was at this point (1946) 
where proposals to demolish the bridge were first proposed, with a low level road in 
its place.  However it was considered that it was cheaper to strengthen and repair 
the Bridge.   
 
5.10  The YCHCCA character area 22 (Railway Area) Appraisal identifies the bridge 
as a weakness to the area noting that it is now obsolete and detrimental to the 
setting of the City walls and nearby Listed Buildings.  The bridge is not built for the 
amount of traffic that now regularly use it.  Whilst the bridge could be taken as an 
illustration of the history of York’s railway history, pointing to the two arches in the 
city walls and their former purposes, perception of the historical significance has 
dwindled over time and it is now seen negatively.  An assessment of the significance 
of the Queen Street Bridge identified that it can be attributed limited historical and 
evidential value along with its negative aesthetic value.  Overall it is considered to 
be of negligible significance.  No objections are raised from heritage consultees (the 
Council’s Conservation Architect and Historic England) to the principle of the 
demolition of the Bridge, noting that it presents an opportunity to enhance the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area, the setting, as well as better 
revealing the significance of various heritage assets (notably the City Walls, Railway 
Station, No’s 17-20 Queen Street and the Water Tower and Workshop).  
 
5.11  The demolition of Queen Street Bridge will allow for the regrading of the 
highway on Queen Street, and bring the highway closer to the properties on Queen 
Street and the Railway Institute,  This will remove the existing slip road and parking 
area that serves these properties and the RI. As you continue along the highway 
round the bend of Tofts Tower to Station road, the loss of the bridge will open up 
this area, to allow for improved bus/taxi/railway interchange.  This section focuses 
upon the area to the front of Queen Street properties, the York RI building and 
potential impact to Tofts Tower and the City Walls.  
 

Page 77



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

5.12  There will be no change to the single carriageway arrangement for vehicles.  
Principal changes to highway infrastructure will be to cycle accessibility with a 2m 
one-way segregated cycle way that continues through the site on the east side of 
Queen Street, and partially segregated cycleway on the west side, both linking to 
the wider cycle routes within the wider site and beyond.   
 
5.13  Currently there is a slip road in front of the properties on Queen Street leading 
to the RI area and NCP car park.  8no. on-street car parking spaces that are part of 
the Council’s Residents Parking are located on this slip road; this zone (R15SC) 
extends to Micklegate. These parking spaces will be removed, and the area will be 
subsumed into public highway, providing footpath, cycle way and the carriageway. 
2no. on street parking spaces will be maintained (identified as taxi drop off) to allow 
for residents short term parking and drop-off.   
 
5.14  It is acknowledged that the outlook from the terrace properties would be 
different for the occupiers; currently the carriageway due to the bridge is partly 
raised and segregated from traffic using Queen Street.  The works would bring 
traffic closer to these properties.  The occupiers of these properties have requested 
additional mechanisms to address concerns of anti-social behaviour, noise, pollution 
and general amenity considerations, including tree planting, railings, pavement 
widening, installation of CCTV, and contribution to cover costs of installing 
secondary/triple glazing.  
 
5.15  There is an existing vehicle crossing at 14 Queen Street which leads to an 
archway providing vehicular access to the rear of No’s 14, 15 and 16 Queen Street 
where a large rear yard has been created where it is used by small vans and cars.  
It is noted that this rear yard also extends to include No. 13, although the 
owners/occupiers of this property do not have the right to park within this area and 
must enable access across their land. The proposals seek to retain this vehicle 
crossing and access through the archway at No. 14 Queen Street.  Initially, this 
arrangement was objected to by the Highway Network Management, citing regular 
conflict movements between cyclists, pedestrians, vehicles on Queen Street 
(including frequent bus services), and vehicles accessing this off-street parking 
through the archway.  The occupier of No. 14 Queen Street has cited that they use a 
transit van and reverse out of the archway; there is not enough room to easily turn 
such a vehicle around within the courtyard. This vehicular crossing will be directly on 
a classified road with high volumes of traffic, across a busy footway and cycleway.   
 
5.16  The applicant has assessed a number of alternative access options, including 
removing the existing vehicular access (option 1), providing alternative access to the 
rear of the properties (option 2) and retaining access through the existing archway 
whilst providing measures to maximise the visibility of pedestrian and cycle lane 
users (option 3).  The delivery of Options 2 (and 2A) would involve access through 
private land and legal agreements with third parties. The applicant considers that 

Page 78



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

option 3 is the preferred option that would maintain the safe operation of the 
highway for all highway users.  
 
5.17  In terms of the preferred option (Option 3), a swept path analysis has been 
undertaken demonstrating that a small car can access the archway from the 
highway in a forward direction and turn around, allowing egress in a forward manner 
to the highway.  There remains space for a limited number of vehicles to be parked 
in this area at the same time, although this will restrict the ease of this vehicle 
movement. The above is based on a very limited number of vehicle movements 
using the access point during a single day; the access serves only three properties 
and assuming a single vehicle per property this equates to a maximum of 6-12 one-
way movements per day.  It has also been demonstrated by the applicant that this 
manoeuvre is also possible by a 3.5T panel van; although it is a relatively restricted 
and tight manoeuvre.  There is no need for vehicles to reverse onto the footway and 
public highway from the archway, however it noted that this cannot be prevented by 
the physical measures imposed and it would be difficult to enforce a ban on vehicles 
undertaking this manoeuvre, such as through a TRO.  
 
5.18  In order to maximise visibility for vehicles egressing the archway, railings 
(measuring 1.1m high) off-set 1.5m approx. from the building face are proposed 
locally on either site of the access point.  This arrangement would also require the 
existing gate to be replaced with an electronic controlled gate, meaning users don’t 
have to get out of their vehicles.   
 
5.19  The Highways Development Officer has considered the options presented in 
the Technical Note, and whilst none of the options provide a full solution, they 
acknowledge that the preferred design (option 3) will improve visibility and offers 
options to address remaining safety issues.  This can be achieved by a full road 
safety audit being undertaken, with specific reference to the private vehicular access 
to these properties on Queen Street, but also in considering the scheme as a whole.  
This can be secured via suitably worded condition.    
 
5.20  The proposed installation of railings satisfies a number of amenity concerns 
from occupiers along Queen Street particularly those at No’s 11-16 Queen Street 
that have recessed doorways, and suggested railings to deter anti-social behaviour 
from the increase in pedestrians using the footpath to access the Station, 
particularly on race days.  It is not considered that other mechanisms such as the 
installation of CCTV would be suitable deterrent as this is a reactive system and 
there could be issues of privacy given their intention to survey residential properties 
and the ability to capture high quality images that can be used in prosecutions.  
 
5.21  The railings would however extend across the full length of the properties on 
Queen Street from No. 11 to the edge of the Railway Institute.  The design of the 
railings has been taken from the design of the Juliet balcony proposed to the first 
floor of the Railway Institute building, following the removal of the footbridge.  No’s 

Page 79



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

17-20 Queen Street are a group of four terraced houses built in around 1835, pre-
dating the railway but have been associated with the railway for most of their history.  
They appear to retain original features meaning they hold considerable aesthetic 
value and as remnants of early c19 expansion and transformation into Queen Street 
they hold some evidential and historical value. These heritage assets are grade II 
listed and have high significance overall.  
 
5.22  The issue of the railings in front of these properties, relates to their setting, and 
how they area experienced.  Due to the Queen Street Bridge which is adjacent the 
row of terraces, the current way of experiencing the heritage assets is primarily from 
an elevated position.  They are experienced to some degree from the public footpath 
to the front of them, but given that pedestrian access is to the RI area, rather than 
the station it doesn’t result in heavy footfall.  The removal of the bridge will result in 
the highways infrastructure being reduced to grade level, and these properties being 
adjacent to the main carriageway, rather than offset.  There will be an impact upon 
the visual qualities of these terrace cottages with the railings positioned directly in 
front of them, however any obscuring of the features will be fleeting, given the 
railings design. The addition of the railings to the front of the properties on Queen 
Street are considered to result in a neutral impact to the significance of the heritage 
assets and their setting. 
  
5.23  It has been noted by residents of Queen Street, as well as the Council’s 
Landscape Architect that this arrangement of the highway presents an opportunity 
for tree planting, and offer some segregation between the properties and highways 
infrastructure.  This has been investigated by the applicant’s however at this stage it 
appears that there is a significant amount of utility infrastructure (water, gas and 
fibre) diverted to this area that tree routes could damage.  Additionally, with the 
railings positioned 1m from these properties, the footpath becomes much narrower 
and pinch points would be created in a scheme that prioritises pedestrian routes.  At 
this stage, the landscaping plan is indicative, with a final scheme secured via 
condition, and if a solution is found where trees can be accommodated, this will be 
encouraged.  It is noted however that the provision of trees is not unanimous across 
all occupiers, with some citing that there is a concern that trees would restrict 
daylight and outlook.  If trees could be accommodated, their species and position 
would have to be carefully considered.   
 

- Works to 22 Queen Street (Railway Institute)  
 
5.24  There is currently a steel footbridge from the first floor entrance of no. 22 
Queen Street (Railway Institute building) leading to Queen Street bridge, which will 
be removed as part of the proposals.  A Juliet balcony using refurbished cast iron 
railings from the bridge would be erected in front of this doorway and the brickwork 
of the building repaired and made good. 
 

Page 80



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

5.25  The building has provided for the sporting and educational welfare of railway 
staff and is identified as providing great communal and historical significance, with 
medium significance overall.  Its connection with the railway, and the present York 
railway station means that it forms an important part of its setting. 
 
5.26  This building is not listed and it is noted that the City of York Council does not 
have an adopted local list. This building however is identified in the YCHCCA 
character area 22 (railway area) appraisal as a building of merit.  Additionally, the 
building is locally valued and is identified on the York Open Planning Forum. The 
forum states that a Local List is a community created register of buildings and 
structures that are of importance and interest to local communities because of their 
historic or architectural interest.  It is therefore considered that given the advice 
provided in the Planning Practice Guidance, this building can be identified as a non-
designated heritage asset (NDHA). 
 
5.27  The combination of the removal of the bridge (including footbridge) and the 
introduction of the Juliet balcony to the front façade of 22 Queen Street is 
considered to make a positive contribution to the visual appearance of the building 
and its appreciation in the wider setting to York railway station.  These works would 
directly affect the heritage asset, in terms of aesthetic significance and therefore the 
scale of harm to the identified communal and historical significances of this NDHA is 
considered to be low, having regard to paragraph 197 of the NPPF . These works 
will enable the RI building to continue to provide the social and recreational 
activities, associations and clubs that are currently provided, which were originally 
for railway employees and now available to the general public, further enhancing the 
significance of this NDHA.  The relationship of the building with Queen Street will be 
vastly improved in terms of its accessibility to the benefit of existing users, further 
enhancing the setting with the railway station and better revealing the character and 
appearance of the conservation area.   
 

- Relationship to Toft’s Tower/City Walls 
 
5.28  The southern approach ramp of the Queen Street Bridge runs close to the City 
Wall in the vicinity of Tofts Tower.  York City Walls are designated scheduled 
ancient monument and Grade I listed building and were generally constructed C12-
C14.  Tofts Tower was destroyed and reconstructed C1645.  The City Wall is a 
largely intact medieval structure, built upon much older remains. It has been 
modified, and the two railway arches were constructed through the wall in 1839 and 
1846 to allow the railway lines through the wall. It possesses considerable aesthetic, 
evidential, historical and communal value.  It is considered to be a heritage asset of 
very high significance.  
 
5.29  The proposed scheme has the potential to affect the City Walls through a 
number of ways, including the removal of the Queen Street Bridge, the assessment, 

Page 81



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

repair and reuse of the original 1840s retaining wall and bridge buttress found within 
the southern approach ramp of the bridge and the reinstatement of the rampart.   
 
5.30  Archaeological investigations at Tofts Tower (Tower 13) were undertaken in 
2019 to record the foundations of the tower and adjacent city walls which has 
provided further information on the rebuilding of the tower and depth of foundation.  
Monitoring work has been taken place to provide baseline date on the general levels 
of movement of the wall and rampart.  Monitoring will continue during the proposed 
works, however it is considered that the stability of the ramparts should not be 
affected by the works.   
 
2.31  There has been substantial pre-application discussions between the applicants 
and Historic England, with the level of understanding of the proposed works in 
regard to the city walls, Toft Tower, rampart and the Victorian retaining walls is 
acceptable to Historic England.   
 
5.32  The council’s Archaeologist highlights specific areas of concern, particularly in 
regards to the demolition of Queen Street Bridge, the construction of the new 
highway and works to the ramparts and retaining walls to part of the City Walls, 
stating that these have the potential to disturb isolated pockets of surviving Roman 
material, medieval, post-medieval and Victorian rampart.  Additionally, it is possible 
that rampart deposits may survive next to the 1840s rampart wall.   
 
5.33  Paragraph 194 (b) of the NPPF includes footnote 63 which states that non-
designated heritage assets of archaeological interest which are demonstrably of 
equivalent significance to scheduled monuments should be considered subject to 
the policies for designated heritage assets.  Paragraph 194 b) states that substantial 
harm to or loss of assets of the highest significance (including scheduled 
monuments) should be wholly exceptional.  Paragraph 193 of the Framework sets 
out that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation; the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Any 
harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset should require 
clear and convincing justification (Para.194). 
 
5.34  The archaeological strategy recommended by the Council’s Archaeologist 
includes an archaeological watching brief on all groundworks, following initial 
demolition, installation of services and construction and a further archaeological 
excavation required in areas where significant archaeological despots survive which 
are unable to be preserved in situ.  
 
5.35  Whilst the significance of the archaeological interests is high, it is concluded 
that the scale of harm to the significance on archaeological features and deposits is 
considered to result in less than substantial harm, and the impacts could be 

Page 82



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

mitigated through the use of planning conditions requiring archaeological watching 
brief and excavation.  
 
5.36  Historic England have suggested public realm improvements to the retaining 
wall to the reinstated rampart such as street or public art.  This is not currently part 
of the proposals, but could be developed further as the scheme progresses.  The 
proposals incorporate significant public realm improvements across the site.   
 
Parcel Square infill  
 
5.37  Parcel trade during the C19 was very profitable and in 1893 parcel facilities 
expanded in this period at the station from within the southern concourse wing to a 
single storey building to the side of the Portico, occupying the whole opening to the 
train shed.  However, the Station was hit by two bombs during the Second World 
War, with one causing considerable fire damage to the southern end of the station, 
including the parcel office. A replacement parcel office was built in c.1947 on the 
same footprint as the 1893 infill building and this is the building that remains today.  
It is occupied by the retail outlet, Cycle Heaven and combined Train Operating 
Company (TOC) accommodation and back of house and storage areas, which 
extends into the station (area known as the southern train shed), and provides a 
retail unit for the car rental, Enterprise and Trans Pennine Express (TPE) staff 
accommodation. Further along the southern train shed are numerous cycle parking 
areas.   
 
5.38  For the purposes of this report the Parcel Square area relates to the Cycle 
Heaven and combined accommodation including back of house areas, which extend 
to the south shed concourse.   
 
5.39  Externally facing, the post war infill building is of poor design quality and 
detracts from the station frontage as a whole.  The area of the southern train shed, 
adjacent to platform 1 and platform 3 has been the subject to alteration with infill and 
repair elements that have been identified by the applicant as being pragmatic at 
best.   
 
5.40  There is general agreement, by the applicant, its Partners and as outlined in 
the Conservation Development Strategy (2013) (CDS) that the area adjacent to 
Platform 3 and the lift shaft is an under-utilised area of the Station, with the CDS 
suggesting that there is potential to develop this area with increased waiting/lounge 
facilities and catering units.  
 
5.41  The scheme seeks to demolish the buildings within the parcel square area (the 
buildings occupying Cycle Heaven and combined TOC accommodation) with a 
resultant infill building, set back to mirror the external line of the Ladies Tea Room 
(York Tap).  The internal accommodation provided within the infill building, the first 
class lounge (that is currently under construction in this area permitted under Ref 

Page 83



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

18/00005/LBC) and the retail storage area as well as an exit corridor to the 
relocated taxi waiting area will be rearranged from the layout approved under the 
18/00005/LBC consent. 
 
5.42  The external appearance of the infill building is contemporary in nature; with a 
predominately solid façade, other than an exit door to access the taxi rank and 
slender lancet windows, their height being taken from the arched windows on the 
adjacent concourse building.  The windows provide light into the first class lounge 
without drawing attention to the space.  The façade is proposed to be clad with 
enamelled metal panels, with minimal jointing and hidden details.  Plinth and 
platband are carried across the new façade from the adjoining brickwork.  The 
panels are dark grey to complement the cladding material in place on the station 
roof and the gable of the South Shed, both of which are visible above the infill 
façade.  There is a tonal gradient which shifts from a dark grey at the bottom to a 
lighter grey at the top and overlaid with a pattern which is intended to give a fine 
grain to distant views, with a texture at a similar scale to the surrounding brickwork 
and small scale design feature that catch the eye close up.  The pattern is derived 
from the seal of the North Eastern Railway company which built almost all of the 
buildings in the York Station frontage site.  
 
5.43  There will be a canopy projecting over the taxi rank area, which is a 
contemporary butterfly pitched form with glazed panels to the rear to admit light 
down to the lancet windows.    
 
5.44  It is recognised by the applicant that the demolition works in this area will 
expose sections of original Victorian brickwork and that the masonry is likely to be 
scarred and may feature elements of previous buildings.  It is not anticipated that 
major structural work would be required, however the walls are likely to require 
significant levels of repair.  The general approach is to leave their appearance ‘as 
found’, to help tell the story of how the building has changed over time.  
 
5.45  No objections are raised in respect to the demolition of the existing post war 
infill buildings that make up the Parcel Square area; the Council’s Conservation 
Architect agrees with the applicants that these buildings are of very limited 
significance.  However there are contrasting views from consultees as to how this 
infill building should be designed architecturally and whether it better reveals the 
significance of the station. Officers accept the approach to mirror the 1906 Ladies 
Tea Room on the opposite side of the main entrance with the infill façade being set 
behind the dominant and buttressed shed wall is a suitable approach, with the 
façade designed as an infill character, deferential to the massing and materials of 
the adjacent buildings.   
 
5.46  The Micklegate Planning Panel have suggested that the building would never 
be read visually with the Ladies Tea Room and it is irrelevant to echo it.  Whilst this 
is a valid view and could be how the station is interpreted, the first definitive plan 

Page 84



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

from 1873 shows the Railway Station almost entirely as built and the symmetrical 
design one of the key original intentions of Thomas Prosser, Benjamin Burley and 
William Peachey and the reinstatement of this is an accepted heritage approach in 
this instance.  Additionally, it is acknowledged that views from the City Walls can 
provide longer, panoramic views that take into account the whole station frontage.  
  
5.47  The York Civic Trust consider its design as disappointing and unimaginative 
architecturally.  Additional comments were made in respect to the proposed 
materials, along with comments from Historic England, who have raised concerns in 
respect to the how the design motifs would appear in a distance and the robustness 
of enamel coating technique.  Although it is noted that Historic England are 
generally agreeable to the proposed enamelled metal panels to clad the façade, with 
the dark grey being recessive and reflect the station roof and south shed gable.    
 
5.48  In terms of its visual appearance and design, the detail proposed within the 
façade, the motifs, the cladding, lancet windows and canopy are strong visual 
elements that create a contemporary infill, but with the continuation of the plinth and 
platband it will maintain a strong sense of the character and history of the Station 
building. It is considered that proposed infill will be a high quality, durable and 
visually attractive new area of the station.  Whilst materials will be considered further 
through conditions, those that have been identified are considered suitable for this 
type of infill building which complement the adjacent buildings whilst also provide a 
visually attractive and detailed façade, that provides a historical link to the station.    
 
5.49  The works to this part of the station, the demolition of the existing parcel 
square buildings and then the careful and detailed design of the replacement infill 
building and the original section of Victorian brickwork being revealed for the first 
time are identified as resulting in less than substantial harm to the features of 
special architectural or historic interest of this designated heritage asset.   
 
5.50  In terms of its heritage value, this part of the station evidences historical and 
evidential values primarily due to the bomb damage.  Reinstating the station’s 
symmetry with an infill façade that does not compete in design, massing and 
materials with the original Station, these heritage values will continue to be 
delivered, and thus enhancing the significance of the station in line with para.200 of 
the framework.  
 
5.51  The Conservation Area Advisory Panel (CAAP) highlight that there appears to 
be confusion that this does not take the form of a major entrance into the station; 
there is no intention for this area to form a main entrance, that will be maintained as 
the Portico as the station’s original intention.  The infill has been designed with an 
exit point from the station concourse to the taxi rank, and will take on the form of a 
secondary exit point, similar to Tea Room Square.  Due to its location, this exit point 
is unlikely to be the most direct route to the bus stops and pedestrian access to the 

Page 85



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

city centre and the portico would continue to serve as the primary and main 
entrance/exits point to and from the Station.    
 
5.52  The area behind the Cycle Heaven retail unit has been the subject of recent 
listed building consent (18/00005/LBC) submitted by LNER, which replaced back of 
house functions, including offices, store room and meeting room with a first class 
lounge accessed from the southern concourse and a store associated with a new 
retail unit created where the former booking office was located (accessed from the 
outer concourse).  Cycle Heaven and the TOC accommodation buildings were not 
affected under these proposals.  A number of respondents to the application 
including Historic England raised concerns in respect to how this application relates 
to the approved application.  The current proposal seeks to retain the existing levels 
of service provision that has been approved, the first class lounge and the retail 
store, however will be arranged differently within this location.  The approved 
entrance lobby to the first class lounge would be retained.  Other than the demolition 
of the buildings that currently occupy Cycle Heaven and TOC accommodation, the 
back of house area behind does not contain historic fabric.  Therefore, as there 
would be no harm to any features of special architectural or historic interest, no 
issues arise to the implementation of the LNER scheme and then this scheme. Due 
to the location and arrangement of the proposed uses, both schemes could not be 
implemented together, however this current scheme takes into account the existing 
service levels agreed by partners including LNER and Network Rail.     
 
5.53  Historic England raise concerns that there is a need for safeguards to ensure 
that the Parcel Square façade is not ‘value engineered’ out of the final scheme due 
to cost savings. The removal of taxis out of the Portico and re-providing a new taxi 
rank is a key part of the scheme; improving the highway infrastructure, air quality 
and the surrounding urban realm.  In addition, the provision of a first class lounge 
and the store for the retailer is important to continuing customer service of the 
Station.  Whilst the works to the Parcel Square area are intended to be delivered 
within Phase 3 of the development, conditions will secure the development 
commencing prior to any demolition.    
 
The Multi-Storey Car Park (MSCP) 
 
5.54  The scheme seeks to re-locate the existing level of short stay and long stay 
parking.  Existing short stay car parking will be moved from the north train shed and 
relocated to an area to the north of the York RI Building and south of the railway 
station.  34 spaces will be retained at the far end of the northern train shed reserved 
for sole use of British Transport Police, LNER, TPE and Enterprise car hire.   
 
5.55  The new road layout including the new loop road around the York RI will 
significantly reduce the parking spaces in the existing long stay surface car park.  
The approach to provide equivalent long stay car parking is via a 636 space multi-
storey car park (MSCP) on the site of the existing surface long stay car park.  In 

Page 86



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

addition to the long stay displaced car parking (584 spaces) the MSCP will also 
provide 5 short stay car parking spaces, 28 spaces for use by Network Rail and 19 
spaces for use by the York RI. 5% of the total number of spaces will be DDA 
compliant, equating to 32 spaces, located on the ground floor.  
 
5.56  There is concern amongst objectors that the capacity of the car park has not 
been justified, with the future viability of car parking requirements not fully explored 
in light of York Central aspirations and post-covid working pattern, as well as the 
Council’s policies on sustainable travel.   
 
5.57  The ability to maintain the existing level of parking provision at the station is a 
key requirement of the Station’s operator (one of the schemes key partners) and the 
viability of its franchise.  As it re-provides and consolidates the existing parking 
capacity, the traffic impacts are not considered to be worse than the existing 
situation.  Additionally, the proposals are supported in draft policy T3 (v) of the 2018 
Draft Plan which seeks to consolidate public car parks and maintain an appropriate 
level of long-stay and short-stay parking at York Station.   
 
5.58  Whilst there are close links to the York Central site, the development of car 
parking provision to serve that development have not to date been forthcoming in 
the form of reserved matters application, however it is important to note that this 
application seeks to consolidate the short and long stay car parking arrangements 
that are currently located to the east of the station, directly serving the station rather 
than a wider development.  
 
5.59  The wider proposals of the York Station Frontage scheme will continue to 
promote the Council’s sustainable transport objectives, which include; providing 
quality alternatives; providing strategic links; implementing behavioural change; 
tackle transport emissions; and improving the public streets and spaces (Local 
Transport Plan 3: 2011-2031).  It was outlined in the YSF Masterplan that a 
transport hierarchy would be followed that sought to prioritise pedestrians over other 
transport modes (cyclists, buses/taxis then private vehicles).  The wider 
development seeks to improve the setting and approaches to the Station for all 
transport modes whilst also providing appropriate facilities that encourages public 
transport use.  Other measures to reduce car use that have been suggested such as 
extending park and ride services and all bus services to the Station are beyond the 
scope of this application.   
 
5.60  Concerns surrounding the wider and future impacts arising from the 
coronavirus (COVID-19) are noted, and it is acknowledged that the pandemic has 
brought many changes as to how we live and work, although the long term impacts 
are unknown. Plans remain in place for longer terms projects to York Station 
(Transpennine Rail Upgrade, HS2 and Northern Powerhouse).  It is anticipated that 
the railway station will see increased passenger numbers in the future.  Maintaining 

Page 87



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

the existing quantum of car parking at the station meets an existing demand and in 
planning terms, it is not considered to be necessary to review car parking provision.   
 

- Temporary car parking provision 
 
5.61  During construction of the development there will be some losses of car 
parking and the applicants have proposed a temporary interim solution; initially this 
was to be provided on the site of the former Unipart Rail Service Centre Building, 
subject to the delivery programme for York Central.  The applicants have confirmed  
the potential of alternative car parks and indeed other areas within the wider York 
Central site, that could be used to accommodate displaced parking however this will 
require careful management and dynamic information through VMS (variable 
message signs) as well as information on station operators and TOC’s website to 
direct them to alternative car parks. 
 

- Traffic impacts  
 
5.62  The Council’s Highway Network Management officer has advised that the 
impacts on highway safety and residual cumulative impacts on the road network as 
a result of the MSCP would be acceptable.  It is highlighted that there is a risk that 
cars could queue on the loop road at peak times and block buses and other traffic 
using the loop road, however a MSCP that operates as a pay on exit with ANPR 
(Automatic Number Plate recognition) should reduce the need to queue to get into 
the MSCP.  
 

-Heritage impacts of MSCP location 
 
5.63  The proposed MSCP would be sited on the site of the existing surface-level 
car park, which has been identified as a suitable location not just for the space it 
offers, but as a previous operational part of the station.  It was previously occupied 
by large railway workshops.  This area, encompassing the surface-level car park as 
well as the York RI Gymnasium, the water tower and workshop and RI band room, 
is termed as the ‘Queen Street Works’.  This area represents a collection of 
buildings with a shared history, and previously a shared architectural character.   
 
5.64  This area developed when the York’s original rail connection opened in 1839, 
and further developed and intensified in 1844-50 when there was a high level of 
investment into York’s railway infrastructure and manufacturing.  As a result several 
large railway warehouses several storeys tall to accommodate railway vehicles were 
constructed.  The workshops were all aligned parallel to the main railway lines 
running through the City Walls.  
 
5.65  In 1905 the works complex closed and building put to various other uses.  A 
joiner’s shop and paint shop survives and has been adapted to form the NCP car 
park, although this is positioned to the south east and is located outside the Queen 

Page 88



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

Street Works boundary.  The York RI opened in 1889 and eventually occupied the 
York RI Gymnasium and former engineer’s office (now the York RI band room).     
 
5.66  The surface-level car park was previously occupied by the former fitting shop, 
and  is surrounded by the York RI Gymnasium and Water Tower and Workshop, 
which are considered to have high significance, and the NCP car park building 
which is of low significance, however they all contribute to the setting and story of 
the Queen Street Works area.   It is noted that views of the southern gables of the 
York RI Gymnasium and the Water Tower and Workshop are all valuable aspects of 
the setting.   
 
5.67  Contrastingly, modern blocks overlooking the site from the east including 
Meridian House, and those at Lowther Terrace and Cambridge Street are 
significantly taller than nearby terraced houses and detract from the setting of this 
area. The surface-level car park, subdivided by fences and filled with cars is 
disorganised and unwelcoming, and fails to connect to its industrial past.  The 
setting of the Queen Street Works is assessed as containing considerable historical 
and communal value with some evidential value, although to some degree this is 
harmed by the surface level car park.     
 
5.68  Some buildings within the Queen Street Works are located within the boundary 
of the York Central Historic Core Conservation Area, having being included when 
the YCHCCA appraisal was adopted in 2011.  The surface-level car park is 
excluded.  
 
5.69  The initial scheme sought to re-provide parking provision via a two decked car 
park.  This took a faux medieval design approach, and cumulatively with its form and 
footprint its visual impact was considered harmful to multiple surrounding designated 
heritage assets. 
 
5.70  The revised proposed MSCP would sit on the footprint of the former railway 
building identified as the Fitting Shop.  With this former building having been aligned 
with the railway tracks, this will be replicated by the MSCP, reinforcing the character 
of the area and historical legibility of this area with the city’s railways past.  The 
MSCP takes the form of a simple, regular, function-driven form and seeks to 
respond to the surrounding buildings that are principally designed with red-brown 
brick and slate or modern corrugated metal roofing. Other architectural detailing in 
its design has been taken from surrounding buildings.  
 
5.71  The main body of the car park will feature a pattern of regular bays around the 
building.  Loadbearing brick of dark red-brown would be used for the main body of 
the car park, providing some texture.  It will have a horizontal parapet line.  
Ventilation openings comprise of rectangular apertures in the brick elevations with 
tall weathering steel fins as baffles.  The lift and stair core, which features the main 
pedestrian entrance, will protrude from the structure and will be clad in a different 

Page 89



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

material.  This material has not yet been determined although darker brick or panels 
or weathering steel have been suggested.   
  
5.72  Both the Council’s conservation architect and Historic England are in general 
agreement with the revised design for the MSCP.  Its vertical emphasis works well 
and rhythmic bay pattern is simple reflecting the functional Victorian buildings that 
survive and those that once occupied the site.  Additionally, materials palette is 
appropriate for this location.  There remains concern in respect to detailing at the 
wall openings and parapet and the treatment of the lift and stair core, however these 
can be dealt with via conditions.   
 
5.73  The MSCP is sited behind and as close to the rear York RI Gymnasium 
building, while allowing for road, cycleway and pedestrian footway between the two.  
The MSCP has also been designed with a notch in the corner to allow views through 
to the grade II listed Water Tower and Workshop from Lowther Terrace.  The main 
vehicular and pedestrian access/egress is via the north east elevation facing the 
Water Tower and York RI Gymnasium and aims to improve the historic setting of 
this part of the Queen Street Works.  
 
5.74  The MSCP generally follows the configuration of the existing car park up to the 
point where it significantly narrows, in the western corner. The building will measure 
94m x 42m (approx.) with the height to the parapet 12m (approx.) and the lift core 
raising to 14m (approx.).  It comprises of ground, first, second and third floor levels, 
however internally the floors will be split (ramped) giving a total of 8 levels.    
 
5.75  It is acknowledged that the MSCP is a large building, although comparable to 
other buildings in the area, will have an impact on several important views, these are 
identified as ‘from the railway’, ‘from the station platforms’ and ‘from the city wall’. 
 
5.76  There is currently a void in the townscape when approaching the railway 
station from the south.  The large brick functional building will result in visible mass, 
however this will reinforce a strong aspect of the historic character of this area.  
Additionally, the building has been designed with a stepped arrangement on the 
westernmost corner to mitigate the building’s impact, particularly when trains are 
passing and introducing shadows.   
 
5.77  Views from the southern tips of the railway station platforms will be affected; 
the MSCP occupies a section which is currently relatively open.  The cornice line of 
the MSCP will be particularly prominent in views, and will require significant 
emphasis on quality.  On the other side of the tracks in the Network Rail’s Rail 
Operation Centre (ROC). The two buildings are of similar scale and it is intended 
that they operate together as ‘gateway’ buildings, referencing the previous large 
railway buildings that this part of York contained since the 1840s.    
 

Page 90



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

5.78  From the City Wall, the MSCP will be mostly hidden behind the York RI 
Gymnasium; it will still register in views, although its visual impact is reduced and 
would not be harmful.   
 
5.79  It is considered that the proposed design and location of the proposed MSCP 
and the surrounding buildings allow the building to fit into its context.  The MSCP 
has been sensitively handled, particularly in views when approaching from the 
south.  It is not considered that the MSCP would result in significant harm to the 
setting of neighbouring heritage assets notably, listed buildings (the railway station), 
the York RI buildings, the city walls and the conservation area.  The significance of 
the Queen Street Works area would be enhanced through the alignment with the 
original (and lost) track layout.  
 
5.80  Objections have been received citing that the MSCP will be visually dominant, 
even if constructed in similar materials to nearby structures, it is too high and would 
be an eye sore for local residents as well as impacting on middle and long distance 
views.  One commentator has also identified that to avoid clashing with the 
surrounding historically sensitive area, parking should be provided underground; 
surface car parks are a miss-use of valuable land space and cost should not be a 
reason for dismissing it.  The site lies within an Area of Archaeological Importance 
and there is potential for well-preserved deposits to exist in the location of the 
surface car park.  In addition, there would be engineering and structural issues to 
consider as well as understanding the cumulative impact with the demolition of 
Queen Street Bridge.  This would be a significant undertaking, and given the 
restricted constraints of the size of the retained surface level car park, any 
underground car park would need to be considered along with an above-ground 
aspect.  This alternative is beyond the scope of this application, and it is likely to be 
financially unviable. 
 
5.81  The NCP car park which is housed in the former joiner’s workshop and paint 
shop is situated to the south east of the existing surface long-stay car park.  This 
extends up to the boundary with Lowther Terrace and its corrugated profiled roof 
can be seen above the high boundary wall.  There is a ramped cycle and pedestrian 
access from Lowther Terrace down to the surface car park; the MSCP would follow 
the building line of Lowther Terrace that veers to the west and be visible above the 
existing boundary wall.  Accessed from Lowther Terrace and adjacent to the Queen 
Street Works area is a number of medium-to high rise residential buildings, Oxford 
House and The Walk.  Concerns have been raised that the MSCP will obstruct 
views from these residential buildings, over the car park to the Station and beyond. 
Views to the Station or the City Walls from street level on Lowther Terrace are 
impacted by the high boundary wall and then are further impacted by the position of 
the York RI Gymnasium building.  Any views are likely to be as a result of the height 
of the residential flats contained within these residential buildings.  The impact of 
proposed buildings on private views is not a material planning consideration and 
little weight is attributed to this in the assessment of the application.    

Page 91



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
- Crime 

 
5.82  The existing car park is an open and exposed site, which contributes to low car 
crime levels.  The Police Architectural Liaison Officer has advised that the car park 
should be adequately covered by CCTV, which can be secured by condition.   
 

- Electric Vehicle Charging Points 
 
5.83  Paragraph 110e) of the Framework states that development should be 
designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra- low emission vehicles in 
safe, accessible and convenient location. The energy statement sets out a 
commitment to provide electric vehicle charging points at a level of 5% active 
provision; equating to 32 spaces, distributed between the disabled and standard 
parking bays.  The Council’s Low Emission Strategy (2012) which has been updated 
during the consideration of the application now seeks additional requirement of 
providing 5% of the total number of spaces to be passive provision as well as the 
addition of a rapid charger installation.  Passive provision is defined as sufficient 
capacity within the electricity distribution board to allow the future addition of electric 
vehicle recharging points (EVRP).   
 
5.84  Whilst the plans have not identified the locations of the individual EVRP, there 
is a commitment from the applicants to provide adequate provision, in line with the 
Council’s requirements, however these details can be secured by a suitable 
planning condition.   
 
5.85  It is noted that objections have been received citing that the Council guidance 
in respect to EV charging and particularly rapid chargers is too low and will not meet 
demand.  Additionally, the Council’s public protection team have highlighted that 
other MSCP proposed within the city provide an increase in EV charging facilities 
above policy requirements and identify the Council car park at St George’s Field 
providing a 15% active provision. Whilst these concerns are noted, the current 
provision would achieve the Council’s standards in this respect and it would be 
unreasonable to request that the provision of EV charging facilities exceed this; 
however there are opportunities within other areas of the site to provide EV charging 
facilities if demand for plug in and low emission vehicles significantly increase.  
 

- Sustainability 
 
5.86  Policy CC1 (Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation and Storage) of 
the 2018 Draft Plan requires all new buildings to achieve a reasonable reduction in 
carbon emissions of at least 28% unless it can be demonstrated that this is not 
viable.  The 28% reduction relates to reduction through renewable energy sources 
but it can also be achieved through a combined package including energy efficiency 
as set out in Policy CC2 (Sustainable Design and Construction).  This is particularly 

Page 92



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

relevant with a building such as a MSCP which, due to its very nature, presents 
difficulties in providing energy efficiency measures.  
 
5.87  Policy CC2 sets out that BREEAM Excellent (or equivalent) should be 
achieved.  The energy statement supporting the MSCP sets out that BREEAM is not 
considered appropriate for the MSCP due to the high proportion of unoccupied 
spaces and an alternative method of assessment; CEEQUAL has been put forward.  
CEEQUAL is an evidenced-based sustainability assessment rating and awards 
scheme for civil engineering, infrastructure, landscaping and public realm projects.  
This method assesses what and how something is built, rather than the 
environmental or social need for a project. Officers are satisfied that the CEEQUAL 
assessment is an acceptable alternative and falls under the “or equivalent” part of 
Policy CC2.  
 
5.88  It is acknowledged that BREEAM and CEEQUAL are two different assessment 
schemes and the scoring systems cannot be compared.  The Council’s policy team 
consider that as for BREEAM, ‘excellent’ should be sought for in the CEEQUAL 
assessment, which would be in line in the aims of the policies set out in the Local 
Plan to be ambitious in their requirements for new developments to reflect the 
national commitment to reducing carbon emissions and the Council’s ambition to 
tackle climate change.  
 
5.89  CEEQUAL’s methodology assess the extent to which the project has 
exceeded statutory and regulatory standards.  ‘Very good’ is a score of 60%, 
excellent is a score of 75%.  The submitted CEEQUAL pre-assessment report 
concludes that a CEEQUAL ‘Very Good’ rating, with a score of 64% is currently 
anticipated.  The pre-assessment report also identifies several opportunities in the 
later design stages to increase the score to an ‘Excellent’ rating, however as 
currently presented, a very good standard represents advanced good practice.  The 
different levels of Awards should not be seen as inferior to each other when 
comparing, they are both beyond the legal minimum of environmental and social 
performance in the industry.  
 
5.90  In addition to the CEEQUAL pre-assessment, the submitted energy statement 
demonstrates energy and carbon dioxide savings in accordance with the energy 
hierarchy and water efficiency. This details that a passive design will assist in 
reducing energy use through natural ventilation, building fabric performance, thermal 
mass and daylighting strategy.  In terms of energy efficiencies, the statement set out 
that the stairwell and lift lobby roof areas could be mounted with photovoltaics (PV) 
cells.  An assessment has been made of the potential visual impact, concluding that 
the visual impact arising from the possible installation of PV cells on the roof areas, 
given the parapet detailing of the MSCP would be minimal.  These measures are in 
addition to the provision of electrical vehicle charging points.  
 

Page 93



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

5.91  In view of the above considerations, Officers consider that the MSCP is 
complaint with Policies CC1 and CC2 of the 2018 Draft Plan. A condition is 
recommended to ensure that the MSCP is constructed to a CEEQUAL standard of 
at least ‘Very Good’, which would be consistent with the requirements of other 
MSCP proposed in the City and taking into account the moderate weight given to 
the 2018 draft Plan policies.    
 
Works to Railway Institute Gymnasium 
 
5.92  The RI gymnasium building occupies a prominent position on the site, 
although its presence is compromised by the presence of Queen Street Bridge.  The 
new loop road will extend around the building, providing access to the MSCP, which 
will be situated behind.  This part of the site is restricted given the access and 
capacity requirements of the loop road and MSCP.  As well as replacing parking 
capacity to equivalent levels of the existing long stay surface car park, the scheme 
seeks to provide other car parking spaces for the use of the RI; they currently have 
30 parking spaces in numerous and ad-hoc locations throughout the RI estate.  
Additional space has been identified to the rear of the RI gymnasium building, where 
access would be directly from the loop road.  There are a number of single storey 
rear (non-original) extensions to the RI gymnasium building, which contain a store, 
boiler room and entrance which are proposed to be demolished.  In their place will 
be 11 car parking spaces for the sole use of the RI.  
 
5.93  The gymnasium building was formerly the erecting shed and its orientation is 
one of the best surviving signifiers of the early track layout running through the 
arches in the City wall to the Old Station.  The building holds considerable historic 
and aesthetic value, and overall is considered to be of high significance.  The 
building is not listed, it is identified in the YCHCCA character area 22 (railway area) 
appraisal as a building of merit and is locally valued and identified on the York Open 
Planning Forum, a community created register of buildings and structures that are of 
importance and interest to local communities because of their historic or 
architectural interest.  The supporting heritage statement concludes that due to its 
high significance it is worthy of Grade II listing.  As such, whilst there has not been 
any indication that Historic England consider this building worthy of listing, meeting 
the criteria for Listing, the building is considered to satisfy the selection criteria for 
designation as a non-designated heritage asset, in terms of local interest.   
 
5.94  Considering that the proposal is for demolition of non-original extensions and 
the making good of any proposed elevations to match existing and indeed have 
been designed to match the original elevations as far as possible, the alterations are 
small scale in nature and are not considered to affect the special character of the 
building.  The special architectural or historic interest of the building would be 
predominantly intact and the scale of harm therefore is considered to be low. It is 
considered that the application will enhance, rather than harm the significance of 
this non-designated heritage asset in line with paragraph 197 of the NPPF.   

Page 94



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
Demolition of Railway Institute Band Room 
 
5.95  In order to provide the access loop road around the York RI Gymnasium to 
serve the MSCP, the RI Band Room is proposed to be demolished.  It is noted that 
the area within this part of the site is restricted, and further impacted by the position 
of the listed Water Tower.   
 
5.96  The York Railway Institute band room used to be a Police Club.  The Police 
had offices in the Queen Street area until moving into the railway station in the 
1980s. The band room is not listed and is of negligible aesthetic, historical or 
evidential value.  There is some limited communal value to the band rooms 
associated with the RI’s Silver Band, however this association is relatively recent.  It 
is considered that the building has low significance and no objections to its 
demolition from a heritage perspective are raised.   
 

- Loss of Community Facility 
 
5.97  In respect to the loss of the band room as a community facility, objections 
have been raised to its loss from the Band’s members, citing that that alternative 
facilities need to be provided including a site that is accessible and has a loading 
bay for support equipment and should not be cost prohibitive to the Brass Bands, 
who are an amateur organisation. 
 
5.98  The NPPF in Section 8 and specifically paragraph 92 requires LPAs to provide 
the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the community needs.  
Planning decisions should plan positively for community facilities to enhance the 
sustainability of communities and residential environments.  There is no formal 
definition of a ‘community facility’ provided by the NPPF, however a community 
facility can include meeting and cultural buildings.  Outlined in paragraph 92(c) 
planning decisions should guard against the loss of valued facilities and services, 
particularly those where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-
day needs.  
 
5.99  Draft Publication Policy HW1 seeks to protect existing community assets.  The 
loss of such facilities will not be supported unless it can be demonstrated that; i. 
facilities of equivalent or greater capacity and quality are provided elsewhere on the 
site, ii. Facilities (as defined above) are provided off-site in a location that better 
serves the local community’s needs, iii. the facilities no longer serve a community 
function and demonstrably cannot be adapted to meet other community needs or iv. 
evidence is provided that demonstrates the facilities are no longer financially viable.    
 
5.100  The band room provides meeting and rehearsal space for three brass bands, 
and as such, it is an important facility to the musical community of the city and in this 

Page 95



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

regard, can be considered as a community facility under the NPPF and Draft Policy 
HW1.   
 
5.101  At the present time, it is understood that the applicants have progressed 
discussions with Network Rail (owners of majority of buildings in this area) and the 
Railway Institute (leasee) with regard to the relocation of the band room to an 
alternative location within the RI estate.  A specific location however has not been 
confirmed, although there is potential for a solution to be delivered successfully 
subject to ongoing discussions.  In terms of the project phasing, the loss of the band 
room is not required until phase 2 of the scheme which therefore allows for 
additional time for the replacement facility for the loss of the band room to be 
agreed.  Officers consider that the applicants have demonstrated a commitment to 
re-providing facilities elsewhere on site, and a suitable worded condition is 
appropriate ensuring that a replacement facility is provided prior to the demolition of 
the existing band room.   
 
5.102  It is considered that subject to the imposition of such a condition, the scheme 
would secure an equivalent facility to replace the existing RI band room, and would 
satisfy the requirements of draft policy HW1 as well as the NPPF (para. 92). 
 
Substation and refuse store to serve the Railway Station 
 
5.103  Within the area known as Parcel Square is also the existing substation that 
serves the Railway Station.  The proposals include a replacement sub-station, 
positioned to the southern end of the South Train Shed, and adjacent to the short-
stay car park.  There are operational requirements and cost implications in respect 
to the distance the sub-station can be from the main station building, and this is 
considered to be a suitable location in this regards.  It would not impede the existing 
pedestrian access into the station through the south train shed, from the short stay 
car park.  
 
5.104  The the main considerations regarding the substation is its impact upon the 
setting of the Grade II* Railway Station.  There are no elevation details for the 
substation, however these structures tend to be quite low level in height and would 
be a functional design.  There may be additional measures in order that access to 
the structure is restricted.  Under other circumstances, the relocation of the sub-
station, if undertaken by Railway Undertakers, could be permitted development.   
 
5.105  The position of the substation will be at the end of the southern train shed 
and is currently the area forming the long-stay car park.  The southern train shed 
wall contains key architectural characteristics, and there would be some aesthetic 
and communal values associated with this forming a secondary access point to the 
main station originating from the design intention of the Station.  However, given its 
position to the side, and off-set from the Station’s walls, it is not considered that a 
substation would impact detrimentally on the ability to continue to appreciate the 

Page 96



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

southern train shed and the Station in general.  Appropriately worded conditions can 
control the detailed design and scale of the substation to minimise harm.  However, 
it is considered that the harm to the setting of this listed Station is assessed as less 
than substantial.   
 
5.106  Further, the proposals indicate a refuse store at the southern end of the short 
stay car park and adjacent to the loop road.  This would be for the sole use of the 
Station.  Its location would enable it to be accessed by station staff as well as refuse 
vehicles, using the loop road.  There are no elevation details for the refuse station 
and would normally comprise of an enclosure and of functional design. Similarly to 
the assessment of the substation, the refuse store is positioned to the side and off-
set from the Station walls and would not impact upon the ability to continue to 
appreciate the southern train shed and the Station in general.   Appropriately 
worded conditions can control the detailed design and scale of the substation to 
minimise harm.  However, it is considered that the harm to the setting of this listed 
Station is assessed as less than substantial.   
 
Extension to the Cholera Burial Ground  
 
5.107  The Cholera Burial Ground is an important commemorative site for the 
citizens of York and therefore contains communal, evidential and historical values.  
It is an unusual feature within the landscape, and its aesthetic value is somewhat 
compromised by being next to the carriageway. Overall it has been attributed 
medium significance, but it is not a designated heritage asset, nor is it locally valued 
by being on the Open Planning Forum, and therefore is not considered to be a non-
designated heritage asset in this regard.  However, the proposals seek to extend the 
burial ground, as a mechanism to direct pedestrians to the footpath along the burial 
ground.  The scheme also seeks two additional trees within the ground, to help 
buffer it from the road traffic.  The works are considered to have a positive impact 
upon the burial ground, by enhancing its commemorative nature with the landscape. 
 
Retention of Tram Shelter 
 
5.108  The tram shelter was built between 1910 and 1931 at a time when 
electrification took control over horse-drawn trams, connecting the Railway Station 
to the centre of the city along Rougier Street. The service closed in 1935 and this 
association with the City’s tram system offers historical value, but the tram shelter 
overall offers low significance.  The tram shelter is not a designated heritage asset, 
nor has it been identified on the Open Planning Forum and therefore is not 
considered to be a non-designated heritage asset.  The proposals involve its 
retention and will continue to show how the transport of this part of the city evolved 
over time and the relationship with the railway.  Whilst the bus stops will be located 
to the south of their current position, the tram shelter can continue to provide shelter 
to visitors.  Suggestions have been made that it could be converted to offer retail 
services, such as refreshments, as it is the focus of rough sleepers and it continues 

Page 97



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

to be misused.  Alternative proposals for the tram shelter are not the subject of this 
application, and would require additional considerations.   
 
WIDER PUBLIC REALM AND HIGHWAY IMPROVEMENT WORKS 
 
5.109  Section 9 of the Framework outlines that the planning system should actively 
manage growth; and para.10. states that significant development should be focused 
on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to 
travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. It is stated in para. 110 that 
planning applications proposals should a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle 
movements and as far as possible facilitating access to high quality public transport, 
including the provision of appropriate facilities to encourage public transport use; b) 
address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation to all 
modes of transport; c) create places that are safe, secure and attractive, minimising 
the scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles along with 
avoiding unnecessary street clutter and responding to local character and design 
standards; d) allow for the efficient delivery of good and access by service and 
emergency vehicles; and e) enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission 
vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient locations.  
 
5.110  Additionally, para. 109 states that development should only be prevented or 
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on the 
highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe.   
 
5.111  The public transport interchange improvements at York Station are set out in 
the Local Transport Plan (LTP) 3 2011-2031 and draft local plan Policy T3 ‘York 
Railway Station and associated operational facilities’.  York Rail Station is one of the 
main interchange points in York, allowing bus-to-bus and bus-to-rail changes. 
However the bus stops in the vicinity are amongst the most congested in the city 
centre in terms of vehicle arrivals per hour.  This strategic public transport 
improvement is considered to be vital to widen the transport choices available to 
people who live in, work in or visit York.  There are already significant demands on 
the transport infrastructure and with the potential for new services and anticipated 
growth, development will be supported that allows for: 
- conservation and enhancement of the Grade II* station; 
- improved setting and approaches to the station and meeting the demands of the 
modern rail traveller; 
- increase railway capacity at York Station; 
- assists in the improvement of public transport turn around and interchange facilities 
as part of a general package of measures to improve access at York Station, by all 
modes. 
 
5.112  There are five key themes set out in the LTP 3 that the scheme has 
considered including i. the provision of quality alternatives to the car, providing more 

Page 98



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

choice and enable more trips to be undertaken by sustainable means; ii. improving 
the strategic links to enhance with connections in and around York; iii. encouraging 
behavioural change to maximise the use of walking, cycling and public transport and 
continue improving road safety; iv. Tackling transport emission and v. enhancing 
public streets and spaces. 
 
5.113  The Station Frontage Masterplan identifies the current area in front of York 
Station as being congested and vehicle dominated, detracting from the arrival 
experience that should be celebrating the city’s history and character.  As an 
important transport interchange, this area is very chaotic and there is conflict 
between all highway users, pedestrians, cyclists, buses and vehicles.  The scheme 
seeks the reorganisation of existing infrastructure to provide a more legible, 
attractive and safer environment for those accessing the station and the area, by all 
modes of travel.   
 
5.114  In line with national planning guidance, the scheme seeks to prioritise 
pedestrian, cyclist and public transport modes.  No objections are raised overall to 
the general highway layout by the Council’s Highway Network Management officers, 
however it is noted that there will need to be some revisions to the cycling 
infrastructure in order to comply with the updated DfT Local Transport Note for 
Cycle Infrastructure Design (LTN 01/20).  This applies to all three phases and will 
ensure that priorities are made clear to pedestrians, cyclists and drivers and can be 
achieved though conditions.  
 
5.115  The environment for pedestrians is vastly improved, with the zebra crossings 
that currently dominate Tea Room Square removed.  The Portico will remain as the 
main entrance/exit into the station and with this in mind a new wide pedestrian 
crossing in front of the Portico will be provided, directing pedestrians to key routes 
into the city centre, which will be along the ramparts of the City Wall and leading to 
the route along the cholera burial ground.  There will be improved pedestrian routes 
along Queen Street, on both sides of the highway, taking advantage of the City Wall 
ramparts.   
 
5.116  Concern has been raised from the council’s Landscape Architect in respect to 
the cycling infrastructure with the two-way cycle lane through the arch disrupts 
space and setting to the city walls and will be at the expense of free movement 
across the pedestrian public space. One key aspect of the proposal is encouraging 
behavioural change, and this can be achieved by integrating new infrastructure with 
existing routes.  There would be an improved and widened setting to the city walls 
for pedestrians to use/experience the walls, and a segregated route will ensure that 
conflict is minimised within this area.  
 
5.117  Concerns have been raised that there is no dedicated cycle infrastructure to 
certain areas of the scheme; for example between Tea Room Square and 
Scarborough Bridge and between Lowther Terrace and the Station. The ability to 

Page 99



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

achieve dedicated cycle infrastructure at these locations is subject to land not being 
within the control of the applicant and the available space to provide such 
mechanisms, as well as providing the other benefits to the highway network.  The 
scheme will enable dedicated cycle segregation from Blossom Street to the Lendal 
Gyratory, in front of the Station.  Informal cycle access through North train shed 
would still continue, enabling users to access the upgraded cycle facilities at 
Scarborough Bridge, however the formal arrangement of such infrastructure cannot 
be secured due to operational requirements of the Station. It is noted that the 
removal of the short stay car parking will remove some of the existing conflicts in the 
northern train shed.    
 
5.118  The continued provision of and potential to increase cycle parking at the 
Station has been raised by a number of respondents.  Cycle parking provision at the 
Station is controlled by its owners and operators, Network Rail and LNER, however 
it is in their interest to provide suitable facilities for users of train services.  The 
proposals seek to retain existing provision at their current levels, and this 
arrangement is detailed in the LBC application; it is noted that with requirement to 
re-provide operational facilities, space to expand cycle parking facilities is limited 
and especially so given the grade II* listed nature of the building.  The Council will 
work with Network Rail and LNER thorough conditions and informative, to ensure 
that a range of cycle stands and racking systems are provided to ensure that this 
caters for a wide range of users.  
 
5.119  The plans indicate a new location for the replacement of cycle parking for 
Network Rail users who primarily work at George Stephenson House which is 
welcomed and details of the can be developed through condition. Parking for other 
modes of transport has also been considered and incorporated into the proposals, 
such as motorcycle parking, accessed from the loop road.  
 
5.120  Existing bus stops are found directly in front of the station, with three 
eastbound stops located along the Portico (with a covered canopy), a fourth 
northbound stop within a central road island.  On the opposite side of Station Road 
and in the opposite direction there are four southbound stops, each with a bus 
shelter.  There is an additional bus stop situated outside the Principal York Hotel 
which serves a tourist bus service and the Ghost Bus service.   
 
5.121  The bus stops will be relocated to the south of their current location, in the 
area currently occupied by Queen Street Bridge and the long-stay car park.  The 
advantages of such relocation is the ability to provide a wider carriageway and an 
increased number of stops on each side (2 x super (double) stops and 1 x single 
stop), which will enable an increase from current capacity of 120 per hour to 212.  
The loop road around the York RI Gymnasium will provide a turning loop at the 
station, which has been identified as an issue with operators and will be a major 
improvement and support for bus operators in managing services across the city.  
An additional bus stop and two layover bays are also to be created on the loop road, 

Page 100



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

providing capacity for long distance buses, race day buses and coach drop-off.  The 
tourist sightseeing and ghost bus will retain a dedicated stops in a similar position as 
existing.  
 
5.122  The applicant is satisfied that the scheme will provide an adequate increase 
in provision of bus services and ability for turning at the station.  There have been 
responses from the Bus Forum that consider that these works will have longer term 
implication for the development of a better bus interchange/terminal. Such strategy 
is not currently part of York’s transport strategy and there is no funding to deliver 
such a facility.  Commentators have also expressed the desire and commitment for 
these proposals to enable park and ride services and other city-centre bus services 
to be routed through the Station, for an effective interchange.  The scheme does 
seek to enable increased capacity for services however any changes to the existing 
bus network/routes would need to be developed with bus operators.  These 
suggestions are outside the scope of a planning application.  
 
5.123  Other concerns in respect to the relocation of the bus stops has been the 
distance from the station that they will be and that they will not be undercover.  The 
relocation of the bus stops (be within 30-110m away from the station) will benefit 
from greater space, providing a much more welcoming environment for buses users 
and less conflict with other users of the highway.  Only eastbound stops are 
currently undercover, due to a canopy added onto the Portico in the 1940s.  The 
main bus stops (excluding the stops on the loop and the tourist sightseeing and 
ghost bus) will have waiting shelters, which shall be the subject of condition in terms 
of their detailed design. However, the ability to provide undercover access from the 
station is not currently feasible taking into account the high heritage significance of 
the area. It is not considered that the scheme could achieve the benefits to the wider 
highway network and heritage assets without some loss to amenity.  Whilst this is 
unfortunate, this loss of amenity is not considered to be material to the overall 
scheme.     
 
5.124  The revised arrangements for taxis detail adequate taxi stacking facilities in 
the taxi rank, supported by possible additional stacking capacity to the rear of the 
MSCP.  There is also the provision for drop off for 5no. vehicles and short stay car 
parking with 3no. disabled spaces for other users of the Station, replacing those 
displaced from the North Train Shed and Portico.  The disabled spaces within the 
short stay car park will be an improvement on the existing dedicated disabled 
provision within and around the Station.  
 
5.125  Tea Room Square is a particular focus of the scheme, with an overall aim of 
providing a pedestrianised space, and improve the setting of the listed (GII*) Station, 
the listed (GII) York Tap and Principal York Hotel.  Due to existing access and 
operational requirements to the North Train Shed and servicing requirements of the 
Station and adjacent Hotel, vehicular access is retained, but will be restricted to 
prioritise pedestrian movements.   

Page 101



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
5.126  The reorganisation of existing highway infrastructure will facilitate the 
redistribution of road traffic, improving the flow of traffic, reducing congestion and 
idling vehicles in front of the station.  Modelling has been undertaken which 
indicates minor changes to journey times for the majority of users.  Buses are 
predicated to have a reduction in journey times although there would be a slight 
increase in journey times for cars leaving the short and long stay car parks at peak 
(PM) hour.  However there are significant benefits predicted for taxis and drop-off 
vehicles.   
 
5.127  The application complies with national and local planning policy, promoting 
sustainable transport through an improved public transport network on the approach 
and at the railway station.  The development will bring about the improvement of the 
existing railway facility and capacity to meet additional services and anticipated 
growth.  The requirements of paragraph 110 of the Framework would be achieved.  
 
WIDER HERITAGE IMPACTS  
 
5.128  This report has already considered the impact of some of the proposed works 
on individual heritage assets, such as the removal of Queen Street Bridge on the 
City Wall, demolition of Parcel Square and replacement infill building at the railway 
station. However, there are many more heritage assets (some designated, and 
some non-designated heritage assets) that are either within the boundary of the 
application site or are positioned close to the site’s boundary and the impacts of the 
scheme on their signfincance including setting and key views need to be assessed.  
 
5.129  The NPPF (paragraph 184) states that heritage assets range from sites and 
buildings of local historic value to those of the highest significance, such as World 
Heritage Sites. These assets are an irreplaceable resource, and should be 
conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed 
for their contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations. The 
statutory duties in relation to listed buildings and conservation areas are explained in 
paragraphs 2.1 to 2.3. Additional central government policy on heritage assets 
contained in Section 16 of the NPPF is set out in paragraph 2.7.  
 
5.130  When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the assets 
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be).  
This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total 
loss or less than substantial harm to its significance (para 193).  
 
- Significance of heritage assets affected (including from its setting)  
 
5.131  The Framework says that the significance of a heritage asset is derived from 
a heritage asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting.  The NPPF states that 

Page 102



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

the setting of a heritage asset is the surroundings in which a heritage asset is 
experienced. Its extent is not fixed and may changes as the asset and its 
surroundings evolve.  
 
5.132  One of the key opportunities identified in the YSF Masterplan by the 
reorganisation of the highway infrastructure is the potential to improve the setting to 
both the City Walls, the Railway Station and the area around the Railway Institute.  
 
5.133  The City Walls are a scheduled monument, which is one of the highest 
significance attributed to heritage assets and national planning policy (para 184) 
identify that they should be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of 
existing and future generations.  The City Wall is a largely intact medieval structure, 
built upon much older remains and modified by Victorian railway companies, which 
is evident by the railway arches.  The walls and the ramparts are particularly 
prominent features of the site and had a major influence on York’s railway history 
and the character of this area.  This heritage asset has very high significance which 
is derived from the aesthetic, evidential, historical and communal values it 
possesses.  
 
5.134  The removal of Queen Street Bridge will enable the ramparts of Tofts Tower 
and the City Walls along Queen Street and Station Road to be reinstated.  The 
relocation of the bus stops and the creation of a wide pedestrian crossing directly 
from the Portico will enable the City Walls and ramparts to be more prominent in 
views and the physicality of the walls able to be appreciated.  The improvements to 
the public realm in the area between the City Walls and the relocated bus stops on 
the southern carriageway will reveal the railway arches, which have previously been 
obscured. The scheme is considered to enhance the experience of the City Walls, 
for residents and visitors of the City, as well as the aforementioned heritage values 
that contributes to the significance of this heritage asset.   
 
5.135  York Railway Station is a grade II*, and its most significant feature is the 
curve of the trainshed roof, fine arches and cast-iron detailing. High aesthetic 
significance is also attributed to its plan form, with the concourses intact and mostly 
still in use as intended.  The prominence and physicality of the Station is enhanced 
by its location outside of the city walls a result of the need to improve hospitality for 
travellers as well as congestion on the tracks at a junction outside of the city walls.  
The layout of the concourses, the inner and outer and then the portico provides a 
key arrival into the city.  However, the arrival through the Portico and other 
secondary exits are not considered to have positive engagement with the historic 
environment of the City which is dominated by vehicles and traffic.  The creation of 
pedestrian space within the Portico and the introduction of the crossing point 
positioned directly in front of the Portico will direct views to the City Walls, providing 
a welcoming arrival experience.  The dominance of vehicles and traffic will be less 
prominent. Additionally, the setting of the Station when arriving from the City and 
views from the City Wall and Tofts Tower will enable the architectural quality of the 

Page 103



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

Station to be greatly appreciated, with traffic and clutter removed or reduced so the 
original features and design intention of the Station can be appreciated. 
 
5.136  The area around the York RI has a consistent character developed from its 
industrial past; red brick buildings built at close quarters.  This area contains the GII 
Water Tower and Workshop and the York RI Gymnasium, which is locally valued.  
The proposals will result in the loss of the York RI band room, which is not listed and 
has negligible aesthetic, historical or evidential values, but has limited communal 
value.  The introduction of the loop road will facility improved vehicular links and 
accessibility to this area, which has otherwise been restricted.  The Water Tower 
and Workshop will begin to have some prominence as one of the oldest surviving 
railway water towers and remnants of York’s earliest station facilities.  It is 
considered that the works overall will enhance from the significance of this part of 
the application site, that is often overlooked by the more dominating and historically 
significant City Walls and Railway Station.   
 
 - Ivy Cottage 
 
5.137  Ivy Cottage is a brick built cabin is located just outside the first arch through 
the City Wall and aligned with the original tracks. It is thought to have been used as 
shelter for drivers shunting engines in and out of the Old Station.  Dating from 1851-
89 it is the oldest surviving remnant of the railway activity immediately around the 
arches through the City Wall. It is largely intact although its Yorkshire sashes have 
been replaced with unsympathetic uPVC windows.  It remains a good example of 
undemonstrative railway architecture from the middle of the nineteenth century and 
is considered to have low significance. 
 
5.138  The building is locally valued and identified on the Open Planning Forum and 
therefore is recognised as a non-designated heritage asset.   In terms of assessing 
the effect of the application on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset, 
paragraph 197 of the Framework states that a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage 
asset.  Ivy Cottage will be retained in its current form.  The proposed improvements 
to the public realm to the area in front of the City Walls along Station Road will result 
in Ivy Cottage being a more prominent structure in this location.  Feature paving will 
be used to highlight the route of the former railway lines and given that Ivy Cottage 
aligns with the original tracks and its former use, it will assist in telling the story of 
York’s railway history.  It is considered that the application will enhance, rather than 
harm the significance of this non-designated heritage asset in line with paragraph 
197 of the NPPF.   
 

- Conservation Area  
 
5.139  Paragraph 200 of the NPPF considers that LPAs should look for opportunities 
for new development within Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites, and 

Page 104



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

within the setting of heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal their significance.  
Proposals that preserve those elements of the setting that make a positive 
contribution to the asset (or which better reveal its significance) should be treated 
favourably.   
 
5.140  The YCHCCA character area 22 (Railway Area) Appraisal identifies the city 
gateway as a weakness and opportunity, including specific reference to the station 
forecourt being reconfigured to enhance the experience for visitors entering the city 
by rail.  Specific reference is also made to Queen Street Bridge being obsolete, and 
detrimental to the setting of the City Walls and listed buildings and can improve 
pedestrian routes to the station.  
 
5.141  A key setting to this part of the conservation area is the approach from 
Blossom Street; which is dominated by traffic at this important junction into the City, 
and is a detractor.  All four corners of the junction feature listed buildings (Bar 
Convent (GI), 2-10 Blossom Street (GII), The Punch Bowl (GII) and the Windmill 
(GII).   There are negligible alterations proposed in the application that directly 
impact this approach. Any changes will be experienced further down Queen Street, 
following the removal of Queen Street Bridge.      
 
5.142  The approach from the City, along Station Road between the York Principal 
Hotel and Leeman Statue has two contrasting settings; the road which is dominated 
by traffic and flanked by mature trees on both sides and the footpath, to the south of 
the Chlorea Burial Ground.  The YCHCCA identifies a key view, Station Avenue 
(Ref: 18) between the Station and The Minster, which predominantly can be viewed 
from the road rather than the footpath.   
 
5.143  It is highlighted that there are several key themes when analysing the existing 
setting when considering key and current movements through the site; that is the 
dominance of road traffic and the poor pedestrian experience which discourages the 
wider appreciation of the rich heritage of the built environment that occupies this part 
of the city.  The key principles of the scheme are to rationalise vehicle, cycle and 
pedestrian movements, improve connectivity and allow for more efficient use of 
space and improvements to the public realm.  The achievement of these principles 
would enhance both approaches to this area, and the setting of the City Walls, 
Listed Buildings that are located within and outside the site boundary would be 
enhanced.   It is considered that as the key aims of the scheme follow the 
opportunities set out in the YCHCCA character area 22 appraisal, enhance both 
approaches from the City and from Blossom Street and overall the scheme is 
considered to preserve and enhance the character and appearance of this part of 
the conservation area. 
 
ARCHAEOLOGY 
 

Page 105



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

5.144  The application site is located within the Central Area of Archaeological 
Importance (AAI) and in an area where nationally significant Roman archaeological 
features and deposits as well as 19th century railway archaeology are located.   
 
5.145  Paragraph 194 (b) of the NPPF includes footnote 63 which states that non-
designated heritage assets of archaeological interest which are demonstrably of 
equivalent significance to scheduled monuments should be considered subject to 
the policies for designated heritage assets.  Paragraph 194 b) states that substantial 
harm to or loss of assets of the highest significance (including scheduled 
monuments) should be wholly exceptional.  Paragraph 193 of the Framework sets 
out that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance 
of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 
conservation; the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be. Any 
harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset should require 
clear and convincing justification (Para.194). 
 
5.146  2018 Draft  Plan Policy D6 states that proposals that affect archaeological 
features and deposits will be supported where they are accompanied by (i) an 
evidence based heritage statement, (ii) designed to avoid substantial harm to 
archaeological deposits; and where harm to archaeological deposits is unavoidable, 
detailed mitigation measures have been agreed with the Council.  
 
5.147  The archaeological impacts in relation to Tofts Tower (Tower 13) and the 
ramparts have been discussed in this report at the section covering removal of 
Queen Street Bridge and associated works. This part of the report will focus upon 
other areas of the site that has archaeological significance, including the Unipart 
building and the area of the surface-level car park.  
 
5.148  Significant archaeological investigations have been undertaken around the 
Unipart building and that area of the site as part of the York Central scheme, 
including monitored ground investigations in 2018 and archaeological evaluation 
during June-July 2020.  A roman burial was located c.800mm below modern ground 
surface on the north west edge of the building as well as a Roman pit noted in the 
deepest part of an evaluation trench on the north-east side.   
 
5.149  In the area of the surface-level car park, the site of the proposed MSCP, the 
archaeological evaluation confirmed that railway buildings (in this instance fitting 
sheds) survive beneath the modern car park make up levels. Re-deposited Roman 
material was noted in trenches outside of the shed footprints confirming the 
presence of disturbed Roman archaeology in this area. 
 
5.150  A layer of organic material (peat and silt) was noted in the SE corner of the 
plot and the nature of this material is still under investigation.  Results from wider 
deposit modelling studies in the adjacent York Central site suggest this material may 
form part of a kettle hole and will require further investigation. 

Page 106



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
5.151  In summary, these investigations have proved that there is the potential for 
organic deposits, pockets of isolated in-situ Roman material, including burials, to 
survive outside of landscaped areas and 18th century building footprints.  The 
proposed demolitions, construction works, and service diversion/creation all have 
the potential to negatively impact on any surviving archaeological resource.  This 
resource will largely relates to the Roman period and 19th century railway 
archaeology. 
 
5.152  An archaeological watching brief will be required on all ground works 
including grubbing up of any foundations following initial demolition, installation of 
service and construction.  A burial license should be applied for in advance should 
in-situ burial removal be required.  
 
5.153  An archaeological excavation will be required in areas where significant 
archaeological deposits survive which are unable to be preserved in situ.  Time must 
be allowed for excavation of deposits and recording of features/structures including 
19th century railway infrastructure.  
 
5.154  In the area of the proposed car park further palaeo-environmental 
assessment and dating of the organic deposit noted in the evaluation will be 
required to investigate the kettlehole in this area and try to better understand the 
state of preservation of this deposits.  Given the current difficulties on gaining 
intrusive access to this car park area this can take place as part of the mitigation 
excavation.  
 
5.155  Whilst the significance of the archaeological interests is high, the impacts 
could be mitigated through the use of planning conditions requiring an 
archaeological watching brief and excavation. Therefore in applying the 
requirements of Paragraph 194 (b) of the NPPF and footnote 63 which states that 
non-designated heritage assests of archaeological interest which are demonstrably 
of equivalent significance to scheduled monuments should be considered subject to 
the policies for designated heritage assets, the scale of harm to the significance of 
these archaeological features and deposits is considered to result in less than 
substantial harm.  Inline with paragraph 196 of the Framework, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.  The public benefits of the 
proposals are considered collectively at paragraphs 5.210-5.218.  
  
LANDSCAPE  
 
- Green Infrastructure 
 
5.156  Green infrastructure is an overarching framework relating to green assets, 
and include biodiversity, open space provision and public realm.  An important 
component to York’s green infrastructure network is the green corridors and in 

Page 107



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

specific reference to this development scheme, the city walls (ref 11) are identified 
as a green infrastructure corridor of district significance, with a primary function of 
archaeology and nature conservation in the Biodiversity Action Plan (2017).   The 
2018 Draft Plan policy GI1 considers the strategic delivery of green infrastructure, 
with draft policy GI3 setting out specific policies to protect and enhance York’s green 
infrastructure networks.   
 
5.157  Planted wildflower plugs have been successfully established on the ramparts 
of the City Walls alongside Queen Street.  The proposals present an opportunity to 
continue the application of wildflower mix on the rampart earthworks and the specific 
nature of the landscape operations in this area and details such as soil specification 
can be included within a condition requiring a landscaping scheme.   
 
5.158  The Council’s Landscape Architect has highlighted that the removal of Queen 
Street Bridge presents an opportunity to introduce tree cover in an area that could 
not previously accommodate it.  Street trees will be located on the eastern side of 
the city wall, adjacent to an improved area of public realm and the relocated bus 
stops.  It is considered that the introduction of tree cover and the continuation of 
wildflower planting to the ramparts is an enhancement to this green corridor, 
meeting policy GI3 of the 2018 Draft Plan.  
 
- Landscaping  
 
5.159  Section 12 of the Framework focuses upon achieving well design places, with 
the creation of high quality buildings and places being fundamental to what the 
planning and development process should achieve. Paragraph 127 b) seeks to 
ensure that developments are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, 
layout and appropriate and effective landscaping.  
 
5.160  2018 Draft Plan policy D2 outlines that detailed landscape schemes will be 
required as part of development proposals since these are significant factors in the 
aesthetic and functional quality and success of a development. In particular, Policy 
D2 encourages and will support developments that; iv. create opportunities to 
enhance the public use and enjoyment of existing and proposed streets and open 
space and vii. Include sustainable, practical, and high quality soft and hard 
landscape details and planting proposals that are clearly evidence based and make 
a positive contribution to the character of streets, spaces and other landscapes.  
 
- Trees 
 
5.161  One of the key benefits of the scheme and reorganisation of the highway is 
the opportunity to provide tree coverage, where they could not previously be 
accommodated.  The YCHCCA Management Strategy identify that trees are an 
essential element of townscape by framing vies, create attractive settings to historic 
buildings and ruins and increasing biodiversity.   

Page 108



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
5.162  Four distinct areas of tree planting for the site have been identified; the 
cholera burial ground, tea room square, the area in front of the City Walls, where the 
bus stops will be relocated to and along the station frontage, as well as in front of 
the York RI Gymnasium.  These will complement the existing amenity trees 
positioned alongside the City Walls along station road and along the footpath 
adjacent to the Cholera Burial ground.   
 
5.163  Concern raised by the Council’s Landscape Architect in respect to the 
proposed street trees (with the exception of those in Tea Room Square) along the 
station frontage, which are identified on the indicative landscape plans to be in 
planters.  These trees are expected to provide a sizeable canopy and this would not 
be achieved if in planters.  Species and planting details have not been provided to 
date however the applicants have confirmed that the arrangement is more akin to 
trees being planted in a raised bed and not a planter and so will effectively be 
accommodated at ground level.  The planting detail in respect to these trees with be 
developed further through conditons, which will also ensure that they are compatible 
with existing and future proposed utilities and street furniture.  
 
5.164  The cholera burial ground is proposed to be extended in a southerly direction 
to the realigned carriageway.  This not only improves the green spaces in this part of 
the conservation area but it also is a mechanism to direct pedestrians to the new 
crossing and onto the main footpath that leads to the city centre along the ramparts 
and city walls.  Two additional trees are proposed to be planted within this extended 
part which would be welcome additions to the treescape.  The Landscape Architect 
has suggested that the application presents an opportunity for betterment, in respect 
to the cholera burial ground, suggesting a low hedge along the outer edge of the 
burial ground in order to reduce the influence of the traffic on this green space and 
make it more appealing for general use.  There is little delineation of the 
carriageway with this green space.  The suggestion of the addition of low hedging 
does not currently fall within the landscape proposals, and discussions shall 
continue in respect to securing such betterment under the landscaping conditions, 
taking into account potential maintenance, ownership considerations and utility 
routes that may be beneath the carriageway.   
 
5.165  The proposals will seek to provide Tea Room Square as a pedestrian space, 
although marginally off-set by vehicular access partly remaining to the north train 
shed to satisfy the operational requirements of station as well as hotel and station 
servicing.  Different surface materials will be used to differentiate the vehicular route.  
Positioned within the area will be three raised, oval beds with integral seating and 
multi-stemmed trees which will provide a valuable quality of seating and effective 
greening of the square.   
 
5.166  In respect of existing trees, two most significant trees within the influence of 
the site are the notably large, mature London Plane trees located at the foot of the 

Page 109



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

ramparts on Station Road near to Ivy Cottage and referred to as G10 in the tree 
survey.  The plans indicate a retaining wall wrapping part way round Ivy Cottage.  
General tree protection measures are provided in the application but a fully detailed 
arboricultural method statement is required to ensure that methodology and 
construction details where any proposed level changes, surface materials and 
boundary treatments are acceptable within the root protection area of these existing 
trees.  
 
- Other Hard and Soft Landscaping (street furniture, lighting, surface materials) 
  
5.167  There is an expanse of hard standing across the site and along with the 
surfaces in the wider YCHCCA they are inconsistent.  There is a great visual impact 
as a result of the reorganisation of the highway infrastructure, and the area in front 
of the station where the relocation taxi rank, main carriageway and bus waiting lanes 
is relocated too, there is in the region of 7 lanes of traffic.  The use of tarmacadam 
for vehicle routes is the most practical.  However, in contrast there will be wider 
pedestrian routes particularly in front of the City Walls, the Portico and Tea Room 
Square.  Furthermore, there will be stone feature paving that depicts the former 
railway lines in the area to the front of the Portico and the City Walls. There will be a 
variety of surface materials, scales and textures and their quality will have an 
aesthetic quality.   
 
5.168  There are contrasting views as to the preferred material for cycle routes, with 
stone setts being indicated on the plans, however the York Cycle Campaign citing 
that these are dangerous and their preference would be asphalt.  From an aesthetic 
point of view, an asphalt surfacing would be harmful when significant improvements 
will have been made to the quality of space, responding sensitively to the setting of 
heritage assets and given that the cycle way is segregated from the highway.  Stone 
setts can have a straight cut surface with flush joints to provide an overall even 
surface that may satisfy these concerns, however details of all surfacing materials 
can be considered through an appropriately worded condition in order to take into 
account long term maintenance and potential safety issues as well as construction 
and cost implications.   
 
5.169  Indicative location of street furniture (benches and bus shelters) have been 
provided and their detailed design has been explored to some degree.  There is an 
agreed approach that benches should be simple, durable and robust, whilst also 
offering comfort. Furthermore, their design and location may contribute to counter 
terrorism mitigation measures and can be developed via condition.  
 
5.170  Lighting has been considered by the applicant, given its importance in 
facilitating the safe movement of pedestrians, cyclists and road users.  It is 
anticipated that main vehicular routes will take the traditional street lighting approach 
with public realm areas undertaking a complimentary approach, encouraging visitors 
to use the space and promote sense of safety whilst being sensitive to the historic 

Page 110



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

nature of the surrounding environment.  The lighting details can be developed 
through a condition, to ensure that there is an agreed position.  
 
5.171  It is considered that the proposals will contribute positively to the quality and 
character of the existing landscape, and enhance features such as the ramparts and 
other heritage assets and the historic environment more generally.  The hard and 
soft landscaping proposals are considered to be well suited to the scale and 
practical complexity of the scheme, and conditions will ensure that they are of a 
high-quality, and can satisfy the requirements for highway adoption and counter 
terrorism mitigation measures.   
 
ECOLOGY 
 
5.172  Bat surveys undertaken in 2017/18 and 2020 have identified that the site 
does not provide any suitable habitat for foraging/commuting for bats and low level 
activity was identified.  Early bat surveys (July 2017) identified a Common Pipistrelle 
day roost in the York RI Gymnasium, however at that time this building was not 
identified as a building to be partly demolished.  As the proposals have developed, 
the rear extensions of the RI gymnasium will be demolished to allow for the loop 
road and additional parking for use by the RI.  Additional surveys have been 
undertaken in 2020 and have found similar low levels of bat activity, however no 
roosts were found within this building, the York RI Band room building or the water 
tower. 
 
5.173  The York RI band room is proposed to be demolished and whilst no bats 
have been located within this building it has a high potential to support roosting bats 
in the future.  Any bats present could be affected by disturbance during demolition.  
A precautionary approach is recommended in the form of Reasonable Avoidance 
Measures (RAM) in relation to both the York RI band room and Gymnasium to avoid 
negative impact on bats.  Further, if the demolitions of the buildings do not 
commence within one year from the date of planning consent being granted, 
updated bat surveys will be required to establish if there has been any changes in 
presence/absence of bats and to identify new or revised avoidance and mitigation 
measures. 
 
AIR QUALITY 
 
5.174  Paragraph 180 of the Framework seeks to ensure that new development is 
appropriate for its location, taking into account the likely effects (including 
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural 
environment.  
 
5.175  The site is located within the Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), declared 
on the basis of exceedances of the health based annual mean nitrogen dioxide 
objective (40yg/m3).  NFFP paragraph 181 covers air quality and cites that 

Page 111



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

opportunities to improve air quality or mitigate impacts should be identified, such as 
through traffic and travel management, and green infrastructure provision and 
enhancement. Planning decisions should ensure that any new development in 
AQMA and Clean Air Zones is consistent with the local air quality action plan. 
 
5.176  Draft Local Plan policy ENV1 covers Air Quality states that development will 
only be permitted if the mechanisms are in place to mitigate adverse impacts and 
prevent future exposure to poor air quality, helping to protect human health.   
 
5.177  The Environmental Statement has assessed the potential changes in air 
quality arising from the construction and operation of the scheme.   
 
- Construction phases   
 
5.178  The increase in heavy goods vehicle movements would be within the normal 
variation and is a small amount of traffic on this road; the impact will be negligible. 
Consideration of emission associated with construction traffic accessing the site has 
been scoped out of the assessment. Mitigation measures for impacts from dust on 
local sensitive receptors can be adequately managed within a CEMP.   
 
- Operational road traffic emissions 
 
5.179  There is the potential that the proposed scheme will impact existing air quality 
as a result of road traffic exhaust emissions (such as NO2, PM10 and PM2.5) 
associated with redistribution of traffic around the proposed scheme during the 
operational phase.  The redistribution of road traffic will improve the flow of traffic, 
reducing congestion and idling vehicles in front of the station. 
 
5.180  Taking account of the conservative modelling assumptions and the beneficial 
impacts observed at some receptors with the scheme in place, whilst the impact of 
the scheme is significant along Queen Street (and at the junction with blossom 
Street/Nunnery Lane) in the opening year, following expected implements to air 
quality (due to reduced emissions form vehicles and the uptake of low emission 
buses due to the York Clean Air Zone), it is likely that pollution will reduce and the 
long term effect of the scheme on air quality would not be significant.  Whilst there is 
uncertainty over future background pollutant concentrations and vehicle emission 
improvements, on balance, based on the sensitivity testing undertaken, Public 
Protection agree with the conclusions drawn by the applicant’s consultant in this 
respect. 
 
5.181  It should be noted that the air quality at some residential properties on Queen 
Street is likely to deteriorate as a result of the scheme due to realignment of the 
road bringing dwellings closer to the carriageway, although such locations are not 
predicted to breach health based objectives.  
 

Page 112



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

5.182  The report has covered electric vehicle charging facilities within the section 
relating specifically to the MSCP.   
 
5.183  It is therefore considered that the long term potential impact in air quality 
arising from the construction and operation of the scheme is that pollution will 
reduce and that the impact on air quality would not be significant, satisfying 2018 
Draft Plan policy ENV1 and paragraph 181 of the NPPF. 
  
NOISE AND VIBRATION 
 
5.184  The Framework sets out in paragraph 180a that planning decisions should 
mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from noise 
from new development.  Draft 2018 Plan policy ENV2 will seek to ensure that 
development proposals do not give rise to unacceptable environmental impacts 
such as noise without effective mitigation measures. 
 
5.185  Noise and Vibration have been covered within the Environmental Statement, 
the ES Addendum (dated July 2020) and the Technical Note by ARUP dated 13 
November 2020. The noise monitoring locations and methodology are acceptable, 
as well as the methodology used within the assessment. The site is located within a 
high urban environment where daytime baseline noise is dominated by traffic and 
the railway.  Road traffic is less busy at night-time, but still remains a significant 
source of sound.   
 
5.186  Additional information has been provided identifying the proposed mitigation 
measures to reduce noise levels at receptor R1 (Queen Street residences), where 
the predicted noise levels are predicted to be at times 23dB above the threshold set 
against existing noise levels within this area.  The implementation of the noise 
mitigation measures set out in a CEMP will satisfactorily reduce noise levels at this 
receptor. As such, it is not considered that the applicants would be expected to fund 
additional noise measures at the properties on Queen Street, such as secondary 
glazing, which has been suggested by an objector.     
 
5.187  Receptor R3 relates to the Principal Hotel, a local hotel business that does 
rely on providing hotel accommodation for guests; including resting space as well as 
sleeping space.  Additional information has been provided on the noise levels that 
have been predicted at R3 and the measures that can be taken to reduce noise 
levels during the day.  Whilst further would will be required in respect to employing 
correct noise mitigation measures for this receptor, the noise from the works can be 
reduced to a level that would not have an adverse impact on the operation of the 
hotel. 
 
5.188  It is considered that the use of correct noise mitigation measures (controlled 
via a CEMP condition) at all residential receptors would result in reduced noise 
levels to a satisfactorily level during construction activities and the proposal satisfies 

Page 113



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

draft Local Plan policy ENV2 and paragraph 180 of the Framework.  There would be 
no significant noise or vibration effects once the scheme is operational.   
 
LAND CONTAMINATION   
 
5.189  NPPF paragraph 178 sets out that planning decisions should take into 
account ground conditions and any risks arising from land instability and 
contamination with the responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the 
developer and/or land owner (para. 179). 
 
5.190  The submitted Geotechnical Desk Study ref: YSF-ARP-00-XX-RP-CG-001 
dated 14 March 2019 has investigated the potential contamination sources to the 
areas/projects of Queen Street Highway Works, the taxi rank and short stay parking 
and public realm works in tea room square.   
 
5.191  A number of potential contamination sources have been identified including 
railway use, burial grounds, made ground and current use. The majority of the site 
will be directly underlain by made ground of unknown composition and thickness, in 
addition a preliminary assessment has identified some potential for unexploded 
ordnance (UXO) on site.  Further investigation is recommended including a detailed 
unexploded ordnance (UXO) study and a ground investigation to characterise 
thickness and nature of made and natural superficial materials, investigate ground 
water profiles through ground water monitoring, assess soil contamination to inform 
re-use or disposal, nature retaining walls and retained material, investigate backfill, 
earthworks and voids associated with Queen Street Bridge.  Public Protection 
officers support the conclusions of the submitted Study and further investigation 
relating to land contamination can be secured by conditions.  
 
CRIME 
 
5.192  The Framework sets out in paragraph 127 f) that planning decisions should 
ensure that developments create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible, and 
where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life 
or community cohesion and resilience.  Crime is taken to include terrorism.  The 
national Planning Practice Guidance explains that for locations that generate crowds 
in public places, applicants and LPAs should consider appropriate security 
measures in the design of building and spaces with good counter-terrorism 
protective security supporting wider crime prevention.   
 
5.193  The National Counter Terrorism Security Office has published Crowded 
Places Guidance (2017).  This sets out that the Department for Transport is 
responsible for and sets a counter-terrorism security policy, issues regulations and 
undertakes compliance activity across a number of transport modes including rail. 
Reducing the vulnerability of crowded places is a key part of this Government’s 
Counter Terrorism strategy.  

Page 114



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
5.194  The railway station and its environs will be a ‘crowded place’ and a significant 
transport hub and is potentially attractive to terrorists using a broad spectrum of 
attack methodologies.  The impact of such attacks can be mitigated by the inclusion 
of physical security measures at the planning stage of a project.  It is noted that any 
security measures should be balanced with the day-to-day operation of the site, and 
should not compromise safety of the site. 
 
5.195  A key recommendation from the Counter Terrorism Security Advisor is 
related to the position of the taxi rank and it is recommended that this is re-
positioned so to achieve the optimum enforced stand-off between the main building 
and areas where crowds congregate.  This has been considered, however there is 
no practical solution to its relocation, given the available space within the site, 
access arrangements for users and vehicles to and from the taxi rank and to the 
station as well as consideration of the possible heritage impacts, and funding 
implications. There are other hostile vehicle mitigation measures that could be 
implemented to reduce the speed of a hostile vehicle including bollards, planters, 
landscaping and/or other street furniture.  Additionally, there are further site specific 
measures that can be adapted into the scheme, including building construction 
methods including glazing and materials so it is robust to withstand the effects of a 
blast as well as widespread use of CCTV coverage and lighting.  A condition 
requiring site specific counter terrorism security measures to be incorporated into 
the development is recommended.  
 
FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE 
 
5.196  The site is located in Flood Zone 1 where there is a low probability of 
flooding. The development generally comprises of transport infrastructure and public 
realm works and can be identified as ‘essential infrastructure’ in line with Table 2: 
flood risk vulnerability classification of the Planning Practice Guidance. This type of 
development is appropriate for all flood zones.   
 
5.197  New drainage is likely to be required in three areas of the site; the area of 
Parcel Square and the short stay car park and taxi rank/drop-off, the MSCP and the 
temporary car park following the demolition of the Unipart building, and the ground is 
identified to be typically made up of clay-based deposits with low permeability.  The 
current drainage proposals have not discounted the use of infiltration, and therefore 
conditions are required to ensure that surface water disposal is in line with the 
Council’s SuDS guidance and the drainage design developed alongside public 
sewer diversion works and water supply apparatus protection measures. 
 
5.198  There are significant public sewers and Yorkshire Water drainage assets in 
the site, and the works will require agreement with Yorkshire Water for connections, 
diversions and decommission of any build over or diversion of significant public 
sewers.    

Page 115



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
5.199  Objections have been received citing that there are opportunities to make 
improvements in the proposed scheme for disabled people and that the application 
is not accompanied by an Equality Impact Assessment.  The scheme has 
considered people with disabilities and reduced mobility in line with paragraph 110 
b) of the Framework, with the provision of disabled parking within the long and short 
stay car parking.   
 
5.200  As part of the evidence base to the 2018 Draft Plan an Equalities Impact 
Assessment (EqIA) – incorporating the Better Decision Making Tool (April 2018) has 
assessed the potential impact of the policies of the local plan on different groups in 
York.  Overall the EqIA does not identify any negative impacts on any of the 
protected characteristics as a result of the implementation of the draft policies.   
 
 
DEVELOPMENT DELIVERY AND PHASING 
 
5.201  The City of York Council are the applicant and as the majority of the works 
are related to the reorganisation of the highway infrastructure, they with contractors 
will be undertaking the majority of the work.  Network Rail are other majority 
landowners and is expected to work alongside the Council in developing the 
scheme, as well as other stakeholders.  The scheme has been designed in three 
phases and delivered sequentially.  However if funding comes available sooner they 
could be combined and delivered as a single construction phase.  Any precise 
timings and extent of each phase is subject to finalisation and depend on a number 
of factors including funding availability, rail regulatory issues and the safe and 
successful ongoing operation of the station.   
 
5.202  Phase 1 comprises major construction works, including the demolition of 
Queen Street Bridge and delivers the most significant changes to the pedestrian and 
cycle infrastructure and public transport. Phase 2 includes the reorganisation of 
transport infrastructure around the Railway Institute and the reorganisation of 
parking including the construction of the MSCP. Phase 3 includes the works around 
Parcel Square and other works within and surrounding the Railway Station. 
 
5.203  The first two phases stand alone in their own right, designed to implement the 
long term changes and minimise the ‘re-do’ of any works undertaken to achieve the 
overall final scheme.  The phasing strategy will be subject to a condition prior to 
commencement of work on site.  
 
CONCLUSION OF HARM TO HERITAGE ASSESTS (PUBLIC BENEFITS) 
 

Page 116



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

5.204  As detailed above there are numerous heritage assets, of differing 
significance (ranging from Scheduled Monuments, Listed Buildings, Conservation 
Area, archaeological features and deposits, and non-designated heritage assets) 

that would be affected by the scheme.  The significance of heritage assets may be 
affected by direct physical change or by change in their setting. 
 
5.205  In summary, the designated heritage assets and the works contained within 
the application which impacts upon their significance includes: 
- City Walls (Scheduled Monument and GI listed): removal of Queen Street Bridge, 
highway infrastructure and public realm works, reinstatement to ramparts 
- Railway Station (GII*): demolition of Parcel Square and replacement infill building, 
public realm works (Tea Room Square), highway infrastructure works including 
relocated taxi rank, short and long stay car parking and crossing directly from 
Portico and relocated substation and refuse store 
- Water Tower and Workshop (GII): highway infrastructure works (setting) 
- Queen Street Properties (No’s 17-20 GII): installation of raising to front, highway 
and public realm works 
- York Central Historic Core Conservation Area: views, setting and approaches from 
highway and public realm works  
- Archaeological features and deposits located within the Central Area of 
Archaeological Importance (AAI): City Walls and ramparts and removal of Queen 
Street Bridge, area of MSCP and Unipart building (as per paragraph 194 (b) and 
footnote 63, these are subject to the policies for designated heritage assets). 
 
5.206  The assessment concludes that the proposals will result in less than 
substantial harm to the significance of each of the above identified heritage assets.  
Paragraph 196 of the Framework sets out that where a development proposal will 
lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, 
this harm should be outweighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, 
where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.  
 
- Public Benefits 
 
5.207  National Planning Practice Guidance sets out what is meant by the term 
public benefits and states that:  
 
“Public benefits may follow from many developments and could be anything that 
delivers economic, social or environmental objectives as described in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 8). Public benefits should flow from the 
proposed development. They should be of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the 
public at large and not just be a private benefit. However, benefits do not always 
have to be visible or accessible to the public in order to be genuine public benefits, 
for example, works to a listed private dwelling which secure its future as a 
designated heritage asset could be a public benefit. Examples of heritage benefits 
may include: 

Page 117

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/2-achieving-sustainable-development


 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

- sustaining or enhancing the significance of a heritage asset and the contribution of 
its setting 
- reducing or removing risks to a heritage asset 
- securing the optimum viable use of a heritage asset in support of its long term 
conservation” 
(Paragraph: 020 Reference ID: 18a-020-20190723 Revision date: 23 07 2019) 
 
5.208  The proposals affecting the heritage assets are to facilitate the wider scheme 
that is referred to as the York Station Frontage which seeks the re-organisation of 
the existing highway infrastructure in the area surrounding York Railway Station, 
from Lendal Gyratory to Blossom Street, including the area surrounding York 
Railway Institute (RI).  Included within the proposals are substantial public realm 
works that would substantially enhance the setting of highly significant heritage 
assets, namely the City Walls and York Station.   
 
5.209  The public benefits derived under each of the objectives (economic, social 
and environmental) are outlined below.  
 
Economic Objective 
  
5.210  One of the key areas of the scheme is the creation of a gateway into the city.  
The current gateway is disappointing and gives the impression of vehicle dominance 
and congestion (YCHCCA Appraisal Part Two: Management Strategy and York 
Station Frontage: Illustrative Masterplan).  This area also forms an important 
interchange between different modes of transport.   
 
5.211  The economic vision set out in the Council’s York New City Beautiful: Toward 
and Economic Vision sets out that the city must invest in the long term in the city’s 
public realm and movement infrastructure highlighting that skilled and talented 
people will drive the economy, but such human capital is not attracted by the power 
of higher wages alone; quality of place and the rich diversity of activity affect 
personal and business location decisions.  Therefore enhancing the physical 
appearance of the city, improving retail and commercial activity, ensuring better 
accessibility and improving image and perception are all important (page 23).  It is 
therefore considered that the improvement to the city’s gateway and the transport 
interchange presents opportunities to address potential barriers to investment, 
support local economic growth and productivity which is a key direction of the 
Framework as set out in Chapter 6 ‘Building a strong, competitive economy’ and 
paragraphs 80 and 81 c).   
 
5.212  A key benefit of the scheme is the potential to improve the existing highway 
infrastructure, which follows the transport hierarchy outlined in paragraph 110 a) of 
the Framework that promotes pedestrian and cycling first, then public transport (rail 
and bus travel).  The revised highway layout will also minimise the scope for 
conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles and along with other controls 

Page 118



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

would avoid unnecessary street clutter.  Other aspects of the proposal includes the 
provision of electric vehicle charging points, the needs of people with disabilities or 
reduced mobility being considered, being able to continue servicing to the Station 
and local businesses and the consideration of service and emergency accessibility, 
however this is a key consideration for the effective operation of the railway station.  
It is considered that the development would satisfy the transport objectives outlined 
in paragraph 110 (a-e) of the Framework.    
 
5.213  The station frontage area with the transport interchange is already a 
sustainable location that offers a genuine choice of transport modes, however the 
improvements to the highway infrastructure will create the conditions to maximise 
the sustainability of this part of the city, and be a focus for significant development. 
The redistribution of road traffic in this location will further reduce congestion and 
emissions and improve air quality and public health.  It is identified that the scheme, 
with the relocation of taxis out of the Portico will significantly improve air quality in 
this location. 
 
Social Objective 
 
5.214  A key focus of the wider Station Frontage scheme is the creation of an 
improved experience of users of the station and the approach to it.  This would 
benefit both residents and visitors of the City.  
 
5.215  The scheme, given the proposed cycling infrastructure to be provided and the 
links to existing cycling infrastructure will continue to enable and support healthy 
lifestyles.   
 
5.216  It is considered therefore that the development would achieve a well-
designed place, complying with paragraph 127 of the Framework. In summary, the 
development will: a) function well and add to the overall quality of the area for the 
lifetime of the development; b) be visually attractive as a result of good architecture, 
layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; c) be sympathetic to local 
character and history; d) maintain a strong sense of place, creating an attractive, 
welcoming and distinctive place to live, work and visit; e) support local facilities and 
transport networks; and f) create a place that is safe, inclusive and accessible which 
promotes health and well-being.  
 
Environmental Objective 
 
5.217  The environmental objective is to protect and enhance our natural, built and 
historic environment.  As detailed in the economic objective section, the wider 
scheme for the York Station Frontage has identified a particular focus upon 
improving or mitigating impacts of pollutants and air quality, in accordance with para. 
181 of the Framework.  
                                                                   

Page 119



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

5.218  Whilst the impact of the scheme on the heritage assets have been discussed 
in length, it is noted that the development proposals would overall conserve the 
heritage assets, including their contribution to setting, improving the character and 
appearance of the York Central Historic Core Conservation Area and making a 
positive contribution to sustainable communities including their economic vitality and 
local character and distinctiveness (para. 192 b of the Framework).  
 
Conclusion of public benefits 
 
5.219  It is demonstrated that the York Station Frontage scheme would deliver 
economic, social and environmental objectives.  The objective demonstrate that 
public benefits would be derived from the proposed development. The public 
benefits outlined above are considered to outweigh the less than substantial harm 
identified to the heritage assets identified above.  The application therefore complies 
with paragraph 196 of the NPPF in this regard.    
 
6.0 CONCLUSION 

 
6.1  The proposed scheme is primarily focused on the reorganisation of existing 
transport infrastructure in the areas surrounding York Railway Station and the 
Railway Institute.  The key principles of the scheme are to rationalise pedestrian 
cycle, and vehicle movements, improve the transport interchange, connectivity and 
allow for more efficient use of space and improvements to the public realm including 
substantially enhancing the setting of highly significant heritage assets, namely the 
City Walls (Scheduled Monument and Grade I) and York Station (Grade II*) and 
other listed building within the site.  It is considered that the aims of the scheme 
comply with Policy DP2 ‘Sustainable Development’ of the Draft Plan 2018 which 
seeks to provide efficient and affordable transport links by prioritising and improving 
strategic public transport, cycle and pedestrian networks as well as conserving and 
enhancing those elements that contribute to the special character and setting of the 
historic city.   
 
6.2  The ability to achieve the highway improvements is principally through the 
removal of Queen Street Bridge and construction of new highway at grade level 
including loop around Railway Institute gymnasium and Water Tower.  In addition, 
the creation of a new taxi rank, relocation of the bus interchange and the 
rationalisation of short and long stay car parking is critical to the ability to deliver the 
public transport improvements for those who live in, work in or visit York.  These 
public interchange improvements are set out in the Local Transport Plan (LTP) 3 
2011-2031 and draft local plan Policy T3 ‘York Railway Station and associated 
operational facilities’.   
 
6.3  A key focus of the scheme has been the ability to enhance the significance of 
the setting of listed buildings and other non-designated heritage assets that sit within 
the site, as well as the character and appearance of the York Central Historic Core 

Page 120



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

Conservation Area. The YCHCCA management strategy identifies the Station 
Approach and Memorial Gardens as a priority for improvement, describing it as a 
disappointing way to arrive into the City.  The application has assessed the effect of 
the proposal on the significance of the non-designated heritage assets, which have 
been identified as 22 Queen Street and the RI Gymnasium building, in line with 
paragraph 197 of the Framework. The direct impact of the proposal on the scale of 
harm to the significances of these NDHA is considered to be low. In terms of the 
assessment of the application to the designated heritage assets, the assessment 
concludes that there will be less than substantial harm to these. The archaeological 
features and deposits are located within the Central Area of Archaeological 
Importance (AAI) and as per paragraph 194 (b) and footnote 63, these are subject to 
the policies for designated heritage assets.  The harm to the assets of 
archaeological interest is also assessed as less than substantial harm. Regard is 
had to advice in paragraphs 193 and 194 of the NPPF that when considering the 
impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more 
important the asset, the greater the weight should be) and any harm to, or loss of, 
the significance of a designated heritage asset should require clear and convincing 
justification. Regard is also had to the legislative requirements to give considerable 
importance and weight to harm to a listed building. The public benefits of the 
proposal are summarised at paragraphs 5.210 to 5.218 above and are considered to 
be collectively sufficient to outweigh the less than substantial harm to these heritage 
assets even when giving great weight to the conservation of these assets.  In 
general terms, there will be the creation of public spaces and improved setting to the 
City Walls and ramparts and Railway Station, enhancing the features that make this 
City so unique.   
 
6.4  The creation of an attractive public realm and quality and character of the green 
infrastructure, particularly landscape is critical to the success of the scheme as a 
mechanism to enhance the feature of the historic environment.  Consideration has 
been given to the requirements for highway adoption and counter terrorism 
mitigation measures, and details shall be scoured via appropriate conditions.   
 
6.5  The loss of the band room as a community facility is on balance acceptable 
given the commitment of the applicants to secure appropriate replacement facilities 
which is secured by appropriate conditions.     
 
6.6 The application, subject to appropriate conditions satisfies other aspects in 
terms of crime and design, environmental quality, air quality and climate change.  It 
is considered that there are no protective polices within the NPPF which provide a 
clear reason for refusal and that the proposed scheme would not have adverse 
impacts that would significantly and demonstrably outweigh its benefits when 
assessed against the polices in the NPPF taken as a whole, taking into account the 
details of the scheme and any material planning considerations.  The proposal is 
thus sustainable development for which the NPPF carries a presumption in favour.   

Page 121



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 

 
 
 
 
7.0  RECOMMENDATION:   Approve 
 
 
1  TIME2  Development start within three years  
 
 2   
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following plans and other submitted details:- 
 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CH-1005 Rev H General Arrangement Final Scheme 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CH-1012 Rev D Proposed Car Parking and Taxi 
Infrastructure 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CD-1013 Rev B Proposed Temporary Surface Car Park 
(West) Unipart Site Car Parking 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CX-1021 Rev B York City Wall Details Sheet 1 of 4 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CX-1022 Rev B York City Wall Details Sheet 2 of 4 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CX-1023 Rev B York City Wall Details Sheet 3 of 4 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CX-1024 Rev B York City Wall Details Sheet 4 of 4 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CX-1025 Rev B Retaining Wall Long Section 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CX-1026 Rev B Generic Section Marks 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CX-1027 Rev B Generic Sections Sheet 1 of 2 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CX-1029 Rev B Generic Sections Sheet 2 of 2 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CU-1031 Rev C Proposed Diversions Statutory Utilities 
Diversions 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CD-1037 Rev C Proposed Main Drainage Network 
- L1807_A10-103 F06 York East MSCP Site Plan Ground Level 
- L1807_A10-104 F06 York East MSCP Site Plan Upper Level 
- L1807_A10-200 D01 York East MSCP Sections as Proposed 
- L1807_A10-300 D01 York East MSCP North and East Elevations as proposed  
- L1807_A10-400 D01 York East MSCP South and West Elevations as Proposed  
- L1807_YRK-A10-104 F07 MSCP Levels 2/3 and 4/5 
- L1807_YRK_A10-111 F01 MSCP Roof levels 5/6 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CB-1042 York RI Gymnasium Proposed 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DB-1060 11-20 Queen Street and York RI Proposed 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CH-0008 Rev C General Arrangement QS Access  
- LBC.YRK.009 Rev C Parcel Square - Floor Plan Proposed 
- LBC.YRK.003 Rev C General Arrangement- Ground Floor Plan - Proposed 
- LBC.YRK.012 Rev C Parcel Square - Section EE Proposed 
- LBC.YRK.018 Rev B Parcel Square - Elevation 2-2 Proposed 

Page 122



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
Demolition Plans 
 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CX-1010 Rev B Demolition Plan 
- LBC.YRK.008 Rev B Parcel Square - Floor Plan Demolitions and Alterations 
- LBC.YRK.002 Rev B General Arrangement Ground - Demolitions and Alterations 
- LBC.YRK.011 Rev C Parcel Square - Section EE Demolitions and Alterations 
- LBC.YRK.017 Rev B Parcel Square - Elevation 2-2 Demolitions and Alterations 
- YSF-RP-00_XX-DR-CB-1041 York RI Gymnasium Demolitions 
- LBC.YRK.041 Rev A RI - Elevations - Demolitions and Alterations 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-CB-1061- 11-20 Queen Street and York RI Demolitions 
 
Technical Reports 
 
- MSCP-ARUP-ZZ-ZZ-RP-0001 Energy statement (Job Number 257903-00) 
- MSCP CEEQUAL Pre-assessment dated 4 November 2020 
- Bat report (Job Number 257903) dated 4 November 2020 
- ARUP (2018) Bat survey report, York Station Frontage (ES Volume III: Appendix 
8B) 
- ARUP (2018) Bat Report, York Central (ES Volume III: Appendix 8C) 
- Noise report (Further information Technical Note): report to Public Protection 
Comments 03/08/2020 (Job Ref 257903) 
- Clarification Note on Northern Trainshed Buildings dated 4 November 2020 (Job 
Ref 257903) 
- Clarification Note on Southern Trainshed Buildings dated 25 January 2021 (Job 
Ref 257903) 
- Technical Note- Queen Street residences and Vehicle Access rev E dated 27 
November 2020 (Job ref YSF-ARP-00-XX-TN-CH-0001) 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried 
out only as approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
 3  No development shall commence, other than enabling works of any phase, 
sub-phase or building until a detailed Phasing Strategy has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be 
implemented in accordance with the provisions of the approved Phasing Strategy 
and/or any subsequent amendment to it that has been approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
The strategy will outline the key elements and projected timeline of each phase of 
development, and how they will be delivered. The strategy shall include the phasing 
of infrastructure (including all roads, pedestrian and cycle routes), undertake a three 
stage road safety audit, landscaping (hard and soft) and public realm works (palette 
of surfacing materials, street furniture, wayfinding and lighting), retained and 

Page 123



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

proposed utility and service runs, demolition of buildings (or part of) and structures.  
A timeline for security measures should be set out.  
 
The landscaping and public realm works shall take into account the security 
masterplan as may be approved and the Phasing Strategy shall be updated and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority within three months of the security 
masterplan being approved, to reflect these requirements.  
 
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in appropriate phases, to deliver 
a coherent and consistent development, minimise road safety risks associated with 
changes proposed by the development and to ensure that the trees are able to 
perform as intended within the approved landscape because the proposed tree 
planting is critical to the amenity of the development.    
 
 4  In accordance with the timeframe as set out within the Phasing Strategy, a 
security masterplan shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval 
in writing.  This masterplan will detail the overall security measures insofar as they 
relate to the proposed development, and include detail of the proposed interventions 
and products to be used, in conjunction with the Phasing Strategy. The development 
shall be implemented in accordance with the provisions of the approved security 
masterplan. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development incorporates security and counter 
terrorism measure within the development in accordance with paragraph 127 f) of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019). 
 
 5  Prior to commencement of development of any phase, sub phase or building a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) for the relevant phase, sub 
phase or building shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved CEMP shall be adhered to throughout the relevant 
construction period for that phase, sub phase or building. 
 
The CEMP shall include the following details: 
- Arrangements for parking of vehicles for site operatives and visitors. 
- Storage areas for plant and materials used in the construction of the development 
- The location of site compounds. 
- Details of wheel washing facilities for the cleaning of wheels of vehicles leaving the 
site, including location and type. 
- Suitable road sweeping measures. 
- A programme of works including phasing, and measures for the control of 
(construction) traffic to and from the site, and within the site, during construction 
- A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition 
and construction works. 
- Dust - A site specific risk assessment of dust impacts in line with the guidance 
provided by IAQM (see http://iaqm.co.uk/guidance/) and include a package of 

Page 124



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

mitigation measures commensurate with the risk identified in the assessment (a 
Dust Management Plan). Mitigation measures may include, but would not be 
restricted to, appropriate measures to ensure dust generated by the development 
does not travel beyond the site boundary, on site wheel washing, restrictions on use 
of unmade roads, agreement on the routes to be used by construction traffic, 
restriction of stockpile size (also covering or spraying them to reduce possible dust), 
targeting sweeping of roads, minimisation of evaporative emissions and prompt 
clean up of liquid spills, prohibition of intentional on-site fires and avoidance of 
accidental ones, control of construction equipment emissions and proactive 
monitoring of dust. 
- Air Quality -The air quality impacts associated with construction vehicles and non-
road mobile machinery (NRMM) and the proposed mitigation measures, 
commensurate with the identified risk. 
- Noise - Details on hours of construction, deliveries, types of machinery to be used, 
noise mitigation and details of any monitoring and compliance with relevant 
standards. 
- Vibration - Details on any activities which may results in excessive vibration, e.g. 
piling, and details of monitoring to be carried out. Locations of monitoring positions 
should also be provided along with details of standards used for determining the 
acceptability of any vibration undertaken. In the event that excess vibration occurs 
then details should be provided on mitigation. 
- Lighting - Details on artificial lighting and measures which will be used to minimise 
impact, such as restrictions in hours of operation, the location and angling of 
lighting. 
 
Reason: To ensure before development commences that construction methods will 
safeguard the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with paragraph 
180 of the National Planning Policy Framework and Policy ENV2 of the City of York 
Publication Draft Local Plan (2018). 
 
 6  The buildings and area referred to as Parcel Square (or any part or parts 
thereof) as indicated on drawing LBC.YRK.008 Rev B 'Parcel Square Floor Plan - 
Demolitions/Alterations' shall not be demolished before planning permission for 
redevelopment is granted and a legally binding contract for the carrying out and 
completion of the works of redevelopment of the site for which planning permission 
is granted has been entered into  and evidence of the contract has been produced 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, or in the absence of such 
a contract an alternative confirmation of commencement of the development has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason:  To ensure that the premature demolition of the buildings does not take 
place to the detriment of the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 
 
 7  A programme of post-determination archaeological mitigation, specifically an 
archaeological watching brief and excavation is required on this site. The 

Page 125



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

archaeological scheme comprises 3 stages of work. Each stage shall be completed 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority before it can be discharged.  
 
A) No grubbing up of foundations or other ground disturbing work shall take place 
until a written scheme of investigation (WSI) has been submitted to and approved by 
the local planning authority in writing. For land that is included within the WSI, no 
groundworks shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed WSI. The 
WSI should conform to standards set by LPA and the Chartered Institute for 
Archaeologists.  
 
B) The site investigation and post-investigation assessment shall be completed in 
accordance with the programme set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation 
approved under condition (A) and the provision made for community engagement, 
analysis, publication and dissemination of results and archive deposition (physical 
and digital) will be secured. This part of the condition shall not be discharged until 
these elements have been fulfilled in accordance with the programme set out in the 
WSI.  
 
C) A copy of a report (and evidence of preparation of a form of publication) shall be 
deposited with City of York Historic Environment Record to allow public 
dissemination of results within 3 months of completion or such other period as may 
be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: The site lies within an Area of Archaeological Importance and the 
development may affect important archaeological deposits which must be recorded 
prior to destruction in order to comply with Section 16 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 
 8  A programme of archaeological building recording, specifically a written 
description and photographic recording of the buildings scheduled to be demolished 
(Parcel Square buildings, York Railway Institute Gymnasium and York Railway 
Institute Band room) to Historic England Level of Recording 1 is required for this 
development. 
 
The archaeological scheme comprises 3 stages of work. Each stage shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority before it can be 
discharged. 
 
A)        No demolition shall take place until a written scheme of investigation (WSI) 
has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing. The 
WSI should conform to standards set by CYC and the Chartered Institute for 
Archaeologists.  
 
B)        The programme of recording and post-investigation assessment shall be 
completed in accordance with the programme set out in the Written Scheme of 

Page 126



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

Investigation approved under condition (A) and the provision made for analysis and 
dissemination of results and digital archive deposition with ADS will be secured. This 
part of the condition shall not be discharged until these elements have been fulfilled 
in accordance with the programme set out in the WSI. 
 
C)        A copy of a report shall be deposited with City of York Historic Environment 
Record and selection of digital archive images with ADS to allow public 
dissemination of results within 3 months of completion or such other period as may 
be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: The buildings on this site are of archaeological interest and must be 
recorded prior to demolition to enhance our understanding of heritage assets, in 
accordance with paragraph 197 and 199 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 9  Notwithstanding the details required under Condition 3 as part of the Phasing 
Strategy, a three stage road safety audit carried out in line with advice set out in 
GG119 Road safety audit (formerly HD 19/15), and guidance issued by the council, 
will be required for retained vehicular access to 14 Queen Street. Reports for Stages 
1 and 2 must be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA prior to works 
commencing on site. The Stage 3 report must be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the LPA prior to occupation. After each Stage of Road Safety Audit, the 
approved measures shall be implemented as approved. 
 
Reason: To minimise the road safety risks associated with the changes imposed by 
the development. 
 
10  Prior to the first use of the Multi Storey Car Par (MSCP), a scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for street 
lighting, CCTV and automatic number plate recognition (ANPR) measures to provide 
coverage for the internal and external areas, where necessary, of the Multi Storey 
Car Park. The measures approved in the scheme shall be installed and operational 
prior to the Multi Storey Car Park being brought into first use and shall be retained 
for the lifetime of the development.  
 
Reason: To ensure that appropriate security measures are in place to create a safe 
environment for all users of the MSCP by reducing the opportunities for crime and 
anti-social behaviour in accordance with Policy D1 of the City of York Publication 
Draft Local Plan and Paragraphs 91(b) and 127(f) of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
 
11  Prior to the development commencing full detailed drawings showing the 
design and materials for roads, footways, and other highway areas shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Such roads, 
footways and other highway areas shall be constructed in accordance with such 
approved plans prior to the use of any building which requires access from or along 

Page 127



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

that road, footway or highway. 
 
Note: The applicant is advised to consult with DfT guidance LTN1/20 in respect to 
updating cycle infrastructure.  
 
Reason: To promote sustainable travel and prevent significant impacts on the 
highway network in accordance with paragraph 108 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
12  Prior to the commencement of works at Tea Room Square as agreed as part 
of the Phasing Strategy, the following highway works (which definition shall include 
works associated with any Traffic Regulation Order required as a result of the 
development, signing, lighting, drainage and other related works) shall have been 
carried out in accordance with details which shall have been previously submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, or arrangements entered 
into which ensure the same. 
 
* Goods serving and loading to be limited to evenings and night time periods only at 
Tea Room Square 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety to allow Tea Room Square to be 
pedestrianised during the day to accord with paragraph 108 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Policy T3 of the City of York Publication Draft Local Plan..  
 
13  Prior to the loss of any operational car parking spaces associated with York 
Railway Station, a parking strategy shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority. The strategy shall include details of the phasing of the provision 
of all existing, any temporary, and proposed short and long stay public car parking.  
Additionally it shall include the management tools that may be implemented 
including but not limited to train operating companies' communications, signage and 
variable message sign (VMS) to warn users of limited capacity at the station in 
advance of travel and to direct them to other car parks and/or modes of travel. The 
approved parking strategy shall be implemented in accordance with its terms. 
 
Reason: To promote sustainable travel and prevent significant impacts on the 
highway network in accordance with paragraph 108 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
14  In accordance with the timeframe as set out in the Phasing Strategy, details of 
the access route to the motor cycle parking shall be submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval in writing.  The development shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To promote sustainable travel and prevent significant impacts on the 
highway network in accordance with paragraph 108 of the National Planning Policy 

Page 128



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

Framework. 
 
15  At any point the access gate positioned in the archway of 14 Queen Street is 
removed, it shall be replaced within two months with an electronically operated gate 
and shall be hung so that it opens inwards.  Prior to removal of the existing access 
gate, a scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority detailing the specification of the replacement gate, its position and design 
(including materials and finish) and the management, maintenance and servicing 
arrangements in relation to the gate for a minimum period of 10 years. The works 
shall be carried out as approved and thereafter retained in accordance with the 
provisions of the approved scheme.  
 
Reason: To prevent obstruction on the highway network and so that the Local 
Planning Authority may be satisfied with the finished appearance of the gate in view 
of its sensitive location within this part of the conservation area and to comply with 
paragraphs 108 and 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework as well as 
Policies D1 and D4 of the City of York Publication Draft Local Plan (2018).  
 
16  If the new loop road around the RI gymnasium building to serve the multi 
storey car park is not adopted under condition 11, a parking management strategy 
setting out the measures the Station Manager shall adopt when enforcing parking 
restrictions on this road shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority prior to first use of the loop road. The enforcement of parking 
restrictions on this road shall remain in place for the lifetime of the road unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: The loop road is critical to the bus network, and these measures will ensure 
that buses and other road users can move freely through the development, in order 
to prevent significant impacts on the highway network in accordance with paragraph 
108 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
17  Prior to the commencement of any phase, sub phase or building of the 
development (including demolition), an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) for 
the relevant phase sub phase or building regarding protection measures for the 
existing trees shown to be retained on the approved drawings shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development for that 
phase sub phase or building shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
AMS.  
 
This statement shall include details and locations of protective fencing, ground 
protection, a schedule of tree works if applicable, site rules and prohibitions, phasing 
of works, site access during demolition/construction, types of construction 
machinery/vehicles to be used (including delivery and collection lorries and 
arrangements for loading/off-loading), parking arrangements for site vehicles, 
locations for stored materials and means of moving materials around the site, 

Page 129



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

locations and means of installing utilities, location of site compound and marketing 
suite. The document shall also include methodology and construction details and 
existing and proposed levels where a change in surface material and boundary 
treatments is proposed within the root protection area of existing trees. A copy of the 
document will be available for reference and inspection on site at all times. 
 
Reason: To prevent damage to trees during construction works, in accordance with 
Policy GI4 of the City of York Publication Draft Local Plan. 
 
18  No development other than enabling works of each phase, sub-phase or 
building shall commence until a detailed scheme of landscaping to serve that phase, 
sub-phase or building has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The development for that phase, sub phase or building shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.   
 
The details of landscaping shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 
- the species, stock size, density (spacing), and position of trees, shrubs and other 
plants; seeding mix, sowing rate and mowing regimes (where applicable) 
- details of ground preparation 
- Where trees are to be located within paved areas, the planting details shall 
accommodate suitable soil volumes underneath porous surfacing so that the trees 
have the capacity to survive and thrive  
- Details shall include a proposed tree planting plan showing: 

- locations, stock size, and species of each tree 
- areas of underground soil cells, and volume of soil/growing medium per tree 
- surface finish  
- existing utility runs to be retained and proposed utility runs 

- Cross sections for each tree pit/trench type to include: 
- construction details and product specifications, including the 
corresponding paving construction detail   
- means of support, and means of watering.  

- locations of utilities and means of accommodating compatibility between utilities 
and trees where applicable. 
 
Any trees or plants which within a period of five years from the substantial 
completion of the planting and development, die, are removed or become seriously 
damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of a 
similar size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority agrees alternatives in 
writing.  
 
Reason: So that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied with the variety, 
suitability and disposition of species within the entire site, since the landscape 
scheme is integral to the amenity of the development. 
 
19  Prior to the commencement of each phase, sub-phase or building, details and 

Page 130



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

samples of external materials to be used for each main new building or the alteration 
to any existing building within the relevant phase or sub-phase shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  This will include the 
following buildings and works: 
 
i. the multi storey car park 
ii. new elevations to the York Railway Institute Gymnasium 
iii. railings to the front elevation of No's 11-20 Queen Street 
iv. Juliet balcony to No. 22 Queen Street (York RI) 
v. Parcel Square infill and new roof canopy 
vi. the sub-station to serve York Railway Station 
 
Where brickwork is proposed sample panels of the brickwork to be used shall be 
erected on the site measuring 1.1m x 0.8m and shall illustrate the colour, texture 
and bonding of brickwork and the mortar treatment to be used, and shall be 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
building works above foundation level.  The panel(s) shall be retained until a 
minimum of 2 square metres of wall of the approved development has been 
completed in accordance with the approved sample.   
 
For the Parcel Square infill and canopy, samples of the enamelled metal panels 
(including pattern/design motifs and colour) and lancet windows should be provided 
as a sample panel of sufficient size to judge the overall effect of the design. This 
should also be provided with the sample of the canopy so that they can be judged 
together. 
 
Other details and samples shall include, but are not limited to: 
- all fixing and joint details  
- fenestration detail and colour 
- door details and colour 
- railing design and finish 
 
The development for that phase sub phase or building shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Note: Due to current coronavirus restrictions, it would be appreciated if sample 
materials could be made available for inspection at the site.  Please make it clear in 
your approval of details application when materials will be available for inspection 
and where they are located.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the character and appearance of this part of the conservation 
area and individual buildings in accordance with Policies D4 and D1 of the City of 
York Publication Draft Local Plan and Paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

Page 131



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
20  Prior to the demolition of the area referred to as Parcel Square as indicated on 
drawing LBC.YRK.008 Rev B 'Parcel Square Floor Plan - Demolitions/Alterations', 
large scaled details (1:10) of the new entrance canopy to parcel square shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To protect the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building 
and to comply with paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
21  The multi storey car park hereby approved shall be constructed to a 
CEEQUAL standard of at least 'Very Good'. A formal Post Construction assessment 
by a licensed CEEQUAL assessor shall be carried out and a copy of the certificate 
shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority within 12 months of first use of the 
building (unless otherwise agreed in writing). Should the development fail to achieve 
a 'Very Good" CEEQUAL rating,a report demonstrating what remedial measures 
shall be undertaken to achieve a 'Very Good' rating shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority within  six months of the date of the assessment for approval in 
writing. The remedial measures shall then be undertaken as approved within a 
timescale to be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
  
Reason: To fulfil the environmental objectives of the NPPF and support the 
transition to a low carbon future, and in accordance with policies CC1 and CC2 of 
the 2018 Draft Plan. 
 
22  Prior to first use of the Multi Storey Car Park (MSCP), 32 Electric Vehicle 
Recharging Points shall be provided in a position and to a specification to be first 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and thereafter retained. Charging 
points shall be located in a prominent position on the site and shall be for the 
exclusive use of electric vehicles.  In addition, a minimum of 32 additional parking 
bays shall be identified for the future installation of additional Electric Vehicle 
Charging Points.  Such additional bays shall be provided with all necessary ducting, 
cabling and groundwork to facilitate the addition of Electric Vehicle Charge Points in 
the future.  The locations of these additional bays shall be agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.    
 
At least one supplementary publically-accessible 'rapid charger' shall be provided 
somewhere within the application site boundary at a location and to a specification 
to be agreed by the Local Planning Authority and thereafter retained. 
 
Prior to the first use of the MSCP, the applicant shall submit to the Local Planning 
Authority for approval in writing (such approval not be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed) an Electric Vehicle Recharging Point Management Plan that will detail the 
management, maintenance, servicing and access arrangements for all Electric 
Vehicle Recharging Points for a minimum period of 10 years.  The Electric Vehicle 

Page 132



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

Recharging Point Management Plan shall be implemented once approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To promote and facilitate the uptake of electric vehicles on the site in line 
with the Council's Low Emission Strategy (LES) and the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). 
 
Notes: 
'Fast' Electric Vehicle Charging Points should incorporate a suitably rated 32A 'IEC 
62196' electrical sockets to allow 'Mode 3' charging of electric vehicles. 
The specification of 'Rapid' Electric Vehicle Charging Points should be agreed with 
City of York Council 
Charging points should be located in a prominent position on the site and should be 
for the exclusive use of electric vehicles.  Parking bay marking and signage should 
reflect this. 
All electrical circuits/installations shall comply with the electrical requirements in 
force at the time of installation. 
 
 
23  Notwithstanding what is shown on the approved plans, and prior to the 
construction of the multi storey car park above foundation level, scaled plans and 
elevations to show the position of all photovoltaics (PV) to serve the multi storey car 
park as detailed in the Energy Statement dated 13 November 2020 (Ref: MSCP-
ARUP-ZZ-ZZ-RP-0001 (Job Number 257903-00)) shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To fulfil the environmental objectives of the NPPF and support the 
transition to a low carbon future, and in accordance with policies CC1 and CC2 of 
the 2018 Draft Plan. 
 
24  Notwithstanding what is shown on the approved plans, and prior to the 
construction of the multi storey car park above foundation level, scaled sectional 
details (1:10) through the external wall shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: So that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied with the finished 
appearance of the MSCP in view of its sensitive location adjacent to the 
conservation area and to comply with paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework as well as Policy D1 of the City of York Publication Draft Local Plan 
(2018).  
 

Page 133



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

25  Notwithstanding what is shown on the approved plans, and prior to the 
demolition of the extension to the rear of the Railway Institute band room, scaled 
sectional details (1:10) through the external wall shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: So that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied with the finished 
appearance of this building in view of its sensitive location within the conservation 
area and to comply with paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
as well as Policies D1 and D4 of the City of York Publication Draft Local Plan 
(2018).  
 
26  In accordance with the timeframe as set out within the phasing strategy, prior 
to the demolition of the York railway Institute band room, a scheme securing its 
replacement for at least 15 years shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The replacement facilities shall be equivalent in 
capacity and quality of the existing band room and this shall be detailed within the 
strategy. The replacement facilities shall be made available for occupation in 
accordance with the approved strategy prior to the demolition of the existing band 
room.  
 
Reason: In order to provide replacement community facilities in line with paragraph 
92 of the National Planning Policy Framework and policy HW1 of the City of York 
Publication Draft Local Plan (2018). 
 
27  The demolition of the York Railway Institute Band Room shall be carried out in 
accordance with the Reasonable Avoidance Measures Method Statement (RAMMS) 
Bats produced by Arup and dated November 2020 (document ref: 257903).  
 
Reason: To ensure protection of a European Protected Species and to accord with 
Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
28  If demolition of the York RI Band Room hereby approved does not commence 
within 1 year from the date of planning consent, updated bat surveys shall be 
undertaken to establish if there has been any changes in presence/absence of bats 
and identify new or revised avoidance and mitigation measures. Details of these 
measures shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority prior to the demolition of the structure in question. 
 
Reason: To ensure baseline ecological information and any associated mitigation is 
up to date and relevant, particularly where there might have been changes in the 
distribution or abundance of a mobile species on site. 
 
29  The site shall be developed with separate systems of drainage for foul and 

Page 134



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

surface water on and off site. 
 
Reason: In the interest of satisfactory and sustainable drainage. 
 
30  There shall be no piped discharge of surface water from the three separate 
development areas, identified as the short stay surface car park, temporary car park 
following demolition of Unipart building and the multi storey car park, prior to the 
completion of surface water drainage works, details of which will have been 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. If discharge to public 
sewer is proposed, the information shall include, but not be exclusive to:- 
 
a) evidence to demonstrate that surface water disposal via infiltration or watercourse 
are not reasonably practical; 
b) evidence of existing positive drainage to public sewer and the current points of 
connection; and 
c) the means of restricting the discharge to public sewer to the existing rate less a 
minimum 30% reduction, based on the existing peak discharge rate during a 1 in 1 
year storm event. Storage volume calculations should include an additional 30% 
allowance for climate change. 
 
Reason: To ensure that no surface water discharges take place until proper 
provision has been made for its disposal and in the interest of sustainable drainage. 
 
31  No construction in the relevant area (s) of the site shall commence until 
evidence has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority that 
the diversion or closure of the 300mm public foul sewer located within the site has 
been agreed with the relevant statutory sewerage undertaker and that prior to 
construction in the affected area, the approved works have been undertaken. 
 
Reason: In order to allow sufficient access to the public sewerage for maintenance 
and repair work at all times. 
 
32  Prior to any intrusive groundworks, the means of protecting the public water 
supply apparatus located within the site boundary shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. Investigative works may be required to 
assess how deep the private supply from the meters to the buildings will be.  No 
building or other obstruction including landscape features (including trees) shall be 
located over or within 5 metres either side of the centre line of the water supply 
apparatus. 
 
Reason: In order to allow sufficient access for maintenance and repair work at all 
times. 
 
33  No development shall take place until an additional investigation and risk 
assessment has been undertaken to assess the nature and extent of any land 

Page 135



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

contamination on the application site. The investigation and risk assessment must 
be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings must be 
produced. No development shall take place until the report of the findings has been 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report of the findings must 
include: 
 
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination (including ground gases 
where appropriate); 
 
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:  
human health, 
o property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, 
livestock, pets, woodland and service lines and pipes, 
o adjoining land, 
o groundwaters and surface waters, 
o ecological systems, 
o archaeological sites and ancient monuments; 
(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the 
preferred option(s). 
 
This investigation and risk assessment must be conducted in accordance with 
DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model Procedures for the Management of 
Land Contamination, CLR 11'. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 
 
34  Prior to any works starting on site, a detailed remediation scheme to bring the 
site to a condition suitable for the intended use (by removing unacceptable risks to 
human health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical 
environment) must be  submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed 
remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site 
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as 
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in 
relation to the intended use of the land after remediation. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 

Page 136



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
35  Prior to first occupation or use, the approved remediation scheme must be 
carried out in accordance with its terms and a verification report that demonstrates 
the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems. 
 
36  In the event that unexpected contamination is found at any time when carrying 
out the approved development, it must be reported in writing immediately to the 
Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken 
and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared, which 
is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. Following 
completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification 
report must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
before the development is first brought into use. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 
 
37  The replacement cycle parking within York Railway Station shall be provided 
at the same level (number of spaces) as currently provided. 
 
Informative: A range of cycle racks/storage areas including a mix of Sheffield Stands 
(including wider spaces for adapted bikes) and two tier racks should be provided.    
 
Reason: In order to encourage and promote cycling within this highly sustainable 
location and transport interchange to accord with paragraph 108 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework and Policy T3 of the City of York Publication Draft Local 
Plan.  
 
 
8.0  INFORMATIVES: 
Notes to Applicant 
 
 1. In considering the application, the Local Planning Authority has implemented the 
requirements set out within the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 38) 
in seeking solutions to problems identified during the processing of the application.  
The Local Planning Authority took the following steps in order to achieve a positive 
outcome: 

Page 137



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00535/FULM  Item No: 4a 

 
- carried out wide ranging consultation 
- secured amendments to address concerns raised 
- agreed a suite of conditions to control development 
 2. There are public sewers crossing the sites, with various easement requirements, 
as established by Yorkshire Water. The developer(s) should note these 
requirements and legislation within the Water Industry Act if there is intent to divert 
any sewers. 
 3. You are advised that this proposal may have an affect on Statutory Undertakers 
equipment.  You must contact all the utilities to ascertain the location of the 
equipment and any requirements they might have prior to works commencing. 
 4. It is recommended that the services of a landscape architect are employed to 
produce a landscape scheme and to oversee the corresponding works on site, to 
ensure that the ground preparation and planting are carried out to a satisfactory 
standard and are in strict accordance with the approved drawings and 
specifications. 
 5. It is recommended that consultation should be undertaken with the Designing out 
Crime Officer at North Yorkshire Police and the Counter Terrorism Security Advisor 
in respect to all security and counter terrorism measures across the development. 
 6. You are advised that Scheduled Monument Consent (SMC) is required from the 
Secretary of State for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) before any work can 
be carried out which might affect a monument either above or below ground level. 
 
Contact details: 
Case Officer: Lindsay Jenkins 
Tel No:  01904 554575 
 

Page 138



 

 

York Station Frontage, Station Road York 

19/00535/FULM 

 

 

 

 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee
To be held remotely on 4th February at 4:30pm

City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 1

P
age 141



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 2

19/00535/FULM – York Station Frontage, Station Road, York

Demolition of Queen Street Bridge and construction of new highway; reinstatement and construction of earth ramparts and 

retaining walls to part of the City Wall. Demolition of pedestrian bridge and works to the York Railway Institute elevation; 

demolition of Band Room, demolition of extensions to rear of RI Gymnasium. Construction of multi-storey car park. Part 

demolition station building (Parcel Square) and construction of a new facade, roof and canopy and associated works to 

retained elevations. Relocation of electricity sub-station. Public realm and highway improvements along Queen Street and 

Station Road. Relocation of cycle store associated with George Stephenson House. Demolition of Unipart Rail Service Centre 

building and construction of temporary surface car park, alterations to existing car park and taxi drop-off arrangements.

And 

19/00542/LBC – Station Building, Railway Station, Station Road, York

Internal and external alterations including the demolition of Parcel Square buildings and the construction of a new façade and 

associated works to retained elevations, new roof and canopy and associated internal rearranged accommodation.

P
age 142



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 3

Site Location Plan

P
age 143



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 4

Existing Site Plan

P
age 144



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 5

Proposed General 

Arrangement

P
age 145



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 6

Landscape 

General 

Arrangement -

Indicative

P
age 146



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 7

Proposed 

Highway 

Arrangements

P
age 147



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 8

Removal of Queen 

Street Bridge –

Section AA-BB

P
age 148



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 9

Removal of 

Queen Street 

Bridge – Section 

CC-DD  

P
age 149



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 10

Removal of 

Queen Street 

Bridge –

Demolition 

Queen Street 

and York RI

P
age 150



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 11

Removal of 

Queen Street 

Bridge –

Proposed Queen 

Street and York 

RI

P
age 151



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 12

Queen Street 

Access General 

Arrangement

P
age 152



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 13

Multi-Storey Car 

Park – Site Plan 

Ground Level

P
age 153



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 14

Multi-Storey Car 

Park – North and 

East Elevations

P
age 154



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 15

Multi-Storey Car 

Park – South and 

West Elevations

P
age 155



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 16

Multi-Storey Car 

Park - Sections

P
age 156



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 17

York RI 

Gymnasium -

Demolition

P
age 157



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 18

York RI 

Gymnasium -

Proposed

P
age 158



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 19

Station Ground Floor – Existing Layout (LBC)

P
age 159



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 20

Station Ground Floor – Proposed Demolition and Alterations (LBC)

P
age 160



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 21

Station Ground Floor – Proposed Layout (LBC)

P
age 161



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 22

Parcel Square 

South Shed 

Floor Plan (LBC)

P
age 162



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 23

Parcel Square 

External 

Elevation (LBC)

P
age 163



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 24

Indicative Aerial 

View Station

P
age 164



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 25

Existing 

Elevation –

Internal South 

Shed (LBC)

P
age 165



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 26

Proposed 

Elevation –

Internal South 

Shed (LBC)

P
age 166



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 27

Existing 

Elevation –

Internal North 

Shed (LBC)

P
age 167



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 28

Proposed Elevation 

– Internal North 

Shed (LBC)

P
age 168



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 29

Proposed 

Portico Floor 

Plan

P
age 169



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 30

View of Queen 

Street Bridge 

and Railway 

Station from 

Blossom 

Street/Micklegate

/Nunnery Land 

and Queen 

Street P
age 170



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 31

Existing Access to 

slip road serving 

the Queen Street 

Properties and 

Railway Institute 

P
age 171



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 32

View of Queen 

Street properties 

including existing 

and retained 

access at 14 Queen 

Street (Streetview)

P
age 172



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 33

Existing Rear Yard serving 

No’s 14, 15 and 16 Queen 

Street

P
age 173



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 34

No’s 17-20 Queen 

Street (Listed) and 

No.22 Queen 

Street (RI Building) 

with footbridge 

linking to Queen 

Street Bridge

P
age 174



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 35

Queen Street Bridge

P
age 175



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 36

City Wall and 

Ramparts on 

opposite side of 

Queen Street

P
age 176



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 37

View of Queen 

Street Bridge 

and RI Building 

from existing 

surface level 

long stay car 

park

P
age 177



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 38

View of Queen 

Street Bridge 

and Tofts Tower 

(City Walls) at 

the corner of slip 

road between 

No.22 Queen 

Street and York 

RI Gymnasium P
age 178



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 39

Existing RI Estate 

and access to NCP 

car park

P
age 179



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 40

Water Tower and Workshop

York RI Band Room

Inside RI Estate 

(RI Band Room 

and Water Tower) 

and access to 

NCP car park

P
age 180



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 41

Rear Elevation of 

RI Gymnasium 

building

P
age 181



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 42

View across 

existing surface 

level car park to 

Lowther Terrace

P
age 182



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 43

View over 

existing surface 

level car park 

towards railway 

lines and Rail 

Operating Centre 

building

P
age 183



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 44

View over existing 

surface car park 

from Lowther 

Terrace towards 

Railway Station 

and RI 

Gymnasium

P
age 184



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 45

Existing sub-station to serve Railway Station 

View of Queen Street 

Bridge and City 

Walls from within 

existing surface level 

car park

P
age 185



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 46

View of City Walls 

adjacent to George 

Stephenson House

P
age 186



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 47

View of Queen 

Street Bridge 

adjacent to 

City Walls

P
age 187



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 48

View of Queen Street 

Bridge from City 

Walls

P
age 188



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 49

View of Station 

from City Walls

P
age 189



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 50

View of Railway 

Station from Queen 

Street Bridge

P
age 190



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 51

Temporary roof access 

View of the 

South Train 

Shed from 

Queen Street 

Bridge

P
age 191



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 52

View of Parcel 

Square Buildings 

and Cycle Heaven 

from City Walls

P
age 192



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 53

View of City Walls 

and bus stops on 

Station Road, 

outside Portico

P
age 193



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 54

View of highway 

infrastructure and 

bus stops on 

Station Road, 

outside Station

P
age 194



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 55

Existing road 

island and zebra 

crossing to front of 

Station

P
age 195



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 56

View of (part) Parcel 

Square area (Cycle 

Heaven) and 

entrance to Portico 

for pedestrians and 

taxis

P
age 196



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 57

Tea Room Square 

and existing 

vehicular entrance to 

short stay car 

parking

P
age 197



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 58

Tea Room Square 

as existing

P
age 198



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 59

Portico: Pedestrian 

and vehicular exit to 

Tea Room Square

P
age 199



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 60

Portico: Existing Taxi Rank

P
age 200



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 61

View of South Shed area

P
age 201



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 62

Existing TPE accommodation building

ATM / photo booth approved under 
18/00005/LBC

South Train Shed Area
P

age 202



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 63

View of TPE 

accommodation 

building and 

existing cycle 

parking within the 

Southern train 

Shed

P
age 203



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 64

View of 

southern train 

shed from within 

Station

P
age 204



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 65

View of south Train 

Shed from southern 

entrance

P
age 205



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 66

Northern Train shed

P
age 206



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 67

Cycle racks along 

Northern Train shed

P
age 207



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

Date: 4 February 2021 Ward: Micklegate 

Team: West Area Parish: Micklegate Planning 

Panel 

 

Reference: 19/00542/LBC 
Application at: Station Building Railway Station Station Road York YO24 1AY 
For: Internal and external alterations including the demolition of Parcel 

Square buildings and the construction of a new façade and 
associated works to retained elevations, new roof and canopy and 
associated internal rearranged accommodation. 

By: City Of York Council 

Application Type: Listed Building Consent 
Target Date: 12 February 2021 
Recommendation: Approve after referral to Sec. of State 

 

1.0 PROPOSAL 

 
Proposal  
 
1.1  Listed building consent is sought for internal and external works to the Grade II* 
listed York Railway Station in connection with the re-organisation of the existing 
highway infrastructure in the area surrounding the station, from Lendal gyratory to 
Blossom Street. 
 
1.2 The application has been the subject of changes to the initial scheme submitted 
in order to respond to consultation responses, design development and the 
scheme’s funding.  This includes the works relating to the Station itself.  
 
1.3 The specific works included in the application that would affect the listed railway 
station are: 
  
- demolition of ‘Parcel Square’ buildings; construction of new façade and canopy 
and rearranged internal accommodation to form new taxi rank and drop off 
- new paving within Portico 
- installation of temporary buildings in the North train shed to provide replacement 
staff and retail accommodation and cycle parking.  
- installation of buildings in the South train shed to accommodate Train Operating 
Companies (TOCs) staff accommodation and storage  
- a new access stair in the south train shed flank wall  

Page 209 Agenda Item 4b



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

 
1.4  The wider scheme generally referred to as the ‘York Station Frontage’ (YSF) is 
intended to be delivered in three phases; the demolition of Parcel Square and the 
construction of a new façade and canopy and other works within and surrounding 
the Railway Station are intended to be delivered within Phase 3. The wider scheme 
includes public realm improvements to Tea Room Square including landscaping and 
paving. 
 
1.5  The application is linked to the accompanying planning application 
(19/00535/FULM).  The City Walls will be affected by the proposals and as a 
Scheduled Monument a scheduled monument consent application will be required 
and it is the applicants intention to submit this at a later date to the Secretary of 
State for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS).  A schedule monument strategy 
has been submitted to support the scheme. 
 
The Application Site 
 
1.6 The areas of the Railway Station that are affected include the Portico 
(sometimes referred to as the ‘Porte Cochere’), Tea Room square and infill buildings 
known as Parcel Square (the area is currently occupied by Cycle Heaven retail 
outlet, train operating company accommodation) and back of house areas retail 
storage facilities and Enterprise rent-a-car offices that extend to the South train shed 
and concourse adjacent to platform 3. The South train shed where there is the Trans 
Pennine Express mess room and staff cycle parking.  The North train shed is 
accessed by both vehicles and pedestrians from Tea Room Square and provides 
short stay car park.  The brick shed wall forms the western façade of the Principal 
Hotel (formerly Royal York Hotel).  
 
1.7 York Railway Station was constructed in 1872-7 to designs by Thomas Prosser, 
Benjamin Burley and William Peachey.  Additions were made in 1900-9 and 1938-9.  
In 1942 the station was bomb damaged, repaired in 1947.  The first plan which can 
be dated definitively is from 1873, showing the Railway Station almost entirely as 
built; a symmetrical, axial arrangement with a portico, booking hall, winged 
concourse and signal box built onto the side of a curving, four-vaulted shed. To the 
north and south of this grouping were open entrances to the shed.  The northern 
concourse wing housed the ladies waiting room and lavatories and a large first-class 
dining room, the southern wing contained offices, including the parcels office and 
men’s waiting room and lavatories.  
 
1.8 The design for the train shed at York draws from Paddington Station in London 
(Brunel, 1854; Grade I).  The roofs at both Paddington and York feature similar 
semi-elliptical vaults although York’s is much richer and more muscular. The trusses 
spanning between the main columns are smaller at York and supported by an 
elegant arrangement of Corinthian columns and curved spandrels memorably cast 

Page 210



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

with the NER’s heraldic seal.  The original glazing system on the shed roof was a 
ridge-and–furrow system in transverse ridges.   
 
1.9 In 1900 the timber dedicated Taxi Kiosk was constructed which is individually 
listed as Grade II.  Other alterations to the Station included the filling of the arches of 
the portico with timber-framed glazing in 1905; however in 1940 the glazed screens 
were cut back to the upper two panes allowing a bus shelter canopy to the fitted to 
the front elevation. The northern entrance through the east flank of the train shed 
was partially infilled in 1906 with the construction of the Ladies Tea room (now York 
Tap); this was used during the Second World War as a Navy, Army and Air Force 
Institute for servicemen and women in transit.  
 
1.10 The station suffered considerable fire damage to the southern end of the 
station including the parcel office after being hit by two bombs on the night of 29 
April 1942.  The shed roof was replaced with relatively little coarsening of the 
detailing.  A replacement parcel office was built in c.1947 on the same footprint as 
the 1893 infill building which remains today.    
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
1.11 There is extensive planning history relating to the Railway Station however the 
applications considered to be of most relevance include: 
 
York Railway Station Ref: 18/00005/LBC 
Internal alterations including new customer zone, first class lounge, TVM housing, 
ATM building and ladies toilets following demolition of existing concourse building and 
associated reinstatement works 
Application permitted 28 June 2019 
 
York Railway Station Adjacent to Platform 3 Ref: 19/01663/LBC 
Erection of 1no. food and drink kiosk 
Application Permitted 31 December 2019 
 
2.0 POLICY BACKGROUND AND LEGISLATIVE CONTEXT 

 

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 
2.1 The Railway Station (including York Tap (formerly Ladies Tea Room)) is Grade 
II* listed. Within the Portico is the Grade II Taxi Kiosk.  Sections 16 (2) and Section 
66 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 state that 
in considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works the local 
planning authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 
it possesses. 
 

Page 211



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

2.2 Case law has made clear that a finding of harm to a listed building or its setting 
is a consideration to which the decision-maker must give considerable importance 
and weight when carrying out the balancing exercise in order give effect to its 
statutory duties under the 1990 Act. There is a "strong presumption" against the 
grant of planning permission in such cases. 
 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004  
 
2.3 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 
an application is made in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  The Council does not have a formally adopted 
local plan.   
 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019 
 
2.4 The revised NPPF (2019) sets out the government's planning policies for 
England and how these are expected to be applied.  Its planning policies are 
material to the determination of planning applications.  The Framework sets out that 
the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 
sustainable development (Paragraph 7).  To achieve sustainable development, the 
planning system has three overarching objectives; economic, social and 
environmental objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in 
mutually supportive ways (paragraph 8). 
 
2.5 The most relevant section of the NPPF includes section 16 ‘Conserving and 
enhancing the historic environment’. 
 
Draft Local Plans 
 
2.6 The City of York Draft Local Plan Incorporating the Fourth Set of Changes was 
approved for development management purposes in April 2005 (DCLP). Whilst the 
DCLP does not form part of the statutory development plan, its policies are 
considered to be capable of being material considerations in the determination of 
planning applications where policies relevant to the application are consistent with 
those in the NPPF as revised in March 2012, although the weight that can be 
afforded to them is very limited. 
 
2.7 The Publication Draft City of York Local Plan 2018 ('2018 Draft Plan') was 
submitted for examination on 25 May 2018. Phase 1 of the hearings into the 
examination of the Local Plan took place in December 2019. In accordance with 
paragraph 48 of the NPPF the Draft Plan policies can be afforded weight according 
to: 
-The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation, 
the greater the weight that may be given); 

Page 212



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

- The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less 
significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and  
- The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the 
policies in the previous NPPF published in March 2012. (NB: Under transitional 
arrangements plans submitted for examination before 24 January 2019 will be 
assessed against the 2012 NPPF).   
 
2.8 The following policies within the 2018 draft Local Plan which are directly and 
most relevant within the consideration of this proposal area:  
 
D5  Listed Buildings 
T3  York Railway Station and associated operational facilities 
 
Emerging local plan evidence base 
 
2.9 The evidence base that underpins the merging policies can be afforded weight in 
determining this application. The evidence base documents relevant to this 
application are: 
 
Note: References are as per the Core Document Library submitted to the Planning 
Inspectorate for the examination of the Local Plan. 
 
Placemaking Heritage and Culture 
 
SD103 – City of York Heritage Topic Paper Update (September 2014) 
 
Conservation Area Appraisal  
 
2.10 The York Central Historic Core Conservation Area (YCHCCA) was adopted by 
the Planning Committee in November 2011 and provides additional controls to help 
preserve, enhance and protect the settings.  The YCHCCA appraisal defines the 
unique characteristics that make York so special, and has split up the conservation 
area into 24 character areas.  The station is located within character area 22: 
Railway Area and its boundary has been extended to include the former locomotive 
works (off Queen Street) (Railway Institute) and railway station platforms and 
canopy.   
 
2.11 The YCHCCA provides detailed analysis of each individual character area and 
also looks at the management recommendations, some of which reflect the 
aspirations of the Station Frontage project, and it is considered necessary to include 
reference to them within this application, where it is relevant to the listed building 
consent application.  
 
- York Central Historic Core Conservation Area Part One- Understanding the City  

- Character Area No. 22: Railway Area 

Page 213



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

- York Central Historic Core Conservation Area Part Two- Management Strategy 
 
2.12 The management recommendations in Part Two: Management Strategy 
considers the threats to the character and appearance of the buildings and 
archaeology in the Conservation Area and identifies management tools for 
addressing these. Streets and spaces (Section 5.10) are identified as detracting 
from the character, appearance and experience of the conservation area.  The 
‘Station Approach and Memorial Gardens’ is identified as a key civic space and a 
priority for improvement. This is described as a disappointing way to arrive into the 
city with highways, public transport, landscape and public realm should be 
integrated to create an attractive pedestrian-centric place making the most of the 
gardens and ramparts. One of the priorities include the reorganisation of the 
crowded station forecourt to improve movement and interchange between modes of 
transport dominated.   
 

2.13 Conservation Development Strategy (CDS 2013) 
This is an existing Conservation Development Strategy that was prepared by John 
Ives of PPIY Limited, on behalf of East Coast Main Line Company, in association 
with the City of York Council, the Railway Heritage Trust and Network Rail with input 
from Historic England.  This Strategy sets outs the historical development and 
current use of the station, its approach and the Queen Street works area and 
establishes the inherent characteristics and heritage significance of the station and 
its surrounds. This is considered to carry moderate weight in the assessment of the 
application.   
 
3.0 CONSULTATIONS 

 
3.1 A number of consultees include issues relating to the wider scheme within their 
submitted comments.  The relevant part relating solely to listed building matters 
have been extracted and included within this report.  All other matters are covered in 
the accompanying planning application report Ref: 19/00535/FULM. 
 
INTERNAL 
 
Design, Conservation and Sustainable Development (Conservation Architect) 
 
3.2 The submitted Heritage Statement supporting the application is extremely 
detailed, considered and informative and has been valuable, along with the 
Addendum Report in assessing the proposals.   
 
3.3 Parcel Square/new first class lounge- no objections to this element of the 
application.  The existing office building and Cycle Heaven is of very limited 
significance.  A modernist façade infill is proposed with canopy for taxi drop off.  It is 
stated that the design development arose from a desire to reinstate symmetry 
resulting in the infill facade being set back behind the dominant and buttressed shed 

Page 214



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

wall. The new facade is designed to be a relatively strong form in itself but with an 
infill character which is deferential to the massing and materials of the adjacent 
buildings. Key horizontal features on the existing buildings have also informed 
design development. 
 
3.4 This is a considered approach to context and a modern, innovative design 
solution that I continue to be supportive of. Most importantly, in my view, the 
proposal reflects the original design intention for the station by allowing the flank 
(buttressed walls) and the porte cochere to remain the dominant features. The 
proposal, whilst inventive and of its time, reinforces the idea that this was originally 
an ‘opening’ between the principal elements. I believe the design is recessive 
enough to reflect the original design intention and that the simple monochrome 
colour palette reinforces this. I believe the design better reveals the significance of 
the railway station (Paragraph 200 NPPF) by providing a greater understanding of 
the original design intention; allowing the principal elements to remain primary; and, 
referencing the original ‘open’ nature of this part of the station. 
 
3.5 North and South sheds- I cannot support this element of the application as it will 
result in less than substantial harm to the heritage asset but at the upper level of 
that harm. On a scale of 1- 10, with 10 being the highest, I would assess the harm at 
8.  The significance of the station is, in part, due to the train shed roof and the flank 
wall supporting it. This significance is generally acknowledged I believe, and 
mentioned numerous times in heritage assessments. The aesthetic and historic 
value of the train shed roof, its flank walls and the resulting space cannot be 
underestimated. The significance is very profound and easily identifiable. The 
elements are carefully designed and include; tapered iron trusses that are punctured 
in a decorative way and spring from column capitals that are integrated into a string 
course; the walls don’t incorporate simple brick arches but each bay is a ‘cartouche’ 
form with an oculus over; and, the parts define the sweeping space with its subtle 
curved plan form. 
 
3.6 The individual and temporary ‘pods’ proposed for both areas are completely 
unacceptable. The negative impact on the significance of the train shed will be major 
and I don’t believe it is justified by public benefit. An appreciation of the architectural 
features described above and of the resultant space they create will be lost.  The 
‘pods’ are too numerous and extensive and their location inappropriate to be 
supported on heritage grounds.  
 
3.7 The new access stair in the south train shed is currently shielded by the 
temporary pod, but they will eventually be removed.  The stair in isolation on the 
train shed flank wall will have a negative impact on aesthetic and historical value, 
diminishing significance and affecting special architectural historic interest in a 
harmful way.  
 

Page 215



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

3.8 Conclusion- I object to the applications on the grounds of only one element of 
the submission which is the temporary accommodation proposed for the north and 
south sheds. This element of the proposal will have a negative impact on the 
significance of the heritage asset and cause harm at the upper level of less than 
substantial.  
 
EXTERNAL 
 
Micklegate Planning Panel 
 
3.9 Do not object but wish to make comments:  
 
3.10 The ‘pavilion’ buildings in the north and south train shed should be constructed 
to a high standard of design and detail and do not give the appearance of 
‘temporary structures’.  
 
3.11 The Parcel Square infill appears forced, rather than mannered and this section 
of the building would never be read visually with the Ladies Tea Room so it seems 
irrelevant to echo it.  A simple elegant treatment allowing the historic elements to 
stand out would be a much better option.   
 
Holgate Planning Panel 
 
3.12 No objections were raised to the original scheme and further no objections are 
raised to the revised application.  
 
Historic England 
 
3.13 Overall we object to the application on heritage grounds; the application does 
not met the NPPF and in particular paras. 124, 127, 131, 185, 189, 192-194 and 
200. Detailed comments include:  
 
- Porte Cochere 
3.14  We welcome the further information provided on the treatment of the Porte 
cochere following the removal of the taxi service from within it, showing that it will 
remain open and provide simple, high quality new paving.  We would expect 
detailed of this to be agreed with your Conservation Architect.  
 
- Parcel Square 
3.15 Demolitions proposed for Parcel Square is considered an enhancement. The 
revised proposal is intended to mirror the 1906 Ladies tea room on the opposite side 
of the main entrance.  It is a contemporary version of that feature and seeks to 
regularise the distinctive facetted from.  The aim is for it to be a strong, solid façade 
but with an infill character.  The front fascia of the façade aligns with the string 
course of the adjacent building.  The addition of a butterfly pitched canopy with a 

Page 216



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

timber clad soffit is intended to add some visual warmth.  We remain unconvinced 
that the scheme better enhance or reveal significance and that as a new 
development in a distinctive place, the design and detailing should be attempting to 
better reveal the significance of York station.   
 
3.16 Materials- agree with the proposed enamelled metal panels to clad the façade; 
the dark grey will be recessive and reflect the station roof and south shed gable. 
 
3.17 Further information on design and materials for the proposed Parcel Square 
entrance façade is required; how the design motifs will appear from a distance in 
context of city walls and a sample panel should be supplied for inspection to 
understand how the enamel coating will be applied to the metal and the robustness 
of this technique.  These are fundamental to the success of design from a heritage 
significance perspective.  There is a need for safeguards to ensure the Parcel 
Square façade is not ‘value engineered’ out of the final scheme due to cost savings.  
 
- North and South Train Sheds 
3.18 Our concerns regarding the erection of new structures in the South Train shed 
remain and have not been addressed in the note.  The units now appear to have 
been more carefully designed to respond to their context but concerns remain to the 
principle of development in this area as it will be harmful to the architectural qualities 
of the wall behind the space. 
 
3.19 A ‘Clarification Note on Northern Train shed Buildings Note’ has been 
submitted; the proposed number, location and design of the new structures in the 
North Train shed is unchanged, and our advice on the impact on significance 
remains unchanged. We remain concerned about the impact of three individual 
pods; this side has a more enclosed feel than the south shed.  We can understand 
the logic behind Cycle Heaven and Enterprise being located here, but not 80sqm of 
storage space-why can’t it go somewhere else. 
 
3.20 We recognise there is no intention for the structures to become permanent, 
however it is a concern that there is no agreed timescale for the removal of the 
structures and that this very much depends on the delivery of York Central.  A 
number of measures are suggested, such as a time-limit condition attached to the 
consent.  This is less than satisfactory and we therefore advise that in reaching your 
decision it will be important to carefully weigh the public benefits of these works 
against the harm to the significance of the station building. 
 
- General comments  
3.21 Still concerned about lack of strategic thinking between these proposals and 
those being considered by Network Rail/LNER for the station itself, and this is 
particularly evident in the draft status of the CDS, the implication being that none of 
the proposals have been developed and informed by a completed and agreed final 
text on the significance of the building.  

Page 217



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

 
Railway Heritage Trust  
 
3.22 No response received. 
 
Conservation Area Advisory Panel (CAAP) 
 
3.23 Initial application comments from a meeting undertaken on 4 June 2020 with 
the Panel welcoming the proposals.  The elements causing concern were: 
- the form and appearance of the secondary entrance created in ‘Parcel Square’ are 
not yet fully resolved 
- the lack of any joined up thinking between these proposals and those being 
considered by Network Rail/LNER for the station itself.  
- the introduction of a building to accommodate staff accommodation and storage 
displaced by Parcel Square in the southern train shed; this is an inappropriate 
structure in this location and could be accommodated in the vacant area above the 
current travel centre.  
 
3.24 Revised application comments from a meeting conducted on 4 August 2020 
with the panel citing that they were generally disappointed for the proposals relating 
to Parcel Square and north and south train sheds and reiterate that there is no 
coherent policy for the whole station.  There were several references to a new 
Conservation Management Strategy for the station and it would be good to see this 
and relate it to the proposals.  Overall the proposals were considered unworthy of 
this grade II* listed building.  
 
- Parcel Square 
3.25 General concern regarding this area; doesn’t appear to be a major entrance 
into the station and is one of a store room and small/inadequate exit corridor.  No 
indication as to how the Porte Cochere will be used; it was hopes that providing 
retail units in this area is to be avoided.  Concerns were raised for the intentions for 
the separately listed taxi office. The panel were not convinced by the proposed use 
of vitreous cladding panels 
 
- North and South sheds 
3.26 Understood that the freestanding buildings are to be of a temporary nature but 
evidence showed this was rarely the case.  The Panel rejected the design of these 
units considering them unworthy even of temporary buildings but also destroying the 
special quality of the train shed. The replacement staff facilities could be located in a 
vacant area above the travel centre. 
 
York Civic Trust  
 
3.27 Comments were submitted on 27 May 2019 citing an objection to the 
application highlighting that the recognised traffic improvements should not come at 

Page 218



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

a detrimental cost to the aesthetics of the historic station or provision of customer 
service:  
 
- Poor Design 
3.28 It is unclear how the application sits in relation to the LBC application 
18/00005/LBC. The replacement for Parcel Square is disappointing; as a modern 
design they are unimaginative and the use of grey vitreous enamel laser printed 
external rain screen cladding and zinc canopy roof would be cold and alien to the 
warmth of the butter-coloured brick of adjacent walls and buttresses.  This is a lost 
opportunity to enhance this Grade II* building.  
 
-Reduced Standards of Customer Service 
3.29 No guidance what the port cochere will be used for; lessons should be learnt 
from Newcastle station if to create commercial units. The relocation of taxi rank to 
partly covered provision will result in customers carrying luggage in the rain.  The 
access through a narrow corridor is too insubstantial and will create a bottleneck 
and offer poor visibility. 
 
3.30 Comments in respect to the revised application were submitted on 19 August 
2020 and despite many aspects of the application as beneficial to the understanding 
of the city’s heritage as well as providing improved transport and traffic connectivity 
the Trust maintains their objection for the following reasons: 
 
- Station Buildings 
3.31 The replacement structure for Parcel Square remains disappointing 
architecturally, with a provision of utilitarian retail spaces being detrimental to the 
station usage and architecture of the building. As modern design they are 
uninspiring and ‘statement’ architecture it is not. Outlook from the Parcel Square 
façade is mostly redundant and the station would be better served if the storage and 
first class lounge was reconfigured to allow more views out.  Concerns in relation to 
the exit corridor remain. Remains no insight as to how the Porte Cochere will be 
used; could potentially be used for commercial space and alleviate some of the 
existing retail provision in the station buildings and a reduced requirement for new 
units in the north and south sheds. The trust does not believe that public benefits 
arising from changes to the station building have or could be demonstrated; the 
station is already functioning its optimum viable use.  Any wider public benefits could 
be found outside the station building itself and do not depend on the proposed 
substantial harm to the station building.   
 
Ancients Monuments Society 
 
3.32 No response received. 
 
Council for British Archaeology (CBA)  
 

Page 219



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

3.33 Initial comments dated 29 April 2019 outlined that they were broadly supportive 
of the proposals to enhance the existing York station frontage and the proposed 
demolition of Queen Street Bridge. No comments were made with specific reference 
to the works to the Station.  
 
The Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings 
 
3.34 No response received. 
 
The Georgian Group 
 
3.35 No response received. 
 
The Victorian Society 
 
3.36 No response received. 
 
The Twentieth Century Society 
 
3.37 No response received. 
 
4.0 REPRESENTATIONS 

 
4.1 The application has been widely publicised by site notice and local press notice.  
 
4.2 One letter of representation refers directly to listed building consent matters.  
Other letters of representation received relate to the wider scheme and are covered 
in the accompanying planning application report Ref: 19/00535/FULM. 
 
4.3 The letter referring to listed building matters are from a visitor to York and raise 
the following concerns; 
 
- removal of Queen Street Bridge is an exciting proposal and is fully supported 
- north shed building- glad they are temporary in nature as the platform may be 
needed in the further for reinstating rail links (between York and Hull via 
Pocklington) 
- south shed- hoped these are also temporary in nature as they conflict with 
proposals to reinstate two turn back proposals for Church Fenton to Newcastle in 
2030 
- tea room square- exciting transformation, but could be achieved with or without the 
pedestrianisation of the Station Portico 
- portico- hard to see what will be achieved that can’t be with electric taxis; the 
sense and purpose of this element of the building will be lost and difficult to 
understand what the new space will be used for 

Page 220



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

- the optimum solution for the portico would be to retain taxi’s picking up in this 
location, removing the need for three separate lanes allowing improvements to the 
public realm 
- MSCP- highly prominent site that would be better off in conjunction with the 
adjacent Gym as a new NRM Gallery; historically the Gym was home to York’s first 
railway museum 
  
5.0 APPRAISAL  

 
5.1 Key Issues: 
- Impact of the proposed works on the special architectural and historic interest of 
York Railway Station (Grade II*) 
 
Significance of station 
Impact of the proposals upon individual areas of station: 

- Portico inc Taxi Kiosk  
- Parcel Square 
- South Train Shed 
- North Tran shed 

Conclusion of Harm 
  - Public benefits  
 
Significance of Station 
 
5.2  In order to understand the potential impact of the proposal on the significance of 
any heritage asset, the significance of the heritage asset in question should be 
described by the applicant, with the level of detail proportionate to the assets; 
importance and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact (NPPF, 
para 189).  
 
5.3 There are many sources of information setting out the significance of the station, 
and the applicant’s Heritage Statement including the Heritage Statement Addendum 
and Architectural Addendum are extremely detailed and informative.  The LPA has 
also consulted the 2013 Conservation Development Strategy in identifying and 
assessing the particular significance of the Railway Station. In understanding the 
heritage significance of an asset, Historic England in their document, Conservation 
Principles, Policies and Guidance for the Sustainable Management of the Historic 
Environment, sets out the criteria for understanding its heritage value; Evidential 
Value, Historical Value, Aesthetic Value and Communal Value.  
 
5.4 Overall, the railway station is of high significance which is derived from the 
aesthetic values for its majestic curve of the train shed with fine arches and cast-iron 
detailing as well as the structural innovation in its design having historical value.  
The original historical layout of the concourse area survives intact, and is mostly still 
in use as intended; the symmetrical arrangement of the inner and outer concourses 

Page 221



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

have historical and evidential value, with also communal interest as a key focus on 
passenger activity and contributes high significance.  The quality and consistency of 
the Station however is compromised by later additions.  The interiors are mostly low 
grade and substantially altered, and are considered to be of medium significance by 
the applicant.  
 
5.5 In terms of other heritage values, the station is rich in historical and evidential 
value, such as the parcel office area being a reminder of bomb damage, the use of 
the Ladies Tea Room during the Second World War and the train shed 
demonstrating structural innovations in its design.  The station serves as a major 
entrance to the city, which has strong links with railway history and development 
with strong historic and communal value to the station as a daily facility for countless 
railway workers, commuters and tourists.   There are other heritage values 
associated with other areas of the station, and they are still recognised, however the 
proposals do not impact upon them directly.  
 
Considering Potential Impacts 
 
5.6 The Framework (para 193) outlines that when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great 
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the 
asset, the greater the weight should be).  Further in para. 194, any harm to, or loss 
of, the significance of a designated heritage asset, should require clear and 
convincing justification. 
 
5.7 Paragraph 192 of the Framework sets out that LPAs should take account of the 
following when determining applications:  

a) The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 

b) The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to  
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 

c) The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness.   

 
5.8 Further paragraph 200 of the Framework outlines that LPAs should look for 
opportunities for new development within conservation areas and the setting of 
heritage assets, to better reveal their significance.  Proposals that preserve those 
elements of the setting which make a positive contribution to the asset (or which 
better reveal its significance) should be treated favourably.  
 
5.9  The NPPF makes a distinction between proposals which cause ‘substantial 
harm’ to a designated heritage asset (paragraph 195) and those which lead to ‘less 
than substantial harm’ (paragraph 196). Different tests are applied accordingly. 
Paragraph 196 states that where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should 

Page 222



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, including securing its 
optimum viable use.  
 
5.10 Taking each part of the proposals in turn:  
 
Impact of the proposals upon individual areas of the station: Portico 
 
5.11 The Portico serves as the main pedestrian entrance from the city as well as 
providing a taxi rank for passenger pick-up and drop off area for private cars.  One 
key aspect of the wider station frontage proposals is to remove vehicular access 
from the Portico and relocate the taxi rank and drop off area to the cleared Parcel 
Square area of the station.  There is a bus canopy attached to the Portico, and this 
area provides existing bus stops and waiting area. The bus stops will also be 
relocated to the area in front of the cleared Parcel Square area, positioned along the 
main carriageway.  
 
5.12 The Portico will remain as the principal pedestrian entrance to the station, with 
the scheme providing a new pedestrian crossing directly in front of the Portico’s 
centre arch.  The area in front of the Portico will be paved with some seating to 
enhance the public realm.  Within the Portico, other than re-paving to match the 
wider public realm works, there are no plans to alter the structure or façade.  The 
proposals are to retain the Portico, in terms of its structure and open nature as it is, 
which is supported by Historic England.  The treatment of any areas within the 
station that may need repair can be secured by condition once vehicular access is 
removed and a full survey/inspection can be undertaken.   
 
5.13  The removal of vehicles and in particular taxis from the Portico is likely to 
impact upon the existing Taxi Kiosk, which is listed in its own right (List Entry: 
1256557), identified as an unusual survival of an increasingly rare building type. It is 
used as an office for the station’s hackney carriage taxi firm, Station Taxis and the 
proposals allow the continued use of the office, and there is nothing to suggest that 
the management and operation of the taxi firm cannot continue from the office with 
taxis accessing a slightly more remote taxi rank, within the Parcel Square area, 
however these issues are not considered to be issues dealt with under a listed 
building consent application.   
 
5.14 It has been suggested by contributors that the Portico could contain 
commercial/retail units within it, to alleviate some existing retail provisions in the 
core buildings, which would reduce the requirement for these new units proposed in 
the south and north train sheds. It is the intention of this application to primarily 
relocate vehicles out from the Portico as a key in improving air quality, pedestrian 
access and the setting to the station, as well as providing a gateway to the city.  
Whilst the future uses of this space could be explored, the current proposals do not 
seek commercial uses in this space.  
 

Page 223



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

5.15 As there are no alterations to the structure or facade, other than repair, it is 
considered that the works to the Portico would not result in harm to the features of 
special architectural or historic interest of this designated heritage asset. 
 
Impact of the proposals upon the ‘Parcel Square’ area 
 
5.16 Parcel trade during the C19 was very profitable and in 1893 parcel facilities 
expanded in this period at the station from within the southern concourse wing to a 
single storey building to the side of the Portico, occupying the whole opening to the 
train shed.  However, the Station was hit by two bombs during the Second World 
War, with one causing considerable fire damage to the southern end of the station, 
including the parcel office. A replacement parcel office was built in c.1947 on the 
same footprint as the 1893 infill building and this is the building that remains today.  
It is occupied by the retail outlet, Cycle Heaven and combined TOC accommodation 
and back of house and storage areas, which extends into the station (area known as 
the southern train shed), and provides a retail unit for the car rental, Enterprise and 
TPE staff accommodation. Further along the southern train shed are numerous 
cycle parking areas.   
 
5.17 For the purposes of this report the Parcel Square area relates to the Cycle 
Heaven and combined accommodation including back of house areas, which 
extends to the south shed concourse.  The new building within the south train shed 
is covered under a separate section ‘South Train Shed’; there is some link between 
the two areas, however they impact on different parts of the station and in terms of 
significance, these are considered independently of each other.  
 
5.18 Externally facing, the post war infill building is of poor design quality and 
detracts from the station frontage as a whole.  The area of the southern train shed, 
adjacent to platform 1 and platform 3 has been the subject to alteration with infill and 
repair elements that have been identified by the applicant as being pragmatic at 
best.   
 
5.19 There is general agreement, by the applicant, its Partners and as outlined in 
the Conservation Development Strategy (2013) that the area adjacent to Platform 3 
and the lift shaft is an under-utilised area of the Station, with the CDS suggesting 
that there is potential to develop this area with increased waiting/lounge facilities 
and catering units.  
 
5.20  This scheme seeks to demolish the buildings within the parcel square area 
(the buildings occupying Cycle Heaven and combined TOC accommodation) with a 
resultant infill building, set back to mirror the external line of the Ladies Tea Room 
(York Tap).  The internal accommodation provided within the infill building, the first 
class lounge (that is currently under construction in this area permitted under Ref 
18/00005/LBC) and the retail storage area as well as an exit corridor to the 
relocated taxi waiting area will be rearranged from the approved layout. 

Page 224



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

 
5.21 The external appearance of the infill building is contemporary in nature; with a 
predominately solid façade, other than an exit door to access the taxi rank and 
slender lancet windows, their height being taken from the arched windows on the 
adjacent concourse building.  The windows provide light into the first class lounge 
without drawing attention to the space.  The façade is proposed to be clad with 
enamelled metal panels, with minimal jointing and hidden details.  Plinth and plat-
band are carried across the new façade from the adjoining brickwork.  The panels 
are dark grey to complement the cladding material in place on the station roof and 
the gable of the South Shed, both of which are visible above the infill façade.  There 
is a tonal gradient which shifts from a dark grey at the bottom to a lighter grey at the 
top and overlaid with a pattern which is intended to give a fine grain to distant views, 
with a texture at a similar scale to the surrounding brickwork and small scale design 
feature that catch the eye close up.  The pattern is derived from the seal of the North 
Eastern Railway company which built the original station buildings.  
 
5.22 There will be a canopy projecting over taxi rank area, which is a contemporary 
butterfly pitched form with glazed panels to the rear to admit light down to the lancet 
windows.    
 
5.23 It is recognised by the applicant that the demolition works in this area will 
expose sections of original Victorian brickwork and that the masonry is likely to be 
scarred and may feature elements of previous buildings.  It is not anticipated that 
major structural work would be required, however the walls are likely to require 
significant levels of repair.  The general approach is to leave their appearance ‘as 
found’, to help tell the story of how the building has changed over time.  
 
5.24 No objections are raised in respect to the demolition of the existing post war 
infill buildings that make up the Parcel Square area; the Council’s Conservation 
Architect agrees with the applicants that these buildings are of very limited 
significance.  However there are contrasting views from consultees as to how this 
infill building should be designed architecturally and whether it better reveals the 
significance of the station. Officers accept the approach to mirror the 1906 Ladies 
Tea Room on the opposite side of the main entrance with the infill façade being set 
behind the dominant and buttressed shed wall is a suitable approach, with the 
façade designed with an infill character, deferential to the massing and materials of 
the adjacent buildings.   
 
5.25 The Micklegate Planning Panel have suggested that the building would never 
be read visually with the Ladies Tea Room and it is irrelevant to echo it.  Whilst this 
is a valid view and could be how the station is interpreted, the first definitive plan 
from 1873 shows the Railway Station almost entirely as built and the symmetrical 
design one of the key original intentions of Thomas Prosser, Benjamin Burley and 
William Peachey and the reinstatement of this is an accepted heritage approach in 

Page 225



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

this instance.  Additionally, it is acknowledged that views from the City Walls can 
provide longer, panoramic views that take into account the whole station frontage.  
  
5.26 The York Civic Trust consider its design as disappointing and unimaginative 
architecturally.  Additional comments were made in respect to the proposed 
materials, along with comments from Historic England, who have raised concerns in 
respect to the how the design motifs would appear in a distance and the robustness 
of enamel coating technique.  Historic England are generally agreeable to the 
proposed enamelled metal panels to clad the façade, with the dark grey being 
recessive and reflect the station roof and south shed gable.    
 
5.27 In terms of its visual appearance and design, the detail proposed within the 
façade, the motifs, the cladding, lancet windows and canopy are strong visual 
elements that create a contemporary infill, but with the continuation of the plinth and 
plat-band it will maintain a strong sense of the character and history of the Station 
building. It is considered that proposed infill will be a high quality, durable and 
visually attractive new area of the station.  Whilst materials will be considered further 
through conditions, those that have been identified are considered suitable for this 
type of infill building which complement the adjacent buildings whilst also provide a 
visually attractive and detailed façade, that provides a historical link to the station.    
 
5.28 The works to this part of the station, the demolition of the existing parcel square 
buildings and then the careful and detailed design of the replacement infill building 
and the original section of Victorian brickwork being revealed for the first time are 
identified as resulting in less than substantial harm to the features of special 
architectural or historic interest of this designated heritage asset.   
 
5.29 In terms of its heritage value, this part of the station evidences historical and 
evidential values primarily due to the bomb damage.  Reinstating the station’s 
symmetry with an infill façade that does not compete in design, massing and 
materials with the original Station, these heritage values will continue to be 
delivered, and thus enhancing the significance of the station in line with para.200 of 
the framework.  
 
5.30 The Conservation Area Advisory Panel (CAAP) highlight that there appears to 
be confusion that this does not take the form of a major entrance into the station; 
there is no intention for this area to form a main entrance, that will be maintained as 
the Portico as the station’s original intention.  The infill has been designed with an 
exit point from the station concourse to the taxi rank, and will take on the form of a 
secondary exit point, similar to Tea Room Square.  Due to its location, this exit point 
is unlikely to be the most direct route to the bus stops and pedestrian access to the 
city centre and the portico would continue to serve as the primary and main 
entrance/exits point to and from the Station.    
 

Page 226



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

5.31 The area of behind the Cycle Heaven retail unit has been the subject of recent 
listed building consent (18/00005/LBC) submitted by LNER, which replaced back of 
house functions, including offices, store room and meeting room with a first class 
lounge accessed from the southern concourse and a store associated with a new 
retail unit created where the former booking office was located (accessed from the 
outer concourse).  Cycle Heaven and the TOC accommodation buildings were not 
affected under these proposals.  A number of respondents to the application 
including Historic England raised concerns in respect to how this application relates 
to the approved application.  The current proposal seeks to retain the existing levels 
of service provision that has been approved, the first class lounge and the retail 
store, however these will be arranged differently within this location.  The approved 
entrance lobby to the first class lounge would be retained.  Other than the demolition 
of the buildings that currently occupy Cycle Heaven and TOC accommodation, the 
back of house area behind does not contain historic fabric.  Therefore, as there 
would be no harm to any features of special architectural or historic interest, no 
issues arise to the implementation of the LNER scheme and then this scheme. Due 
to the location and arrangement of the proposed uses, both schemes could not be 
implemented together, however this current scheme takes into account the existing 
service levels agreed by partners including LNER and Network Rail.     
 
5.32 Historic England raise concerns that there is a need for safeguards to ensure 
that the Parcel Square façade is not ‘value engineered’ out of the final scheme due 
to cost savings. The removal of taxis out of the Portico and re-providing a new taxi 
rank is a key part of the scheme; improving the highway infrastructure, air quality 
and the surrounding urban realm.  In addition, the provision of a first class lounge 
and the store for the retailer is important to continuing customer service of the 
Station.  Whilst the works to the Parcel Square area are intended to be delivered 
within Phase 3 of the development, conditions will secure the development 
commencing prior to any demolition.    
 
Impact of the proposals upon individual areas of the station: South Train Shed 
 
5.33 As detailed above, there is some link between the Parcel Square area and the 
southern train shed.  The area of the southern train shed to which this application 
relates includes the area adjacent to Platform 1 and 3.  It includes the TPE 
(TransPennine Express) accommodation building and numerous cycle (including 
staff), motorcycle parking areas and this has the result of compromising the 
aesthetic value of this area of the station.  In front of the existing TPE 
accommodation building there is a freestanding ATM and photo booth pod, that was 
constructed under consent Ref: 18/00005/LBC, and enabled the removal of these 
uses from the inner concourse.  This building is currently in situ and is proposed to 
be retained in its current location, and would be sited in front of the storage area.   
 
5.34 The submitted Heritage Statement identifies that the change in level between 
platform and track surfaces in the South Shed has some historic significance, and 

Page 227



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

the platform edges appear to be in their original locations.  The columns are 
considered to have a very high significance, as does the iron roof structure above 
them and the blind arches of the brick shed wall behind. These are key architectural 
characteristics of this part of the station.   
 
5.35  At this area of the station the proposals seek a new building in order to 
accommodate staff accommodation and areas of storage which are to be lost at 
other areas of the station, notably the Parcel Square area. The proposals for this 
building has evolved during the application process, however the applicants have 
set out that for the continued and effective operation of the station, its associated 
functions and occupiers including health and safety of TOCs’ staff, the floorspace to 
be lost must be provided, and re-provided within the station building.   
 
5.36  It is noted that there may be a future opportunity to relocate some or all of this 
operational railway staff accommodation to the western entrance of the station when 
proposals for a new western entrance is developed as part of the York Central 
scheme; however there is no certainty in respect to these proposals nor any 
timescales.   
 
5.37 The southern shed area is considered to be an under-utilised area of the 
Station, providing pedestrian access to the car and cycle parking as well as access 
for staff to accommodation/break out areas and the applicants consider this to be 
the most suitable area of the Station to re-provide the required lost floorspace.   
 
5.38 In terms of the proposed building, this is designed as a light-weight, single 
storey modular construction and will be positioned adjacent to the south shed wall.  
The building is split on two levels to acknowledge the original step from track to 
platform.  In order to reduce its visual impact the building is tapered.  The building 
design is described as simple and repetitive, that would be clad with the same 
varnished timber boards as the proposed taxi rank canopy. The building does not 
attach or link to the walls of the station building, with pilasters on the main shed wall 
carried through to the façade of the building.  Slim lancet windows will be to the side 
of each pilaster strip.  Overall, the building has been designed so that it is relatively 
easy to dismantle in the future.   
 
5.39 Many of the concerns raised by consultees refer to both structures proposed in 
the north and south train sheds, however given the differing architectural and 
historic significances of each areas of the station they are considered separately, 
although there may be a level of repetition in the issues raised.  
 
5.40 Objections are raised from the Council’s Conservation Architect and Historic 
England as well as other consultees in respect to the proposed modular building for 
the south train shed.   The Conservation Architect highlights that these buildings 
would have a negative impact upon the aesthetic and historic value of the train shed 
roof and supporting flank wall which contributes significantly to the overall 

Page 228



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

significance of the Station, and is assessed as resulting in less than substantial 
harm, although at the upper level of this harm.   
 
5.41 Historic England sets out that there is no further clear or convincing justification 
for this aspect of the proposal, however it is acknowledged that the in respect to the 
south shed, the building now appears to have been more carefully designed to 
respond to its context, although concern remains to the principle of development in 
this area, as it will be harmful to the architectural qualities of the wall behind the 
space. Other responses in terms of the south shed building includes the requirement 
for them to be constructed to a high standard of design that does not give the 
appearance of temporary structures.  The Conservation Area Advisory Panel 
(CAAP) highlight that the freestanding buildings are to be of a temporary nature but 
this is rarely the case, rejected the design which destroys the special quality of the 
train shed and suggests that the replacement staff facilities could be located in a 
vacant area above the travel centre.  York Civic Trust considers the use of the Porte 
Cochere for commercial space to alleviate some existing retail provisions in the core 
buildings, which would reduce the requirement for these new units.  
 
5.42 It is acknowledged that the floorspace in the inner and outer concourses is 
limited and generally occupied by existing commercial occupiers and secured by 
contract with the Station’s operators.  An assessment has been provided in the 
application setting out the current uses of other areas of the station.  This highlights 
that there are no available areas presently that could provide the staff 
accommodation requirements. Whilst operational issues are not listed building 
issues, the impact of any new building upon the significance of the heritage asset is.   
 
5.43 It is acknowledged that the sheer length of the proposed building, from the new 
exit corridor is substantial and would occupy at least 3/4 of the length of the train 
shed, and with cycle parking at the end, the decorative and carefully designed flank 
wall and brick arches would be interrupted and obscured.  The train shed roof and 
the tapered iron trusses that are punctured in a decorative way and spring from 
column capitals that are integrated into a string course are one of the main features 
of the station and have high significance. However it is noted that the stepped 
design and the scale of the building reduces and responds more appropriately in its 
context.  It is identified that this aspect of the proposals will result in less than 
substantial harm to the features of special architectural or historic interest.   
 
5.44 It is noted that the building to provide staff breakout areas is submitted as a 
permanent feature, however it is designed to be removable if/when proposals are 
developed for the western station entrance and there is the potential to re-provide 
this accommodation.  There are no timeframes for when this may be.  The 
applicants have sought the southern train shed building as a permanent structure, 
considering the importance of the majority of the space to be provided in this 
building is for TOC accommodation, which is essential for the continued and 
effective operation of the station.  However, given the level of harm identified, the 

Page 229



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

building as a permanent structure would not be appropriate in its context and 
officers consider a temporary consent would be suitable in this regards, which will 
allow for the wider planning of the station and development of other areas to 
facilitate some or all of the space requirements.  Negotiation has been undertaken 
with the applicants and partners in respect to the temporary period, with a time limit 
of 15years agreed and considered to be acceptable.  This acknowledges the 
intended uses and timeframes for the development of wider infrastructure of this 
scheme, as well as possible future development of the railway infrastructure of the 
Station itself (i.e. northern powerhouse rail, HS2 and Transpennine Rail Upgrade).  
It is noted that this is a temporary period that is much longer than normally 
considered as temporary, however the building as a modular and lightweight 
structure helps to mitigate some harm.  Furthermore, the situation at the station will 
change and this agreed timeframe is recognising the need to accommodate Network 
Rail’s long term planning of the station. It is recommended that a condition that 
secures a retail, storage and TOC accommodation strategy to manage current, and 
any future requirements of the Station.  This timeframe allows for the applicants and 
key partners to investigate the development of other areas of the station that may 
help to alleviate and fulfil future requirements.  
 
5.45 It is noted that CAAP provides advice that there is a vacant area above the 
travel centre to provide staff accommodation.  It is identified in the Conservation 
Management Strategy (2013) that when the travel centre (current location) was 
rebuilt in the mid-1980s this was with a concrete roof deck that is capable of taking 
additional floor(s).  This was originally a two storey block and would present an 
opportunity to restore the original design of the Station.  Additionally, it is further 
identified that there is potential for a first floor over the existing waiting room wing of 
the inner concourse that would match the wing opposite.  Whilst these opportunities 
are presented by contributors, they are schemes that would require significant 
financial investment from all the Partners, and given that this is a public-led scheme 
primarily focused upon improving highway infrastructure and the public realm in front 
of the station, securing appropriate funding would be a challenge in itself.  This is in 
addition to the heritage considerations and issues, as well as engineering 
considerations that would need to be addressed to ensure either of these schemes 
could be considered acceptable.  This is not to suggest that these development 
proposals cannot be forthcoming in the future and explored by the Station owners 
and landlords, however they do not form part of these proposals.   
 
5.46 The proposals include the addition of a roof access stair positioned behind the 
buttress wall of the south train shed wall and adjacent to the exit corridor of the 
Parcel Square infill building.  This will provide a gantry access tied into the roof of 
the train shed, with a sliding rail access hatch.  It is noted that this will replace an 
existing temporary scaffold arrangement that is prominent in views on the outside of 
the station.  The Conservation Architect has objected to this proposed internal 
arrangement, citing that the south shed building will partly obscure the stair access 
arrangement when viewed from within the station.  If the proposed south shed 

Page 230



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

building is removed, as is anticipated, the stair arrangement will primarily be visible 
and will have a negative impact on the aesthetic and historical value, diminishing 
significance and affecting special architectural historic interest in a harmful way.  
However this harm is assessed as less than substantial to the heritage asset. 
 
Impact of the proposals upon individual areas of the station: North Train Shed 
 
5.47 The north shed is accessed from Tea Room Square via a narrow archway 
beneath the canopy structure and currently provides short stay car parking as well 
as parking for TOCs.  This opening contains the original double row of cast iron 
columns.  The brick shed wall is considered to be more articulated than the South 
Shed and forms the western façade of the Principal Hotel. The York Tap pub is to 
the opposite side of the archway.  It is noted that the area to the side of the York 
Tap pub has been used for the storage of retail catering goods on an ad-hoc basis.  
Opposite this area is platform 2, a terminus platform and at the buffer end is a 
freestanding building that serves as the gentleman’s toilet block.  This building is 
identified as an eyesore building in the Conservation Development Strategy (2013) 
and is considered a detractor.   
 
5.48 As with the south shed building, the three proposed modular units proposed to 
be located within the north train shed will rehouse existing accommodation 
displaced by the loss of Parcel Square area.  One pod will allow the existing retail 
occupier Cycle Heaven to relocate and a further pod for the relocation of Enterprise.  
One pod will be used for storage requirements.  Further cycle storage area will also 
be provided with retained parking beyond for police and LNER.  Whilst there is no 
formal cycle route, there is cycle accessibility through the North Train Shed from 
Tea Room Square to Scarborough Bridge, and this link is retained in the proposals. 
 
5.49 The proposed units are designed as glass pods with the same proportions and 
timber used in the construction of the South Shed building.  They are freestanding 
units, positioned off the shed wall and of a smaller scale to the hotel façade behind.  
They are spaced so that there is access to the existing doors which lead to the 
hotel.   
 
5.50  As well as the concerns raised above by consultees in respect to the 
proposals for the South Shed building, in terms of the North Shed pod proposals, 
further comments are noted.  Historic England set out that they remain concerned 
regarding the impact of three individual pods with the north Shed having a more 
enclosed feel than the south shed.  There is logic to the Enterprise and Cycle 
Heaven being located here, but not the storage space and ask why this could not be 
located elsewhere. 
 
5.51 As with the proposed buildings in the South Train Shed, there is concern that 
the three pods will extend along a majority of the North Train Shed, interrupting and 
obscuring the flank wall and brick arches.  The approach into the train shed from 

Page 231



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

Tea Room Square provides key views to the low level canopies on platform 4, albeit 
altered and extended, they retain their cast iron valances.  The three individual pods 
are set back along the shed wall retaining this key view, as well as the un-
interruption of the original double row of columns in the immediate approach in this 
opening.  Positioned adjacent to the pods along the edge of platform 2 will be cycle 
storage areas.  This detail has been carefully planned, in order to continue to allow 
vehicular access through to operational car parking towards the end of the train 
shed.  
 
5.52 The smaller of the three pods will provide accommodation for Enterprise, which 
has an existing position within the Parcel Square area.  A further of the pods will 
provide a retail unit for Cycle Heaven, which is currently positioned within the Parcel 
Square building and has a forecourt; both would be the subject of demolition under 
the proposals. Cycle Heaven and Enterprise are existing commercial operators in 
the station and supports other transport related infrastructure within the station, 
reinforcing the guidance of the NPPF in paragraph 103, which seeks to limit the 
need to travel and offer a genuine choice of transport modes.   
 
5.53 Representations from the managing director of Cycle Heaven were received to 
the original scheme (and due to the issues raised are covered in the accompanying 
planning application), and highlighted concerns regarding the future viability of Cycle 
Heaven at the Station.  The original scheme sought to provide Cycle Heaven within 
the southern train shed, however this has been reconsidered and is considered to 
be more appropriate to be located in the North Train Shed, where there is existing 
connectivity to existing cycle routes.  It is unclear whether Cycle Heaven intend to 
continue to operate from the Station.   
 
5.54 The applicant has provided an overview of the existing core areas of the station 
and how these are utilised by existing retailers and commercial partners.  In addition 
there are some freestanding units in other areas of the concourse and platforms, 
although these are limited and generally discouraged, taking into account the 
recommendation (No.7) of the CDS (2013) that seeks a commercial retail strategy 
for the station with an aim of removing all kiosks and install all retail units within core 
buildings.  Two of the pods are intended to replace existing units that assist in 
supporting transport related businesses and help to continue the offer of a choice of 
transport modes in this transport interchange.  It is considered that other non-
transport related businesses should not be able to operate from these pods, and if 
Cycle Heaven or Enterprise, or any other transport related operator do not wish to 
occupy any of the units, then they should be removed.  This would help to alleviate 
some of their harm to the features of special architectural or historic interest of the 
Station building.   
 
5.55 There has been limited information provided in respect to the storage pod, in 
terms of what storage provision is required and whether there other areas where it 
can be accommodated.  However it is acknowledged that available space within the 

Page 232



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

inner and outer concourse’s is limited and generally occupied by existing 
commercial occupiers and secured by contract with the Station’s operators.  
Information has been provided that the storage areas are for the storage of goods 
and waste for the retail units on the platforms.  It has been highlighted that the 
location within the north train shed is ideally placed due to this being the current and 
continued location for deliveries and is closer to the lift and northern service tunnel 
that provides access to other platforms.   
 
5.56 As with the south train shed, the applicant is seeking the three pods as a 
permanent addition, but which could be removable if/when proposals are developed 
for the western station entrance and there is the potential to re-provide this 
accommodation.  There are no timeframes for when this may be.  However there is 
concern that this pods remain in situ longer than necessary, particularly given the 
level of harm that would arise as a result. Officers therefore consider that it would be 
reasonable to impose a time limit of 5 years for the pods.  This would enable the 
applicants and partners to consider their space requirements in greater detail, with a 
view to developing other areas of the station to alleviate this current shortfall, 
following the implementation of other parts of the scheme.  Further, whilst a new 
development conservation management plan is in development, this does not 
involve the LPA, and it is recommended that a condition could require the 
submission of a Station masterplan, with a particular strategy upon commercial and 
retail provision, to manage the current and any future accommodation and storage 
requirements of the Station.     
 
5.57 There has been an effort by the applicants to reduce the mass and dominance 
of the three individual pods, although the pods are informed by the like-for like 
replacement of existing provision.  However, their position against the decorative 
flank wall and the brick arches of the train shed that forms the western façade of the 
Principal Hotel is considered to result in harm to these identified features of special 
architectural or historic interest.  Whilst assessed as being less than substantial 
harm, the introduction of the three pods are quantified as being at the upper end of 
less than substantial harm.   
 
Conclusion of Harm  
 
5.58 As detailed above, the proposals will impact four key areas of the Railway 
Station; the Portico, Parcel Square area and the North and South Train Sheds.  
These areas are individually significant in their own right as described above, as well 
as collectively helping to contribute the overall significance of the Station. The 
station has generally high levels of aesthetic, historical, evidential and communal 
interest, which contributes to the high significance of the Station. 
 
5.59 The assessment concludes that each of the individual proposals will result in 
less than substantial harm to the significance of this designated heritage asset.  The 
proposed building in the south train shed and the three individual pods proposed for 

Page 233



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

the north train shed have been quantified at being at the upper end of less than 
substantial harm.   
 
5.60  Paragraph 196 of the Framework sets out that where a development proposal 
will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage 
asset, this harm should be outweighed against the public benefits of the proposal 
including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.  
 
5.61 Planning Practice Guidance sets out what is meant by the term public benefits 
and states that:  
 
“Public benefits may follow from many developments and could be anything that 
delivers economic, social or environmental objectives as described in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 8). Public benefits should flow from the 
proposed development. They should be of a nature or scale to be of benefit to the 
public at large and not just be a private benefit. However, benefits do not always 
have to be visible or accessible to the public in order to be genuine public benefits, 
for example, works to a listed private dwelling which secure its future as a 
designated heritage asset could be a public benefit. Examples of heritage benefits 
may include: 

- sustaining or enhancing the significance of a heritage asset and the 
contribution of its setting 
- reducing or removing risks to a heritage asset 
- securing the optimum viable use of a heritage asset in support of its long 
term conservation” 

(Paragraph: 020 Reference ID: 18a-020-20190723 Revision date: 23 07 2019) 
- Public Benefits  
 
5.62 This application relates to works to the Grade II* listed York Railway Station, 
that are required in connection to the wider proposals referred to as the ‘York 
Station frontage’.  
 
5.63 The applicant sets out the benefits of the wider scheme that these are a part of, 
namely the major improvement to passenger facilities and experience, the 
substantial enhancements to the setting of highly significant heritage assets, namely 
York City Walls and York Station.  More specific to the proposals considered in this 
application, the applicant sets out the public benefit of maintaining the effective 
operation of the railway station and its associated functions and the health and well-
being of TOC’s staff.   
 
5.64 In detail, the public benefits of the proposals derived under each of the 
objectives (economic, social and environmental) are outlined below.  
 
Economic Objective 
 

Page 234

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/national-planning-policy-framework/2-achieving-sustainable-development


 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

5.65 One of the key areas of the scheme is the creation of a gateway into the city.  
The current gateway is disappointing and gives the impression of vehicle dominance 
and congestion (YCHCCA Appraisal Part Two: Management Strategy and York 
Station Frontage: Illustrative Masterplan).  This area also forms an important 
interchange between different modes of transport.   
 
5.66 The economic vision set out in the Council’s York New City Beautiful: Toward 
and Economic Vision sets out that the city must invest in the long term in the city’s 
public realm and movement infrastructure highlighting that skilled and talented 
people will drive the economy, but such human capital is not attracted by the power 
of higher wages alone; quality of place and the rich diversity of activity affect 
personal and business location decisions.  Therefore enhancing the physical 
appearance of the city, improving retail and commercial activity, ensuring better 
accessibility and improving image and perception are all important (page 23).  It is 
therefore considered that the improvement to the city’s gateway and the transport 
interchange presents opportunities to address potential barriers to investment, 
support local economic growth and productivity which is a key direction of the 
Framework as set out in Chapter 6 ‘Building a strong, competitive economy’ and 
paragraphs 80 and 81 c).   
 
5.67 The railway station is home to a number of businesses, and in particular Cycle 
Heaven is a York company that has been established in the city for over 25years.  
The proposals offer the opportunity to relocate this business within the station area 
taking into account its local business needs; being located adjacent to existing cycle 
links whilst also allowing wider opportunities for development.    
 
5.68 A key benefit of the scheme is the potential to improve the existing highway 
infrastructure, which follows the transport hierarchy outlined in paragraph 110 a) of 
the Framework that promotes pedestrian and cycling first, then public transport (rail 
and bus travel).  The revised highway layout will also minimise the scope for 
conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles and along with other controls 
would avoid unnecessary street clutter.  Other aspects of the proposal includes the 
provision of electric vehicle charging points, the needs of people with disabilities or 
reduced mobility being considered, being able to continue servicing to the Station 
and local businesses and the consideration of service and emergency accessibility, 
however this is a key consideration for the effective operation of the railway station.  
It is considered that the development would satisfy the transport objectives outlined 
in paragraph 110 (a-e) of the Framework.    
 
5.69 The station frontage area with the transport interchange is already a 
sustainable location that offers a genuine choice of transport modes, however the 
improvements to the highway infrastructure will create the conditions to maximise 
the sustainability of this part of the city, and be a focus for significant development. 
The redistribution of road traffic in this location will further reduce congestion and 
emissions and improve air quality and public health.  It is identified that the scheme, 

Page 235



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

with the relocation of taxis out of the Portico will significantly improve air quality in 
this location. 
 
Social Objective 
 
5.70 A key focus of the wider Station Frontage scheme is the creation of an 
improved experience of users of the station and the approach to it.  It is considered 
therefore that the development would achieve a well-designed place, complying with 
paragraph 127 of the Framework.   
 
5.71  In summary, the development will: a) function well and add to the overall 
quality of the area for the lifetime of the development; b) be visually attractive as a 
result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; c) be 
sympathetic to local character and history; d) maintain a strong sense of place, 
creating an attractive, welcoming and distinctive place to live, work and visit; e) 
support local facilities and transport networks; and f) create a place that is safe, 
inclusive and accessible which promotes health and well-being with consideration of  
crime and disorder.  
 
Environmental Objective 
 
5.72 The environmental objective is to protect and enhance our natural, built and 
historic environment.  As detailed in the economic objective section, the wider 
scheme for the York Station Frontage has identified a particular focus upon 
improving or mitigating impacts of pollutants and air quality, in accordance with para. 
181 of the Framework.  
 
5.73 Whilst the impact of the scheme on the heritage asset, in this case the Grade 
II* listed railway station, has been discussed in length, it is noted acknowledged that 
the development proposals will conserve the heritage asset, making a positive 
contribution to sustainable communities including their economic vitality and local 
character and distinctiveness (para. 192 b of the Framework).  
 
5.74 Other public benefits to the wider heritage assets within the site are also 
identified and this includes enhancements to the setting of the York City Walls and 
York Station, as well as other individually listed buildings, the Railway Institute as 
well as improving the character and appearance of the York Central Historic Core 
Conservation Area and character area 21, which this site sites within.   
 
- Optimum Viable Use  
 
5.75 It is important to note that the Station remains in the use for which it was 
originally constructed, the use being continuous since the date of construction, along 
with the current use of the station being its optimum use.   
 

Page 236



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

6.0 CONCLUSION 

 
6.1 It is outlined in the main body of the report that the impact of the proposals at 
individual areas of the station, such as the Portico, North and South Train Sheds 
and the Parcel Square area, is assessed as resulting in less than substantial harm 
to the significance of this designated heritage asset.  In the case of the freestanding 
buildings and pods in the north and south train sheds, this harm is assessed at 
being at the upper level of less than substantial harm.   Regard is had to paragraphs 
193 and 194 of the NPPF which state that great weight should be given to the 
conservation of listed buildings (and the more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be) and any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset should require clear and convincing justification.  
 
6.2 It is demonstrated that the wider York Station Frontage scheme and also the 
individual parts of the proposal that would impact upon the railway station would 
deliver economic, social and environmental objectives.  The objectives demonstrate 
that public benefits would be derived from the proposed development.  The public 
benefits outlined in paragraphs 5.65 to 5.75 above are considered to collectively 
outweigh the less than substantial harm identified to this Grade II* railway station. 
The application therefore complies with paragraph 196 of the NPPF. Having special 
regard to the desirability of preserving listed buildings and their setting in line with 
section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, 
and giving considerable importance and weight to the identified harm, it is 
considered that the proposals would have an acceptable effect on this designated 
heritage asset.  
 

6.3 The objection from Historic England requires that the Listed Building Consent 
application is referred to the Secretary of State for his consideration before consent  
can be granted. 
 
7.0  RECOMMENDATION:   Approve  subject to confirmation from the Secretary of 
State that the application will not be ‘called in’, following the referral of the application 
[in accordance with Arrangements for Handling Heritage Applications Direction 2015.  
 
 
1  TIMEL2  Development start within 3 yrs (LBC/CAC)  
 
 2  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following plans and other submitted details:- 
 
- LBC.YRK.003 Rev C General Arrangement- Ground Floor Plan - Proposed 
- LBC.YRK.009 Rev C Parcel Square - Floor Plan Proposed 
- LBC.YRK.012 Rev C Parcel Square - Section EE Proposed 
- LBC.YRK.015 Rev B Parcel Square - Staff Accommodation Section BB Proposed  
- LBC.YRK.018 Rev B Parcel Square - Elevation 2-2 Proposed 

Page 237



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

- LBC.YRK.021 Rev B South Shed - Elevation 1-1 Proposed  
- LBC.YRK.023 Rev B North Shed- Elevation 3-3 Proposed 
- LBC.YRK.024 Rev B New Roof Access Stair Plan and Section 
- LBC.YRK.042 Rev A RI - Elevations - Proposed 
- YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CB-1051 Portico Floor Plan Proposed 
 
Demolition plans  
 
- LBC.YRK.002 Rev B General Arrangement Ground - Demolitions and Alterations 
- LBC.YRK.008 Rev B Parcel Square - Floor Plan Demolitions and Alterations 
- LBC-YRK.011 Rev C Parcel Square - Section EE Demolitions and Alterations 
- LBC.YRK.014 Rev B Parcel Square - Staff Accommodation Section BB Demolitions 
and Alterations 
- LBC.YRK.017 Rev B Parcel Square - Elevation 2-2 Demolitions and Alterations 
- LBC.YRK.020 Rev B South Shed - Elevation 1-1 Demolitions and Alterations 
 
Reports 
 
- Clarification Note on Northern Trainshed Buildings dated 4 November 2020 (Job Ref 
257903) 
- Clarification Note on Southern Trainshed Buildings dated 25 January 2021 (Job Ref 
257903) 
 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out 
only as approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
 3  The buildings and area referred to as Parcel Square as indicated on drawing 
LBC.YRK.008 Rev B 'Parcel Square Floor Plan - Demolitions/Alterations' shall not be 
demolished before listed building consent for redevelopment is granted and a legally 
binding contract for the carrying out of the works of redevelopment of the site for which 
listed building consent has been entered into and evidence of the contract has been 
produced to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, or in the absence 
of such a contract an alternative confirmation of commencement of the development 
has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason:  To ensure that the premature demolition of the buildings does not take place 
to the detriment of the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building 
and to comply with paragraph 198 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
 4  Prior to the demolition of the area referred to as Parcel Square as indicated on 
drawing LBC.YRK.008 Rev B 'Parcel Square Floor Plan - Demolitions/Alterations', 
samples to be used for the proposed Parcel Square Infill and canopy shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 

Page 238



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

This will include samples of the enamelled metal panels (including pattern/design 
motifs and colour) and lancet windows should be provided as a sample panel of 
sufficient size to judge the overall effect of the design. This should also be provided 
with the sample of the canopy so that they can be judged together. 
 
Other details and samples shall include, but are not limited to: 
- all fixing and joint details  
- fenestration detail and colour 
- door details and colour 
 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Note: Due to current coronavirus restrictions, it would be appreciated if sample 
materials could be made available for inspection at the site.  Please make it clear in 
your approval of details application when materials will be available for inspection and 
where they are located.  
 
Reason: To protect the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building 
and to comply with paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
 5  Notwithstanding any proposed materials specified on the approved drawings or 
in the application form submitted with the application, samples of the external 
materials, including colour and finish to be used for the building located within the 
south train shed shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local Planning 
Authority prior to the installation of the building within the south train shed.  
 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Note: Due to current coronavirus restrictions, it would be appreciated if sample 
materials could be made available for inspection at the site.  Please make it clear in 
your approval of details application when materials will be available for inspection and 
where they are located.  
 
Reason: To protect the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building 
and to comply with paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
 
 6  Notwithstanding any proposed materials specified on the approved drawings or 
in the application form submitted with the application, samples of the external 
materials, including colour and finish to be used for the pods within the north train 
shed shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local Planning Authority 
prior to the installation of the three pods within the north train shed.  
 

Page 239



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Note: Due to current coronavirus restrictions, it would be appreciated if sample 
materials could be made available for inspection at the site.  Please make it clear in 
your approval of details application when materials will be available for inspection and 
where they are located.  
 
Reason: To protect the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building 
and to comply with paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
 7  Prior to the demolition of the area referred to as Parcel Square as indicated on 
drawing LBC.YRK.008 Rev B 'Parcel Square Floor Plan - Demolitions/Alterations', 
large scaled details (1:10) of the new entrance canopy to parcel square shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To protect the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building 
and to comply with paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 8  Prior to the installation of the three pods within the north train shed, large scale 
sectional details (1:10) though the external wall detailing any guttering to be used, 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
three pods in the north train shed shall be installed in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
Reason: To protect the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building 
and to comply with paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 9  Prior to the installation of the building within the south train shed, large scale 
sectional details (1:10) though the external wall detailing any guttering to be used, 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
building in the south train shed shall be installed in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
Reason: To protect the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building 
and to comply with paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
10  Any works to the Portico shall be undertaken in accordance with the details 
outlined on the approved drawing YSF-ARP-00-XX-DR-CB-1051 Portico Floor Plan 
Proposed, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To protect the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building 
and to comply with paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Page 240



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

11  Prior to the installation of the three pods within the north train shed, details, 
including large scale details at 1:10 of any mechanical and electrical (M&E) services 
including service runs, extract duct and intact ducts and plant that may be required, 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
three pods in the north train shed shall be installed in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason: To protect the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building 
and to comply with paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
12  Prior to the installation of the building within the south train shed, details, 
including large scale details at 1:10 of any mechanical and electrical (M&E) services 
including service runs, extract duct and intact ducts and plant that may be required, 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
building in the south train shed shall be installed in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason: To protect the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building 
and to comply with paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
13  Prior to the demolition of the area referred to as Parcel Square as indicated on 
drawing LBC.YRK.008 Rev B 'Parcel Square Floor Plan - Demolitions/Alterations', 
details, including large scale details at 1:10 of any mechanical and electrical (M&E) 
services including service runs, extract duct and intact ducts and plant that may be 
required, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The Parcel Square infill shall be installed in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason: To protect the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building 
and to comply with paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
14  Within 15 years of the date of the southern building in the south train shed being 
brought into use, the building in the south train shed and all associated infrastructure 
shall be removed in its entirety and the area returned to its previous condition. 
 
Reason: Listed building consent is granted on a temporary basis to allow further 
consideration of space requirements in the future and to understand the progress on 
the development of a western station entrance at the Railway Station.  The retention 
of the building as a permanent structure would harm the special architectural or 
historic interest of the listed building. 
 
 
15  Within 5 years of the date of the three pods in northern train shed being brought 
into use, the three pods in the northern train shed and all associated infrastructure 
shall be removed in its entirety and the area returned to its previous condition. 

Page 241



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

 
Reason: Listed building consent is granted on a temporary basis to allow further 
consideration of space requirements in the future and to understand the progress on 
the development of a western station entrance at the Railway Station.  The retention 
of the building as a permanent structure would harm the special architectural or 
historic interest of the listed building. 
 
16  Two of the pods identified for 'Enterprise' and 'Cycle Heaven' shall only be 
occupied by a transport related business/operator.  If, within 6 months of any lease 
expiring, or another transport related operator does not lease any of the two pods, 
then they shall be removed in their entirety and the area returned to its previous 
condition.   
 
Reason: Listed building consent is granted on the basis that they are replacing 
existing accommodation within the station and a transport related business will assist 
in continuing to offer a choice of transport modes at this transport interchange. The 
retention of the building as a permanent structure would harm the special architectural 
or historic interest of the listed building. 
 
17  Prior to the installation of the three pods in the north shed and the south shed 
building, a retail, storage and Train Operating Companies (TOCs) accommodation 
strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
This accommodation strategy shall set out how the station will manage the current 
and any future train operating companies accommodation, retail and storage 
requirements of the station. The strategy as approved shall be implemented in 
accordance with its terms. 
 
Reason: Listed building consent is granted for the temporary structures on the basis 
that they are replacing existing accommodation within the station and a strategy will 
manage existing and future provision.  The retention of the buildings as a permanent 
structure would harm the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building. 
 
18  Prior to the installation of the building within the south train shed, large scale 
sectional details (1:10) detailing the roof access stair within the flank wall of the 
southern train shed shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The roof access stair in the southern train shed shall be installed 
in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To protect the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building 
and to comply with paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
19  Following the removal of the temporary buildings in the north and south train 
sheds hereby approved, within two months of their removal, details of any repairs or 
making good of the floor or walls of the train shed shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any repairs shall be undertaken in 

Page 242



 

Application Reference Number: 19/00542/LBC  Item No: 4b 

accordance with these details.   
 
Reason: To protect the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building 
and to comply with paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
20 The building in the south train shed hereby approved shall only be occupied by 
Train Operating Companies (TOCs) or used for storage as indicated on drawing 
LBC.YRK.009 Rev C 'Parcel Square Floor Plan - Proposed'.  
 
Reason: Listed building consent is granted on the basis that this building is replacing 
existing accommodation within the Station, and any other uses may not justify the 
harm to the special architectural or historic interest of the listed building. 
 
 
Contact details: 
Case Officer: Lindsay Jenkins 
Tel No:  01904 554575 
 

Page 243



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Station Building, York Station, Station Road, York YO24 1AY 

19/00542/LBC  

 

 

 

 

Page 245



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

Date: 4 February 2021 Ward: Guildhall 

Team: East Area Parish: Guildhall Planning Panel 

 

Reference: 20/00940/FULM 
Application at: Former Carpetright Layerthorpe York YO31 7UP  
For: Erection of hotel with bar/restaurant, relocation of access and 

associated landscaping and car park following demolition of 
existing building 

By: CBRE UK Property PAIF LTD And Premier Inn Hotels LTD 

Application Type: Major Full Application 
Target Date: 10 February 2021 
Recommendation: Approve 
 

1.0 PROPOSAL 

 

1.1 This proposal relates to the erection of a 188 bed hotel with associated 

bar/restaurant, landscaping and car park following the demolition of the existing 

building at the former Carpetright, Layerthorpe. The proposed building would be 

mainly four storey in height with a minor setback at top storey and some three storey 

elements. 

 

1.2 The application site, which extends to an area of 0.39 hectares, is located on the 

corner of Layerthorpe and Foss Islands Road (inner ring road), the latter running 

alongside the river Foss. It lies just outside of the city walls but within the city centre 

as defined by the Emerging Local Plan. The site is not within the Conservation Area 

and is identified as Character Area 52 “Layerthorpe” within York’s Historic 

Environment Characterisation Project.  It is within the Area of Archaeological 

Importance. 

 

1.3. The existing Carpetright building comprises a single storey, steel framed retail 

warehouse with a car park with capacity for 51 vehicles.  The existing building abuts 

the pavement to Foss Islands Road to the south west, Layerthorpe to the north-west 

and Mansfield Street to the south-east. 

 

2.0 POLICY CONTEXT 

 

Page 247 Agenda Item 4c



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

Key Sections of the NPPF 

 

Section 4 – Decision Making 

Section 11 – Making effective use of land 

Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 

Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

 

Key relevant policies of the 2018 Publication Draft Local Plan 

 

DP1 – York Sub Area  

DP2 – Sustainable Development 

SS1 – Delivering Sustainable Growth for York  

SS3 – York City Centre 

EC4 - Tourism 

D1 – Placemaking 

D2 – Landscape and Setting 

D4 – Conservation Areas 

D6 – Archaeology 

D10 – York City Walls 

ENV1 – Air Quality 

ENV2 – Managing Environmental Quality 

ENV3 – Land Contamination 

ENV4 – Flood Risk 

ENV5 – Sustainable Drainage 

T1 – Sustainable Access 

CC1 - Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation and Storage 

CC2 - Sustainable Design and Construction of New Development 

CC3 – District Heating and Combined Heat and Power Networks 

 

Relevant policies of the 2005 Draft Development Control Local Plan  

 

SP3 – Safeguarding the Historic Character and Setting of York 

SP7B – York City Centre and Central Shopping Area 

GP1 – Design 

GP4A – Sustainability 

GP4B – Air Quality 

GP9 – Landscaping 

GP15A – Development and Flood Risk 

HE2 – Development in Historic Locations 

Page 248



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

HE10 - Archaeology 

 

3.0 CONSULTATIONS 

 

DESIGN, CONSERVATION AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT (DESIGN) 

 

Site Layout 

 

3.1 A building with the walls generally at street edge is proposed and is supported.  

Mansfield Road permitted new building 17/02991/FULM has had an impact on the 

site layout as this borders and overlooks the site. It has prevented proposed 

buildings from spreading out deeper within the deep plan of the site, which in turn 

has put pressure on making the building higher to achieve the desired quantity of 

development.  

 

3.2 The principle of providing an adequate planted/hard buffer space in front of large 

buildings and improvements to pavement widths is provided and is a supported 

approach. Taking road access to the rear through an opening in the façade, rather 

than leaving it on the edge of site creates better townscape is proposed and is 

supported. The principle of ensuring the proposal does not sterilise the potential for 

adjacent plot redevelopment by generally avoiding overlooking windows near plot 

boundaries is provided here and is a supported approach.  

 

Massing  

 

3.3 The single building form could easily feel overbearing and monotonous. To 

counter this, attempts were made to meaningfully break massing into separately 

articulated chunks to break the monotony which has had some success.  Attempts 

are made to articulate the roof profile to add interest/break monotony- slight top floor 

setbacks, and slight zig-zag arrangement of the top floor on principle elevations, 

together with some modelling of the building down to three floors on Foss Islands 

Road. This is a supported approach.  

 

Architectural design and detail  

 

3.4 The proposal makes minor differences in architectural approach between the 

Layerthorpe elevation and Foss Islands Road elevation linked by a slightly visually 

different corner block. This is a supported approach. The Foss Islands Road aspect 

Page 249



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

would benefit from more generous space for street trees, to ensure a good tree 

canopy cover will develop.  

 

3.5 Rear elevations viewed from the car park are secondary elevations, so of 

secondary design concern but they still require sufficient design standards. 

Unfortunately they are very monotonous and bland and this is a concern. Requests 

were made to improve this during pre app, but this remains unchanged. The 

Mansfield Road elevation quality has also been problematic, due to the need for a 

raised plinth and servicing aspect. Attempts are made to introduce textured brick 

panels to add visual interest. This has had some success, but it’s still a rather 

awkward elevation.  

 

3.6 A material palette or predominantly brick, offset by secondary alternative 

material detailing around windows or recesses was considered appropriate.  

 

3.7 Overall, the proposal is not objected to on design and conservation grounds but 

there are design concerns that should be considered when assessing a balance of 

overall benefits. These concerns include:  

 

- Sheer large size of the building footprint and large visual presence for an 

ordinary design standard building.  

- Possible missed opportunity for other multi-building development options with 

possible more diverse use and architecture.  

- Low quality secondary elevations, some of which will likely be viewed obliquely 

from public streets.  

 

DESIGN, CONSERVATION AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT (LANDSCAPE) 

 

3.8 Overall, the inclusion of trees and shrubs in a number of locations around the 

perimeter of the building is a welcome addition to the street scene and the 

environment. The space created for the trees could be more generous to sustain the 

trees and provide a better long term visual impact.  

 

3.9 The proposed tree planting on Foss Islands Road is very tight to the building 

using trees with extremely narrow crowns. A larger species with greater visual 

impact could be accommodated if the footprint of the building were locally stepped 

back. This would result in a greater contribution to the street scene and the 

environment of Foss Islands Road and the character of views around the 

Layerthorpe junction. 

Page 250



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

 

DESIGN, CONSERVATION AND SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

(ARCHAEOLOGY) 

 

3.10 The evaluation undertaken suggests that there will be no impact to any 

significant archaeological features or deposits across the majority of the site. The 

remains of St Mary’s Church and associated graveyard appear to have been cleared 

across the car park area. Residual, disarticulated human remains were noted in 

1986 when the current building was constructed despite the large 19th and 20th 

century buildings which had previously stood on the Foss Islands frontage. No 

human remains were noted during the 2019 evaluation.  

 

3.11 The 2019 evaluation and 1986 borehole information has suggested that large 

foundations/structures still exist beneath the extant building and in the area between 

the northern edge of the building and Layerthorpe. These are likely to date to the 

19th and early 20th centuries. 

 

3.12 Ground beams and pile caps for a proposed piled foundation are likely to be 

situated within the identified demolition and 19th century ground raising levels. The 

piles themselves will impact upon river and potentially Fishpool deposits. The 

foundation solution should ensure it does not create a full barrier to water moving 

between the site and the River Foss. 

 

3.13 An archaeological watching brief will be required during the grubbing up of 

foundations of the existing building and ground works relating to the removal of 

surviving below-ground structures. Outside of the extant building footprint/Foss 

Islands Road frontage no archaeological monitoring will be required.  

 

HIGHWAY NETWORK MANAGEMENT 

 

3.14 No objection.  In relation to car parking provision, this proposal for a 188 

bedroom hotel details 43 car parking spaces including six electric vehicle spaces, 

four disabled spaces and one drop off space. This is in line with CYC policy for a 

development of this nature in a sustainable city centre location.  We have no 

objections to the principle of the relocation of the vehicular access on Layerthorpe 

and adequate cycle parking provision is included.  

 

3.15 In terms of traffic generation, when compared to the permitted use, an increase 

of just under 30 vehicle trips is expected in the am peak but a similar decrease is 

Page 251



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

expected in PM peak. Traffic movements linked to the development are therefore 

not assessed as having a significant impact on the surrounding highway network.  

 

3.16 Conditions requiring further details of access, details of servicing within the site, 

cycle parking details and adherence to submitted Travel Plan, are requested. 

 

FLOOD RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

3.17 The Flood Risk, SUDS & Foul Drainage Assessment is generally acceptable. In 

summary, the report states that: 

 

- Foul water will discharge to public combined sewer, 

- Sub-soil conditions do not support the use of soakaways, 

- The site is remote from watercourse, and 

- Surface water will discharge to public surface water sewer via storage with 

restricted discharges no greater than 3.6 (three point six) litres per second the 

equivalent greenfield run off rate. 

 

3.18 Conditions recommended in accordance with Environment Agency and 

Yorkshire Water responses together with condition requiring details of the proposed 

means of foul and surface water drainage. 

 

EMERGENCY PLANNING TEAM 

 

3.19 If all procedures are followed, no objections in principal. 

 

FORWARD PLANNING 

 

3.20 Given the advanced stage of the emerging Plan’s preparation, the lack of 

significant objection to the emerging policies relevant to this application and the 

stated consistency with the Framework, we would advise that the policy 

requirements of emerging plan policies SS3, EC4, D1, D4, D10, CC1, CC2, CC3, 

ENV1, ENV2, ENV4, ENV5 and T1 should be applied with moderate weight. 

 

3.21 The principle of a hotel in city centre accessible location is supported in policy 

terms. There is no policy objection to the proposals.  

 

PUBLIC PROTECTION 

 

Page 252



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

Noise 

 

3.22 The applicant has submitted a noise survey which takes account of the existing 

noise climate and the noise mitigation measures required to ensure that the hotel 

rooms meet recommended internal levels. The survey also considers noise from the 

use of the hotel; plant noise, car park noise etc. and how this may impact on the 

occupiers of the nearby apartment block. The report methodology is acceptable. A 

condition is recommended to require all sound attenuation measures to be fully 

implemented prior to occupation of the development. 

 

Air Quality - Electric Vehicle Charging 

 

3.23 The current requirement for non-residential development is a minimum of 5% 

active and 5% passive provision. If 43 spaces are proposed, it would need a 

minimum of 3 active charge points and passive provision for another 3. If the 

applicant is proposing 6 spaces from the outset, that would comply with Council 

policy. 

 

Land Contamination 

 

3.24 The submitted Phase I & II Environmental Assessment shows that the site has 

been used for a variety of commercial/industrial uses including a laundry, a printers, 

a confectionary manufacturer (with an underground fuel tank) and a motor paint 

sprayers. A former gas works and a former landfill site are also located within 150m 

of the site. These past uses could have given rise to land contamination, so a site 

investigation was carried out to find out whether land contamination is present. The 

site investigation comprised eight window sample boreholes and associated soil 

sampling, groundwater sampling and ground gas monitoring.  

 

3.25 The report concludes that no significant pollutant linkages have been identified 

and that the overall risk rating for the site is considered to be low. However, the 

report recommends that a suitable thickness of clean topsoil and subsoil is imported 

in landscaped areas, that upgraded water supply pipes are installed, and that 

appropriate protocols are implemented to deal with any unexpected contamination 

found during the development works. 

 

3.26 Public Protection comment that the report is generally acceptable, but 

additional site investigation is needed in the vicinity of the former underground fuel 

tank to fully assess the risks. It is recommended that the additional site investigation 

Page 253



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

is carried out after the building has been demolished and the hardstanding has been 

removed.  Contaminated land conditions are recommended. 

 

3.27 Conditions also recommended in relation to deliveries and waste collections, 

CEMP, hours of demolition and construction works and odour extraction. 

 

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY 

 

3.28 The proposed development is considered More Vulnerable according to 

Planning Practice Guidance (Flood Risk and Coastal Change) and is located in 

Flood Zones 2/3 (medium/high risk of flooding). 

 

3.29 The EA has no objection to the proposed development subject to a condition 

requiring that the development be carried out in accordance with the submitted 

Flood Risk Assessment. 

 

HISTORIC ENGLAND 

 

3.30 Historic England undertook extensive pre-application discussions with the 

applicant and the Council and are content that the archaeological component of the 

application has been successfully undertaken and conditioned. 

 

3.31 Similarly we are content that the modifications to the height of the proposed 

hotel (agreed during pre-application) have resulted in a building which does not 

dominate the city walls or the views into York, the conservation area and listed 

buildings from Layerthorpe.  Our only concern echoes the comments made by the 

Council’s conservation team about the architectural design quality and detailing of 

the proposed hotel. 

 

3.32 Historic England has no objection to the application on heritage grounds. 

 

GUILDHALL PLANNING PANEL 

 

3.33 Neither object nor support the application. We are concerned that this is not an 

overall positive contribution to the architecture of York. We would like to see soft 

landscaping and more trees along Foss Island Road to replace the terraces. 

 

NORTH YORKSHIRE POLICE 

 

Page 254



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

3.34 Having reviewed the documents submitted in relation to designing out crime, it 

is pleasing to note that the principles of crime prevention through environmental 

design have been incorporated into the design of this proposal. However, the 

proposed site layout plan does not appear to give any details of the boundary 

treatment of the soft landscaping that abuts to Mansfield Street.  This boundary 

must be sufficiently robust to prevent incursions into the car park courtyard or the 

creation of a desire line from Mansfield Street into the site, as this would make the 

space susceptible to autocrime, criminal damage and antisocial behaviour. It is 

recommended that the perimeter boundary is a 1.8m high wire mesh fence. This will 

define the parking court as defensible space. 

 

4.0 REPRESENTATIONS  

 

4.1 No third party representations received.  

 

5.0 APPRAISAL  

 

KEY ISSUES 

 

5.1 The key issues to be considered are:- 

 

- Principle of the proposed development 

- Design and External Appearance 

- Impact on Heritage Assets (Listed Buildings / Conservation Area / Archaeology) 

- Landscaping 

- Ecology 

- Impact on Residential Amenity  

- Highway issues 

- Flood Risk and Drainage 

- Sustainable design and construction 

 

POLICY CONTEXT 

 

5.2 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

determinations be made in accordance with the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. 

 

National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) 

 

Page 255



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

5.3 Central Government guidance is contained in the National Planning Policy 

Framework ("NPPF", 2019). It is a material consideration in the determination of this 

application. Paragraph 11 establishes the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development, which runs through both plan-making and decision-taking. In decision 

taking this means approving development proposals without delay that accord with 

an up-to-date development plan. In the absence of relevant development plan 

policies or where they are out-of-date, permission should be granted unless policies 

in the Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance provide a 

clear reason for refusing the proposed development, or any adverse impacts of 

doing so would significantly or demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 

against the policies in the Framework as a whole. 

 

Emerging Local Plan 

 

5.4 The Publication Draft City of York Local Plan 2018 ('2018 Draft Plan') was 

submitted to the Secretary of State for examination on 25 May 2018. Phase 1 of the 

hearings into the examination of the Local Plan took place in December 2019. In 

accordance with paragraph 48 of the NPPF the Draft Plan policies can be afforded 

weight according to: 

 

-The stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced the preparation, 

the greater the weight that may be given); 

- The extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less 

significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given); and  

- The degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the 

policies in the previous NPPF published in March 2012. (NB: Under transitional 

arrangements plans submitted for examination before 24 January 2019 will be 

assessed against the 2012 NPPF).   

 

5.5 It is considered that the policy requirements of 2018 Draft Plan policies SS3, 

EC4, D1, D4, D10, CC1, CC2, CC3, ENV1, ENV2, ENV4, ENV5 and T1 should be 

applied with moderate weight. 

 

2005 Draft Development Control Local Plan  

 

5.6 The Development Control Local Plan (DCLP) was approved for development 

management purposes in April 2005. Whilst the DCLP does not form part of the 

statutory development plan, its policies are considered to be capable of being 

material considerations in the determination of planning applications where policies 

Page 256



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

relevant to the application are consistent with those in the NPPF albeit with very 

limited weight. 

 

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT  

 

5.7 Section 7 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should support the role that 

town centres play at the heart of local communities, by taking a positive approach to 

their growth, management and adaption. Policy SS3 (York City Centre) of the 2018 

Draft Plan states that within the city centre, as defined on the Proposals Map, 

certain development types are acceptable in principle. These include food and drink 

uses and hotels. Policy EC4 (Tourism) of the 2018 Draft Plan also supports 

proposals that maintain and improve the choice and quality of visitor 

accommodation to encourage overnight stays, particularly by higher spending 

visitors.  

 

5.8 Both the existing and proposed uses are ‘town centre’ uses in NPPF terms and 

are appropriate in this part of the city centre according to the NPPF and strategic 

local plan policy.  The principle of the proposed change from retail to a hotel and 

restaurant/bar in this city centre location is therefore supported.  

 

DESIGN AND EXTERNAL APPEARANCE 

 

5.9 The assessment of design takes into account the local context, the impact on 

heritage assets and the form and function of the scheme.  The following sections of 

the 2018 Draft Plan and NPPF are relevant in this respect. 

 

5.10 NPPF policy on developing previously developed land allows for an approach 

which either maintains an area’s prevailing character and setting, or of promoting 

regeneration and change.  It places importance on securing well-designed, attractive 

and healthy places (paragraph 122). Chapter 12 of the NPPF gives advice on 

achieving well-designed places. At paragraph 127 it states that planning decisions 

should aim to ensure that, amongst other things, developments will function well and 

add to the overall quality of an area, be visually attractive through good architecture, 

layout and appropriate landscaping, be sympathetic to local character whilst not 

stifling innovation, establish a strong sense of place, and create safe and accessible 

environments.  

 

5.11 At paragraph 130, the NPPF advises that permission should be refused for 

development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for 

Page 257



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions. These aims 

are reflected in Policies D1 and D2 of the 2018 Draft Plan.  Policy D1 (Placemaking) 

advises that schemes will be supported where they improve poor existing urban and 

natural environments, enhance York’s special qualities and better reveal the 

significances of the historic environment.  

 

Site Layout 

 

5.12 The proposed site layout has been informed by a number of design parameters 

and constraints, one of which is the approved residential scheme at Mansfield Road, 

which borders and overlooks the site to the north east (17/02991/FULM). This 

scheme has prevented the proposed buildings from spreading out deeper within the 

deep plan of the site and has led to the proposed hotel having an L shaped footprint 

with the walls of the building generally at street edge reinstating a built frontage to 

Layerthorpe and Foss Islands Road. The Layerthorpe elevation would be set back 

to allow for a landscaped strip / hard buffer space and improvements to pavement 

widths. This approach is supported. The vehicular access would be from 

Layerthorpe with the road access to the car park at the rear through an opening in 

the façade, which is considered to create better townscape than leaving it on the 

edge of site.   The site’s northern boundary has been left open to ensure that the 

development does not unduly compromise the site to the north. 

 

5.13 The ground floor, which would be raised above the ground level in response to 

the topography and the flood mitigation strategy, includes a restaurant, bar and the 

reception area with the main guest entrance formed at the corner of the site.  An 

external raised terrace area is proposed so as to create a strong streetscape. The 

upper levels comprise a mix of bedrooms layouts across three floors.  A landscaped 

area is proposed in the intervening area between the proposed building and the 

approved residential scheme on Mansfield Street. 

 

Massing and Design 

 

5.14 The wider area of Layerthorpe is characterised by low building height (typically 

two storey) out of town style large commercial premises dating from the last four 

decades (warehouses, retail, and office), in a flat landscape, with little green space.  

Whilst the area is undergoing change with the redevelopment of plots into higher 

density student or private apartments of between three and five floors, it is 

acknowledged that the proposed development will be highly visible in its context.  

 

Page 258



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

5.15 The proposed development is predominantly four storey in height with a minor 

setback at top storey and some three storey elements. Due to a high ceiling in the 

ground floor restaurant together with a raised plinth to avoid flooding, the overall 

height will appear taller than a standard four storey hotel scheme with ground floor 

bedrooms.   

  

5.16 In response to concerns raised at the pre-application stage that a single 

building form (with this combination of footprint and height) could appear 

overbearing and monotonous in this setting of generally low level warehouse 

buildings, the scheme has sought to break up the massing by adopting minor 

differences in the architectural approach between the Layerthorpe and Foss Islands 

Road elevations, linked by a slightly visually different corner block, which acts as a 

focus and provides a cut out corner entrance recess. The Layerthorpe elevation has 

a planted buffer space and in-line rhythm of multi bay building chunks and contrasts 

slightly with the Foss Islands Road elevation which is staggered on plan and has 

more complex roof setbacks and a hard paved frontage. Officers consider this has 

helped to break up the massing and monotony of this large single building. The 

scheme has also added interest through the articulation of the roof profile with minor 

top floor setbacks, and a slight zig-zag arrangement of the top floor on principle 

elevations, together with some modelling of the building down to three floors on 

Foss Islands Road.  

 

5.17 There are weaknesses in the scheme, notably the rear elevations which will 

appear particularly monotonous and bland due to the scale of the building and there 

being shear walls with no meaningful relief. The applicants were asked to improve 

this element of the design but these secondary elevations have remained largely 

unchanged.  The applicant makes the point that as evidenced by the visuals, there 

is only limited visibility of the car park elevations from Layerthorpe and should the 

site to the north come forward for development in the future, then both of the 

secondary elevations will largely be obscured. The applicant states that due to the 

operator requirements, further changes to the elevations which impact the internal 

layout cannot be made.  The Mansfield Street elevation is also less successful in 

that it has a predominantly blank elevation at street level in part due to it its non-

active use as rear of a plant room and due to the need for a raised plinth.  The 

introduction of textured bricks however has helped to add visual interest and this 

elevation is relieved by a new green space to the side.  

 

5.18 In acknowledging the weaknesses of the rear elevations, Officers accept that 

whilst there will be some oblique views from public streets, these secondary 

Page 259



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

elevations will not be widely visible and consider that the primary elevations have 

been developed to a satisfactory design standard in accordance with the NPPF and 

2018 Draft Plan policies D1 and D2.   

 

IMPACT ON HERITAGE ASSETS  

 

5.19 The site is not within the Central Historic Core Conservation Area and is 

identified as Character Area 52 “Layerthorpe” within York’s Historic Environment 

Characterisation Project. The closest listed buildings are located over 100 metres to 

the west (the Grade 1 St Cuthbert’s Church and Grade 1 St Anthony’s Hall).  The 

application site which is located  approximately 70 metres to the east of the city 

walls (a Scheduled Ancient Monument), lies within the Area of Archaeological 

Importance.  

 

5.20 The approach to determining planning applications, in terms of assessment on 

Heritage Assets, is set out in section 16 of the NPPF.  The starting point is to 

understand the significance of the Heritage Assets affected.  Paragraph 93 states 

that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of 

a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s 

conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). 

This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total 

loss or less than substantial harm to its significance. Paragraph 194 provides that 

any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset should 

require clear and convincing justification.  

 

5.21 In considering impact, where a development proposal will lead to “less than 

substantial harm” to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm must 

be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.  Public benefits can derive 

from either of the social, environmental or economic objectives of the NPPF.   

 

5.22 In addition, section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation 

Area) Act 1990 requires the local planning authority to have regard to preserving the 

setting of Listed Buildings or any features of special architectural or historic interest 

it possesses. The effect of section 66(1) is that a finding of harm to a listed building 

is a consideration to which the decision-maker must give "considerable importance 

and weight" when carrying out the balancing exercise. 

 

5.23 Although close to the city wall, the application site is separated from it by a 

large and busy road junction. There are views from the city wall to the application 

Page 260



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

site, but these are largely views into a commercial and shopping complex and the 

views from the application site towards the Conservation Area are dominated by the 

same large, busy road junction.  The key views have been provided as 

photomontages and Officers are satisfied that the proposed development would not 

dominate the city walls or the views into York and as such no harm would be caused 

to the significance of heritage assets namely the city walls, Conservation Area and 

nearest listed buildings.  

 

Archaeology 

 

5.24 Paragraph 197 of the NPPF requires the effect of an application on the 

significance of a non-designated heritage asset to be taken into account in 

determining an application.  2005 Development Control Local Plan Policy HE10 and 

2018 Draft Plan Policy D6 reflect national planning guidance. 

 

5.25 The archaeological features and deposits on the application site are 

undesignated heritage assets of potential national significance that lie within the 

designated Area of Archaeological Importance.  

 

5.26 The evaluation undertaken on the site indicates that there will be no impact to 

any significant archaeological features or deposits across the majority of the site. 

The remains of St Mary’s Church and associated graveyard appear to have been 

cleared across the car park area. Whilst, residual, disarticulated human remains 

were noted in 1986 when the current building was constructed, no human remains 

were noted during the 2019 evaluation.  As it is uncertain how much clearance 

occurred in 1986, there remains a small possibility that disarticulated human bone 

may survive in isolated pockets.  An archaeological watching brief will be required 

during the grubbing up of foundations of the existing building and ground works 

relating to the removal of surviving below-ground structures. This will ensure any 

disarticulated human bone is collected and any earlier buildings or surfaces can be 

recorded. The evaluation carried out to date, which has established that the assets 

are of low significance, and the watching brief, are in accordance with Paragraph 

199 of the NPPF which requires developers to record and advance understanding of 

the significance of any heritage assets to be lost in a manner proportionate to their 

importance and the impact.  

 

LANDSCAPING 

 

Page 261



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

5.27 Policy D2 (Landscape and Setting) of the 2018 Draft Plan states that proposals 

will be encouraged and supported where they include sustainable, practical and high 

quality soft and hard landscape details and planting proposals that are clearly 

evidence based and make a positive contribution to the character of streets, spaces 

and other landscapes. 

 

5.28 The landscaping scheme comprises a soft landscaping strip along Layerthorpe 

(to include 10 No. trees together with specimen shrubs and ornamental shrub 

planting), 2No trees to the south west corner of the building on the Foss Islands 

Road elevation (planted within hard paving using a structured cell system) and a 

landscaped area in the intervening area between the proposed building and the 

approved residential scheme on Mansfield Street (to include 7No.trees). 

 

5.29 The introduction of a border of trees and shrubs along Layerthorpe introduces 

a significant extent of greenery along the street where currently there is none and 

this is welcomed. The contribution that the two trees to the Foss Islands Road 

elevation would make to the streetscene would be more limited. Through the pre-

application process, the applicant was asked to alter the footprint of the building in 

order to accommodate one or two sizeable specimens (with good tree canopy), to 

Foss Islands Road. The footprint of the building was not altered but two trees were 

added to the south west corner of this elevation. Whilst this is an improvement on 

the pre-application submission, the variety of these trees has been selected on the 

basis of the restricted space they would stand in and with their narrow crowns, their 

contribution to the quality of the street scene would be limited.  Notwithstanding this, 

overall the inclusion of trees and shrubs in a number of locations around the 

perimeter of the proposed building is welcomed and is considered to make a 

positive contribution to the character of the streetscene and wider environment in 

accordance with 2018 Draft Plan Policy D2. 

 

ECOLOGY 

 

5.30 Part (iv) of Policy GI2 (Biodiversity and Access to Nature) of the 2018 Draft 

Plan states that where appropriate, any development should result in net gain to, 

and help to improve, biodiversity. 

 

5.31 A preliminary ecological appraisal was submitted with the application which 

assessed the ecological importance of the site and the potential for it to support 

protected and notable ecological features and species.  A preliminary Roost 

Assessment of the existing building for bats was also carried out together with a 

Page 262



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

further detailed evening emergence survey.  These assessments conclude that the 

proposed development would have no impact on roosting bats and therefore no 

mitigation would be required. The proposal however does offer the opportunity for 

enhancement through such features as bat boxes and bat bricks being incorporated 

into the design of the new building and as such a condition requiring details of an 

ecological scheme of enhancement to comprise of integrated bat and bird boxes, is 

recommended (Condition 28). The applicant is agreeable to this condition.  

 

RESIDENTIAL AMENITY 

 

5.32 The NPPF states that developments should create places that are safe, 

inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high 

standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, 

and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion 

and resilience. Policies D1 and ENV2 of the 2018 Draft Plan consider amenity. 

 

5.33 The site is within the defined city centre, where hotel uses are appropriate in 

principle, as defined in both national and local draft policy.  With regards town 

centres the NPPF policy is based on ensuring vitality and that the need for ‘town 

centre uses’ can be accommodated within the city centre.  This policy context 

should be borne in mind when assessing the impact on surrounding residential 

uses.   

 

5.34 Although the surrounding area is predominantly commercial, the land directly 

adjacent to the site on Mansfield Street has permission for the erection of a four 

storey building to accommodate 10No.Flats with associated parking 

(17/02991/FULM). There are also 2No. 19th century houses fronting Foss Islands 

Road (on the opposite side of Mansfield Street).  There is a current application for 

redevelopment of this site to accommodate a student accommodation building with 

associated car parking. (20/01200/FULM).  

 

5.35 The proposed scheme has been designed with the consented scheme in mind 

such that there are no windows on this elevation to allow the privacy of the residents 

to be maintained and the area between the hotel and the approved residential 

scheme has been landscaped.  

 

5.36 In terms of noise, the survey work undertaken indicates that the overall noise 

climate is determined by traffic flows on Layerthorpe and Foss Islands Road such 

that the impact of activity noise associated with the hotel upon the consented 

Page 263



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

apartment building is likely to be fully masked by existing ambient and traffic noise 

and unlikely to be noticeable within habitable rooms.  Internal noise criteria given in 

the hotel operator specification will require the use of appropriate acoustic rated 

glazing and vents for all bedrooms throughout the proposed development. A 

condition requiring adherence to the noise mitigated measures as detailed in the 

noise survey, to safeguard both occupiers of nearby residential properties and 

occupants of the hotel, is proposed.  

  

5.37 In relation to security and designing out crime, Safer York Partnership (SYP) is 

satisfied that the principles of crime prevention through environmental design have 

been incorporated into the design of this proposal. This includes issues relating to 

access control, surveillance and activity support through CCTV and appropriate 

lighting and defensible space. A question has been raised in relation to the details of 

the boundary treatment of the soft landscaping that abuts to Mansfield Street, which 

should be sufficiently robust to prevent incursions into the car park courtyard or the 

creation of a desire line from Mansfield Street into the site.  This issue has been 

raised with the applicant with details of the boundary treatment required via a 

planning condition (Condition 25 (iii)). 

 

HIGHWAY NETWORK MANAGEMENT 

 

5.38 Paragraph 108 of the NPPF states that when assessing applications for 

development, it should be ensured that:  

 

- Appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport included.  

- Safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users.  

- Any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in 

terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost 

effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree.  

 

5.39 Para 109 continues by advising that development should only be prevented or 

refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 

safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 

 

5.40 Policy T1 of the 2018 Draft Plan states that to provide safe, suitable and 

attractive access, proposals will be required to demonstrate there is safe and 

appropriate access to the adjacent adopted highway. Proposals should also create 

safe and secure layouts for motorised vehicles (including public transport vehicles), 

cyclists and pedestrians that minimise conflict. 

Page 264



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

 

5.41 All vehicles will access the site through an opening under the building through 

to the car park where there is provision for 43 car parking spaces including six 

electric vehicle spaces, four disabled spaces and one drop off space. This is in line 

with CYC policy for a development of this nature in a sustainable city centre 

location.  The relocation of the vehicular access on Layerthorpe is supported and 

adequate cycle parking provision (20No. secured and covered spaces) is included. 

A condition requiring the submission of a Travel Plan is recommended. 

 

5.42 In terms of traffic generation, when compared to the permitted use, an increase 

of just under 30 vehicle trips is expected in the am peak but a similar decrease is 

expected in PM peak. Traffic movements linked to the development are therefore 

not assessed as having a significant impact on the surrounding highway network.  

 

FLOOD RISK AND DRAINAGE  

 

5.43 Policy ENV4 of the 2018 Draft Plan is in accordance with Paragraph 163 of the 

NPPF which states that when determining applications the LPA should only consider 

development appropriate in areas at risk of flooding where, informed by a site-

specific flood risk assessment following the Sequential Test, and the Exception Test, 

it can be demonstrated that:  

 

- within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood 

risk unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different location;  

- and development is appropriately flood resilient and resistant;  

- it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that 

this would be inappropriate;  

- any residual risk can be safely managed;  

- and safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an 

agreed emergency plan.  

 

Sequential Test  

 

5.44 The proposed building is located within Flood Zones 2 and 3a (medium/high 

risk of flooding) and as such the NPPF suggests that a sequential test should be 

undertaken to establish if there are other more suitable locations for the 

development which are at a lower risk of flooding. The site is disused brownfield 

land in the city centre where the principle of a hotel use is acceptable. The applicant 

owns the site and the proposed hotel operator has stated that this is the only site 

Page 265



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

within York they would be interested in given their other existing location and the 

location of competitors. 

 

Exception Test  

 

5.45 As it is not possible for the development to be located in zones with a lower risk 

of flooding and a hotel use is considered “more vulnerable”, the exception test must 

be applied. For the Exception Test to be passed: it must be demonstrated that a) the 

development provides wider sustainability benefits to the community that outweigh 

flood risk; and b) a site-specific flood risk assessment must demonstrate that the 

development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of its 

users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible, will reduce flood 

risk overall (para 160 of the NPPF).  

 

5.46 The proposed development involves the regeneration of a prominent vacant 

and underutilised brownfield site and represents investment in York’s tourism 

economy, creating 55 new jobs. This demonstrates that the scheme would provide 

wider sustainability benefits to the community.  

 

5.47 In relation to the requirement that the proposed development will be safe from 

flood risk and would not increase flood risk elsewhere, the Environment Agency 

raises no objection subject to a condition requiring that the development be carried 

out in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment and the mitigation 

measures it details.  This includes the requirement for the floor levels of the main 

building / all sleeping accommodation be no lower than 11.05 metres above 

Ordnance Datum (AOD) and compensatory storage be provided as detailed.  The 

Council’s Emergency Planning Team are satisfied with the submitted Flood 

Evacuation Plan, which sets out appropriate evacuation procedures in the event of a 

severe flood warning being issued by the Environment Agency.  The Plan details the 

lines of communication (there would be 24 hour management presence on site) and 

provides details of how the hotel would be evacuated on issue of a flood warning. 

 

Drainage  

 

5.48 The submitted Flood Risk, SUDS and Foul Drainage Assessment 

demonstrates that sub-soil conditions do not support the use of soakaways and 

details that surface water will discharge to the public surface water sewer via 

storage with restricted discharges no greater than 3.6 litres per second (the 

equivalent greenfield run off rate). Foul water will discharge to public combined 

Page 266



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

sewer. The Council’s Flood Risk Management team and Yorkshire Water are 

satisfied with the submitted Assessment and raise no objections to the scheme 

subject to conditions.  

 

SUSTAINABLE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION 

 

5.49 2018 Draft Plan Policies CC1, CC2 and CC3 are applicable to this 

development.  These require the following – 

  

- Carbon emissions enhanced by 28% in relation to Building Regulations (CC1) 

- BREEAM Excellent (CC2) 

- The development of decentralised energy and the use of decentralised district 

heating and combined heat and power (CHP) networks involving a need to 

demonstrate that heating and cooling technologies have been selected in 

accordance with the set out heating and cooling hierarchy (CC3).  

 

5.50 In relation to Policy CC1, the submitted Energy Strategy sets out that a 

reduction in carbon emissions of 44%, exceeding the 28% requirement, can be 

achieved.  With regard to Policy CC3 and CHP networks, the Energy Strategy sets 

out that the feasibility of utilising CHP for providing hot water services has been 

assessed but is not recommended as an option for reducing carbon emissions due 

to the adverse effect on NOx emissions and impact on air quality.  

 

5.51 Policy CC2 states that all new non-residential buildings with a total internal floor 

area of 100m2 or greater, should meet BREEAM ‘Excellent’ (or equivalent).  The 

BREEAM assessment looks at 9 different credit categories (Management, Health 

and Well Being, Energy, Transport, Water, Minerals, Waste, Land Use and Ecology 

and Pollution and sets out the credits which can be achieved and provides a reason 

for each credit which cannot. The submitted assessment concludes that BREEAM 

“Excellent” cannot be achieved for this development. The planning statement 

provides further explanation as to why “Excellent” cannot be achieved as follows; 

 

Many of the credits which could be targeted are high risk and therefore the applicant 

cannot guarantee they will be achieved during construction. Therefore, BREEAM 

Excellent cannot be achieved on site. BREEAM Very Good can comfortably be 

achieved and the applicant is happy to accept a condition requiring the building to 

be constructed to BREEAM Very Good.  

Page 267



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

The building incorporates measures to ensure an element of the buildings energy 

requirements are generated from decentralised and renewable or low carbon 

sources to reduce predicted CO2 emissions. The overall developments carbon 

emissions will be reduced 44% below the Plan L 2013 baseline. This exceeds the 

requirements set out in emerging Policy CC1 which requires 28% reduction.  

It is proposed to provide PV panels on the roof of the building. There will be 140 

panels on the roof each of which will be 1600mm x 900mm (approx.).  

 

5.52 The BREEAM assessment notes the following; 

 

Four key challenges were identified which restricts the ability to target key credits 

and therefore achieving an excellent rating is technically and economically 

unfeasible.  These challenges are; 

 

- The credit would be technically difficult to achieve and no guarantee can be given 

at this stage, even with best endeavours, that the requirements will be met. 

- Due to causing a significant deviation from, or conflict with the developers’ 

specification. 

- Due to the cost being disproportionate to the potential sustainability benefits on 

offer including credits which are more of a “tick-box” exercise providing 

comparatively low sustainability uplift for the cost incurred. 

- Credits not physically possible due to site attributes. 

 

5.53 On the basis of the advanced stage of the emerging Plan’s preparation, the 

lack of significant objection to Policy CC2 and its consistency with the Framework, 

Forward Planning advise that Policy CC2 should be applied with moderate weight.  

In responding to the conclusions of the BREEAM report, they note that it is 

disappointing but the willingness to commit to delivering Very Good is welcomed. 

The applicant has submitted a statement as to the weaknesses of Policy CC2 and 

weight which should be attributed to it. 

 

5.54 It is unfortunate, notwithstanding the reasons set out by the applicant, that the 

development is not being designed to achieve BREEAM Excellent. However in the 

context of the weight afforded to the policies of the Local Plan, it is considered that 

in the planning balance, a refusal for this reason alone would be difficult to defend.  

This consideration is in the context of the fact that the building would achieve a 

reduction in carbon emissions of 44% (exceeding the requirements set out in the 

Page 268



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

2018 Draft Plan Policy CC1), which would be required by condition, and would 

provide 140 PV panels.   

 

6.0 CONCLUSION 

 

6.1 The proposed redevelopment of the application site for a hotel with associated 

bar/restaurant is considered to be acceptable in principle given the city centre use 

and fits with the aspirations for economic growth in the NPPF and the local plan, by 

facilitating a sector where there is growth and evidentially demand.  The scheme is 

appropriate for the site; the design is acceptable and relates to the context.  

Furthermore, there would be considered to be no harm to heritage assets. 

 

6.2 The proposal would not comply with 2018 Draft Plan Policy C2 insofar as the 

scheme would not achieve BREEAM Excellent but in the context of the weight that 

can be afforded to the policies of the 2018 Draft Plan, Officers consider that a 

refusal for this reason alone would be difficult to defend, particularly given that the 

building would achieve a reduction in carbon emissions of 44% (exceeding the 

requirements set out in the 2018 Draft Plan Policy CC1).  

 

6.3 There would be no unacceptable impact on amenity, which cannot be 

reasonably controlled through the use of planning conditions.  Other technical 

matters can also be dealt with by way of conditions.  

 

6.4 The presumption in favour of sustainable development in paragraph 11(d) of the 

NPPF applies to this application. This tilts the planning balance in favour of granting 

planning permission, unless any adverse impacts of doing so significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the NPPF 

taken as a whole.  Approval is therefore recommended. 

7.0  RECOMMENDATION:   Approve 
 
1  TIME2  Development start within three years  
 
 2  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following plans and other submitted details:- 
 
15728-502 Rev A (Location Plan) 
15728-V110 Rev A (Proposed Site Plan) 
15728-110 Rev A (Proposed Site Layout) 
15728-111 Rev A (Proposed Ground, First and Second Floor) 
15728-112 Rev A (Proposed Third Floor and Roof) 

Page 269



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

15728-116 Rev A (Proposed Section and Details) 
15728-114 Rev C (Proposed Elevations) 
15728-115 Rev B (Proposed Elevations) 
15728-120 (Proposed Sub Station) 
15728-VL L01 Rev K (Landscape Plan) 
 
3690-100-P-049 Rev A (Swept Path Analysis 12m Rigid Vehicle) 
3690-100-P-050 Rev A (Swept Path Analysis Urban Articulated Vehicle) 
3690-100-P-051 Rev A (Swept Path Analysis Large Articulated Vehicle) 
 
C7415/M/201 (Ground Floor Ventilation Services Layout) 
C7415/M/202 (First Floor Ventilation Services Layout) 
C7415/M/203 (Second Floor Ventilation Services Layout) 
C7415/M/204 (Third Floor Ventilation Services Layout) 
C7415/M/701 (Ground Floor Plant Room) 
C7415/M/702 Rev A (Roof Level Plant Services Layout) 
 
Hoare Lea Noise Survey ref 10/1011651-05-AM-20200110-R3 dated 16/3/20. 
Kitchen Ventilation Strategy prepared by Thornley and Lumb Partnership TLP 
C7415 dated 20/3/20,  
Flood Response Plan dated 7 September 2020 
Dwg No: P19-760 SK03 Rev P3 (Drainage Strategy Plan) 
Dwg No: 15728-506 (Proposed Site layout w/Constraints) 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried 
out only as approved by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
 3  The odour extraction system, as detailed in the Kitchen Ventilation Strategy 
prepared by Thornley and Lumb Partnership TLP C7415 dated 20/3/20, shall be 
fully implemented before the proposed use first opens and shall be permanently 
maintained and serviced thereafter in accordance with manufacturers guidelines. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of residents of the use hereby approved 
and the environmental qualities of the area. 
 
 4  All sound attenuation measures detailed in the submitted noise assessment 
(Hoare Lea Noise assessment Rev 4 dated 28/7/20) shall be fully implemented prior 
to the occupation of the development.  These measures shall be permanently 
retained thereafter. 
 
Reason: To protect the amenity of people residing in the hotel and neighbouring 
residents from noise in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 5  Upon occupation of the development, delivery vehicles to the hotel and waste 
collections shall be confined to the following hours: 

Page 270



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

 
Monday to Sunday (including Bank Holidays): 07:00 to 18:00 hours 
 
Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents and businesses. 
 
 6  No work shall be carried out on site for the development hereby approved until 
a method of works statement identifying the programming and management of site 
clearance/preparatory and construction works to address safety concerns on the 
public highway, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The statement shall include at least the following information; 
 
(i)Contractor parking management 
(ii) Contractor and construction vehicles routes and times 
(iii) Dilapidation survey 
(iv) Management of mud and other debris on the highway 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development can be carried out in a manner that will not 
be to the detriment of amenity of local residents, free flow of traffic or safety of 
highway users.  
 
 
 7  All demolition and construction works and ancillary operations, including 
deliveries to and dispatch from the site shall be confined to the following hours: 
 
Monday to Friday  0800 to 1800 hours 
Saturday   0900 to 1300 hours 
Not at all on Sundays and Bank Holidays 
 
Reason: To protect the amenity of occupants of the nearby properties from noise. 
 
 8  Prior to the occupation of the development, 6No. Electric Vehicle Recharging 
Points shall be provided in a position and to a specification to be first agreed in 
writing by the Council. Charging points should be located in a prominent position on 
the site and should be for the exclusive use of zero emission vehicles.  Parking bay 
marking and signage should reflect this. Within 3 months of the first occupation of 
the development, the owner will submit to the Council for approval in writing, an 
Electric Vehicle Recharging Point Management Plan that will detail the 
maintenance, servicing and access arrangements for each Electric Vehicle 
Recharging Point for a period of 10 years.  The Electric Vehicle Recharging Point 
Management Plan shall be implemented as approved. 
 
Notes;  Electric Vehicle Charging Points should incorporate a suitably rated 32A 
'IEC 62196' electrical socket to allow 'Mode 3' charging of an electric vehicle.  Each 
Electric Vehicle Charge Points should include sufficient cabling and groundwork to 
upgrade that unit and to provide for an additional Electrical Vehicle Recharging Point 

Page 271



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

of the same specification, should demand require this in this future. All electrical 
circuits/installations shall comply with the electrical requirements in force at the time 
of installation 
 
Reason: To promote and facilitate the uptake of electric vehicles on the site in line 
with the Council's Low Emission Strategy (LES) and the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF). 
 
 9  Prior to commencement of construction, a detailed remediation scheme to 
bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use (by removing unacceptable 
risks to human health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical 
environment) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme shall include all works to be undertaken, proposed 
remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site 
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as 
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in 
relation to the intended use of the land after remediation. 
 
Note: Details of the tank removal and the importation of topsoil should be included 
within the Remediation Scheme. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried 
out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. 
 
10  Prior to first occupation or use, the approved remediation scheme must be 
carried out in accordance with its terms and a verification report that demonstrates 
the effectiveness of the remediation carried out shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems. 
 
11  LC4  Land contamination - unexpected contam  
 
12  Prior to the commencement of the use hereby approved, provision shall be 
made within the site for accommodation of delivery/service vehicles in accordance 
with the approved plans. Thereafter all such areas shall be retained free of all 
obstructions and used solely for the intended purpose. 
 
Reason:  To ensure that delivery/service vehicles can be accommodated within the 
site and to maintain the free and safe passage of highway users. 

Page 272



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

 
13  Prior to the construction of any works above the ground floor slab, details of 
the junction between the internal access road and the highway shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall not 
come into use until that junction has been constructed in accordance with the 
approved plans. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of road safety. 
 
14  Prior to the construction of any works above the ground floor slab, details of 
the cycle parking areas, including means of enclosure, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The building shall not be 
occupied until the cycle parking areas and means of enclosure have been provided 
within the site in accordance with such approved details, and these areas shall not 
be used for any purpose other than the parking of cycles. 
 
Reason:  To ensure adequate space for such storage and to promote sustainable 
modes of transport in accordance with policies GP4a and T4 of the City of York 
Draft Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
15  The hotel shall operate in accordance with the aims, measures and outcomes 
of the submitted Travel Plan (Ref: RLR/WHIT/20/5300/TP01 dated April 2020). 
 
Reason: To reduce private car travel and promote sustainable travel in accordance 
with section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework and policies DP3: 
Sustainable Communities and T7: Minimising and Accommodating Generated Trips 
of the 2018 Publication Draft Local Plan. 
 
16  A programme of post-determination archaeological mitigation, specifically an 
archaeological watching brief is required on this site.  The archaeological scheme 
comprises 3 stages of work. Each stage shall be completed and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
A) No grubbing up of foundations or development within the Foss Islands Rd 
frontage shall take place until a written scheme of investigation (WSI) has been 
submitted to and approved by the local planning authority in writing. For land that is 
included within the WSI, no grubbing up of foundations/development on the Foss 
Islands Rd frontage shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed WSI. 
The WSI should conform to standards set by LPA and the Chartered Institute for 
Archaeologists.  
  
B)  The site investigation and post investigation assessment shall be completed in 
accordance with the programme set out in the Written Scheme of Investigation 
approved under condition (A) and the provision made for analysis, publication and 
dissemination of results and archive deposition will be secured. This part of the 

Page 273



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

condition shall not be discharged until these elements have been fulfilled in 
accordance with the programme set out in the WSI. 
 
C)  A copy of a report (or publication if required) shall be deposited with City of 
York Historic Environment Record to allow public dissemination of results within 2 
months of completion or such other period as may be agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority.  
 
This condition is imposed in accordance with Section 16 of NPPF. 
 
Reason:  The site lies within an Area of Archaeological Importance and the 
development may affect important archaeological deposits which must be recorded 
prior to destruction. 
 
17  Unless otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority, there 
shall be no piped discharge of surface water from the development prior to the 
completion of the approved surface water drainage works and no buildings shall be 
occupied or brought into use prior to completion of the approved foul drainage 
works. 
 
Reason:  So that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied that no foul and 
surface water discharges take place until proper provision has been made for their 
disposal. 
 
18  The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted flood 
risk, SUDs and foul drainage assessment (ref: P19-760 compiled by Simpson TWS 
dated 24/09/2020) and the following mitigation measures it details: 
 
(i) Finished floor levels of the main building and all sleeping accommodation shall be 
set no lower than 11.05 metres above Ordnance Datum (AOD). 
 
(ii) A scheme of flood resilience measures shall be agreed with the LPA and 
implemented at the ground floor. These measures are to include those listed in 
section 8.8 of the FRA as a minimum. 
 
(iii) FFL of the substation shall be no lower than 11.6mAOD. 
 
(iv) Compensatory storage shall be provided as detailed in the FRA, providing a 
storage volume of 2134m3. This volume shall be maintained for the lifetime of the 
development and precluded from further development. The design of the storage 
area shall allow for free flow of any floodwater in and out of the void. 
 
(v) An emergency flood warning plan shall be agreed with the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 

Page 274



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

(vi) Surface water discharge shall be restricted to the proposed greenfield run-off 
rate of 3.6l/s. (Although discharge is to sewer, this connects to the River Foss 
adjacent to the site which is designated main river). 
 
These mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 
subsequently in accordance with the scheme's timing/phasing arrangements. The 
measures detailed above shall be retained and maintained thereafter throughout the 
lifetime of the development. 
 
Reason; To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 
occupants, to prevent flooding elsewhere by ensuring that compensatory storage of 
flood water is provided and to prevent flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage 
of/disposal of surface water from the site 
 
19  No development shall take place until details of the proposed means of foul 
and surface water drainage, including details of any balancing works and off site 
works, have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The 
information shall include site specific details of: 
 
(i) the flow control devise manhole the means by which the surface water 
discharge rate shall be restricted to a maximum rate of 3.6 (three point six) litres per 
second, 
 
(ii) the voided stone sub base and permeable paving the means by which the 
surface water attenuation up to the 1 in 100 year event with a 30% climate change 
allowance shall be achieved, and 
 
(iii) Details of the future management and maintenance of the proposed drainage 
scheme shall be provided. 
 
Note: The site shall be developed with separate systems of drainage for foul and 
surface water on and off 
site. 
 
Reason:  So that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied with these details for 
the proper and sustainable drainage of the site. 
 
20  The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted 
Landscape Plan (Dwg No: 15728-VL L01 Rev K) and shall be implemented within a 
period of six months of the practical completion of the development.  Any trees or 
plants which within a period of five years from the substantial completion of the 
planting or the substantial completion of the development, whichever is the sooner, 
die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with others of a similar size and species, unless the Local 
Planning Authority agrees alternatives in writing.  

Page 275



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

 
Reason:  The landscape scheme is integral to the amenity of the development 
 
21  The development hereby permitted shall achieve a BREEAM rating of at least 
very good.   
 
A Post Construction Assessment by a licensed BREEAM assessor shall be carried 
out and a copy of the certificate submitted to the Local Planning Authority within 12 
months of first use (unless otherwise agreed).  Should the development fail to 
achieve a 'Very Good' BREEAM rating a report shall be submitted for the written 
approval of the Local Planning Authority within 3 months of the submission of the 
above mentioned certificate demonstrating what remedial measures shall be 
undertaken to achieve a 'Very Good' rating. The remedial measures shall then be 
undertaken within a timescale to be approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: To fulfil the environmental objectives of the NPPF and support the 
transition to a low carbon future, and in accordance with policies CC1 and CC2 of 
the Publication Draft Local Plan 2018. 
 
22  The development hereby permitted shall achieve a reduction in carbon 
emissions of at least 28% compared to the target emission rate as required under 
Part L of the Building Regulations. 
 
Prior to above ground construction, details of the measures undertaken to secure 
compliance with this condition shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details. 
 
Reason: To fulfil the environmental objectives of the NPPF and support the 
transition to a low carbon future, and in accordance with policies CC1 and CC2 of 
the Publication Draft Local Plan 2018 
 
23  Notwithstanding any proposed materials specified on the approved drawings 
or other documents submitted with the application, samples of all proposed external 
building materials to be used shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the construction of the 
building envelope. For clarity, this includes vision and any non-vision glazing, flat or 
pitched roofs. The development shall be carried out using the approved materials. 
 
Note: Because of limited storage space at our offices, it would be appreciated if 
sample materials could be made available for inspection at the site. Please make it 
clear in your approval of details application when the materials will be available for 
inspection and where they are located. Samples should be provided of sufficiently 
large size to be able to appropriately judge the material (including joints/fixings 

Page 276



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

where an important part of the visual quality of the material), and to be provided 
together where materials are seen together. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of good design and in accordance with NPPF paragraph 
127. 
 
24  On-site sample panels of bricks, in each type of brick, in each type of bond, 
including chosen mortar and pointing, and including any special brick features shall 
be erected on the site, and shall be approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the commencement of building works. The sample panel shall be 
2x1.2m minimum overall. If multiple combinations of brick and/or bond are proposed 
each type to be 1x1.2m. The agreed panel is also to represent a minimum standard 
for the quality of workmanship that the development should achieve, and the panel 
should remain on site for the duration of the brickwork package. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of good design and in accordance with NPPF paragraph 
127. 
 
25  Prior to the commencement of above ground development, 1:20 drawings for 
the following detail types shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The works shall be carried out in accordance with the apporved 
details; 
 
(i) Typical building wall bay in brick construction, with variations for differing types 
of recessed feature plane (brick & metal), any wall ventilation grilles, guarding, wall 
interfaces at ground, projecting terraces, set back top floor level wall types, any 
plant room wall construction & roof edge, together with overall maximum height 
AOD, 
(ii) Main entrance area including external soffit, 
(iii) Boundary treatments. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of good design and in accordance with NPPF paragraph 
127. 
 
26  Brick window reveals within the main wall plane shall be set back a minimum 
200mm (approx. one full brick deep) from the plane of a window.  Feature recessed 
wall planes shall be set back a minimum 100mm (approx. ½ brick deep) from the 
main wall plane, after which any windows within these shall be set back a minimum 
further 100mm. 
 
Reason: To impart an overall high quality and robustness of construction systems 
and to provide visual relief on a façade. 
 
27  Prior to the commencement of above ground development, 1:20 drawings in 
plan and elevation for any external plant room enclosures shall be submitted to and 

Page 277



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA) and the works shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.  This shall include a maximum 
height of any plant equipment within the enclosure. 
 
Note: 
 
For flat roofs, in situations without a solid roof parapet (1m or higher, as shown on 
permitted drawings), service protrusions are not allowed within 2m of any building 
edge. Any service protrusions lower than 1m above roof finish level elsewhere are 
allowed. Any proposals for service protrusions higher than 1m above flat roof level 
elsewhere are to be submitted to, and approved by, the LPA, but should generally 
be expected not to be permitted. 
 
For flat roofs in situations with a solid roof parapet (1m or higher, as shown on 
permitted drawings): service penetrations should not be higher than top of parapet. 
Any such proposals above parapet level are to be submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the LPA. 
 
Permanent external wall fixed equipment used to service the building are not 
permissible, unless subsequently agreed by the Local Planning Authority through 
the submission of drawings. 
 
Reason: In the interests of good design and in accordance with NPPF paragraph 
127. 
 
28  Prior to the commencement of above ground development, details of an 
ecological scheme of enhancement to comprise of integrated bat and bird boxes, 
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The boxes 
shall be installed / constructed prior to occupation of the development in accordance 
with the approved details and thereafter retained.  
 
Reason: To take account of and to enhance the habitat for a protected species. 
 
29  Prior to occupation of the development, an external lighting scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This scheme 
shall consist of drawings and reports as necessary to describe the scheme to both 
technical and lay audience, and shall include a demonstration of sensitivity to dark-
skies/ecology issues.  It shall include the following details; 
 
(i) The proposed hours of use of the external lighting; 
(ii) The number, type and location of the proposed luminaires; 
(iii) The maintained average illuminance levels of the areas to be illuminated; 
(iv) The steps that will be taken to minimise stray light and glare from the lighting; 
and 
(v) The steps that will be taken to minimise impacts on wildlife. 

Page 278



 

Application Reference Number: 20/00940/FULM  Item No: 4c 

 
The lighting shall be installed, maintained and operated in accordance with the 
approved scheme. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is well lit, providing natural surveillance 
and make it safe for users. To ensure that the proposed development is not unduly 
prominent within the immediate locality and wider views of the city. On ecology 
grounds - to limit excessive light spill over the River Foss. 
 
 
8.0  INFORMATIVES: 
Notes to Applicant 
 
 1. STATEMENT OF THE COUNCIL`S POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH 
 
In considering the application, the Local Planning Authority has implemented the 
requirements set out within the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 38) 
in seeking solutions to problems identified during the processing of the application.  
The Local Planning Authority took the following steps in order to achieve a positive 
outcome: 
 
- pre-application advice 
- the use of conditions 
 2. Notes for the Developer : 
 
If the developer is looking to have new sewers included in a sewer adoption 
agreement with Yorkshire Water (under Section 104 of the Water Industry Act 
1991), s/he should contact our Developer Services Team (telephone 0345 120 84 
82, email: technical.sewerage@yorkshirewater.co.uk) at the earliest opportunity. 
Sewers intended for adoption should be designed and constructed in accordance 
with the WRc publication 'Sewers for Adoption - a design and construction guide for 
developers' 6th Edition as supplemented by Yorkshire Water's requirements. 
 3. A foundation design for this site should be discussed with the LPA in relation to 
archaeology in advance of construction works on the site. 
 
Contact details: 
Case Officer: Rachel Tyas 
Tel No:  01904 551610 
 

Page 279



This page is intentionally left blank



Produced using ESRI (UK)'s  MapExplorer 2.0 - http://www.esriuk.com

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission
of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office © Crown
Copyright 2000.

Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may
lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.

SLA Number

Organisation

Department

Comments

Date

Scale :

Economy & Place

City of York Council

Site Location Plan

22 January 2021

1:1421

Former Carpetright, Layerthorpe, YO31 7UP

20/00940/FULM

Page 281



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee
To be held remotely on 4th February at 4:30pm

City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 1

P
age 283



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 2

20/00940/FULM – Former Carpetright, Layerthorpe, York

Erection of hotel with bar/restaurant, relocation of access and 

associated landscaping and car park following demolition of existing 

building

P
age 284



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 3

Site Location Plan

P
age 285



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 4

Proposed Site 

Layout Plan

P
age 286



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 5

Proposed 

Elevations A, B 

and C

P
age 287



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 6

Proposed Elevations 

D, E and F

P
age 288



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 7

Proposed 

Ground, First 

and Second 

Floors

P
age 289



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 8

Proposed Third 

Floor and Roof 

Plan

P
age 290



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 9

Proposed 

Landscape 

Plan

P
age 291



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 10

Visualisation – View 

from Foss Islands 

Road

P
age 292



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 11

Visualisation – View 

from Foss Islands 

Road (2)

P
age 293



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 12

Visualisation –

Layerthorpe (1)

P
age 294



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 13

Visualisation –

Layerthorpe (2)

P
age 295



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 14

Visualisation –

Layerthorpe (3)

P
age 296



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 15

Visualisation –

View from 

Jewbury

P
age 297



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 16

Visualisation –

View from 

Jewbury (2)

P
age 298



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 17

Visualisation –

View across 

River Foss from 

Kings Pool

P
age 299



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 18

Visualisation –

Entrance Fronting 

Foss Island Road

P
age 300



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 19

Visualisation –

View from City 

Walls

P
age 301



City of York Council Planning Committee Meeting - 4th February 2021 20

Visualisation – View 

from City Walls (2)

P
age 302


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 03/12/2020 Planning Committee
	Minutes

	Minutes Public Pack, 07/01/2021 Planning Committee
	Minutes


	4a York Station Frontage, Station Road, York [19/00535/FULM]
	York Station Frontage Site Plan
	York Station Frontage Presentation

	4b Station Building, Railway Station, Station Road, York YO24 1AY [19/00542/LBC]
	Station Building LBC Site Plan

	4c Former Carpetright, Layerthorpe, York, YO31 7UP
	Former Carpetright Layerthorpe Site Plan
	Former Carpetright Presentation


